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"SAFE HARBOR" STATEMENT

Some of the information contained in this annual report may include forward-looking statements that reflect our current views with
respect to our development programs, business strategy, business plan, financial performance and other future events. These statements include
forward-looking statements both with respect to us, specifically, and our industry, in general. We make these statements pursuant to the safe harbor
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements that include the words “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “project,”
“estimate,” “may,” “should,” “anticipate,” “will” and similar statements of a future or forward-looking nature identify forward-looking statements for
purposes of the federal securities laws and otherwise.

Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current
beliefs, expectations and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends,
the economy and other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks
and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. There are or will be important factors that
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could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, those factors set
forth in the sections entitled “Business,” “Risk Factors,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and “Controls and Procedures” in this annual report, all of
which you should review carefully. Please consider our forward-looking statements in light of those risks as you read this annual report. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or
otherwise, except as required by law.

If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materializes, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results
may vary materially from what we anticipate. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or individuals acting on
our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this “Safe Harbor” Statement.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Galena” or the “Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company committed to the development
and commercialization of targeted oncology therapeutics that address major unmet medical needs. Galena’s development portfolio is focused
primarily on addressing the rapidly growing patient populations of cancer survivors by harnessing the power of the immune system to prevent cancer
recurrence. The Company’s pipeline consists of multiple mid- to late-stage clinical assets, including novel cancer immunotherapy programs led by
NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S), GALE-301 and GALE-302. NeuVax is currently in a pivotal, Phase 3 breast cancer clinical trial with several concurrent
Phase 2 trials ongoing both as a single agent and in combination with other therapies. GALE-301 is in a Phase 2a clinical trial in ovarian and
endometrial cancers and in a Phase 1b clinical trial given sequentially with GALE-302.

We are seeking to build value for shareholders through pursuit of the following objectives:

• Develop novel cancer immunotherapies to address unmet medical needs through the use of peptide-based vaccines targeting
well-established tumor antigens. One of our key strategies is to target the adjuvant setting in patients with higher risk of
recurrence, who had their primary treatment for cancer and have no evidence of disease, and are more likely to benefit from
treatment via immunotherapy. Our immunotherapy programs are currently targeting two key areas: secondary prevention
intended to significantly decrease the risk of disease recurrence in breast, gastric, and ovarian cancers; and primary prevention
intended to cease or delay ductal carcinoma in
situ
(DCIS) from becoming invasive breast cancer.

• Expand our development pipeline by enhancing the clinical and geographic footprint of our technologies. We intend to
accomplish this through the initiation of new clinical trials and potentially through acquisition of additional oncology programs.

• Leverage partnerships and collaborations, as well as investigator-sponsored trial arrangements, to maximize the scope of
potential clinical opportunities in a cost effective and efficient manner.

• Focus our resources on our valuable and expanding clinical development programs. On November 19, 2015 we sold our
Abstral ® (fentanyl) Sublingual Tablets product and related assets and on December 24, 2015 we sold Zuplenz (ondansetron)
Oral Soluble Film product and related assets, and as of December 31, 2015, we ceased our commercial operations.
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The chart below summarizes the current status of our clinical development pipeline:

 
Novel Cancer Immunotherapies

Our targeted cancer immunotherapy approach is currently based upon two key areas: preventing secondary recurrence of cancer, which
is becoming increasingly important as the number of cancer survivors continues to grow; and, primary prevention intended to cease a condition
known as ductal carcinoma in
situ
(DCIS) from becoming invasive breast cancer. Once a patient’s tumor becomes metastatic, the outcome is often
fatal, making the prevention of recurrence a potentially critical component of overall patient care. Our programs primarily target patients in the
adjuvant (after-surgery) setting who have relatively healthy immune systems, but may still have residual disease. Minimal residual disease, or single
cancer cells (occult cancer cells) or micrometastasis, that are undetectable by current radiographic scanning technologies, can result in disease
recurrence.

Our therapies utilize an immunodominant peptide combined with the immune adjuvant, recombinant human granulocyte macrophage-
colony stimulating factor (rhGM-CSF, Leukine), and work by harnessing the patient’s own immune system to seek out and attack any residual
cancer cells. Using peptide immunogens has many potential clinical advantages, including a favorable safety profile, since these drugs may lack the
toxicities typical of most cancer therapies. They also have the potential to evoke long-lasting protection through activation of the immune system and
a convenient, intradermal mode of delivery. We are currently engaged in multiple clinical trials with NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S), GALE-301, and
GALE-302, targeting the prevention of recurrence in breast, gastric, endometrial and ovarian cancers.
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NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S)

NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S), our lead product candidate, is a cancer immunotherapy targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor
(HER2) expressing cancers. NeuVax is the immunodominant nonapeptide derived from the extracellular domain of the HER2 protein, a well-
established and validated target for therapeutic intervention in breast and gastric carcinomas. The NeuVax vaccine is combined with GM-CSF for
injection under the skin, or intradermal administration. Data has shown that an increased presence of circulating tumor cells (CTCs) may predict
Disease Free Survival (DFS) and Overall Survival (OS)-suggesting a presence of of isolated micrometastases, not detectable clinically, but, over
time, can lead to recurrence, most often in distant sites. After binding to the specific HLA molecules on antigen presenting cells, the nelipepimut-S
sequence stimulates specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTLs), causing significant clonal expansion. These activated CTLs recognize, neutralize and
destroy, through cell lysis, HER2 expressing cancer cells, including occult cancer cells and micrometastatic foci. The nelipepimut immune response
can also generate CTLs to other immunogenic peptides through inter- and intra-antigenic epitope spreading.

Breast Cancer : A ccording to the National Cancer Institute, over 230,000 women in the U.S. are diagnosed with breast cancer annually.
While improved diagnostics and targeted therapies have decreased breast cancer mortality in the U.S., metastatic breast cancer remains incurable.
Approximately 75% to 80% of breast cancer patients have tissue test positive for some increased amount of the HER2 receptor, which is associated
with disease progression and decreased survival. Only approximately 20% to 30% of all breast cancer patients-those with HER2
immunohistochemistry (IHC) 3+ disease, or IHC 2+ and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) amplified-have a HER2 directed, approved
treatment option available after their initial standard of care. This leaves the majority of breast cancer patients with low-to-intermediate HER2
expression (IHC 1+/2+) ineligible for therapy and without an effective targeted treatment option to prevent cancer recurrence.

We have multiple trials currently ongoing for NeuVax. For our pivotal, Phase 3 PRESENT ( P revention of R ecurrence in E arly- S tage,
Node- Positive Breast Cancer with Low to Intermediate HER2 E xpression with NeuVax T reatment) trial, NeuVax is targeting the 50,000-60,000
female breast cancer patients annually diagnosed in the U.S. who are at a higher risk of their breast cancer recurring, which we refer to as “disease
recurrence,” after achieving “no evidence of disease” (NED) status, (or becoming a “survivor”) with standard-of-care therapy (surgery,
chemotherapy, radiation). These high-risk patients have a particular molecular signature and disease status: HER2 IHC 1+/2+ (oncoprotein
associated with aggressive tumor growth), node positive (disease present in the axillary lymph nodes prior to surgery), and are HLA A2 and/or A3
positive (human leukocyte antigen from A2/A3 patients who have the same loci of genes which represents approximately 65% of the population). Up
to 25% of resectable, node-positive breast cancer patients, having no radiographic evidence of disease following surgery and adjuvant
chemo/radiation therapy, are expected to relapse within three years following diagnosis. The prognosis upon recurrence is very poor. These cancer
patients presumably still had isolated, undetected tumor CTCs that led to a recurrence of cancer in the breast (local recurrence) or in another
location (metastatic disease). In addition to our Phase 3 trial, we currently have two additional Phase 2 breast cancer trials ongoing with NeuVax in
combination with trastuzumab (Herceptin ® ; Genentech/Roche) targeting the prevention of recurrence in expanded indications.

We also recently announced our intent to initiate a Phase 2 trial with NeuVax as a single agent in patients with ductal carcinoma in situ
(DCIS) in collaboration with the National Cancer Institute (NCI), potentially positioning NeuVax as a treatment for earlier stage disease. The trial will
have an immunological endpoint evaluating NeuVax peptide-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL; CD8+ T-cell) response in vaccinated patients.
DCIS is defined by the NCI as a noninvasive condition in which abnormal cells are found in the lining of a breast duct, and is the most common type
of breast cancer. The abnormal cells have not spread outside the duct to other tissues in the breast. In some cases, DCIS may become invasive
cancer and spread to other tissues, and at this time, there are no established methods to identify lesions which could become invasive. Current
treatment options for DCIS include breast- conserving surgery and radiation therapy with or without tamoxifen, breast-conserving surgery without
radiation therapy, or total mastectomy with or without tamoxifen. According to the American Cancer Society, in 2015 there were an estimated 50,000
diagnoses of DCIS.
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Gastric Cancer : Gastric cancer is the fourth leading cancer in the world and the second most common cause of death due to
malignancy, accounting for 736,000 deaths (9.7% of the total) . Nearly 1 million new cases of gastric cancer and 0.7 million gastric cancer deaths
are reported every year. Currently, gastric cancer is more common in Asia than in the United State of America (USA) or Europe. Notably, 42% of
cases occur in China alone. The 5-year survival rate for patients undergoing surgical resection was reported to be only 27% in 1992 ( reference) .
According to the NCI, gastric (stomach) cancer is a disease in which malignant (cancer) cells form in the lining of the stomach.  Almost all gastric
cancers are adenocarcinomas (cancers that begin in cells that make and release mucus and other fluids). Other types of gastric cancer are
gastrointestinal carcinoid tumors, gastrointestinal stromal tumors, and lymphomas. Infection with bacteria called Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) is a
common cause of gastric cancer and age, diet, and stomach disease can affect the risk of developing gastric cancer. Gastric cancer is often
diagnosed at an advanced stage because there are no early signs or symptoms. Gastric, or stomach cancer, is the second-most common cancer
among males and third-most among females in Asia and worldwide with over 35,000 new cases a year in India, where an initial clinical trial of
NeuVax will be run. Overexpression of the HER2 receptor occurs in approximately 20% of gastric and gastro-esophageal junction
adenocarcinomas, predominantly those of the intestinal type. Overall, without regard to the stage of cancer, only approximately 28% of patients with
stomach cancer live at least five years following diagnosis and new adjuvant treatments are needed to prevent disease recurrence.

We currently have a number of ongoing or planned clinical trials designed to expand the clinical and geographical footprint of NeuVax:

• Phase 3 Ongoing: Our Phase 3 PRESENT ( P revention of R ecurrence in E arly- S tage, Node-Positive Breast Cancer with
Low to Intermediate HER2 E xpression with NeuVax T reatment) study targeted enrollment of 700 HER2 1+/2+ patients who
are HLA A2 or A3 positive under a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) granted by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA). The multinational, multicenter, randomized, double-blinded PRESENT trial is ongoing in North America, Western and
Eastern Europe, and Israel. The trial is fully enrolled with 758 patients.

• Phase 2b Ongoing: A randomized, multicenter, investigator-sponsored, 300 patient Phase 2b clinical trial is enrolling HER2
1+/2+ node-positive and high-risk node-negative breast cancer patients who are HLA A2, A3, A24 and/or A26 positive to study
NeuVax in combination with trastuzumab in the adjuvant setting. This investigator sponsored trial (IST) is co-funded by
Genentech/Roche (providing both trastuzumab and monetary support) and Galena (providing NeuVax and monetary support).

• Phase 2 Ongoing: An IST is also ongoing to study NeuVax in combination with trastuzumab. The study will enroll 100 node
positive and negative HER2 IHC 3+ patients or HER2 gene-amplified breast cancer patients who are HLA A2 and/or HLA A3
positive and are determined to be at high-risk for recurrence. Partial funding for this trial comes from the Department of
Defense (DoD) through the Congressionally Directed Medical Research Program via legislation known as the Defense
Appropriations Act. The grant was awarded under a Breast Cancer Research Program with the Breakthrough Award given to
the lead investigator for the trial.

• Phase 2 Planned: A clinical trial, entitled, VADIS: Phase 2 trial of the Nelipepimut-S Peptide VA ccine in Women with D C IS of
the Breast is planned to initiate in Q1 2016. The Phase 2 trial will be a single-blind, double arm, randomized, controlled trial in
pre- or post-menopausal patients with DCIS who are HLA-A2 positive with HER2 expression of IHC 1+, 2+, or 3+. VADIS will
be co-funded and run in collaboration with the National Cancer Institute (NCI).

• Phase 2 Planned: A Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with gastric cancer is expected to initiate in 2016. The trial will be run in
India by our partner, Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, Ltd., as part of our NeuVax commercialization agreement in that region with
Dr. Reddy’s.
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GALE-301 and GALE-302

Our second immunotherapy franchise targets folate binding protein (FBP) receptor-alpha, a well-validated therapeutic target, which has
been shown to be highly over-expressed (20-80 fold) in ovarian, endometrial and breast cancers. Current treatments after surgery for these
diseases are principally with platinum based chemotherapeutic agents and patients suffer a high recurrence rate; and, most patients relapse with an
extremely poor prognosis. Both GALE-301 (E39) and GALE-302 (E39’) are immunogenic peptides that can stimulate CTLs to recognize and destroy
FBP-expressing cancer cells. GALE-301 consists of the FBP peptide E39 and is combined with GM-CSF, and is currently in a Phase 2a clinical trial
for the prevention of recurrence in patients with ovarian and endometrial cancers. Although not powered for efficacy, promising preliminary results
from the Phase 2a clinical trial of GALE-301 were presented in September 2015 at the European Cancer Congress. The results (i) demonstrated
statistically significant data with the estimate for disease free survival at two years at 85.7% (1000 mcg dose group) vs. 33.6% for the control group
(p < .02), (ii) showed that GALE-301 was well-tolerated with primarily Grade 1 and 2 toxicities, and (iii) elicited a strong in vivo immune response.

GALE-302 is an attenuated version of the E39 peptide and is currently in a Phase 1b randomized, single-center trial investigating a novel
vaccination series using GALE-301 and GALE-302 to evaluate the immune response and monitor long-term immunity. In November 2015, we
presented preliminary data at the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer Conference on the primary vaccine series (PVS) from a randomized Phase
1b trial with GALE-301 and GALE-302 demonstrating that the in vivo immune response is enhanced with the use of the attenuated E39’ (GALE-302)
after E39 (GALE-301). Both agents were shown to be immunogenic and well tolerated with no differences in toxicities between primary vaccine
sequences.

Ovarian Cancer : According to the NCI Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, new cases of ovarian cancer
occur at an annual rate of 12.1 per 100,000 women in the U.S., with an estimated 21,290 cases for 2015. Although ovarian cancer represents about
1.3% of all cancers, it represents about 2.4% of all cancer deaths, or an estimated 14,180 deaths in 2015. Approximately 1.3% of women will be
diagnosed with ovarian cancer at some point during their lifetime (2010 - 2012 data). The prevalence of ovarian cancer in the U.S. is about 192,000
women, and the five-year survivorship for women with ovarian cancer is 45.6%. Due to the lack of specific symptoms, the majority of ovarian cancer
patients are diagnosed at later stages of the disease, with an estimated 75% of women presenting with advanced-stage (III or IV) disease. These
patients have their tumors routinely surgically debulked to minimal residual disease, and then are treated with platinum- and/or taxane-based
chemotherapy. While many patients respond to this treatment regimen and become clinically free-of-disease, the majority of these patients will
relapse. Depending upon their level of residual disease, the risk for recurrence after completion of primary therapy ranges from 60% to 85%.
Unfortunately for these women, once the disease recurs, treatment options are limited and the disease is most likely incurable.

According to the NCI SEER Program, new cases of endometrial cancer occur at an annual rate of 25.1 per 100,000 women in the U.S.,
with an estimated 54,870 cases for 2015. Although endometrial cancer represents about 3.3% of all cancers, it represents about 1.7% of all cancer
deaths, or an estimated 10,170 deaths in 2015. Approximately 2.8% of women will be diagnosed with endometrial cancer at some point during their
lifetime (2010 - 2012 data). The prevalence of endometrial cancer in the U.S. is about 620,000 women, and the five-year survivorship for women
with endometrial cancer is 81.7%.

Hematology

GALE-401 (anagrelide controlled release (CR))

GALE-401 contains the active ingredient anagrelide, an FDA-approved product, for the treatment of patients with myeloproliferative
neoplasms (MPNs) to lower abnormally elevated platelet levels. The currently available immediate release (IR) version of anagrelide causes
adverse events that are believed to be dose and plasma concentration dependent. These adverse events may limit the use of the IR version of the
drug. Therefore, reducing the maximum concentration (C max ) is hypothesized to reduce the side effects, but preserve efficacy, potentially allowing
a broader use of the drug.

Multiple Phase 1 studies in 98 healthy subjects have shown GALE-401 reduces the C max of anagrelide following oral administration,
appears to be well tolerated at the doses administered, and to be capable of reducing platelet levels. The Phase 1 program provided the desired
PK/PD (pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic) profile to
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enable the initiation of the ongoing Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial. The Phase 2, open label, single arm, proof-of-concept trial enrolled 18 patients in
the United States for the treatment of thrombocytosis, or elevated platelet counts in patients with MPNs. Final Phase 2 safety and efficacy data were
presented at the 57th American Society of Hematology Annual Meeting in December 2015. The study demonstrated that GALE-401 was well
tolerated with primarily Grade 1 and 2 toxicities in 16 of the 18 subjects enrolled. The efficacy shown in the trial compares favorably to historical
anagrelide immediate release (IR) response rates with the following platelet response: overall response rate (ORR) of 78% (14/18); complete
response (CR) of 39% (7/18); partial response (PR) of 39% (7/18). Based on a regulatory meeting with the FDA, Galena believes a 505(b)(2)
regulatory filing is an acceptable pathway for development and potential approval of GALE-401.

Myeloproliferative neoplasms: MPNs are a closely related group of hematological malignancies in which the bone marrow cells that
produce the body’s blood cells develop and function abnormally. The main MPNs are Polycythemia Vera (PV), Essential Thrombocythemia (ET),
Primary Myelofibrosis (PMF), and Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia (CML), all of which are associated with high platelet counts. The MPNs are
progressive blood cancers that can strike anyone at any age and for which there is no known cure.

Alliance Partners in Therapeutic Areas

We are actively looking to leverage our technology platforms by seeking to work with pharmaceutical and biotechnology partners in a number
of therapeutic areas in oncology. Our team has experience targeting products in multiple indications, and based on this experience, we believe we
can expand the clinical utility of our current development candidates as well as discover more drug candidates by working with partners than we can
develop with our own resources. We are seeking to work with partners in the discovery and development of drugs in a number of therapeutic areas
and technology platforms.

9



Intellectual Property

Patents and other intellectual property rights are crucial to our success. It is our policy to protect our intellectual property rights through
available means, including filing and prosecuting patent applications in the U.S. and other countries, protecting trade secrets, and utilizing regulatory
protections such as data exclusivity. We also include restrictions regarding use and disclosure of our proprietary information in our contracts with
third parties, and utilize customary confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, clinical investigators and scientific advisors to protect
our confidential information and know-how. Together with our licensors, we also rely on trade secrets to protect our combined technology especially
where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. It is our policy to operate without infringing on, or misappropriating, the
proprietary rights of others. The following chart summarizes our intellectual property rights:
 

Drug Candidate
 

Indication
 

Scope  
 

Estimated
Exclusivity

Period  
 

NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S) Breast cancer recurrence Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2028

NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S) Gastric Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2028

NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S) DCIS Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2028

NeuVax™ in combination with trastuzumab Breast cancer Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2026

NeuVax™ in combination with other compounds Breast cancer Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2037

GALE-301 & GALE-302 Breast, ovarian and
endometrial cancer

Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2035

GALE-401 (Anagrelide Controlled Release) Platelet Lowering Filed and pending or issued
worldwide

2029
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Out-License Agreements

Teva Pharmaceuticals

Effective December 3, 2012, we entered into a license and supply agreement with ABIC Marketing Limited, a subsidiary of Teva
Pharmaceuticals (“ABIC”). Under the agreement, we granted ABIC exclusive rights to seek marketing approval in Israel for our NeuVax product
candidate for the treatment of breast cancer following its approval by the FDA or the European Medicines Agency, and to market, sell and distribute
NeuVax in Israel assuming such approval is obtained. ABIC’s rights also include a right of first refusal in Israel for all future indications for which
NeuVax may be approved.

Under the license and supply agreement, ABIC will assume responsibility for regulatory registration of NeuVax in Israel, provide financial
support for local development, and commercialize the product in the region in exchange for making royalty payments to us based on future sales of
NeuVax. ABIC also agrees in the license and supply agreement to purchase all supplies of NeuVax from us at a price determined according to a
specified formula.

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltd.

Effective January 14, 2014, we entered into a strategic development and commercialization partnership with Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories
Ltd. (“Dr. Reddy’s”), under which we licensed commercial rights in India to Dr. Reddy’s for NeuVax in breast and gastric cancers. Under the
agreement, Dr. Reddy’s will lead the Phase 2 development of NeuVax in India in gastric cancer, expanding the potential patient population
addressable with NeuVax.

Kwang Dong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Effective April 30, 2009, we entered into a license agreement with Kwang Dong Pharmaceutical Co, Ltd (Kwang Dong). Under the
agreement, we granted Kwang Dong exclusive rights to seek marketing approval in The Republic of Korea (South Korea) for our NeuVax product
candidate for the treatment of breast cancer following its approval by the FDA or the European Medicines Agency, and to market, sell and distribute
NeuVax in South Korea assuming such approval is obtained.
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Recent Developments (in reverse chronological order )

Litigation Settlement

On February 4 and 16, 2016, the United States District Court for the District of Oregon granted preliminary approval of the settlements
we had previously reported we had reached in  In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation,

Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00382-SI and in In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00367-SI, respectively. The Court has set the final approval hearings for April
21, 2016 in In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation
and June 23, 2016 in In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation.

Announced a Notice of Allowance of a U.S. Patent for NeuVax

On February 8, 2016, we announced the United States Patent Office issued a Notice of Allowance for an additional U.S. patent
application covering multiple uses of NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S):  inducing and maintaining an immune response to HER2 expressing tumor cells in
patients in clinical remission with a tumor having a fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) rating of less than about 2.0 (FISH <2.0); inducing and
sustaining a cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) response to HER2 in patients in clinical remission from a tumor with a FISH rating of less than about 2.0
(FISH < 2.0); reducing risk of cancer recurrence in patients in clinical remission from a tumor with a FISH rating of less than about 2.0 (FISH < 2.0);
and preventing bone only recurrence of a HER2 expressing cancer. This patent will expand both the protection and the potential population of
cancer patients NeuVax may address. Once issued, the patent will expire in 2028, not including any patent term extensions. 

Presented Observational Study Data in Gastric Cancer Patients at the ASCO 2016 Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium

On January 21, 2016, we presented data from an observational study in gastric cancer patients at the American Society of Clinical
Oncology (ASCO) 2016 Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium.  The study was conducted by our partner, Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltd, who will
conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial of NeuVax in gastric cancer patients in India. The poster, entitled, “An observational study evaluating the expression
of HER2 (1+, 2+, and 3+) with HLA A2+/A3+ in gastric adenocarcinoma patients” showed that approximately 25% of the patients met the projected
clinical protocol population of all levels of expression of HER2 and HLA A2+ and/or A3+ as defined for the planned NeuVax Phase 2 clinical trial. 
Results indicate an acceptable potential for enrollment rate, given the high incidence of gastric cancer in this population, and will inform the screen
failure rate in the planned Phase 2 clinical study.

Closed Two Public Offerings

On January 12, 2016, we closed the previously announced underwritten public offering of common stock and warrants. The net proceeds
to us were approximately $20 million.

On March 18, 2015, we announced the closing of an underwritten public offering of common stock and warrants. The net proceeds to us
were approximately $35.4 million.

Changes to our Board of Directors & Management Team

On December 24, 2015, we announced that Steven A. Kriegsman will be retiring as a Director of the Company when his current term
expires the day prior to the June 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. We also announced that we would conduct a search to replace Mr.
Kriegsman’s position on the Board of Directors and add an additional board member.

On December 11, 2015, we announced the departure of our Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Mr. Ryan Dunlap, effective December 31,
2015, as he was unable to relocate to the Company’s headquarters in California. We have instituted a search for a new CFO.
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On October 30, 2015, we announced the hiring of Bijan Nejadnik, M.D., as our Executive Vice President and Chief Medical Officer. Dr.
Nejadnik will be responsible for managing all of Galena's clinical development programs. Dr. Nejadnik has more than 22 years of academic and
industry experience, including twelve years with pharmaceutical and biotech companies including Jazz Pharmaceuticals, Johnson & Johnson, and
Purdue Pharma. During his career, Dr. Nejadnik has successfully developed numerous biologics and small molecules, advancing these agents
towards Biologics License Application (BLA) and New Drug Application (NDA) submissions.

Divestiture of Commercial Operations

On November 9, 2015, we announced the completion of a strategic review of the commercial business and operations. As a result of a
strategic review, on November 19, 2015 we sold our Abstral ® (fentanyl) Sublingual Tablets product and related assets; and, on December 24, 2015,
we sold Zuplenz ® (ondansetron) Oral Soluble Film product and related assets. On December 31, 2015 we ceased our commercial operations.

GALE 401 Final Phase 2 Clinical Trial Data Presented was presented at the 57th American Society of Hematology (ASH) Annual
Meeting and Exposition

On December 8, 2015, we presented final data via a poster presentation entitled “Final results of anagrelide controlled-release (GALE-
401) safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetics in subjects with myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN)-related thrombocytosis.”. The Phase 2 study
demonstrated GALE-401 is well tolerated and the efficacy compares favorably to historical anagrelide immediate release (IR) with reported platelet
count best response rates of eleven (61.1%) complete responses (CR), four (22.2%) partial responses (PR), and an overall response rate (ORR) of
83.3%. The mean time to response ranged from 1 to 9 weeks with GALE-401, which compares favorably to historical anagrelide IR, where time to
response ranged from 4 to 12 weeks. Fourteen of 18 subjects enrolled experienced a treatment related adverse event (AE); however, the vast
majority of AEs were Grade 1/2 with no patients discontinuing therapy due to progression of disease. Nine patients remain on trial and the median
time of response has not yet been reached.

GALE-302 Phase 1b Immunological Data Optimizing GALE-301 was presented at the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer
(SITC) 30th Anniversary Annual Meeting

On November 7, 2015 we presented the poster, entitled, “Preliminary report of a clinical trial supporting the sequential use of an
attenuated E39 peptide (E39’) to optimize the immunologic response to the FBP (E39+GM-CSF) vaccine,” that compared three primary vaccine
series (PVS) sequences of GALE-301 (E39) and GALE-302 (E39’) in ovarian and breast cancer patients to optimize the ex
vivo
immune responses,
local reactions (LR), and delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) reactions. The data demonstrated that the in
vivo
immune response is enhanced with
the use of the attenuated E39’ (GALE-302) after E39 (GALE-301). The optimal vaccination sequence utilizing three inoculations of GALE-301
followed by three inoculations of GALE-302 produced the most prominent and statistically significant LR and DTH responses.

Collaboration with the National Cancer Institute on a Phase 2 clinical trial with NeuVax in Ductal Carcinoma in Situ Patients

On September 30, 2015, we announced a collaboration with the National Cancer Institute (NCI) to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial with
NeuVax in patients diagnosed with Ductal Carcinoma in
Situ
(DCIS). The trial will be entitled VADIS: Phase 2 trial of the Nelipepimut-S Peptide VA
ccine in Women with D C IS of the Breast . The University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC) Phase I and II Chemoprevention
Consortium will be the lead clinical trial site for this multi-center trial with Elizabeth Mittendorf, M.D., Ph.D. serving as the study Principal Investigator.
The Consortium is funded through the Division of Cancer Prevention at NCI, which will provide financial and administrative support for the trial. We
will provide NeuVax, as well as additional financial and administrative support. The single-blind, double arm, randomized, controlled trial is expected
to initiate in the first half of 2016.

13



GALE-301 Positive Phase 2a Clinical Trial Data Presented at the European Cancer Congress 2015

On September 28, 2015 we announced the poster presentation of positive data from the GALE-301 Phase 2a portion of the Phase 1/2a
clinical trial at the European Cancer Congress 2015, providing updated data for all ovarian and endometrial cancer patients who have received at
least twelve months of treatment on the study. The poster was entitled, “Preliminary results of the phase I/IIa dose finding trial of a folate binding
protein vaccine GALE-301 (E39) + GM-CSF in ovarian and endometrial cancer patients to prevent recurrence,” and as presented, the clinical
recurrence rate based on all treatment cohorts was 41% in the Vaccine Group (VG) (n=29) versus 55% in the Control Group (CG) (n=22),
p=0.41. However, in the 1000 mcg VG cohort (n=15), there have only been two clinical recurrences (13.3% versus 55% CG, p=0.02), and the two-
year Disease Free Survival (DFS) estimate is 85.7% (1000 mcg patients) versus 33.6% (CG), p < 0.02, as compared by Kaplan-Meir and Log rank
tests.

IDMC Provides Recommendation to Reduce Cardiac Monitoring in the NeuVax, Phase 3 PRESENT Clinical Trial

On August 24, 2015 we announced that the Independent Data Monitoring Committee (IDMC) for the NeuVax Phase 3, PRESENT clinical
trial recommended that the Company can reduce the cardiac toxicity monitoring for patients in the study. Following its meeting in June 2015, the
IDMC recommended routine cardiac monitoring could be reduced in the PRESENT trial and that such a reduction is justified and consistent with the
pre-specified Cardiac Toxicity Monitoring Stopping Rules defined in the study protocol. The IDMC had no other suggestions and recommended the
trial continue as planned.

Published an abstract on the Leica Biosystem’s Companion Diagnostic at the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)
2015 Annual Meeting

On May 27, 2015, we announced an abstract publication at the ASCO 2015 Annual Meeting related to our NeuVax Phase 3 PRESENT
trial companion diagnostic in abstract #e11609, entitled, “Analytical Validation of BOND Oracle HER2 IHC System for Identifying Low to
Intermediate HER2 Expressing Breast Cancer in NeuVax PRESENT Phase 3 Clinical Trial.” This data demonstrated a direct correlation between
cell line receptor load, quantitative measure of HER2 protein, and IHC score. The ability to discriminate HER2 protein expression at the low and
intermediate levels in breast cancer tumors will identify patients for new treatments in development such as NeuVax. Specifically, the validation of
the Bond Oracle HER2 IHC System to distinguish lower levels of HER2+ expressions supports its use as a companion diagnostic.

NeuVax Phase 3, PRESENT Clinical Trial Over-Enrollment Completed

On April 14, 2015, we announced the completion of enrollment in the NeuVax™ Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial. As anticipated, we over-
enrolled the trial by 7.7% with a total of 758 patients now in the intent-to-treat (ITT) population. The protocol for the PRESENT trial called for 700
patients; and we expect this higher number of ITT patients will increase the confidence in both the timing and quality of the statistics and the final
outcome of the trial. The primary endpoint is currently expected to be reached in 2018, after the last patient dosed reaches her 36th month of
treatment, or a total of 141 events (recurrence or death) occur, whichever comes later.

Expanded Patient Population in NeuVax and Trastuzumab Combination Trial in HER2 1+/2+ patients to include HLA A24+
and/or HLA-A26+ patients

On March 26, 2015, we announced that human leukocyte antigen HLA-A24 and/or HLA-A26 positive women are now eligible for
enrollment into the ongoing Phase 2b clinical trial with NeuVax in combination with trastuzumab. The trial evaluates node positive and high-risk node
negative breast cancer patients with IHC HER2 1+/2+ expressing tumors who are disease-free after standard of care therapy.

Enrolled 700th Patient in NeuVax Phase 3 PRESENT Clinical Trial

On February 9, 2015, we announced enrollment of the 700th patient in the NeuVax Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial, which is the patient
enrollment target as defined by the PRESENT Phase 3 clinical trial protocol.
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Competition

The biotechnology industry, including cancer immunotherapy vaccines and hematology therapies, is intensely competitive and involves a
high degree of risk. Potential competitors in the U.S. and worldwide are numerous and include pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies,
educational institutions and research foundations. We compete with many of these companies who have far greater experience, capital resources,
research and technical resources, marketing experience, research and development staffs and facilities than us. Some of our competitors may
develop and commercialize products that compete directly with those incorporating our technology, and they may introduce products to market
earlier than our products or on a more cost effective basis. We may be unable to effectively develop our technology or any other applications on a
cost effective basis or otherwise. In addition, our technology may be subject to competition from other technology or methods developed using
techniques other than those developed by traditional biotechnology methods. Our competitors compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified
scientific and management personnel as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to our technology. We, and our collaborators, may face
competition with respect to product efficacy and safety, ease of use and adaptability to various modes of administration, acceptance by physicians,
the timing and scope of regulatory approvals, availability of resources, reimbursement coverage, price, and patent position including potentially
dominant patent positions of others.

For patients with early stage breast cancer, adjuvant therapy is often given to prevent recurrence and increase the chance of long-term
disease free survival. Adjuvant therapy for breast cancer can include chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, radiation therapy, or combinations thereof.
In addition, the HER2 targeted drug trastuzumab (Herceptin ® ) may be given to patients with tumors with high expression of HER2 (IHC 3+), as well
as other novel targets such as MUC1 which may be useful in treating breast cancer.

There are a number of cancer vaccines in development for breast cancer, including but not limited to Lapuleucel-T (Dendreon), AE-37
(Antigen Express), and Stimuvax (Merck KgA). While these development candidates are aimed at a number of different targets, and AE-37 has
published data in the HER2 breast cancer patient population, there is no guarantee that any of the these compounds will not in the future be
indicated for treatment of low-to-intermediate HER2 breast cancer patients and become directly competitive with NeuVax.

A number of chemotherapeutic agents have demonstrated activity in gynecological carcinomas (ovarian and endometrial), particularly
platinum based regimens. New chemotherapy agents are being evaluated including trabectedin (Yondelis) and belotecan as well as targeted agents
such as bevacizumab (Avastin) and pazopanib (Avotrient). Monoclonal antibodies are also being developed including farletuzumab and
catumaxomab. The Company is not aware of any of these agents being evaluated in the adjuvant setting where GALE-301 is being considered for
further development. TPIV200 (TapImmune) is in development targeting FBP in ovarian cancer.

For patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs), current treatment options include Agrylin ® (anagrelide hydrochloride) and its
generic equivalents, hydorxyurea and interferon alpha. Agents currently being studied in patients with MPNs include investigational JAK2 inhibitors
(e.g., LY2784544 (Eli Lily), momelotinib (Gilead Sciences) and pegylated interferon alfa-2a (Pegasys, Genentech/Roche)).
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Government Regulation

The U.S. and other developed countries extensively regulate the preclinical and clinical testing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-
keeping, advertising, promotion, export, marketing and distribution of drugs and biologic products. The FDA regulates pharmaceutical and biologic
products under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Public Health Service Act and other federal statutes and regulations.

To obtain approval of our future product candidates from the FDA, we must, among other requirements, submit data supporting safety
and efficacy for the intended indication as well as detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product candidate. In most cases,
this will require extensive laboratory tests and preclinical and clinical trials. The collection of these data, as well as the preparation of applications for
review by the FDA involve significant time and expense. The FDA may require post-marketing testing to monitor the safety and efficacy of approved
products or place conditions on any product approvals that could restrict the therapeutic claims and commercial applications of these products.
Regulatory authorities may withdraw product approvals if we fail to comply with regulatory standards and or the conditions of the regulatory approval
at any time following initial marketing of our products.

The amount of time taken by the FDA for approval of an NDA or BLA will depend upon a number of factors, including whether the
product candidate has received priority review or fast track designation, the quality of the submission and studies presented, and the workload at the
FDA.

We anticipate that our products will be manufactured by our strategic partners, licensees or other third parties. Before approving an NDA
or BLA, the FDA will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured and will not approve the product unless the manufacturing facilities
are in compliance with the FDA’s current good manufacturing practice (“cGMP”), which are regulations that govern the manufacture, holding and
distribution of a product. Manufacturers of biologics also must comply with the FDA’s general biological product standards. Our manufacturers also
will be subject to regulation under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Nuclear Energy and Radiation Control Act, the Toxic Substance
Control Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and other applicable environmental statutes. Following approval, the FDA periodically
inspects drug and biologic manufacturing facilities to ensure continued compliance with the good manufacturing practices regulations. Our
manufacturers will have to continue to comply with those requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements subjects the manufacturer to
possible legal or regulatory action, such as suspension of manufacturing or recall or seizure of product. Adverse patient experiences with the
product must be reported to the FDA and could result in the imposition of marketing restrictions through labeling changes or market removal.
Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the
product occur following approval.

The labeling, advertising, promotion, marketing and distribution of a drug or biologic product also must be in compliance with FDA and
Federal Trade Commission requirements which include, among others, standards and regulations for off-label promotion, industry sponsored
scientific and educational activities, promotional activities involving the internet, and direct-to-consumer advertising. In addition, we will be subject to
various laws and regulations governing laboratory practices and the experimental use of animals. In each of these areas, as above, the FDA has
broad regulatory and enforcement powers, including the ability to levy fines and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance of product approvals,
seize or recall products, and deny or withdraw approvals.

We will also be subject to a variety of regulations governing clinical trials and sales of our products outside the U.S. Whether or not FDA
approval has been obtained, approval of a product candidate by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries and regions must be
obtained prior to the commencement of marketing the product in those countries. The approval process varies from one regulatory authority to
another and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. In the European Union, Canada and Australia, regulatory
requirements and approval processes are similar, in principle, to those in the U.S.
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Financial Condition

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $38.2 million as of February 29, 2016. We believe that our existing cash and cash
equivalents, funding available under our Lincoln Park Capital, LLC (LPC) purchase agreement and At Market Issuance Sales Agreements (ATM),
should be sufficient to fund our operations for at least one year. This projection is based on our current planned operations, and subject to changes
in our plans, uncertainties inherent in our business, and the need to seek to replenish our existing cash and cash equivalents sooner than we project
and in greater amounts that we had projected.

On March 18, 2015, we announced the closing of our underwritten public offering of 24,358,974 shares of common stock and 12,179,487
warrants to purchase our common stock at an exercise price of $2.08. The underwriters also exercised their over-allotment option to purchase
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,826,923 shares of our common stock. On April 10, 2015, the underwriters exercised their option to purchase
an additional 3,653,846 shares of common stock providing us additional net proceeds of $5.4 million. The total net proceeds to us were
approximately $40.8 million.

On January 12, 2016, we closed on our underwritten public offering of 19,772,727 shares of common stock and 11,863,636 warrants to
purchase our common stock at an exercise price of $1.42. The underwriters also exercised their over-allotment option to purchase warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 1,779,545 shares of our common stock. The total net proceeds to us were approximately $20.1 million.

In addition to the funds raised through underwritten public offerings, we maintain a purchase agreement with Lincoln Park Capital LLC
(LPC) and At Market Issuance Sales Agreements (ATM) with future availability of $42.2 million and $15.4 million, respectively subject to certain
terms and conditions. We used the LPC purchase agreement in the fourth quarter of 2014 and the first quarter of 2015 raising $8.5 million and $4.4
million, respectively, by issuing 5.2 million and 2.7 million shares of our common stock. In addition, we used the ATM in the fourth quarter of 2014
and the first quarter of 2015 raising $2.3 million by issuing 1.4 million shares of our common stock in both quarters. In light of our current stock price
to continue to rely on sales of our common stock under the LPC purchase agreement, we will need to obtain certain revisions to the terms and
conditions of the LPC purchase agreement. We may also continue to use the ATM, or other instruments, in order to fund our operations going
forward.

We expect to continue to incur operating losses as we continue to advance our product candidates through the drug development and
the regulatory process. In the absence of revenue, our potential sources of operational funding are proceeds from the sale of equity, funded
research and development payments, debt financing arrangements, and payments received under partnership and collaborative agreements. There
is no guarantee that any debt, additional equity or other funding will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain additional
funding when needed, we would be forced to scale back, or terminate, our operations or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another
company.
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Environmental Compliance

Our development programs involve the controlled use of potentially harmful biological materials as well as hazardous materials,
chemicals and various radioactive compounds. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling
and disposal of these materials and specific waste products. We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and workplace safety laws and
regulations. The cost of compliance with these laws and regulations could be significant and may adversely affect capital expenditures to the extent
we are required to procure expensive capital equipment to meet regulatory requirements.

Human Resources

As of March 10, 2016, the Company had 22 full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by
a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced any work stoppages.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 2000 Crow Canyon Place, Suite 380, San Ramon, CA 94583, and our phone number is
(855) 855-4253. Our website address is www.galenabiopharma.com. We do not incorporate the information on our website into this annual report,
and you should not consider such information part of this annual report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our
business
is
subject
to
numerous
risks.
We
caution
you
that
the
following
important
factors,
among
others,
could
cause
our
actual
results
to
differ
materially
from
those
expressed
in
statements
made
by
us
or
on
our
behalf
in
filings
with
the
SEC,
press
releases
or
communications
with
investors
and
others.
Any
or
all
of
our
statements
in
this
annual
report
and
in
any
other
public
statements
we
make
may
turn
out
to
be
wrong.
They
can
be
affected
by
inaccurate
assumptions
or
by
known
or
unknown
risks
and
uncertainties.
The
factors
mentioned
in
the
discussion
below
will
be
important
in
determining
future
results.
Consequently,
actual
future
results
may
vary
materially
from
those
anticipated
in
this
annual
report
or
our
other
public
statements.

Risks Relating to Our Former Commercial Operations
We are subject to U.S. federal and state health care fraud and abuse and false claims laws and regulations, and we recently have been
subpoenaed in connection with marketing and promotional practices related to Abstral. Prosecutions under such laws have increased in
recent years and we may become subject to such prosecutions or related litigation under these laws. If we have not fully complied with
such laws, we could face substantial penalties.

Our former commercial operations and development programs are subject to various U.S. federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including,
without limitation, the federal False Claims Act, federal Anti-Kickback Statute, and the federal Sunshine Act.

A federal investigation of two of the high-prescribing physicians for Abstral has resulted in the criminal prosecution of the two physicians for
alleged violations of the federal False Claims Act and other federal statutes. The criminal trial is set for some time in 2016. We have received a trial
subpoena for documents in connection with that investigation and we have been in contact with the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of
Alabama, which is handling the criminal trial, and are cooperating in the production of documents. We are a target or subject of that investigation.
There also have been federal and state investigations of a company that has a product that competes with Abstral in the same therapeutic class,
and we have learned that the FDA and other governmental agencies may be investigating our Abstral promotion practices. On December 16, 2015,
we received a subpoena issued by the U.S. Attorney’s Office in District of New Jersey requesting the production of a broad range of documents
pertaining to our marketing and promotional practices for Abstral. We have been in contact with the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of New
Jersey and are cooperating in the production of the requested documents. We are unable to predict whether we could become subject to legal or
administrative actions as a result of these matters, or the impact of such matters. If we are found to be in violation of the False Claims Act, Anti-
Kickback Statute, Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or any other applicable state or any federal fraud and abuse laws, we may be subject
to penalties, such as civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, or an administrative action of exclusion from government health care
reimbursement programs. We can make no assurances as to the time or resources that will need to be devoted to these matters or their outcome, or
the impact, if any, that these matters or any resulting legal or administrative proceedings may have on our business or financial condition.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits persons from knowingly filing, or causing to be filed, a false claim to, or the knowing use of false
statements to obtain payment from, the federal government. Qui
tam
suits filed under the False Claims Act can be brought by any individual on
behalf of the government and such individuals, commonly known as “relators” or “whistleblowers,” may share in any amounts paid by the entity to
the government in fines or settlement. The frequency of filing qui tam actions has increased significantly in recent years, causing greater numbers of
health care companies to have to defend such qui
tam
actions and pay substantial sums to settle such actions.
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The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving, or providing remuneration, directly
or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual, or the furnishing or arranging for a good or service, for which payment
may be made under a federal health care program such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Several courts have interpreted the statute’s
intent requirement to mean that if any one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of federal health care covered
business, the statute has been violated. The Anti-Kickback Statute is broad, and despite a series of narrow safe harbors, prohibits many
arrangements and practices that are lawful in businesses outside of the health care industry. Penalties for violations of the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute include criminal penalties and civil and administrative sanctions such as fines, imprisonment and possible exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid
and other federal health care programs. An alleged violation of the Anti- Kickback Statute may be used as a predicate offense to establish liability
pursuant to other federal laws and regulations such as the federal False Claims Act. Many states have also adopted laws similar to the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the referral of patients for health care items or services reimbursed by any source, not only Medicare and
Medicaid programs.

The federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act includes provisions expanding the ability of certain relators to bring actions that would
have been dismissed under prior law. When an entity is determined to have violated the federal False Claims Act, it may be required to pay up to
three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus civil penalties for each separate false claim. The Deficit Reduction Act of 2005
encouraged states to enact or modify their state false claims acts to be at least as effective as the federal False Claims Act by granting states a
portion of any federal Medicaid funds recovered through Medicaid-related actions. Most states have enacted state false claims laws, and many of
those states included laws including qui tam provisions. The federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act includes provisions known as the
Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires manufacturers of drugs, biologics, devices and medical supplies covered under Medicare and
Medicaid to record any transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals and to report this data beginning in 2013 to the Centers for Medicare
and Medicaid Services for subsequent public disclosures. Manufacturers must also disclose investment interests held by physicians and their family
members. Failure to submit the required information may result in civil monetary penalties of up to $1 million per year for knowing violations and may
result in liability under other federal laws or regulations. Similar reporting requirements have also been enacted on the state level in the U.S., and an
increasing number of countries worldwide either have adopted or are considering similar laws requiring transparency of interactions with health care
professionals. In addition, some states such as Massachusetts and Vermont imposed an outright ban on certain gifts to physicians. These laws
could affect our product promotional activities by limiting the kinds of interactions we could have with hospitals, physicians or other potential
purchasers or users of our system. Both the disclosure laws and gift bans also will impose administrative, cost and compliance burdens on us.

We face product liability exposure and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability if our insurance
coverage for those claims is inadequate.

The commercial sale of our products exposes us to possible product liability claims. This risk exists even if a product is approved for
commercial sale by the FDA and manufactured in facilities licensed and regulated by the FDA. Our products are designed to affect important bodily
functions and processes. Any side effects, manufacturing defects, misuse or abuse associated with our products could result in injury to a patient or
even death. For example, because Abstral is designed to be self-administered by patients, it is possible that a patient could fail to follow instructions
and as a result apply a dose in a manner that results in injury. In addition, Abstral is an opioid pain reliever that contains fentanyl, which is regulated
as a “controlled substance” under the Controlled Substances Act of 1970 (the “CSA”) and could result in harm to patients relating to its potential for
abuse. Product liability claims may be brought against us by consumers, health care providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or
otherwise coming into contact with our products or generic versions of our products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product
liability claims we could incur substantial liabilities. Because we have sold Abstral and Zuplenz, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product
liability claims may result in:

• impairment of our business reputation;

• costs of related litigation;

• distraction of management’s attention from our primary business; or

• substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants.
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We have obtained product liability insurance coverage for commercial product sales with a $10 million per occurrence and a $10 million annual
aggregate coverage limit. Our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover all of our product liability related expenses or losses and may not
cover us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive and, in the future, we may
not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost, in sufficient amounts or upon adequate terms to protect us against losses due to
product liability. If we determine that it is prudent to increase our product liability coverage based on sales of our products, we may be unable to
obtain this increased product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Large judgments have been awarded in class action or
individual lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side effects, including side effects that may be less severe than those of our products. A
successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our
insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.

Our business involves the use of hazardous materials and we and our third-party manufacturers and suppliers must comply with
environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive and restrict how we do business.

Our third-party manufacturers and suppliers activities involve the controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials. We and our
manufacturers and suppliers are subject to laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous
materials even after we sell or otherwise dispose of the products. In some cases, these hazardous materials and various wastes resulting from their
use were stored at our contractors or manufacturers’ facilities pending use and disposal. We cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination,
which could cause injury to our employees and others, environmental damage resulting in costly clean-up and liabilities under applicable laws and
regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. Although we expect that the safety
procedures utilized by our third-party contractors and manufacturers for handling and disposing of these materials will generally comply with the
standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that this will be the case or eliminate the risk of accidental contamination
or injury from these materials. In such an event, we may be held liable for any resulting damages and such liability could exceed our resources. We
do not currently carry biological or hazardous waste insurance coverage and our property and casualty and general liability insurance policies
specifically exclude coverage for damages and fines arising from biological or hazardous waste exposure or contamination.

We will continue to be responsible for certain liabilities and obligations related to Abstral and Zuplenz, and if unknown liabilities were to
arise it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Under our respective asset purchase agreements with Sentynl Therapeutics, Inc. and Midatech Pharma PLC, our future obligations under our
former agreements with Orexo AB and MonoSol have been assumed by Sentynl and Midatech, respectively, except that we will continue to be
responsible for chargebacks, rebates, patient assistance and certain other product distribution channel liabilities related to Abstral and Zuplenz for a
specified period of time post-closing. We also will be responsible for any pre-closing liabilities and obligations related to Abstral and Zuplenz,
including unknown liabilities, and have agreed in the respective asset purchase agreements to indemnify Sentynl and Midatech for any breach of our
representations, warranties and covenants in the respective asset purchase agreements up to a certain agreed to amount. We cannot quantify these
responsibilities to Sentanyl and Midatech, but if substantial unknown liabilities were to arise, it could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition.
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Risks Relating to Our Development Programs
Our drug candidates may not receive regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.

Before they can be marketed, our products in development must be approved by the FDA or similar foreign governmental agencies. The
process for obtaining FDA approval is both time-consuming and costly, with no certainty of a successful outcome. Before obtaining regulatory
approval for the sale of any drug candidate, we must conduct preclinical tests and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in humans of
our product candidates. Although our drug candidates have exhibited no serious adverse events (“SAEs”) in the Phase 1 and 1/2 clinical trials, SAEs
or other unexpected side effects may arise during further testing and development. A failure of any preclinical study or clinical trial can occur at any
stage of testing. The results of preclinical and initial clinical testing of these products may not necessarily indicate the results that will be obtained
from later or more extensive testing. It also is possible to suffer significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after obtaining promising results
in earlier trials.

Clinical trial designs that were discussed with the authorities prior to their commencement may not result in the success of the trials or
subsequently may not be considered sufficient for approval. Thus, our special protocol assessment with the FDA for our PRESENT trial
does not ensure success of the trial or guarantee regulatory approval of NeuVax for the treatment of breast cancer.

In 2009, we reached agreement with the FDA regarding the special protocol assessment, or SPA, for the design of our NeuVax Phase 3
PRESENT trial as an adjuvant treatment for patients with node positive, HER2 1+/2+ breast cancer. An SPA certifies the agreement with the FDA
regarding the study endpoints, study design and statistical assumptions of the clinical trial. The SPA is documented as part of the administrative
record, and is binding on the FDA and may not be changed unless we fail to follow the agreed upon protocol, data supporting the test are found to
be false or incomplete, or the FDA determines that a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the safety or effectiveness of the drug was
identified after the testing began. In June 2013, the FDA agreed to an amendment to the SPA to account for the use of a companion diagnostic.
Even with an SPA, approval of an NDA or BLA is not guaranteed because a final determination that an agreed upon protocol satisfies a specific
objective, such as the demonstration of efficacy, or supports an approval decision, will be based on a complete review of all the data submitted to
the FDA. There is no assurance, therefore, that the NeuVax Phase 3 PRESENT trial will be successful or that NeuVax for the treatment of patients
with node positive, HER2 1+ and/or 2+ breast cancer will be approved by the FDA.

A number of different factors could prevent us from obtaining regulatory approval or commercializing our product candidates on a timely
basis, or at all.

We, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities, an Independent Data Monitoring Committee or “IDMC” governing our clinical trials, or
an institutional review board, or “IRB,” which is an independent committee registered with and overseen by the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, or “HHS,” that functions to approve, monitor and review biomedical and behavioral research involving humans, may suspend
clinical trials of a drug candidate at any time for various reasons, including if we, or it, believe the subjects or patients participating in such trials are
being exposed to unacceptable health risks. Among other reasons, adverse side effects of a drug candidate on subjects or patients in a clinical trial
could result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities suspending or terminating the trial and refusing to approve a particular drug candidate for any
or all indications of use.

Clinical trials of a new drug candidate require the enrollment of a sufficient number of patients, including patients who are suffering from the
disease the drug candidate is intended to treat and who meet other eligibility criteria. Rates of patient enrollment are affected by many factors, and
delays in patient enrollment can result in increased costs and longer development times than we expect at present. Patients who are enrolled at the
outset of this standard of care also may eventually choose for personal reasons not to participate in the study. We also compete for eligible patients
with other oncology trials underway from time to time, and we may experience delays in patient enrollment due to the dependency of other large
trials underway in the same patient population.

Clinical trials also require the review and oversight of IRBs, which approve and continually review clinical investigations to protect the rights and
welfare of human subjects. An inability or delay in obtaining IRB approval could prevent or delay the initiation and completion of clinical trials, and
the FDA may decide not to consider any data or information derived from a clinical investigation not subject to initial and continuing IRB review and
approval.

22



In addition, cancer vaccines are a relatively new form of therapeutic treatment and a very limited number of such products have received
regulatory approval. Therefore, the FDA or other regulatory authority may apply standards for approval of a new cancer vaccine that are different
from past experience.

Numerous factors could affect the timing, cost or outcome of our drug development efforts, including the following:

• difficulties or delays in enrolling patients in our Phase 1/2 clinical trials of GALE-301 and GALE-302 folate binding protein, or other clinical
trials in conformity with required protocols or projected timeline or in our other NeuVax clinical trials;

• conditions imposed on us by the FDA, including the possibility that the FDA would require an additional Phase 3 trial of NeuVax, or
comparable foreign authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical trials;

• difficulties or delays in arranging for third parties to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates;

• problems in engaging IRBs to oversee trials or problems in obtaining or maintaining IRB approval of studies;

• third-party contractors failing to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;

• our drug candidates having very different chemical and pharmacological properties in humans than in laboratory testing and interacting with
human biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or harmful ways, and the possibility that our previous Phase 2 trials will not be indicative
of our drug candidates’ performance in larger patient populations;

• the need to suspend or terminate our clinical trials if the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

• insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of our drug candidates or other necessary materials necessary to conduct our clinical trials;

• disruption at our foreign clinical trial sites resulting from local social or political unrest or other geopolitical factors;

• effects of our drug candidates not being the desired effects or including undesirable side effects or the drug candidates having other
unexpected characteristics;

• negative or inconclusive results from our clinical trials or the clinical trials of others for drug candidates similar to our own or inability to
generate statistically significant data confirming the efficacy of the product being tested;

• adverse results obtained by other companies developing similar drugs;

• modification of the drug during testing; and

• reallocation of our financial and other resources to other clinical programs.

It is possible that none of the product candidates that we develop will obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals necessary for us to begin
selling them or that any regulatory approval to market a product may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the
product. The time required to obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable but often can take years following the commencement of clinical
trials, depending upon the complexity of the drug candidate. Any analysis we perform of data from clinical activities is subject to confirmation and
interpretation by regulatory authorities, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Any delay or failure in obtaining required approvals
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue from the particular drug candidate.

In addition, the length of time to develop the product candidates as well as any regulatory delays in the development and regulatory approval
process could cause the patent exclusivity to be unavailable or greatly reduced for each product candidate. The lack of patent exclusivity could have
a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue from the particular drug candidate.
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We are also subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursement. The foreign regulatory approval process includes all of the risks associated with the FDA
approval described above as well as risks attributable to the satisfaction of local regulations in foreign jurisdictions. Approval by the FDA does not
assure approval by regulatory authorities outside of the U.S.

We are dependent upon contract manufacturers for clinical supplies of our product candidates, including our sole source of supply of a
key component of our Phase 3 PRESENT study of NeuVax.

We do not have the facilities or expertise to manufacture supplies of any of our product candidates for clinical trials. Accordingly, we are
dependent upon contract manufacturers for these supplies. There can be no assurance that we will be able to secure needed supply arrangements
on reasonable terms, or at all. Our failure to secure these arrangements as needed could have a materially adverse effect on our ability to complete
the development of our product candidates or, if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, to commercialize them.

Our current plans call for the manufacture of our products by contract manufacturers offering research grade, Good Laboratory Practices grade
and Good Manufacturing Practices grade materials for preclinical studies (e.g., toxicology studies) and for clinical use. Certain of our product
candidates are complex molecules requiring many synthesis steps, which may lead to challenges with purification and scale-up. These challenges
could result in increased costs and delays in manufacturing.

NeuVax is administered in combination with Leukine, “GM-CSF” is available in both liquid and lyophilized forms exclusively from Genzyme
Corporation, or “Genzyme,” a subsidiary of Sanofi-Aventis. We will continue to be dependent on Genzyme for the manufacture of Leukine in
connection with the ongoing NeuVax and GALE-301/GALE-302 trials and the potential commercialization activities of these products. Any temporary
interruptions or discontinuation of the availability of Leukine, or any determination by us to change the GM-CSF used with NeuVax or GALE-
301/GALE-302, may have a material adverse effect on our clinical trials and any commercialization of the thsese products.

We may not be able to establish or maintain the third-party relationships that are necessary to develop or potentially commercialize some
or all of our product candidates.

We expect to depend on collaborators, partners, licensees, clinical research organizations and other third parties to support our discovery
efforts, to formulate product candidates, to manufacture our product candidates, and to conduct clinical trials for some or all of our product
candidates. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully negotiate agreements for or maintain relationships with collaborators, partners,
licensees, clinical investigators, vendors and other third parties on favorable terms, if at all. Our ability to successfully negotiate such agreements will
depend on, among other things, potential partners’ evaluation of the superiority of our technology over competing technologies and the quality of the
preclinical and clinical data that we have generated, and the perceived risks specific to developing our product candidates. If we are unable to obtain
or maintain these agreements, we may not be able to clinically develop, formulate, manufacture, obtain regulatory approvals for or commercialize
our product candidates. Under certain license agreements that we have already entered into, we have minimum dollar amounts per year that we are
obligated to spend on the development of the technology we have licensed from our contract partners and other obligations to maintain certain
licenses. If we fail to meet this requirement under any of our licenses that contain such requirements or any other obligations under these licenses,
we may be in breach of our obligations under such agreement, which may result in the loss of the technology licensed. We cannot necessarily
control the amount or timing of resources that our contract partners will devote to our research and development programs, product candidates or
potential product candidates, and we cannot guarantee that these parties will fulfill its obligations to us under these arrangements in a timely fashion.
We may not be able to readily terminate any such agreements with contract partners even if such contract partners do not fulfill its obligations to us.

In addition, we may receive notices from third parties from time to time alleging that our technology or product candidates infringe upon the
intellectual property rights of those third parties. Any assertion by third parties that our activities or product candidates infringe upon its intellectual
property rights may adversely affect our ability to secure strategic partners or licensees for our technology or product candidates or our ability to
secure or maintain manufacturers for our compounds.
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We are subject to competition and may not be able to compete successfully.

The biotechnology industry, including the cancer immunotherapy market, is intensely competitive and involves a high degree of risk. Potential
competitors in the U.S. and worldwide are numerous and include pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, educational institutions and
research foundations. We compete with many of these companies that have far greater experience, capital resources, research and technical
resources, marketing experience, research and development staffs and facilities than us. Some of our competitors may develop and commercialize
products that compete directly with those incorporating our technology, and they may introduce products to market earlier than our products or on a
more cost effective basis. In addition, our technology may be subject to competition from other technology or methods developed using techniques
other than those developed by traditional biotechnology methods. Our competitors compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and
management personnel as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to our technology. We, and our collaborators, may face competition with
respect to product efficacy and safety, ease of use and adaptability to various modes of administration, acceptance by physicians, the timing and
scope of regulatory approvals, availability of resources, reimbursement coverage, price, and patent position including potentially dominant patent
positions of others.

For patients with early stage breast cancer, adjuvant therapy is often given to prevent recurrence and increase the chance of long-term disease
free survival. Adjuvant therapy for breast cancer can include chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, radiation therapy, or combinations thereof. In
addition, the HER2 targeted drug trastuzumab (Herceptin ® ) may be given to patients with tumors with high expression of HER2 (IHC 3+), in the
adjuvant setting which may be useful in treating breast cancer.

There are a number of cancer vaccines in development for breast cancer, including but not limited to Lapuleucel-T (Dendreon), and AE-37
(Antigen Express), and Stimuvax (Merck KgA). While these development candidates are aimed at a number of different targets, and AE-37 has
published data in the HER2 breast cancer patient population, there is no guarantee that any of the these compounds will not in the future be
indicated for treatment of low to intermediate HER2 breast cancer patients and become directly competitive with NeuVax.

We are dependent on technologies we license, and if we lose the right to license such technologies or we fail to license new technologies
in the future, our ability to develop new products would be harmed.

We currently are dependent on licenses from third parties for technologies relating to our product candidates. Our current licenses impose, and
any future licenses we enter into are likely to impose, various development, funding, royalty, diligence, sublicensing, insurance and other obligations
on us. If our license with respect to any of these technologies is terminated for any reason, the development of the products contemplated by the
licenses would be delayed, or suspended altogether, while we seek to license similar technology or develop new non-infringing technology. The
costs of obtaining new licenses are high.

Risks associated with operating in foreign countries could materially adversely affect our product development.

We conduct our Phase 3 PRESENT study of NeuVax in countries outside of the U.S. Consequently, we are, and will continue to be, subject to
risks related to operating in foreign countries. Risks associated with conducting operations in foreign countries include:

• differing regulatory requirements for drug approvals and regulation of approved drugs in foreign countries;

• unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements; economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in
particular foreign economies and markets; compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling
abroad; foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

• foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses or reduced revenues, and other obligations related to
doing business or operating in another country;

• workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the U.S.;
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• production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

• business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism.

In addition, there may be political instability, including war, terrorism, riots, civil insurrection or social unrest, and natural or man-made
disasters, including famine, flood, fire, earthquake, storm or disease, which could seriously harm the progress of our clinical trials at sites in
particular foreign countries or regions. For example, approximately 39 percent of our Phase 3 PRESENT trial sites and approximately 44% of
patients who have been randomized in the trial are in Russia and The Ukraine. The occupation of certain portions of Ukrainian territory by Russian-
backed separatists and ongoing political and civil unrest there could disrupt activities at these trial sites. It is also possible that Russia could retaliate
against the imposition of sanctions by the U.S. and the European Union by banning or restricting business activities in Russia by U.S. companies,
including the conduct of clinical trials, which could have a material, adverse effect on patient enrollment or ongoing activities at our Phase 3
PRESENT sites in Russia.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Position and Capital Requirements
We may not be able to obtain sufficient financing, and may not be able to develop our product candidates.

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $29.7 million as of December 31, 2015. We believe that our existing cash and cash
equivalents together with the net proceeds from the January 2016 underwritten public offering and use of an amended purchase agreement with
LPC and the ATM facilities should be sufficient to fund our operations for at least one year. This projection is based on our current planned
operations, anticipated payments for defense costs and settlements or judgments from the securities and derivative actions and opt-out cases, as
well as the SEC investigation and other governmental investigations. This projection is subject to change based on potential changes in our plans
and uncertainties inherent in our business, and we may need to seek to replenish our existing cash and cash equivalents sooner than we project.
We also have funding available under our purchase agreement with LPC (subject to the lock-up restrictions described below as well as certain terms
and conditions which may need to be amended) and ATM facilities with MLV & Co. and Maxim Group LLC, but there is no guarantee that such
funding will be available to us on favorable terms or will be sufficient to meet all of our future funding needs. In connection with our January offering,
we have agreed that, without the prior written consent of Raymond James & Associates, Inc., for a period of 120 days following the date of the
prospectus supplement for the January offering, we will not sell any shares of common stock pursuant to our purchase agreement with LPC. If we
fail to obtain additional future funding when needed, we could be forced to scale back or terminate our operations, or to seek to merge with or to be
acquired by another company.

We expect to continue to incur significant research and development expenses, which may make it difficult for us to attain profitability,
and may lead to uncertainty about our ability to continue as a going concern.

Substantial funds were expended to develop our technologies and product candidates, and additional substantial funds will be required for
further preclinical testing and clinical trials of our product candidates, and to manufacture and market any products that are approved for commercial
sale. Because the successful development of our products is uncertain, we are unable to precisely estimate the actual funds we will require to
develop and potentially commercialize them. In addition, we may not be able to generate enough revenue, even if we are able to commercialize any
of our product candidates, to become profitable.

In the event that we are unable to achieve or sustain profitability or to secure additional financing, we may not be able to meet our obligations
as they come due, raising substantial doubts as to our ability to continue as a going concern. Any such inability to continue as a going concern may
result in our common stock holders losing their entire investment. There is no guaranty that we will become profitable or secure additional financing.
Our financial statements contemplate that we will continue as a going concern and do not contain any adjustments that might result if we were
unable to continue as a going concern. Changes in our operating plans, our existing and anticipated working capital needs, the acceleration or
modification of our expansion plans, increased expenses, potential acquisitions or other events will all affect our ability to continue as a going
concern. Future financing may be obtained through, and future development efforts may be paid for by, the issuance of debt or equity, which may
have an adverse effect on our security holders or may otherwise adversely affect our business.
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If we raise funds through the issuance of debt or equity, any debt securities or preferred stock issued will have rights, preferences and
privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock in the event of a liquidation. In such event, there is a possibility that once all senior claims
are settled, there may be no assets remaining to pay out to the holders of common stock. In addition, if we raise funds through the issuance of
additional equity, whether through private placements or additional public offerings, such an issuance would dilute your ownership in us.

The terms of debt securities may also impose restrictions on our operations, which may include limiting our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, to pay dividends on or repurchase our capital stock, or to make certain acquisitions or investments. In addition, we may be subject to
covenants requiring us to satisfy certain financial tests and ratios, and our ability to satisfy such covenants may be affected by events outside of our
control.

You may have difficulty evaluating our business, and our historical financial information may not be representative of our future results.

We recently sold our Abstral and Zuplenz products and related assets and discontinued our commercial operations as of December 31, 2015 in
order to focus our resources on our pipeline of product development candidates. As a result, we will have no recurring revenues unless and until we
are able to obtain marketing approval of NeuVax or one or more of our other product candidates and our historical financial information may not be
representative of our future results.

We may be unable to comply with our reporting and other requirements under federal securities laws.

As a publicly traded company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
“Exchange Act,” and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act.” In addition, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual,
quarterly and current reports. Our failure to prepare and disclose this information in a timely manner could subject us to penalties under federal
securities laws, expose us to lawsuits and restrict our ability to access financing. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we, among other things,
establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. From time to time we evaluate our existing internal controls
in light of the standards adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. It is possible that we or our independent registered public
accounting firm may identify significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure or
difficulties in implementing and maintaining these controls could cause us to fail to meet the periodic reporting obligations or result in material
misstatements in our financial statements.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires annual management and independent auditor assessments of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. Our failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 on a timely basis could result in the loss of investor confidence
in the reliability of our financial statements, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business and our common stock.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We may not be able to obtain and enforce patent rights or other intellectual property rights that cover our product candidates and that are
of sufficient breadth to prevent third parties from competing against us.

Our success with respect to our product candidates will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the U.S. and
abroad, to preserve our trade secrets, and to prevent third parties from infringing upon our proprietary rights. Our patents and patent applications,
however, may not be sufficient to provide protection for NeuVax or our other products and product candidates against commercial competition.

The active peptide found in NeuVax, the E75 peptide, has been known and studied for many years. We have one issued U.S. patent, US
6,514,942, covering the composition of matter of the E75 peptide, which expired in mid-2015, prior to any potential commercialization of NeuVax.
We do not have and will not be able to obtain any composition of matter patent protection for E75, the active peptide in NeuVax. We also have a
license from The Henry M. Jackson Foundation to an issued U.S. European, Japanese and Australian method of use patents, which expire in 2028,
that are directed to a method of inducing immunity against breast cancer recurrence by administering a composition comprising the E75 peptide to
patients who have both an immunohistochemistry (IHC) rating of 1+ or 2+ for HER2/neu protein expression and a fluorescence in situ hybridization
(FISH) rating of less than about 2.0 for HER2/neu gene expression. The license further includes an issued U.S. method of use patent, and pending
applications in a number of foreign jurisdictions, which expires in 2028, that are directed to a method of inducing immunity against recurrence of any
HER2/neu expressing tumors by administering the E75 peptide to patients with tumors having a FISH rating of less than about 2.0 for HER2/neu
gene expression. Also included in the license is a method of use patent, which expires in 2026, that is directed to the use of NeuVax in combination
with Herceptin ® to treat any HER2/neu expressing cancer. Thus, our method of use patent may not prevent competitors from seeking to develop
and market NeuVax for use in cancer patients who do not meet these criteria. If any such alternative uses were approved, this could lead to off-label
use and price erosion for our NeuVax product. We may seek FDA approval for use of NeuVax to treat cancer patients who fall outside the claimed
IHC and FISH ranges and for other cancers as well. Although we are pursuing additional patent protection for NeuVax through pending patent
applications, we may not be able to obtain additional patent protection that would provide us with a significant commercial advantage.

The active peptides found in GALE-301 and GALE-302 are derived from Folate Binding Protein. One of the active peptides, E39, has been
known and studied for many years. The other active peptide, GALE-302, is a derivative of E39. We have a license from The Henry M. Jackson
Foundation to issued and granted patents in the U.S., Europe, Canada, and Japan, covering composition of matter for the E39 derivative peptides,
including GALE-302, alone and in combination with E39, as well as the use of these compositions for the treatment of cancer. These patents are
expected to expire in 2022, prior to any potential commercialization of GALE-301. We do not have and will not be able to obtain any composition of
matter patent protection for the E39 peptide in any territory and our patents may not prevent competitors from seeking to develop and market the
E39 peptide alone. The license we have from The Henry M. Jackson Foundation grants us the right to develop and market GALE-301 for any use,
including methods of treating cancer. If any such alternative uses of compositions containing the E39 peptide were approved, this could lead to off-
label use and price erosion for GALE-301. We may seek FDA approval for use of GALE-301 alone or in combination with GALE-302, to treat cancer
patients with ovarian and endometrial cancers and for other cancers, as well. Although we are pursuing additional patent protection for GALE-301
and the combination of GALE-301 and GALE-302 through pending patent applications, we may not be able to obtain additional patent protection
that would provide us with a significant commercial advantage.
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Anagrelide hydrochloride, the sole active pharmaceutical ingredient, or “API,” in GALE-401, has been approved for many years and, thus, it is
not possible to obtain composition of matter patents that cover anagrelide hydrochloride. As a result, competitors who obtain the requisite regulatory
approval can offer products with the same API as GALE-401, so long as the competitors do not infringe any formulation patents that we may have or
may obtain or license, if any. The only patent protection that we have or are likely to obtain covering GALE-401 are patents relating to very specific
formulations, methods using these formulations, and methods of manufacturing and packaging. We have an issued U.S. Patent, which expires in
2020, covering methods of anagrelide to reduce platelet count in patients subject to veno-occlusive events. We have granted patents in the U.S.,
United Kingdom and Japan, which expire in 2029, covering controlled release formulations of anagrelide and methods of use. We are also
prosecuting pending patent applications in other territories including but not limited to the U.S. Europe, and Japan, which may not issue prior to any
potential commercialization of GALE-401. We may seek FDA approval for use of GALE-401 to treat patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms that
include several hematological disorders. Although we are pursuing additional patent protection for GALE-401 through pending patent applications,
we may not be able to obtain additional patent protection that would provide us with a significant commercial advantage.

Our ability to obtain, maintain and enforce patents is uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions. Accordingly, rights under any
patents we have or may obtain or license may not provide us with sufficient protection for our commercial product and product candidates to afford a
commercial advantage against competitive products or processes, including those from branded and generic pharmaceutical companies selling
branded or generic products. In addition, we cannot guarantee that any patents will issue from any pending or future patent applications owned by or
licensed to us. Nor can we guarantee that the claims of these patents will be held valid or enforceable by the courts or will provide us with any
significant protection against competitive products or otherwise be commercially valuable to us.

Changes in either the patent laws or in the interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. or abroad may diminish the value of our intellectual
property. In addition, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith
Act includes a number of significant changes to the U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications will be
prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. The U.S. Patent Office is currently developing regulations and procedures to govern administration
of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act have not yet become effective.
Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act, in
particular the first-to-file provision and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement of or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial
condition. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents.

While we intend to take actions reasonably necessary to enforce our patent rights, we may not be able to detect infringement of our own or in-
licensed patents, which may be especially difficult for methods of manufacturing or formulation products, and we depend, in part, on our licensors
and collaborators to protect a substantial portion of our proprietary rights. In addition, third parties may challenge our in-licensed patents and any of
our own patents that we may obtain, which could result in the invalidation or unenforceability of some or all of the relevant patent claims. Litigation or
other proceedings to enforce or defend intellectual property rights is very complex, expensive, and may divert our management’s attention from our
core business and may result in unfavorable results that could adversely affect our ability to prevent third parties from competing with us.

If another party has reason to assert a substantial new question of patentability against any of our claims in our own and in-licensed patents,
the third party can request that the patent claims be reexamined, which may result in a loss of scope of some claims or a loss of the entire patent. In
addition to potential infringement suits and, interference and reexamination proceedings, we may become a party to patent opposition proceedings
where either the patentability of the inventions subject of our patents are challenged, or we are challenging the patents of others. The costs of these
proceedings could be substantial, and it is possible that such efforts would be unsuccessful.
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As the medical device, biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that others may
assert our commercial product and/or product candidates infringe their patent rights. If a third-party’s patents were found to cover our commercial
product and product candidates, proprietary technologies or its uses, we or our collaborators could be enjoined by a court and required to pay
damages and could be unable to continue to commercialize our products or use our proprietary technologies unless we or it obtained a license to
the patent. A license may not be available to us or our collaborators on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, during litigation, the patent holder
could obtain a preliminary injunction or other equitable relief, which could prohibit us from making, using or selling our commercial product and
product candidates pending a trial on the merits, which could be years away.

Proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how are also very important to our business. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade
secrets and unpatented know-how, by entering into confidentiality agreements with third parties, and proprietary information and invention
agreements with certain employees, consultants and advisors, third parties may still obtain this information or we may be unable to protect our
rights. We also have limited control over the protection of trade secrets used by our licensors, collaborators and suppliers. There can be no
assurance that binding agreements will not be breached, that we would have adequate remedies for any breach, or that our trade secrets and
unpatented know-how will not otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our competitors. If trade secrets are independently
discovered, we would not be able to prevent their use. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets or
unpatented know-how is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed to us alleged trade
secrets of their other clients or former employers. As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry, certain of our employees were
formerly employed by other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Moreover, we engage
the services of consultants to assist us in the development of our commercial product and product candidates, many of whom were previously
employed at or may have previously been or are currently providing consulting services to, other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies,
including our competitors or potential competitors. We may be subject to claims that these employees and consultants or we have inadvertently or
otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers or their former or current customers. Litigation
may be necessary to defend against these types of claims. Even if we are successful in defending against any such claims, any such litigation would
likely be protracted, expensive, a distraction to our management team, not viewed favorably by investors and other third parties, and may potentially
result in an unfavorable outcome.

Our product candidates may face competition sooner than expected after the expiration of our composition of matter patent protection
for such products.

Our composition of matter patents for many of our product candidates have expired or will expire prior to any product approval. We intend to
seek data exclusivity or market exclusivity for our NeuVax, GALE-301 and GALE-302 product candidates provided under the Federal Food, Drug
and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and similar laws in other countries. We believe that these product candidates will qualify for 12 years of data exclusivity
under the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, which was enacted as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act and the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the Affordable Care Act or ACA) enacted in March
2010. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product or biologics license application (BLA) cannot be submitted to the FDA until four
years, or if approved by the FDA, until 12 years, after the original brand product identified as the reference product is approved under a BLA. The
BPCIA provides an abbreviated pathway for the approval of biosimilar and interchangeable biological products. The new abbreviated regulatory
pathway establishes legal authority for the FDA to review and approve biosimilar biologics, including the possible designation of a biosimilar as
“interchangeable” based on its similarity to an existing brand product. The new law is complex and is only beginning to be interpreted and
implemented by the FDA. While it is uncertain when any such processes may be fully adopted by the FDA, any such processes could have a
material adverse effect on the future commercial prospects for our biological product candidates. There is also a risk that the U.S. Congress could
amend the BPCIA to shorten this exclusivity period, potentially creating the opportunity for biosimilar competition sooner than anticipated after the
expiration of our patent protection. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once approved, will be substituted for any reference product in a way
that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number of marketplace and
regulatory factors that are still developing.
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If our product candidates are not considered biologics that would qualify for exclusivity under the BPCIA, they may be eligible for market
exclusivity as drugs under the FDCA. The FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent marketing exclusivity within the U.S. to the first applicant
to gain approval of a new drug application (NDA) for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved
any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the action of the drug substance. During the
exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for review an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA, submitted by another
company for another version of such drug where the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required for approval.
However, an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also
provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical investigations, other than
bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application,
for example, for new indications, dosages, or strengths of an existing drug. This three-year exclusivity covers only the conditions associated with the
new clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs for drugs containing the original active agent.

Even if, as we expect, NeuVax, GALE-301 and GALE-302 are considered to be reference products eligible for 12 years of exclusivity under the
BPCIA or five years of exclusivity under the FDCA, another company could market competing products if the FDA approves a full BLA or full NDA
for such product containing the sponsor’s own preclinical data and data from adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety,
purity and potency of the products.

In some countries outside of the U.S., peptide vaccines, such as NeuVax and GALE-301 and GALE-302, are regulated as chemical drugs
rather than as biologics and may or may not be eligible for non-patent exclusivity.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock has exhibited substantial volatility recently. Between January 1, 2015 and February 29, 2016, the sale
price of our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market ranged from a low of $0.59 to a high of $2.39. The market price of our
common stock could continue to fluctuate significantly for many reasons, including the following factors:

• reports of the results of our clinical trials regarding the safety or efficacy of our product candidates and surrogate markers;

• announcements of regulatory developments or technological innovations by us or our competitors;

• announcements of business or strategic transactions;

• announcements of legal or regulatory actions against us or any adverse outcome of any such actions;

• changes in our relationship with our licensors, licensees and other strategic partners;

• our quarterly operating results;

• developments in patent or other technology ownership rights;

• public concern regarding the safety of our product candidates;

• additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us and, in the case of equity financings, may result in dilution to our
stockholders;

• general changes in the economy, the financial markets or the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries.

Factors beyond our control may also have an impact on the price of our stock. For example, to the extent that other companies within our
industry experience declines in their stock prices, our stock price may decline as well.
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Because our stock price has remained below $1.00 for more than thirty (3 0 ) consecutive trading days , the Company is therefore not in
compliance with the requirements for continued inclusion on the Nasdaq Capital Market under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). In accordance with
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company has 180 calendar days, or until August 22, 2016, to regain compliance with this minimum bid price
requirement. The Notice has no immediate effect on the Nasdaq listing or trading of the Company’s common stock. The Company can regain
compliance with the $1 minimum bid listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market if the closing bid price of the Company’s common stock is
$1.00 per share or higher for a minimum of ten consecutive business days during this initial 180-day compliance period. If compliance is not
achieved by August 22, 2016, the Company expects that Nasdaq would provide written notification to the Company that its securities are subject to
delisting. The Company will continue to monitor the closing bid price for its common stock and consider its available options to regain compliance
with the Nasdaq minimum bid requirements, which may include applying for an extension of the compliance period or appealing to a Nasdaq
Hearings Panel.

In the event that we fail to regain compliance with Nasdaq continued listing standards by the expiration of the applicable cure period or any
extension period, Nasdaq will commence suspension and delisting procedures with respect to our common stock, which could impair the value of
your investment. If our common stock is delisted from Nasdaq Capital Market in the future, such securities may be traded over-the-counter on the
“pink sheets.” The alternative market, however, is generally considered to be less efficient than, and not as broad as, Nasdaq. Accordingly, delisting
of our common stock from Nasdaq could have a significant negative effect on the trading volume, liquidity and market price of our common stock. In
addition, the delisting of our common stock could adversely affect our ability to raise capital on terms acceptable to us or at all and could reduce the
number of investors willing to hold or acquire our common stock.

We are, and in the future may be, subject to legal or administrative actions that could adversely affect our financial condition and our
business.

On February 4, 2016, the United States District Court for the District of Oregon granted preliminary approval of the settlement we had reached
in  In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation,

Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00382-SI. The Court has set the final approval hearing for April 21,
2016 . We have agreed to resolve and settle In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00382-SI, currently pending
in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors. The settlement
will not become effective until approved by the Court. The settlement includes a payment of $15 million in cash by our insurance carriers, which we
will use to fund a portion of the class action settlement, and cancellation of 1,200,000 outstanding director stock options. The settlement also will
require that we adopt and implement certain corporate governance measures and will provide that the plaintiffs’ counsel may apply to the court for
an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses up to $5 million. Any fees and expenses awarded by the court to the plaintiffs’ counsel will be paid by our
insurance carriers. The settlement will not include any admission of wrongdoing or liability on the part of us or the individual defendants and will
include a full release of us and the individual defendants in connection with the allegations made in the consolidated federal derivative actions and
state court derivative actions.

On February16, 2016, the United States District Court for the District of Oregon granted preliminary approval of the settlement we had reached
in In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00367-SI. The Court has set the final approval hearing for June 23,
2016 . We have agreed to resolve and settle In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
pending against us, certain of our current and former
officers and directors and other defendants in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon. The agreement, which is subject to
shareholder notice and Court approval, provides for a settlement payment of $20 million to the class and the dismissal of all claims against us and
tour current and former officers and directors in connection with the consolidated federal securities class actions. Of the $20 million settlement
payment to the class, $16.7 million will be paid by our insurance carriers and $3.3 million will be paid by us through a combination of $2.3 million in
cash and $1 million in shares of our common stock. We will be responsible for defense costs and any settlements or judgments incurred for any
related opt-out lawsuits.
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As a result of these settlements, we are responsible without insurance reimbursement for legal fees and costs incurred on our behalf as well as
the current and former directors and officers in obtaining the Court’s approval for the settlements. We are also responsible without insurance
reimbursement for the legal fees and costs and any settlements and judgments on our behalf as well as the current and former directors and officers
of any opt-out securities lawsuits and any other lawsuits raising similar claims. Those legal fees and costs as well as any settlements and judgments
may have a material impact upon the use of our cash to fund our development programs and our ongoing operations.

The SEC is investigating certain matters relating to the use of certain outside investor-relations professionals by us and other public
companies. We have been in contact with the SEC staff through our counsel and are cooperating with the investigation. We cannot predict with
certainty the outcomes of this investigation, but the cost of defending against lawsuits and complying with the government investigation could be
substantial and could significantly divert management’s attention and resources. The outcome of this investigation could require us to take, or refrain
from taking, actions which could negatively affect our operations, could require us to pay substantial amounts of money and could make it more
difficult to obtain capital or access our revolving line of credit. Negative publicity surrounding this government investigation and legal actions also
may harm our reputation and the demand for our products. Any one of these results could negatively affect our operations, financial condition and
liquidity and impair our ability to grow or sustain our business.

Litigation is inherently uncertain. We have incurred and may continue to incur substantial non-insurance reimbursed legal fees and other
expenses in connection with these or other legal and regulatory proceedings that may not qualify for coverage under, or may exceed the limits of,
our applicable directors and officers liability insurance policies and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, and
results of operations. These matters also may distract the time and attention of our officers and directors or divert our other resources away from our
ongoing commercial and development programs. An unfavorable outcome in any of these matters could damage our business and reputation or
result in additional claims or proceedings against us.

The Delaware forum provision of our amended and restated by-laws will not be given effect.

On August 6, 2013, our board of directors purported to adopt an amendment to our Amended and Restated By-Laws to add a new
Section 6.15 to provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will
be the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders. Under the Delaware General
Corporation Law, or DGCL, if the board of directors of a Delaware corporation such as our company is intended to have the power to adopt and
amend the bylaws, that power must be set forth in the corporation’s certificate of incorporation. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation does not provide for the power of our board to adopt and amend the bylaws, and we have determined that the Delaware forum bylaw
is inconsistent with the DGCL and will not be given effect.

Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the possibility that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

Future sales in the public market of shares of our common stock, including shares referred to in the foregoing risk factors or shares issued
upon exercise of our outstanding stock options, or the perception by the market that these sales could occur, could lower the market price of our
common stock or make it difficult for us to raise additional capital.

As of December 31, 2015, we had reserved for issuance 13,261,950 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
stock options at a weighted-average exercise price of $2.58 per share and 22,308,475 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of
outstanding warrants at a weighted-average exercise price of $2.10 per share. Upon exercise of these options and warrants, the underlying shares
may be resold into the public market. In the case of outstanding options and warrants that have exercise prices that are below the market price of
our common stock from time to time, our stockholders would experience dilution upon the exercise of these options.
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Our outstanding warrants may result in dilution to our stockholders.

Our outstanding March 2011 and April 2011 warrants to purchase a total of 791,398 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2015 at a
current exercise price of $0.65 per share contain so-called full-ratchet anti-dilution provisions. Our outstanding March 2010 and December 2012
warrants to purchase 25,000 shares and 3,031,311 shares, respectively, of common stock as of December 31, 2015 at exercise prices of $2.02 and
$1.83, respectively, per share contain so-called weighted-average anti-dilution provisions. These anti-dilution provisions may be triggered by the
issuance of the shares being offered hereby or upon any future issuance by us of shares of our common stock or common stock equivalents at a
price per share below the then-exercise price of the warrants, subject to some exceptions.

To the extent that these anti-dilution provisions are triggered in the future, we would be required to reduce the exercise price of all of the
warrants on either a full-ratchet or weighted-average basis, which would have a dilutive effect on our stockholders.

We may issue preferred stock in the future, and the terms of the preferred stock may reduce the value of our common stock.

We are authorized to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. Our board of directors may determine the terms of
future preferred stock offerings without further action by our stockholders. If we issue preferred stock, it could affect stockholder rights or reduce the
market value of our outstanding common stock. In particular, specific rights granted to future holders of preferred stock may include voting rights,
preferences as to dividends and liquidation, conversion and redemption rights, sinking fund provisions, and restrictions on our ability to merge with
or sell our assets to a third party.

Anti-takeover provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and provisions of
Delaware law could delay or prevent a change of control that our stockholders may favor.

Anti-takeover provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage, delay or
prevent a merger or other change of control that stockholders may consider favorable or may impede the ability of the holders of our common stock
to change our management. These provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, among
other things:

• divide our board of directors into three classes, with members of each class to be elected for staggered three-year terms;
• limit the right of security holders to remove directors;
• prohibit stockholders from acting by written consent;
• regulate how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at annual meetings of stockholders; and
• authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock in one or more series, without stockholder approval.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides that, subject to limited exceptions, persons that acquire, or are
affiliated with a person that acquires, more than 15% of the outstanding voting stock of a Delaware corporation such as our company shall not
engage in any business combination with that corporation, including by merger, consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares for a three-year
period following the date on which that person or its affiliate crosses the 15% stock ownership threshold. Section 203 could operate to delay or
prevent a change of control of our company.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable
future.

Our business requires significant funding. We currently plan to invest all available funds and future earnings in the development and growth of
our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, and are prohibited by the terms of our
outstanding indebtedness from paying dividends on any common stock, except with the prior consent of our lenders. As a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of potential gain for the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have received no unresolved written comments from the staff of the SEC regarding our periodic or current reports.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

On July 10, 2015, we entered into a lease with Legacy III SR Crow Canyon, LLC for our facility located at 2000 Crow Canyon Place, Suite
380, San Ramon, CA 94583. The facility is approximately 8,100 square feet and is used for our general and administrative offices. The monthly rent
is approximately $20,000.

In the fourth quarter of 2015 we relocated three of our employees from our former headquarters in Portland, OR to the San Francisco Bay
Area, CA. We are in the process of sub-leasing or terminating the lease at the facility located at 4640 SW Macadam Ave., Suite 270, Portland, OR
97239. The monthly rent is approximately $6,500.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In early 2014, several purported shareholder derivative complaints were filed against our company, as nominal defendant, and certain of
our officers and directors in the Circuit Court of Oregon for the County of Multnomah, the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon, and the
Delaware Court of Chancery. On April 11, 2014, the derivative complaints pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon were
consolidated in the matter of In Re Galena Biopharma, Inc. Derivative Litigation, No. 3:14-cv-382-SI (D. Or.), and on August 25, 2014, the lead
plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint. On July 21, 2014, all of the derivative complaints pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery were
consolidated in the matter of In re Galena Biopharma, Inc. Stockholder Derivative Litigation, Consolidated C.A. No. 9715-VCN (Del. Ch.). On
February 10, 2015, the lead plaintiffs in the derivative complaints pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery voluntarily dismissed their action
without prejudice. As a result of this dismissal, and at the recommendation of the special litigation committee of the board established on July 21,
2014 to investigate the derivative claims, on February 26, 2015 our board of directors disbanded the special litigation committee.

The operative complaints allege, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duties and abuse of control by the officers and directors in
connection with public statements purportedly issued by us or on our behalf and sales of our common stock by our officers and directors in January
and February of 2014, improper stock-option grants, and excessive compensation of our non-employee directors.

On December 3, 2015, we agreed in principle to resolve and settle the consolidated shareholder derivative action,  In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00382-SI, currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon against us
and certain of our current and former officers and directors. The settlement will not become effective until approved by that Court. The settlement
includes a payment of $15 million in cash by our insurance carriers, which we will use to fund a portion of the class action settlement, and
cancellation of 1,200,000 outstanding director stock options. The settlement also will require that we adopt and implement certain corporate
governance measures and will provide that the plaintiffs’ counsel may apply to the court for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses up to $5
million. Any fees and expenses awarded by the court to the plaintiffs’ counsel will be paid by our insurance carriers. The settlement will not include
any admission of wrongdoing or liability on the part of us or the individual defendants and will include a full release of us and the individual
defendants in connection with the allegations made in the consolidated federal derivative actions and state court derivative actions. On February 4,
2016, the United States District Court for the District of Oregon granted preliminary approval of the settlement and set the final approval hearing for
April 21, 2016 .

Also, five purported securities class action complaints filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon have been consolidated into a
single action, In re Galena Biopharma, Inc. Securities Litigation, No. 3:14-cv-367-SI (D. Or.), and a lead plaintiff has been appointed. On October 31,
2014, the lead plaintiff filed a consolidated amended complaint, which alleges, among other things, that our company and certain of our officers and
directors violated the federal securities laws by making materially false and misleading statements and omissions in press releases and in filings
with the SEC arising out of the same circumstances that are the subject of the derivative actions described above, and which alleges that certain of
our officers and directors sold company stock while in possession of material non-public information.

On December 3, 2015, we also agreed in principal to resolve and settle the securities putative class action lawsuit,  In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00367-SI, pending against us, certain of our current and former officers and directors
and other defendants in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon. The agreement, which is subject to shareholder notice and Court
approval, provides for a settlement payment of $20 million to the class and the dismissal of all claims against us and the other defendants in
connection with the consolidated federal securities class actions. Of the $20 million settlement payment to the class, $16.7 million will be paid by our
insurance carriers and $3.3 million will be paid by us through a combination of $2.3 million in cash and $1 million in shares of our common stock. In
addition to the $3.3 million payable accrued as of December 31, 2015 the company paid $2.0 million in December 2015 in attorney fees outstanding
as a condition of the settlement. We will be responsible for defense costs and any settlements or judgments incurred for any related opt-out lawsuits.
On February 16, 2016, the United States District Court for the District of Oregon granted preliminary approval of the settlement and set the final
approval hearing for June 23, 2016.
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On or about September 15, 2015, a federal securities lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon entitled, Riley v.
Galena Biopharma, Inc., et al. On February 8, 2016, we answered the complaint. The parties will engage in both written and oral discovery in the
near future.

On January 9, 2016, the former owners of Mills Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("Mills"), which the Company acquired through a Unit Purchase
Agreement dated January 12, 2014 (the "Purchase Agreement") noticed the Company and its former Chief Executive Officer, Mark J. Ahn, of
breaches of the Purchase Agreement and the representations and warranties contained therein as well as certain violations of Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, and violations of Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act. They have
provided the Company and Dr. Ahn with a copy of a draft complaint. The former owners and the Company have entered into a tolling agreement to
engage in discussions to attempt to resolve this matter.

On October 23, 2015, Orexo AB (“Orexo”) and Galena Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a settlement and license agreement with
Actavis Laboratories FL, Inc. (“Actavis”) to resolve pending patent litigation brought by the Orexo against Actavis involving Abstral® (fentanyl)
sublingual tablets. The pending patent litigation was filed by Orexo in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey in response to Actavis’
submission of an Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), seeking marketing approval for a
generic version of Abstral. As a result of the settlement and license agreement, Actavis will be permitted to enter the market with a generic or
authorized generic version of Abstral in the United States June 2018 or earlier under certain circumstances. The Court has entered an order
dismissing with prejudice the litigation against Actavis. Details of the settlement are confidential, and the parties have submitted the agreement to
the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice, as required by federal law. The expiration date for the latest expiring Abstral patent
listed in the FDA’s Orange Book is September 2019.

The SEC is investigating certain matters relating to the use of certain outside investor-relations professionals by us and other public
companies. We have been in contact with the SEC staff through our counsel and are cooperating with the investigation. We cannot predict with
certainty the outcomes of this investigation, but the cost of defending against lawsuits and complying with the government investigation could be
substantial and could significantly divert management’s attention and resources. The outcome of this investigation could require us to take, or refrain
from taking, actions which could negatively affect our operations, could require us to pay substantial amounts of money and could make it more
difficult to obtain capital or access our revolving line of credit. Negative publicity surrounding this government investigation and legal actions also
may harm our reputation and the demand for our products. Any one of these results could negatively affect our operations, financial condition and
liquidity and impair our ability to grow or sustain our business.

On December 16, 2015, we received a subpoena issued by the U.S. Attorney’s Office in District of New Jersey requesting the production of a
broad range of documents pertaining to our marketing and promotional practices for Abstral. We have been in contact with the U.S. Attorney’s Office
for the District of New Jersey and are cooperating in the production of the requested documents. We are unable to predict whether we could
become subject to legal or administrative actions as a result of these matters, or the impact of such matters. If we are found to be in violation of the
False Claims Act, Anti-Kickback Statute, Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or any other applicable state or and/or federal fraud and abuse
laws, we may be subject to penalties, such as civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, or an administrative action of exclusion from government
health care reimbursement programs. We can make no assurances as to the time or resources that will need to be devoted to these matters or their
outcome, or the impact, if any, that these matters or any resulting legal or administrative proceedings may have on our business or financial
condition.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “GALE ” The following table shows the high and low per-

share sale prices of our common stock for the periods indicated:
 

 High  Low
2014    

First Quarter $ 7.77  $ 2.15
Second Quarter 3.58  1.66
Third Quarter 3.36  2.00
Fourth Quarter 2.26  1.48

2015    
First Quarter $ 2.12  $ 1.33
Second Quarter 2.39  1.27
Third Quarter 1.92  1.10
Fourth Quarter 1.83  1.37

Holders
As of February 29, 2016, there were approximately 545 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares are held by

brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of individual stockholders represented by these
holders of record.

Dividends
We have never paid any cash dividends and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

We expect to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our development activities and the operation of our business. The payment of any future
dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will depend, among other things, upon our results of operations, financial
condition, cash requirements, prospects and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Additionally, our ability to pay future
dividends may be restricted by the terms of any debt financing.
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Equity Compensation Plan

The following table sets forth certain information as of December 31, 2015, regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans:
 

 (a)  (b)  Number of
Securities
Remaining

Available for
Issuance

Under Equity
Compensation

Plans
(Excluding
Securities

Reflected in
Column (a))Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be

Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding

Options,
Warrants and

Rights  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
of Outstanding

Options,
Warrants and

Rights  
Equity compensation plans approved by our security holders:      

Amended and Restated 2007 Incentive Plan 13,261,950  $ 2.58  8,177,252
Equity compensation plans not approved by our security holders:      

Employee Stock Purchase Plan NA  NA  528,131
Outstanding warrants (1) 482,186  $ 3.40  —

Total 13,744,136  $ 2.61  8,705,383
 

(1)  The warrants shown were issued in discrete transactions from time to time as compensation for services rendered by consultants, advisers or
other third parties, and do not include warrants sold in private placement or public offering transactions. The material terms of such warrants
were determined based upon arm’s-length negotiations with the services providers. The warrant exercise prices approximated the market
price of our common stock at or about the date of grant, and the warrant terms range from three to ten years from the grant date.
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Performance Graph

The following graph shows the value of an investment of $100 on December 31, 2010 in each of Galena Biopharma, Inc. common stock,
the NASDAQ Composite Index, the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index, and Standard & Poor's Index (S&P 500). All values assume reinvestment of
pretax value of dividends and are calculated as of December 31 of each year. The historical stock price performance of our common stock shown in
the performance graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock performance.

COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE RETURNS

 As of December 31,

 2010  2011  2012  2013  2014  2015

Galena Biopharma, Inc. (1) $ 100.00  $ 18.22  $ 59.30  $ 192.25  $ 58.53  $ 56.98
S&P 500 100.00  102.09  118.31  156.21  177.32  179.76
NASDAQ Composite 100.00  99.23  116.80  163.38  187.42  200.70
NASDAQ Biotechnology 100.00  112.06  148.73  146.78  331.57  370.60

(1) The cumulative return depicted above for Galena Biopharma, Inc. does not include the value of our former subsidiary, RXi
Pharmaceuticals Corporation ("RXi"), which we spun off to our stockholders in April 2012. See Note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information about the spin-off.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the period covered by this annual report, there were no sales by us of unregistered securities that were not previously reported by
us in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Current Report on Form 8-K.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

 Years Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

Operating expenses:          
Research and development (1) $ 23,611  $ 27,674  $ 20,424  $ 14,614  $ 3,851
General, and administrative (1) 10,609  16,226  8,065  6,585  8,635

Non-operating income (loss) (1) (4,371)  15,616  (41,786)  (13,178)  9,079
Loss from continuing operations (1) (38,956)  (28,284)  (71,327)  (33,325)  (3,407)
Loss from continuing operations per share, basic
and diluted  (1) $ (0.25)  $ (0.24)  $ (0.79)  $ (0.53)  $ (0.09)
 As of December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

Total assets (1) $ 82,144  $ 80,488  $ 87,976  $ 54,986  $ 30,968
Total debt  (1) 4,739  8,402  9,892  —  —
Other long-term obligations  (1) 11,560  11,704  11,874  11,311  9,654
Total stockholders' equity  (1) 13,513  37,059  5,886  27,756  10,112

(1) See Note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for discussion of our spin-off of RXi activities being classified as
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of expenses for 2012 and 2011. The net assets of RXi were removed from the consolidated
balances sheet as of the date of the spin-off and were recorded as an equity distribution. The selected financial data referenced for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 are exclusive of RXi activities.

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" below, and the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes and previously filed Annual Reports on Form 10-K for further information regarding our consolidated results
and financial position for periods reported herein and for known factors that will impact comparability of future results.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes to consolidated financial

statements included elsewhere in this annual report. This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
section contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. For a discussion of indicators
of forward-looking statements and specific important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-
looking statements, see “Risk Factors” under Part I — Item 1A of this annual report. This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” section should be read and interpreted in light of such factors. Our actual results and the timing of certain
events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those discussed
below and elsewhere in this annual report.

You may have difficulty evaluating our business, because we completed a partial spin off of RXi on April 26, 2012. Since the partial spin-
off, our financial statements have no longer reflected the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of RXi, and we have accounted
for our partial ownership of RXi based on the cost method of accounting. In addition, during the quarter ended September 30, 2015 the company
completed a strategic review of the company's commercial business including the ongoing sale, distribution and marketing of our two commercial
products, Abstral ®  (fentanyl) Sublingual Tablets and Zuplenz ®  (ondansetron) Oral Soluble Film (our “commercial business” asset group). As a
result of the review, we made a determination to sell or otherwise dispose of our commercial business, which was completed during the quarter
ended December 31, 2015. These actions caused the company to meet the relevant criteria for reporting the company's commercial business as
held for sale and in discontinued operations. For these reasons, the historical consolidated financial information included in this annual report does
not necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows that we will achieve in the future.
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Overview

Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Galena” or the “company”) is a biopharmaceutical company committed to the development
and commercialization of targeted oncology therapeutics that address major unmet medical needs. Galena’s development portfolio is focused
primarily on addressing the rapidly growing patient populations of cancer survivors by harnessing the power of the immune system to prevent cancer
recurrence. The Company’s pipeline consists of multiple mid- to late-stage clinical assets, including novel cancer immunotherapy programs led by
NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S), GALE-301 and GALE-302. NeuVax is currently in a pivotal, Phase 3 breast cancer clinical trial with several concurrent
Phase 2 trials ongoing both as a single agent and in combination with other therapies. GALE-301 is in a Phase 2a clinical trial in ovarian and
endometrial cancers and in a Phase 1b clinical trial given sequentially with GALE-302.

We are seeking to build value for shareholders through pursuit of the following objectives:

• Develop novel cancer immunotherapies to address unmet medical needs through the use of peptide-based vaccines targeting
well-established tumor antigens. One of our key strategies is to target the adjuvant setting in patients with higher risk of
recurrence, who had their primary treatment for cancer and have no evidence of disease, and are more likely to benefit from
treatment via immunotherapy. Our immunotherapy programs are currently targeting two key areas: secondary prevention
intended to significantly decrease the risk of disease recurrence in breast, gastric, and ovarian cancers; and primary prevention
intended to cease or delay ductal carcinoma in
situ
(DCIS) from becoming invasive breast cancer.

• Expand our development pipeline by enhancing the clinical and geographic footprint of our technologies. We intend to
accomplish this through the initiation of new clinical trials and potentially through acquisition of additional oncology programs.

• Leverage partnerships and collaborations, as well as investigator-sponsored trial arrangements, to maximize the scope of
potential clinical opportunities in a cost effective and efficient manner.

• Focus our resources on our valuable and expanding clinical development programs. On November 19, 2015 we sold our
Abstral ® (fentanyl) Sublingual Tablets product and related assets and on December 24, 2015 we sold Zuplenz (ondansetron)
Oral Soluble Film product and related assets, and as of December 31, 2015, we ceased our commercial operations.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates, allocations and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, management
evaluates its estimates, including those related to impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets, accrued liabilities, net revenue, and certain
expenses. Our estimates about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources are based on historical
experience and on other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions. Additionally, the financial information included here may not necessarily reflect the financial position,
operating results, changes in our invested equity and cash flows in the future.

Our significant accounting policies are summarized in the notes to our consolidated financial statements. We believe the following critical
accounting policies involve significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development costs are wages, benefits and other
operating costs, facilities, supplies, external services and overhead related to our research and development departments, and clinical trial
expenses.

Clinical trial expenses include direct costs associated with contract research organizations ("CROs"), as well as patient-related costs at
sites at which our trials are being conducted.

Direct costs associated with our CROs are generally payable on a time and materials basis, or when certain enrollment and monitoring
milestones are achieved. Expense related to a milestone is recognized in the period in which the milestone is achieved or in which we determine
that it is more likely than not that it will be achieved.

The invoicing from clinical trial sites can lag several months. We accrue these site costs based on our estimate of upfront set-up costs
upon the screening of the first patient at each site, and the patient related costs based on our knowledge of patient enrollment status at each site.

Stock-Based Compensation

We follow the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-
based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants, including employee stock options. Stock compensation
expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite
service period.

For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, we recognize compensation expense in accordance
with the requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50 (“ASC 505-50”), “Equity Based Payments to Non—Employees.” Non-employee option grants that
do not vest immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options. At the end of each financial
reporting period prior to vesting, the value of these options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, will be re-measured using
the fair value of our common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market
value of options granted to non-employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair value
re-measurements until the stock options are fully vested.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following weighted average
assumptions to determine the fair value of all its stock options granted:
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  2015  2014
Risk free interest rate  1.67%  2.01%
Volatility  73.97%  79.37%
Expected lives (years)  6.16  6.16
Expected dividend yield  0.00%  0.00%

The Company’s expected common stock price volatility assumption are based upon the volatility of a basket of companies that we
consider comparable to us. The expected life assumptions for employee grants were based upon the simplified method provided for under ASC 718-
10, which averages the contractual term of the options of ten years with the average vesting term of four years for an average of six years. The
expected life assumptions for non-employees were based upon the contractual terms of the options. The dividend yield assumption of zero is based
upon the fact that the Company has never paid cash dividends and presently has no intention of paying cash dividends in the future. The risk-free
interest rate used for each grant was also based upon prevailing short-term interest rates.

The Company has an estimated annualized forfeiture rate of 15.0% for options granted to employees, and 8.0% for options granted to
senior management and no forfeiture rate for directors. The Company will record additional expense if the actual forfeitures are lower than estimated
and will record a recovery of prior expense if the actual forfeiture rates are higher than estimated.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During the normal course of business, from time to time, we issue warrants and options to vendors as consideration to perform services.
We may also issue warrants as part of a debt or equity financing. We do not enter into any derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

We recognize all derivatives as assets or liabilities measured at fair value with changes in fair value of derivatives reflected as current
period income or loss unless the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for as such. During the year ended December 31,
2015, we issued warrants to purchase approximately 14,000,000 shares of common stock, in connection with equity transactions. There were no
warrants issued during the year ended December 31, 2014 in connection with equity transactions. In accordance with ASC Topic 815-40,
“Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Stock” (“ASC 815-40”), the value of these warrants is required to be recorded as a liability, as
the holders have an option to put the warrants back to us in certain events, as defined, and the warrants are determined not to be indexed to the
company’s own stock.

The derivative liabilities are remeasured each period end to the estimated fair value. The fair value of our derivative liabilities is estimated
using the appropriate pricing model, with the following assumptions used for the initial measurement of warrants granted:
 

  2015  2014
Risk free interest rate  1.41%  NA
Volatility  73.41%  NA
Expected lives (years)  5  NA
Expected dividend yield  0.00%  NA

The Company’s expected common stock price volatility assumption is based upon the volatility of a basket of companies that we
consider comparable to us. The expected life assumptions for the warrants is estimated to coincide with the contractual terms of the warrants.
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Business Combinations and Asset Purchases

We allocate the purchase price of our acquisitions to the assets and liabilities acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, based on
their respective fair values at the date of acquisition. Some of the items, including property and equipment, other intangible assets, certain accrued
liabilities and other reserves require a degree of management judgment. Certain estimates may change as additional information becomes
available. Management finalizes the purchase price allocation within 12 months of the acquisition date as certain initial accounting estimates are
resolved.

Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill
and
Intangible
Assets
— Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are tested annually for impairment
at the reporting unit level, or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. Factors the company considers
important that could trigger an interim review for impairment include, but are not limited to, the following:

• significant changes in the manner of its use of acquired assets or the strategy for its overall business;

• significant negative industry or economic trends;

• significant decline in stock price for a sustained period; and

• significant decline in market capitalization relative to net book value.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated for impairment first by a qualitative assessment to determine the
likelihood of impairment. If it is determined that impairment is more likely than not, the company will then proceed to the two step impairment test.
The first step is to compare the fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying amount of the reporting unit (the “First Step”). If the carrying amount
exceeds the fair value, a second step must be followed to calculate impairment (the “Second Step”). Otherwise, if the fair value of the reporting unit
exceeds the carrying amount, the goodwill is not considered to be impaired as of the measurement date. In its review of the carrying value of the
goodwill for its single reporting unit and its indefinite-lived intangible assets, the company determines fair values of its goodwill using the market
approach, and its indefinite-lived intangible assets using the income approach.

Intangible assets not considered indefinite-lived are reviewed for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying value
of these assets may not be recoverable. The Company’s policy is to identify and record impairment losses, if necessary, on intangible product rights
when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those
assets are less than the carrying amounts of those assets.

The Company performed its review for impairment using the qualitative assessment for both goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets, and has determined that there has been no impairment to these assets as of December 31, 2015 .

Acquisitions
and
In-Licensing
—
For all in-licensed products and technologies, we perform an analysis to determine whether we hold a
variable interest or a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity. On the basis of our interpretations and conclusions, we determine
whether the acquisition falls under the purview of variable interest entity accounting and if so, consider the necessity to consolidate the acquisition.
As of December 31, 2015 , we determined there were no variable interest entities required to be consolidated.

The acquisition of the Abstral U.S. rights has been accounted for as an asset acquisition and not a business combination. The purchase
price, including transaction costs, was recorded as an intangible asset related to the license and distribution rights acquired in the transaction. No
other significant assets or liabilities were acquired or assumed in the transaction.

The Company met the relevant criteria for reporting the commercial operations as held for sale as of September 30, 2015, and as a
result, assessed the commercial asset group for impairment pursuant to ASC Topic 360, Property,
Plant,
and
Equipment.
The net carrying value of
the commercial asset group was compared to its fair value as of September 30, 2015. The Company determined that the fair value using a risk
adjusted net present value of deal consideration received from bids from potential acquirers. The Company determined that the carrying value
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exceeded its fair value and as a result recorded an $8.1 million impairment charge on assets classified as held for sale in the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2015.

Refer to Note 14 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the acquisition of Abstral U.S.
rights and Note 19 as to our reporting the commercial operations as held for sale and in discontinued operations.

Valuation of Contingent Purchase Price Consideration

Acquisitions may include contingent consideration payments based on the achievement of certain future financial performance measures
of the acquired company (earn-out). Contingent consideration is required to be recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date. We estimate the
fair value of these liabilities based on financial projections of the acquired companies and estimated probabilities of achievement. We believe our
estimates and assumptions are reasonable; however, there is significant judgment involved. We evaluate, on a routine, periodic basis, the estimated
fair value of the contingent consideration and changes in estimated fair value, subsequent to the initial fair value estimate at the time of the
acquisition, are reflected in income or expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration obligations may result from changes in discount periods and rates, changes in the timing of development milestones achieved and
changes in probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achieving the various earnout criteria. Any changes in the estimated fair value of
contingent consideration may have a material impact on our operating results.

Legal Fees and Insurance Recoveries

There can be a significant time lag between the time that legal fees are incurred and the insurance reimbursement available to offset the
related costs. The legal costs are recorded in the period they are incurred, and the insurance recoveries for those costs are recorded in the period
when the insurance reimbursement is deemed probable.

Discontinued Operations

We met the relevant criteria for reporting our commercial business as held for sale and in discontinued operations in the accompanying
financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for the three years ended December 31, 2015, pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 205-20,
Presentation of Financial Statements - Discontinued Operations, and FASB ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013

For the year ended December 31, 2015, our net loss was $63.9 million compared with net losses of $36.6 million and $76.7 million for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2015, was $39.0 million
compared with losses from continuing operations of $28.3 million and $71.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2015, the Company completed its strategic review and concluded to solely focus its resources on its clinical
development pipeline and our management and board of directors committed to pursue a plan to sell or otherwise divest the Company’s commercial
business. These actions caused the company to meet the relevant criteria for reporting the Company’s commercial business as held for sale and in
discontinued operations. Discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 is comprised of the revenue, expenses,
gains and losses of our commercial business. Our loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $24.9 million
compared with losses from discontinued operations of $8.3 million and $5.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
The loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 includes an $8.1 million impairment charge recognized in the third
quarter of 2015 and $4.5 million in the loss on the sale of the commercial assets.

Further analysis of the changes and trends in our operating results are discussed below.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense consists primarily of clinical trial expenses and compensation-related costs for our employees
dedicated to research and development activities, compensation paid to our Scientific Advisory Board (“SAB”) members, and licensing fees and
patent prosecution costs. Research and development expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,  Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  % Change  2014  2013  % Change

Research and development expense $ 23,611  $ 27,674  (15)%  $ 27,674  $ 20,424  35%

The majority of our research and development expenses relate to our pivotal Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial using NeuVax as a HER2
directed cancer immunotherapy under evaluation to prevent breast cancer recurrence after standard of care treatment. The trial costs are more
significant during the recruitment and enrollment phase. We established more than 140 sites in 13 counties and screened over 3,300 patients in
order to enroll qualifying patients who currently have no available treatment options to maintain their disease-free status after their standard of care.
Once the patient is enrolled, they enter the monitoring phase, which lasts the later of three years of treatment or an event (recurrence or death). On
April 14, 2015 we announced the completion of over-enrollment in the PRESENT trial of 758 patients, which was 7.7% higher than called for under
our FDA-approved Special Protocol Assessment.

The decrease of 15% in our research and development expenses from 2014 to 2015 is primarily due to the decrease in enrollment
efforts surrounding our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial. The majority of the patients in the trial were enrolled in 2014. The completion of over-
enrollment in April 2015 reduced expenses related to the trial as we enter the monitoring phase and we continue toward our expected interim
analysis in the second quarter of 2016 and final endpoint in 2018. The decrease in recruitment and enrollment expenses related to the Phase 3
PRESENT clinical trial were partially offset by the expansion of our clinical pipeline to 8 clinical trials in 2015. We expect 2016 research and
development expenses to increase as we continue to expand our clinical pipeline and the hiring of additional headcount for quality, safety, data
management, clinical operations, and regulatory affairs as our clinical trials progress and approach their respective endpoints and as we begin
preparations towards filing our BLA for NeuVax.

The increase of 35% in our research and development expenses from 2013 to 2014 is primarily due to the increase in enrollment efforts
surrounding our Phase 3 PRESENT clinical trial. The majority of our patients enrolled in the PRESENT clinical trial were enrolled in 2014. In addition
to the increased enrollment efforts previously discussed, we also expanded our development pipeline to 6 clinical trials in 2014.
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General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense includes compensation-related costs for our employees dedicated to general and administrative
activities, legal fees, audit and tax fees, consultants and professional services, and general corporate expenses. General and administrative
expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  % Change

General and administrative expense $ 10,609  $ 16,226  (35)%

The year-over-year decrease was significantly impacted by the reduction in legal expenses related to the ongoing litigation and
proceedings described in Part I, Item 3 of this report, which were approximately $7 million in 2014. We exceeded the retention (deductible) under
our insurance policy during the third quarter of 2014, and therefore realized insurance recoveries of $2 million that partially offset these fees. In
2015, excluding legal expenses associated with the litigation settlement, the majority of the legal expenses incurred were paid by our insurance
carriers. In addition to a reduction in legal expenses, non-cash stock-based compensation decreased $3.3 million from 2014 to 2015.

Selling, general and administrative expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2014  2013  % Change
General and administrative expense $ 16,226  $ 8,065  101%

The year-over-year increase was significantly impacted by legal expenses related to the ongoing litigation and proceedings described in
Part I, Item 3 of this report, which were approximately $7 million in 2014. We exceeded the retention (deductible) under our insurance policy during
the third quarter of 2014, and therefore realized insurance recoveries of $2 million that partially offset these fees. In addition to an increase in legal
expenses, non-cash stock-based compensation increased $2.8 million from 2013 to 2014.

Non-Operating Income (Expense)

Non-operating expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,

  2015  2014  $ Change
Non-operating income (expense):       

Litigation settlement  $ (5,282)  $ —  $ (5,282)
Change in fair value of warrants potentially settleable in cash  1,162  16,556  (15,394)
Interest income (expense), net  (760)  (1,110)  350
Other income (expense)  509  170  339

Total non-operating income (expense), net  $ (4,371)  $ 15,616  $ (19,987)
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The increase to our non-operating expense in 2015 was primarily due to a $15.4 million increase in the fair value of warrants accounted
for as liabilities. The increase in the estimated fair value of our warrant liabilities was primarily related to the issuance of 14.0 million warrants during
our March 2015 underwritten public offering. In addition to the new warrant issuance the increase in the estimated fair value of our warrant liabilities
was partially offset due to the decrease in our common stock price, which declined from $1.51 per share as of January 1, 2015 to $1.47 per share as
of December 31, 2015, which is one of the most impactful inputs into the pricing model we use to estimate the fair value of our warrant liabilities.

In addition to the increase in our warrant liability, on December 4, 2015 we announced the settlement of the In
Re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation
and In
Re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
. The majority of the $20.0 million settlement payment for settlement
of In
Re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
is covered by the Company's insurance carriers and $3.3 million will be paid by the Company
through a combination of $2.3 million in cash and $1.0 million in shares of the Company's common stock. In addition, to obtain the agreement of the
insurance carriers to fund most of the settlement, we also agreed to pay all outstanding defense attorney fees going forward with respect to this
litigation and opt out securities litigation.

Non-operating income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,

  2014  2013  $ Change
Non-operating income (expense):       

Change in fair value of warrants potentially settleable in cash  $ 16,556  $ (44,001)  $ 60,557
Interest income (expense), net  (1,110)  (807)  (303)
Other income (expense)  170  3,022  (2,852)

Total non-operating income (expense), net  $ 15,616  $ (41,786)  $ 57,402

The increase to our non-operating income in 2014 was primarily due to a $60.6 million decrease in the fair value of warrants accounted
for as liabilities. This decrease in the estimated fair value of our warrant liabilities was primarily due to the decrease in our common stock price,
which declined from $4.96 per share as of January 1, 2014 to $1.51 per share as of December 31, 2014, which is one of the most impactful inputs
into the pricing model we use to estimate the fair value of our warrant liabilities. In addition to the decrease to the warrant liabilities, in 2013 there
were $3.9 million in realized gains on the sale of marketable securities. There were no such sales in 2014.

The increase in non-operating income was partially offset by an increase of $0.3 million in interest expense. We incurred $1.1 million and
$0.8 million in interest expense in 2014 and 2013, respectively, related to the debt financing we completed in May 2013.

Income Taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2015, we recognized an income tax expense of $0.4 million. This expense relates to indefinite lived
deferred tax liabilities. For the year ended December 31, 2013 we recognized an income tax expense of $1.1 million. This expense offsets the tax
impact related to the unrealized loss on our marketable securities, which is presented as other comprehensive income, net of tax, in our
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. During 2013, we reclassified the entire amount of unrealized gain on marketable securities into net
loss as we liquidated all of our marketable securities. There was no income tax expense or benefit during the year ended December 31, 2014. We
continue to maintain a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets.
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Loss from Discontinued Operations

During the quarter ended September 30, 2015, we completed a strategic review of our commercial business and operations, and as a result
of that review we sold the assets of our commercial business during the fourth quarter of 2015. We believe this disposition allows us to focus our
resources on our valuable and expanding clinical development programs and maximize the value of these assets to our shareholders. Our loss from
discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $24.9 million compared with losses from discontinued operations of $8.3 million
and $5.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The following table represents the components attributable to the commercial business in 2015, 2014 and 2013 that are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss as discontinued operations (in thousands):

 2015  2014  2013

Net revenue $ 9,734  $ 9,319  $ 2,487
Cost of revenue (1,780)  (1,403)  (520)
Amortization of certain acquired intangible assets (921)  (440)  (131)
Research and development (355)  (680)  (651)
Selling, general, and administrative (17,655)  (15,118)  (6,536)
Impairment charge from classification as held for sale (8,071)  —  —
Loss on sale of commercial business assets (4,549)  —  —
Severance and exit costs (1,349)  —  —

Loss from discontinued operations $ (24,946)  $ (8,322)  $ (5,351)

The 2015, 2014 and 2013 discontinued operations are comprised of the net revenue, cost of revenue, and expenses attributable to our
commercial operations, which we sold in the fourth quarter of 2015.

•
 Net
Revenue
included in discontinued operations comprises revenue from the sale of Abstral, which was provided by our
commercial operations.

•
 Cost
of
revenue
included in discontinued operations consists of direct products costs and related overhead, Abstral royalties
based on net revenue, inventory obsolescence, and other direct costs.

•
 Research
and
development
expense
included in discontinued operations consists of expenses related to our Abstral RELIEF trial
and other product stability costs.

•
 Selling,
general
and
administrative
expense
included in discontinued operations consists of all other expenses of our commercial
operations that are required in order to market and sell our marketed products. These expenses include all personnel related costs,
marketing, data, consulting, legal, consulting, and other outsider services necessary to support the commercial operations.

• Impairment
charge
from
classification
as
held
for
sale
included in discontinued operations consists of impairment recognized from
determining that the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the assets.

• Loss
on
sale
of
commercial
business
assets
included in discontinued operations consists of the calculation of the gain or loss
recognized upon the sale of the company's commercial products, Abstral and Zuplenz, and their related assets.

• Severance
and
exit
costs
included in discontinued operations consists of one-time termination benefits provided to employees that
were part of the commercial business and did not accept employment opportunities at the companies who purchased Abstral and Zuplenz.
In addition to severance costs there are costs included to terminate contracts prior to their contractual term with no economic benefit to the
Company.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $29.7 million as of December 31, 2015 , compared with $23.7 million as of
December 31, 2014.

The increase of approximately $6.1 million in cash and cash equivalents from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2015 was
attributable to $47.4 million net proceeds received from the sale of common stock and $11.3 million in proceeds from the sale of Abstral and
Zuplenz. The increase was partially offset by $48.2 million net cash used in operating activities and $3.9 million principal payments on long-term
debt.

On March 18, 2015, we announced the closing of our underwritten public offering of 24,358,974 shares of common stock and 12,179,487
warrants to purchase our common stock at an exercise price of $2.08 per share. The underwriters also exercised their over-allotment option to
purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,826,923 shares of our common stock. On April 10, 2015, the underwriters exercised their option to
purchase an additional 3,653,846 shares of common stock providing us additional net proceeds of $5.4 million. The total net proceeds to us were
approximately $40.8 million.

On January 12, 2016, we closed on our underwritten public offering of 19,772,727 shares of common stock and 11,863,636 warrants to
purchase our common stock at an exercise price of $1.42 per share. The underwriters also exercised their over-allotment option to purchase
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,779,545 shares of our common stock. The total net proceeds to us were approximately $20.1 million.

In addition to the funds raised through underwritten public offerings, we maintain a purchase agreement with Lincoln Park Capital LLC
(LPC) and At Market Issuance Sales Agreements (ATM) with future availability of $42.2 million and $15.4 million, respectively subject to certain
terms and conditions. We used the LPC purchase agreement in the fourth quarter of 2014 and the first quarter of 2015 raising $8.5 million and $4.4
million, respectively, by issuing 5.2 million and 2.7 million shares of our common stock. In addition, we used the ATM in the fourth quarter of 2014
and the first quarter of 2015 raising $2.3 million by issuing 1.4 million shares of our common stock in both quarters. In light of our current stock price
to continue to rely on sales of our common stock under the LPC purchase agreement, we will need to obtain certain revisions to the terms and
conditions of the LPC purchase agreement. We may also continue to use the ATM, or other instruments, in order to fund our operations going
forward.

We expect to continue to incur operating losses as we continue to advance our product candidates through the drug development and
the regulatory process. In the absence of revenue, our potential sources of operational funding are proceeds from the sale of equity, funded
research and development payments, debt financing arrangements, and payments received under partnership and collaborative agreements.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, funding available under an amended LPC purchase agreement, ATM and other
instruments, should be sufficient to fund our operations for at least one year. This projection is based on our current planned operations, and subject
to changes in our plans, uncertainties inherent in our business, and the need to seek to replenish our existing cash and cash equivalents sooner
than we project and in greater amounts that we had projected. There is no guarantee that any debt, additional equity or other funding will be
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain additional funding when needed, we would be forced to scale back, or terminate, our
operations or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015
and 2014 ($ in thousands):

 For the Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014

Cash flows from continuing operations:    
Cash flows used in continuing operating activities $ (38,802)  $ (37,037)
Cash flows provided by (used in) continuing investing activities (354)  (2,472)
Cash flows provided by continuing financing activities 43,845  24,260

Total cash flows provided by (used in) continuing operations 4,689  (15,249)
    

Cash flows from discontinued operations:    
Cash flows used in discontinued operating activities (9,358)  (5,832)
Cash flows provided by (used in) discontinued investing activities 10,749 — (3,056)

Total cash flows provided by (used in) discontinued operations 1,391  (8,888)
    

Total cash flows:    
Cash flows used in operating activities (48,160)  (42,869)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 10,395  (5,528)
Cash flows provided by financing activities 43,845  24,260

Total increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 6,080  $ (24,137)

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $ 48.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 , compared with $42.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2014 . The increase of approximately $5.3 million resulted primarily from an increase in cash used in our discontinued
operations of $3.5 million as well as increased legal expenses of our litigation settlement that was announced in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities was $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 , compared with net cash used in investing
activities of $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 . The sale of our commercial business assets in the fourth quarter of 2015 resulted in
the receipt of $11.3 million partially offset by purchases of property and equipment. The cash used in investing activities in 2014 was a $2.4 million
initial payment for GALE-401 rights and the $3.1 million initial cash payment for U.S. right to Zuplenz.

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $43.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 , compared with $24.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 . In 2015, we received proceeds of $47.4 million from the issuance of common stock and $0.3 million from the exercise
of common stock options and warrants, partially offset by $3.9 million in principal payments on long-term debt. In 2014, we received proceeds of
$10.7 million from the issuance of common stock and $15.3 million from the exercise of common stock options and warrants, partially offset by $1.8
million in principal payments on long-term debt.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

  Payment Due by Period

  Less than 1 Year  1 to 3 Years  3 to 5 Years  Total

Long-term debt (1)  $ 4,739  $ —  $ —  $ 4,739
Cancelable license agreements (2)  350  700  7,165  8,215
Non-cancelable employment agreements (2)  850  —  —  850
Non-cancelable operating leases (2)  316  639  487  1,442
Total  $ 6,255  $ 1,339  $ 7,652  $ 15,246

(1) Long-term debt payments presented are comprised of principal and interest payments. See Note 6 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information on our long-term debt.

(2) See Note 7 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information on the referenced contractual obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet financing arrangements other than operating leases.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve capital. We do not utilize hedging contracts or similar instruments.

We are exposed to certain market risks relating primarily to (1) interest rate risk on our cash and cash equivalents and (2) risks relating
to the financial viability of the institutions which hold our capital and through which we have invested our funds. We manage such risks by investing
primarily in money market mutual funds.

In addition, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations relating to payments we make to certain vendors and
suppliers and license partners using foreign currencies. We do not hedge against foreign currency risks. Consequently, changes in exchange rates
could adversely affect our operating results and stock price. Such losses have not been significant to date.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Galena Biopharma, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years the ended. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement.  An  audit  includes  examining,  on  a  test  basis,  evidence  supporting  the  amounts  and  disclosures  in  the  consolidated  financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Galena Biopharma, Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),  Galena Biopharma,
Inc.’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  December  31,  2015,  based on  criteria  established  in  Internal  Control  -  Integrated  Framework
(2013)  issued  by  the  Committee  of  Sponsoring  Organizations  of  the  Treadway  Commission  and  our  report  dated  March  10,  2016  expressed  an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 10, 2016
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014
ASSETS    

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29,730  $ 23,650
Restricted cash 401  200
Litigation settlement insurance recovery 21,700  —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,398  1,237
Current assets of discontinued operations 392  27,013

Total current assets 53,621  52,100
Equipment and furnishings, net 335  285
GALE-401 rights 9,255  9,255
In-process research and development 12,864  12,864
Goodwill 5,898  5,897
Deposits and other assets 171  87

Total assets $ 82,144  $ 80,488

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 1,597  $ 1,886
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 5,292  8,885
Litigation settlement payable 25,000  —
Fair value of warrants potentially settleable in cash 14,518  5,383
Current portion of long-term debt 4,739  3,910
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 5,925  7,169

Total current liabilities 57,071  27,233
Deferred tax liability 5,418  5,053
Contingent purchase price consideration 6,142  6,651
Long-term debt, net of current portion —  4,492

Total liabilities 68,631  43,429
Commitments and contingencies  
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding —  —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 275,000,000 shares authorized, 162,581,753 shares issued and
161,906,753 shares outstanding at December 31, 2015; 200,000,000 shares authorized, 130,146,341
shares issued and 129,471,341 shares outstanding at December 31, 2014 15  12
Additional paid-in capital 296,730  256,377
Accumulated deficit (279,383)  (215,481)
Less treasury shares at cost, 675,000 shares (3,849)  (3,849)

Total stockholders’ equity 13,513  37,059

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 82,144  $ 80,488

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

 For the Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013
Operating expenses:      

Research and development $ 23,611  $ 27,674  $ 20,424
General and administrative 10,609  16,226  8,065

Total operating expenses 34,220  43,900  28,489
Operating loss (34,220)  (43,900)  (28,489)
Non-operating income (expense):      

Litigation settlement (5,282)  —  —
Gain (loss) on warrant derivative liability 1,162  16,556  (44,001)
Interest expense, net (760)  (1,110)  (807)
Other income 509  170  3,022

Total non-operating income (expense), net (4,371)  15,616  (41,786)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (38,591)  (28,284)  (70,275)
Income tax expense 365  —  1,052
Loss from continuing operations (38,956)  (28,284)  (71,327)
Loss from discontinued operations (24,946)  (8,322)  (5,351)

Net loss $ (63,902)  $ (36,606)  $ (76,678)

Net loss per common share:      
Basic and diluted per share, continuing operations $ (0.25)  $ (0.24)  $ (0.79)

Basic and diluted loss per share, discontinued operations $ (0.16)  $ (0.07)  $ (0.06)

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.41)  $ (0.31)  $ (0.85)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding: basic and diluted 155,264,729  119,388,366  90,181,501

Comprehensive loss      
Net loss $ (63,902)  $ (36,606)  $ (76,678)
Reclassification of unrealized gain upon sale of marketable securities —  —  (2,678)
Tax effect of reclassification of unrealized gain upon sale of marketable securities —  —  1,052

Total comprehensive loss $ (63,902)  $ (36,606)  $ (78,304)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

 Common Stock  
Additional Paid-

In Capital

 Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 
Accumulated

Deficit

 

Treasury Stock

 

Total Shares Issued  Amount      

Balance at December 31, 2012 83,595,837  $ 8  $ 132,168  $ 1,626  $ (102,197)  $ (3,849)  $ 27,756

Issuance of common stock 20,125,000  2  37,537  —  —  —  37,539
Common stock warrants issued in
connection with September 2013 common
stock offering —  —  (8,238)  —  —  —  (8,238)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
warrants 5,320,669  —  22,064  —  —  —  22,064
Issuance of common stock in settlement of
contingent purchase price consideration 492,988  —  1,247  —  —  —  1,247
Issuance of common stock warrants with
long-term debt financing —  —  351  —  —  —  351
Issuance of common stock in exchange for
services 99,998  —  211  —  —  —  211
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee stock purchase plan 52,532  —  163  —  —  —  163
Stock based compensation for directors and
employees —  —  1,886  —  —  —  1,886

Stock based compensation for services —  —  644  —  —  —  644
Reclassification of unrealized gain upon the
sale of marketable securities, net of tax of
$1,052 —  —  —  (1,626)  —  —  (1,626)

Exercise of stock options 413,677  —  567  —  —  —  567

Net loss —  —  —  —  (76,678)  —  (76,678)

Balance at December 31, 2013 110,100,701  $ 10  $ 188,600  $ —  $ (178,875)  $ (3,849)  $ 5,886

Issuance of common stock 6,633,008  1  10,704  —  —  —  10,705
Issuance of common stock under milestone
achievement 4,381,215  —  9,340  —  —  —  9,340
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
warrants 5,467.027  1  37,741  —  —  —  37,742
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee stock purchase plan 114,630  —  263  —  —  —  263
Stock based compensation for directors and
employees —  —  5,253  —  —  —  5,253

Stock based compensation for services —  —  134  —  —  —  134

Exercise of stock options 3,449,760  —  4,342  —  —  —  4,342

Net loss —  —  —  —  (36,606)  —  (36,606)

Balance at December 31, 2014 130,146,341  $ 12  $ 256,377  $ —  $ (215,481)  $ (3,849)  $ 37,059

Issuance of common stock 32,158,685  3  47,413  —  —  —  47,416
Common stock warrants issued in
connection with March 2015 common stock
offering —  —  (10,296)  —  —  —  (10,296)
Issuance of common stock in connection
with employee stock purchase plan 231,312  —  309  —  —  —  309
Stock based compensation for directors
and employees —  —  2,896  —  —  —  2,896

Exercise of stock options 45,415  —  31  —  —  —  31

Net loss —  —  —  —  (63,902)  —  (63,902)

Balance at December 31, 2015 162,581,753  $ 15  $ 296,730  $ —  $ (279,383)  $ (3,849)  $ 13,513

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

 For the Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Cash flows from operating activities:      

Cash flows from continuing operating activities:      

Net loss from continuing operations $ (38,956)  $ (28,284)  $ (71,327)

Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization expense 355  362  286

Gain on sale of marketable securities —  —  (3,911)

Deferred taxes 365  —  1,052

Non-cash stock-based compensation 1,931  4,666  2,307

Litigation settlement payable in common stock 1,000 — —  —

Fair value of common stock issued in exchange for services —  —  211

Change in fair value of common stock warrants (1,161)  (16,556)  44,001

Change in fair value of contingent consideration (509)  (170)  926

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Prepaid expenses and other assets (245)  (1,078)  437

Litigation settlement insurance recovery (21,700)  —  —

Litigation settlement payable 24,000  —  —

Accounts payable (289)  (21)  (69)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (3,593)  4,044  2,811

Net cash used in continuing operating activities (38,802)  (37,037)  (23,276)

Cash flows from discontinued operating activities:      

Net loss from discontinued operations (24,946)  (8,322)  (5,351)

Loss on sale of commercial assets 4,549  —  —

Impairment charge from classification of assets held for sale 8,071  —  —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities attributable to discontinued operations 2,968  2,490  (302)

Net cash used in discontinued operating activities (9,358)  (5,832)  (5,653)

Net cash used in operating activities (48,160)  (42,869)  (28,929)

Cash flows from investing activities:      

Change in restricted cash (201)  —  (99)

Cash paid for acquisition of GALE-401 —  (2,415)  —

Purchase of short-term investments —  —  3,911

Cash paid for purchase of equipment and furnishings (153)  (57)  (320)

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing investing activities (354)  (2,472)  3,492

Net proceeds received from sale of commercial assets 11,283  —  —

Cash paid for commercial assets (534)  (3,056)  (15,532)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued investing activities 10,749 — (3,056) — (15,532)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 10,395  (5,528)  (12,040)

Cash flows from financing activities:      

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 47,416  10,704  37,539

Net proceeds from exercise of stock options 31  4,342  567

Proceeds from exercise of warrants —  10,717  7,815

Proceeds from common stock issued in connection with ESPP 309  263  163

Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt —  —  9,865

Principal payments on long-term debt (3,911)  (1,766)  —

Net cash provided by financing activities 43,845  24,260  55,949

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,080  (24,137)  14,980

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 23,650  47,787  32,807

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 29,730  $ 23,650  $ 47,787
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 For the Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:      

Cash received during the periods for interest $ 18  $ 15  $ 19

Cash paid during the periods for interest $ 541  $ 800  $ 547

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:      

Fair value of warrants issued in connection with common stock recorded as cost of equity $ 10,296  $ —  $ 8,238

Reclassification of warrant liabilities upon exercise $ —  $ 27,026  $ 14,249

Common stock issued in settlement of contingent purchase price consideration $ —  $ —  $ 1,247

Change in fair value of marketable securities before settlement $ —  $ —  $ (2,678)

Issuance of common stock in settlement of GALE-401 milestone $ —  $ 6,840  $ —

Fair value of shares issued to acquire Zuplenz rights $ —  $ 2,500  $ —

Future obligations for Zuplenz rights included in accrued expenses $ —  $ 2,716  $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

Overview

Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our,” “Galena” or the “Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company committed to the development
and commercialization of targeted oncology therapeutics that address major unmet medical needs. Galena’s development portfolio is focused
primarily on addressing the rapidly growing patient populations of cancer survivors by harnessing the power of the immune system to prevent cancer
recurrence. The Company’s pipeline consists of multiple mid- to late-stage clinical assets, including novel cancer immunotherapy programs led by
NeuVax™ (nelipepimut-S), GALE-301 and GALE-302. NeuVax is currently in a pivotal, Phase 3 breast cancer clinical trial with several concurrent
Phase 2 trials ongoing both as a single agent and in combination with other therapies. GALE-301 is in a Phase 2a clinical trial in ovarian and
endometrial cancers and in a Phase 1b clinical trial given sequentially with GALE-302.

We are seeking to build value for shareholders through pursuit of the following objectives:

• Develop novel cancer immunotherapies to address unmet medical needs through the use of peptide-based vaccines targeting
well-established tumor antigens. One of our key strategies is to target the adjuvant setting in patients with higher risk of
recurrence, who had their primary treatment for cancer and have no evidence of disease, and are more likely to benefit from
treatment via immunotherapy. Our immunotherapy programs are currently targeting two key areas: secondary prevention
intended to significantly decrease the risk of disease recurrence in breast, gastric, and ovarian cancers; and primary prevention
intended to cease or delay ductal carcinoma in
situ
(DCIS) from becoming invasive breast cancer.

• Expand our development pipeline by enhancing the clinical and geographic footprint of our technologies. We intend to
accomplish this through the initiation of new clinical trials and potentially through acquisition of additional oncology programs.

• Leverage partnerships and collaborations, as well as investigator-sponsored trial arrangements, to maximize the scope of
potential clinical opportunities in a cost effective and efficient manner.

• Focus our resources on our valuable and expanding clinical development programs. On November 19, 2015 we sold our
Abstral ® (fentanyl) Sublingual Tablets product and related assets and on December 24, 2015 we sold Zuplenz (ondansetron)
Oral Soluble Film product and related assets, and as of December 31, 2015, we ceased our commercial operations.

62

#GALE-20151231X10XK_HTM_SC12586F3CD64162D636A6017A3E22A9D


Table of Contents
GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by Galena pursuant to the generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). Unless the context otherwise indicates, references in these notes to the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer (i) to
Galena, our wholly owned subsidiary, Apthera, Inc., or “Apthera,” and our wholly owned subsidiary, Mills Pharmaceuticals, Inc. or "Mills."

Discontinued
Operations
-
As described in Note 17, during the quarter ended September 30, 2015 the Company met the relevant criteria
for reporting the commercial operations as held for sale and in discontinued operations, pursuant to FASB Topic 205-20, Presentation of Financial
Statements - Discontinued Operations, and FASB Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. The Company generally considers assets to be held
for sale when (i) the transaction has been approved by the board of directors or management vested with authority to approve the transaction, (ii)
the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition, (iii) the company has initiated an active program to locate a buyer and other
actions required to complete the plan to sell the assets, (iv) consummation of the transaction is probable, (v) the assets are being actively marketing
for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to the current fair value, and (vi) the transaction is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale, within one year. Following the classification of property and equipment for sale, the Company discontinues depreciating the asset and writes
down the asset to the lower of the carrying value or fair market value, if needed. During the quarter ended December 31, 2015, the Company
completed the sale of the commercial products and the related assets.

Uses
of
Estimates
in
Preparation
of
Financial
Statements
— The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Principles
of
Consolidation
— The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Galena and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
All material intercompany accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications
— Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. These reclassifications
had no effect on net loss per share.

Cash
and
Cash
Equivalents
— The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in money market accounts and demand deposits.

Restricted
Cash
— Restricted cash consists of certificates of deposit on hand with the Company’s financial institutions as collateral for its
corporate credit cards.

Fair
Value
of
Financial
Instruments
— The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash equivalents, marketable securities,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, and capital leases approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature and market rates of interest.

Accounts
Receivable
-
The Company maintains credit limits for all customers based upon several factors, including but not limited to
financial condition and stability, payment history, published credit reports and use of credit references. Management performs analysis to evaluate
accounts receivables to ensure recorded amounts reflect estimated net realizable value. Accounts receivable are classified as current assets held
for sale as detailed in Note 17.
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GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - Continued

Inventories
— Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value and are determined using the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method.
Inventories consist of Abstral work-in-process and finished goods. The Company had entered into manufacturing and supply agreements for the
manufacture and packing of Abstral finished goods. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had inventories of $655,000 , consisting of $455,000 of
work-in-process and $200,000 of finished goods. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had no inventory on hand with the sale of our commercial
assets in the fourth quarter of 2015. Inventories are classified as current assets of discontinued operations as detailed in Note 17.

Equipment
and
Furnishings
— Equipment and furnishings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful lives (generally three to five years for equipment and furniture) of the related assets.

Goodwill
and
Intangible
Assets
— Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are tested annually for impairment
at the reporting unit level, or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. Factors the company considers
important that could trigger an interim review for impairment include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Significant changes in the manner of its use of acquired assets or the strategy for its overall business;

• Significant negative industry or economic trends;

• Significant decline in stock price for a sustained period; and

• Significant decline in market capitalization relative to net book value.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated for impairment first by a qualitative assessment to determine the
likelihood of impairment. If it is determined that impairment is more likely than not, the Company will then proceed to the two step impairment test.
The first step is to compare the fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying amount of the reporting unit (the “First Step”). If the carrying amount
exceeds the fair value, a second step must be followed to calculate impairment (the “Second Step”). Otherwise, if the fair value of the reporting unit
exceeds the carrying amount, the goodwill is not considered to be impaired as of the measurement date. In its review of the carrying value of the
goodwill for its single reporting unit and its indefinite-lived intangible assets, the Company determines fair values of its goodwill using the market
approach, and its indefinite-lived intangible assets using the income approach.

Intangible assets not considered indefinite-lived are reviewed for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying value
of these assets may not be recoverable. The Company’s policy is to identify and record impairment losses, if necessary, on intangible product rights
when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those
assets are less than the carrying amounts of those assets.

The company performed its review for impairment using the qualitative assessment for both goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets, and has determined that there has been no impairment to these assets as of December 31, 2015.

Assets
and
Liabilities
of
Discontinued
Operations
(Held
for
Sale)
-

Contingent
Purchase
Price
Consideration
— Contingent consideration is recorded at the estimated fair value as of the acquisition date.
The fair value of the contingent consideration is remeasured at each reporting period with any adjustments in fair value included in our consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss.
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Revenue
Recognition
- The Company recognized revenue from the sale of Abstral. Revenue is recognized when (i) persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred and title has passed, (iii) the price is fixed or determinable and (iv) collectability is reasonably
assured.

We sold Abstral product in the United States to wholesale pharmaceutical distributors and retail pharmacies, or collectively, our
"customers," subject to rights of return. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we began recognizing Abstral product sales at the time title
transfers to our customer, and providing for an estimate of future product returns. Revenue from product sales is recorded net of provisions for
estimated returns, prompt pay discounts, wholesaler discounts, rebates, chargebacks, patient assistance program rebates and other deductions as
needed. Net revenue is included in discontinued operations as detailed in Note 17.

Returns - The Company estimates future returns based on historical return information, as well as information regarding
prescription information and sell-through trends, in relation to the estimated amount of product in the sales channels and product
expiration dates. The allowance for returns is recorded as a reduction to revenue in the period in which the revenue is recognized, with a
corresponding allowance against accounts receivable.

Product Sales Discounts and Allowances - The Company recognizes revenue at the point of sale to its wholesale
pharmaceutical distributors and retail pharmacies and the allowances for product returns, rebates and allowances are recognized at the
point of sale. The Company is required to make significant judgments and estimates in determining some of these allowances. If actual
results differ from its estimates, the Company will be required to make adjustments to these allowances in the future.

Prompt Pay Discounts - As an incentive for prompt payment, the Company offers a cash discount to customers, generally 2%
of gross sales. The Company expects that all customers will comply with the contractual terms to earn the discount. The Company
records the discount as an allowance against accounts receivable and a reduction of revenue.

Wholesaler Discounts - The Company offers discounts to certain wholesalers and distributors based on contractually
determined rates. The Company accrues the discount as a reduction of receivables due from the wholesalers upon shipment to the
respective wholesale distributors and retail pharmacies and recognizes the discount as a reduction of revenue in the same period the
related revenue is recognized.

Rebates - The Company participates in certain rebate programs, which provide discounted prescriptions to members of group
purchasing organizations and specialty pharmacies. Under these rebate programs, the Company pays a rebate to the third-party
administrator of the program, generally two to three months after the quarter in which prescriptions subject to the rebate are filled. The
Company estimates and accrues these rebates based on current contract prices, historical and estimated future percentages of product
sold to qualifying member pharmacies and estimated levels of inventory in the distribution channel. Rebates are recognized as a
reduction in the period that the related revenue is recognized.

Chargebacks - The Company provides discounts primarily to authorized users of the Federal Supply Schedule (FSS) of the
General Services Administration under an FSS contract negotiated by the Department of Veterans Affairs and various organizations
under Medicaid or Medicare contracts and regulations. These entities purchase products from the wholesale distributors at a discounted
price, and the wholesale distributors then charge back to the Company the difference between the current retail price and the price the
entity paid for the product. The Company estimates and accrues chargebacks based on estimated wholesaler inventory levels, current
contract prices and historic chargeback activity. Chargebacks are recognized as a reduction of revenue in the period the related revenue
is recognized.
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Patient Assistance Programs - The Company offers discount card programs to patients for Abstral in which patients receive
discounts on their Abstral prescriptions that are reimbursed by the company. The Company estimates the total amount that will be
recognized based on a percentage of actual redemption applied to inventory in the distribution and retail channel and recognizes the
discount as a reduction of revenue and as an other current liability in the same period the related revenue is recognized.

Acquisitions
and
In-Licensing
—
For all in-licensed products and technologies, we perform an analysis to determine whether we hold a
variable interest or a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity. On the basis of our interpretations and conclusions, we determine
whether the acquisition falls under the purview of variable interest entity accounting and if so, consider the necessity to consolidate the acquisition.
As of December 31, 2015, we determined there were no variable interest entities required to be consolidated.

We also perform an analysis to determine if the assets and liabilities acquired in an acquisition qualify as a "business." The excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired can only be recognized as goodwill in a business combination.

The acquisition of the Abstral U.S. rights has been accounted for as an asset acquisition and not a business combination. The purchase
price, including transaction costs, was recorded as an intangible asset related to the license and distribution rights acquired in the transaction. No
other significant assets or liabilities were acquired or assumed in the transaction. The license and distribution rights will be amortized over ten years
in a pattern based on our Abstral sales projections. The acquisition of the Zuplenz U.S. rights has been accounted for as a business combination.
Refer to Note 14 for further information regarding the acquisition of Abstral U.S. rights and Zuplenz U.S. rights.

Patents
and
Patent
Application
Costs
— Although the Company believes that its patents and underlying technology have continuing
value, the amount of future benefits to be derived from the patents is uncertain. Patent costs are, therefore, expensed as incurred.

Legal
Fees
and
Insurance
Recoveries
— There can be a significant time lag between the time that legal fees are incurred and the
insurance reimbursement available to offset the related costs. The legal costs are recorded in the period they are incurred, and the insurance
recoveries for those costs are recorded in the period when the insurance reimbursement is deemed probable.

Share-based
Compensation
— The Company follows the provisions of the FASB ASC Topic 718, “ Compensation
—
Stock
Compensation”
(“ASC 718”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards made
to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants, including stock options and warrants. Stock compensation expense based on the grant
date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.

For stock options and warrants granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, the Company recognizes
compensation expense in accordance with the requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50 (“ASC 505-50”), “ Equity
Based
Payments
to
Non-
Employees
.” Non-employee option and warrant grants that do not vest immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period.
At the end of each financial reporting period prior to vesting, the value of these options and warrants, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model, will be re-measured using the fair value of the company’s common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the
period will be adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market value of options and warrants granted to non-employees is subject to change in the future,
the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair value re-measurements until the stock options are fully vested.
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Research
and
Development
Expenses
— Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Included in research and
development costs are wages, benefits and other operating costs, facilities, supplies, external services and overhead related to our research and
development departments, and clinical trial expenses.

Clinical trial expenses include direct costs associated with contract research organizations ("CROs"), as well as patient-related costs at
sites at which our trials are being conducted.

Direct costs associated with our CROs are generally payable on a time and materials basis, or when certain enrollment and monitoring
milestones are achieved. Expense related to a milestone is recognized in the period in which the milestone is achieved or in which we determine
that it is more likely than not that it will be achieved.

The invoicing from clinical trial sites can lag several months. We accrue these site costs based on our estimate of upfront set-up costs
upon the screening of the first patient at each site, and the patient related costs based on our knowledge of patient enrollment status at each site.

Income
Taxes
— The Company recognizes liabilities or assets for the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the
tax basis of assets or liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements in accordance with FASB ASC 740-10, “ Accounting
for
Income
Taxes”
(“ASC
740-10”).
These temporary differences will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when the reported amounts
of the assets or liabilities are recovered or settled. ASC
740-10
requires that a valuation allowance be established when management determines
that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred asset will not be realized. The Company evaluates the realizability of its net deferred
income tax assets and valuation allowances as necessary, at least on an annual basis. During this evaluation, the company reviews its forecasts of
income in conjunction with other positive and negative evidence surrounding the realizability of its deferred income tax assets to determine if a
valuation allowance is required. Adjustments to the valuation allowance will increase or decrease the company’s income tax provision or benefit. The
recognition and measurement of benefits related to the company’s tax positions requires significant judgment, as uncertainties often exist with
respect to new laws, new interpretations of existing laws, and rulings by taxing authorities. Differences between actual results and the company’s
assumptions or changes in the company’s assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they become known.

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2013, we recognized income tax of $365,000 and $1,052,000 , respectively. There was no
income tax expense or benefit for the year ended December 31, 2014. We continue to maintain a full valuation allowance against our net deferred
tax assets.

Concentrations
of
Credit
Risk
— Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk
consist principally of cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances in several accounts with two banks, which at times are in
excess of federally insured limits. As of December 31, 2015 , the company’s cash equivalents were invested in money market mutual funds. The
Company’s investment policy does not allow investment in any debt securities rated less than “investment grade” by national ratings services. The
Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2015 , we had approximately
$30,432,000 in interest-bearing accounts above federally insured limits.

Comprehensive
Loss
— Comprehensive loss consists of our net loss and other comprehensive income related to the unrealized gain
(loss), net of tax, on our marketable securities, which were classified as available-for-sale.
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2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09,  Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
: Topic 606, or ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09
establishes the principles for recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard for U.S. GAAP. The standard outlines a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. In applying the new revenue recognition model to contracts with customers, an entity: (1)
identifies the contract(s) with a customer; (2) identifies the performance obligations in the contract(s); (3) determines the transaction price; (4)
allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract(s); and (5) recognizes revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation. The accounting standards update applies to all contracts with customers except those that are within the scope of other
topics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The accounting standards update also requires significantly expanded quantitative and
qualitative disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. This
guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2016, which is effective for the Company
for the year ending December 31, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the implementation of ASU 2014-09 will have on the
Company’s financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15,  Disclosure
of
Uncertainties
about
an
Entity’s
Ability
to
Continue
as
a
Going
Concern
, or ASU 2014-15. ASU 2014-15 will explicitly require management to assess an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and to
provide related footnote disclosure in certain circumstances. The new standard will be effective for all entities in the first annual period ending after
December 15, 2016. Earlier adoption is permitted. The Company is not early adopting ASU 2014-15. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact that the implementation of ASU 2014-15 will have on the Company’s financial statements, and the actual impact will be dependent upon the
Company’s liquidity and the nature or significance of future events or conditions that exist upon adopting the updated standard.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-01,  Simplifying
Income
Statement
Presentation
by
Eliminating
the
Concept
of
Extraordinary
Items
, or ASU 2015-01. ASU 2015-01 eliminates from GAAP the concept of extraordinary items. ASU 2015-01 is effective for fiscal
years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that the adoption of ASU
2015-01 will have a material impact on its financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes
or ASU 2015-17. ASU 2015-17
requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent on the balance sheet. Previous guidance required deferred tax liabilities
and assets to be separated into current and noncurrent amounts on the balance sheet. The guidance will become effective for us beginning in the
first quarter of 2017 and may be applied either prospectively or retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. At the time of adoption, we will reclassify
current deferred tax amounts on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as noncurrent. We are evaluating the impact of the method of adoption of this
standard on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10) or ASU 2016-01, which updates
certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. ASU 2016-01 will be effective for the Company
beginning in its first quarter of 2019 and early adoption is not permitted. The Company does not believe the adoption of the new financial
instruments standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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3. RXi Spin-off

On September 24, 2011, the Company entered into a contribution agreement with our former subsidiary, RXi Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, or “RXi,” pursuant to which we assigned and contributed to RXi substantially all of the company’s RNAi-related technologies and
assets. The contributed assets consisted primarily of our novel RNAi compounds and licenses relating to our RNAi technologies, as well as the
lease of our Worcester, Massachusetts laboratory facility, fixed assets and other equipment located at the facility and our employment arrangements
with certain scientific, corporate and administrative personnel who became employees of RXi. The Company also contributed $1.5 million of cash to
the capital of RXi.

Pursuant to the contribution agreement, RXi assumed certain accrued expenses of our former RXI-109 development program and all
subsequent obligations under the contributed licenses, employment arrangements and other agreements. RXi also has agreed to make future
milestone payments to us of up to $45 million , consisting of two one-time payments of $15 million and $30 million , respectively, if RXi achieves
annual net sales equal to or greater than $500 million and $1 billion , respectively, of any covered products that may be developed with the
contributed RNAi technologies.

The Company agreed in the securities purchase agreement to distribute to our stockholders on a share-for-share basis a total of
approximately 66,959,894 RXi shares, which distribution was made in April 2012. The Company retained 33,476,595 shares of common stock of
RXi, which were subject to a one -year lock-up period that expired on April 27, 2013 . On July 24, 2013, RXi effected a 1-for- 30 reverse stock split
of its outstanding shares of common stock, including RXi shares held by the Company. The Company fully liquidated its position in RXi common
stock during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company sold 1,115,887 RXi shares, on a post-split basis, for total proceeds of $3,911,000 ,
which is included in other income as realized gains on sale of marketable securities. There were no shares sold during the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014.

The Company classified the RXi activities for previously reported periods as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss retroactively for all periods presented. The net assets of RXi were removed from the consolidated balance sheet as of the date
of the spin-off, and were recorded as an equity distribution.

4. Fair Value Measurements

The Company follows ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” (“ASC 820”) for the Company’s financial assets and
liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at each reporting period, and are re-measured and reported at fair value at least annually
using a fair value hierarchy that is broken down into three levels. Level inputs are defined as follows:

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — other significant observable inputs for the assets or liabilities through corroboration with market data at the
measurement date.

Level 3 — significant unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use to price
the assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
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The Company categorized its cash equivalents and marketable securities as Level 1 inputs. The valuations for Level 1 were determined
based on a “market approach” using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Valuation of these assets does not require a significant
degree of judgment. The Company categorized its warrants potentially settleable in cash as Level 2 inputs. The warrants are measured at market
value on a recurring basis and are being marked to market each quarter-end until they are completely settled. The warrants are valued using an
appropriate pricing model, using assumptions consistent with our application of ASC 718. The contingent purchase price consideration is
categorized as Level 3 inputs and is measured at its estimated fair value on a recurring basis and is adjusted at each quarter-end until it is
completely settled. The contingent price consideration is valued based on the expected timing of milestones, the expected probability of success for
each milestone and discount rates based on a corporate debt interest rate index publicly issued.

The following tables present information about our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the condensed
consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
 

 December 31, 2015  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Assets:        
Cash equivalents $ 29,171  $ 29,171  $ —  $ —

Total assets measured and recorded at fair value $ 29,171  $ 29,171  $ —  $ —
Liabilities:        
Warrants potentially settleable in cash $ 14,518  $ —  $ 14,518  $ —
Contingent purchase price consideration 6,142  —  —  6,142

Total liabilities measured and recorded at fair value $ 20,660  $ —  $ 14,518  $ 6,142

 December 31, 2014  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Assets:        
Cash equivalents $ 19,477  $ 19,477  $ —  $ —

Total assets measured and recorded at fair value $ 19,477  $ 19,477  $ —  $ —
Liabilities:        
Warrants potentially settleable in cash $ 5,383  $ —  $ 5,383  $ —
Contingent purchase price consideration 6,651  —  —  6,651

Total liabilities measured and recorded at fair value $ 12,034  $ —  $ 5,383  $ 6,651

The company has not transferred any financial instruments into or out of Level 3 classification during the years ended December 31,
2015 or 2014. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending Level 3 liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows (in
thousands):
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Fair Value
Measurements

Using Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Balance, January 1, 2014 $ 6,821
Change in the estimated fair value of the contingent purchase price consideration (170)
Balance, December 31, 2014 6,651
Change in the estimated fair value of the contingent purchase price consideration (509)
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 6,142

The fair value of the contingent purchase price consideration is measured at the end of each reporting period using Level 3 inputs in a
probability-weighted, discounted cash-outflow model. The significant unobservable assumptions include the probability of achieving each milestone,
the date we expect to reach the milestone, and a determination of present value factors used to discount future expected cash outflows.

5. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2015  2014

Clinical development expense $ 3,294  $ 6,967
Compensation and related benefits 1,535  1,040
Professional fees 435  821
Interest expense 28  57

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 5,292  $ 8,885

6. Long-term Debt

On May 8, 2013 we entered into a loan and security agreement with Oxford Finance LLC, as collateral agent, and related lenders under
which we may borrow up to $15 million (the “Loan”) in two tranches. We borrowed $10 million on May 8, 2013. The Loan payments included 12
months of interest-only payments at the fixed coupon rate of 8.45% , followed by 30 months of amortization of principal and interest until maturity in
November 2016. In connection with the Loan, we paid the lender a 1% cash facility fee and a 5.5% cash final payment and granted to the lenders
seven -year warrants to purchase up to 182,186 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.47 , which equaled a 20 -day average
market price of our common stock prior to the date of the grant.

As of December 31, 2015, future schedule principal payments to be made on long-term debt are as follows (in thousands):

2016 Principal Payments  $ 4,254
Add - 5.5% cash final payment (less Unamortized debt issuance costs)  485
Carrying value of long-term debt  $ 4,739
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7. Legal Proceedings, Commitments and Contingencies

Legal
Proceedings

On December 3, 2015, we agreed in principle to resolve and settle the consolidated shareholder derivative action,  In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Derivative
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00382-SI, currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon against us
and certain of our current and former officers and directors. The settlement will not become effective until approved by the Court. The settlement
includes a payment of $15 million in cash by our insurance carriers, which we will use to fund a portion of the class action settlement, and
cancellation of 1,200,000 outstanding director stock options. The settlement also will require that we adopt and implement certain corporate
governance measures and will provide that the plaintiffs’ counsel may apply to the court for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses up to $5
million . Any fees and expenses awarded by the court to the plaintiffs’ counsel will be paid by our insurance carriers. The settlement will not include
any admission of wrongdoing or liability on the part of us or the individual defendants and will include a full release of us and the individual
defendants in connection with the allegations made in the consolidated federal derivative actions and state court derivative actions.

On December 3, 2015, we also agreed in principal to resolve and settle the securities putative class action lawsuit,  In
re
Galena
Biopharma,
Inc.
Securities
Litigation
, Civil Action No. 3:14-cv-00367-SI, pending against us, certain of our current and former officers and directors
and other defendants in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon. The agreement, which is subject to shareholder notice and Court
approval, provides for a settlement payment of $20 million to the class and the dismissal of all claims against us and the other defendants in
connection with the consolidated federal securities class actions. Of the $20 million settlement payment to the class, $16.7 million will be paid by our
insurance carriers and $3.3 million will be paid by us through a combination of $2.3 million in cash and $1 million in shares of our common stock. In
addition to the $3.3 million payable accrued as of December 31, 2015 the company paid $2.0 million in December 2015 in attorney fees outstanding
as a condition of the settlement. We will be responsible for defense costs and any settlements or judgments incurred for any related opt-out lawsuits.

The litigation settlement is summarized as follow (in thousands)

 Amount
Class action settlement $ 20,000
Derivative settlement 5,000
Total settlement payable 25,000

  

Payable by the insurance carriers 21,700
Payable by the company in cash 2,300
Payable by the company in common stock 1,000
Total settlement payable $ 25,000
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Commitments

The Company acquires assets still in development and enters into research and development arrangements with third parties that often
require milestone and royalty payments based on the progress of the asset through development stages. Milestone payments may be required, for
example, upon approval of the product for marketing by a regulatory agency. In certain agreements, the Company is required to make royalty
payments based upon a percentage of the sales. Because of the contingent nature of these payments, they are not included in the table of
contractual obligations shown below.

These arrangements may be material individually, and in the unlikely event that milestones for multiple products covered by these
arrangements were reached in the same period, the aggregate charge to expense could be material to the results of operations. In addition, these
arrangements often give the Company the discretion to unilaterally terminate development of the product, which would allow the company to avoid
making the contingent payments; however, the company is unlikely to cease development if the compound successfully achieves clinical testing
objectives. The Company’s contractual obligations that may require future cash payments as of December 31, 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

 
Operating
Leases (1)  

Non-Cancelable
Employment

Agreements (2)  Subtotal  

Cancelable
License

Agreements (3)  Total
2016 $ 316  $ 850  $ 1,166  $ 350  $ 1,516
2017 323  —  323  350  673
2018 316  —  316  350  666
2019 251  —  251  4,200  4,451
2020 and thereafter 236  —  236  2,965  3,201
Total $ 1,442  $ 850  $ 2,292  $ 8,215  $ 10,507

(1)  Operating leases are primarily facility and equipment related obligations with third party vendors. Operating lease expenses during the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 were approximately $116,000 , $72,000 and $77,000 , respectively.

(2)  Employment agreement obligations include management contracts, as well as scientific advisory board member compensation agreements.
Certain agreements, which have been revised from time to time, provide for minimum salary levels, adjusted annually at the discretion of the
Compensation Committee, as well as for minimum bonuses that are payable.

(3)  License agreements generally relate to the company’s obligations with The Board of Regents, University of Texas and Henry M. Jackson
Foundation for our oncology therapies. The company continually assesses the progress of its licensed technology and the progress of its
research and development efforts as it relates to its licensed technology and may terminate with notice to the licensor at any time. In the
event these licenses are terminated, no amounts will be due.

The Company applies the disclosure provisions FASB ASC Topic 460 (“ASC 460”), “ Guarantor’s
Accounting
and
Disclosure
Requirements
for
Guarantees,
Including
Indirect
Guarantees
of
Indebtedness
of
Others,"
to its agreements that contain guarantee or indemnification
clauses. TheCompany provides (i) indemnifications of varying scope and size to certain investors and other parties for certain losses suffered or
incurred by the indemnified party in connection with various types of third-party claims and (ii) indemnifications of varying scope and size to officers
and directors against third party claims arising from the services they provide to us. These indemnifications give rise only to the disclosure
provisions of ASC 460. To date, the Company has not incurred costs as a result of these obligations and does not expect to incur material costs in
the future. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liabilities in its financial statements related to these indemnifications.
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8. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred
Stock
— The Company has authorized up to 5,000,000  shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, for issuance.
The preferred stock will have such rights, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend conversion rights, redemption privileges and
liquidation preferences, as shall be determined by the Company’s board of directors upon its issuance. To date, the Company has not issued any
preferred shares.

Common
Stock
— The Company has authorized up to 275,000,000  shares of common stock, $0.0001  par value per share, for
issuance. Shares of common stock are reserved as follows:

September
2013
Underwritten
Public
Offering
- On September 18, 2013 the Company closed an underwritten public offering of
17,500,000 units at a price to the public of $2.00 per unit for gross proceeds of $35 million (the "September 2013 Offering"). Each unit consists of
one share of common stock, and a warrant to purchase 0.35 of a share of common stock at an exercise price of $2.50 per share. The offering
included an over-allotment option for the underwriters to purchase an additional 2,625,000 shares of common stock and/or warrants up to 918,750
share of common stock. On September 23, 2013, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full. The additional gross proceeds to the
company as a result of the full exercise of the over-allotment option were approximately $5.2 million . The total net proceeds of the September 2013
offering, including the exercise of the over-allotment option, were $37.5 million , after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
offering expenses payable by the company.

November
2014
Purchase
Agreement
with
Lincoln
Park
Capital,
LLC
-
On November 18, 2014, the Company entered into a purchase
agreement with Lincoln Park Capital, LLC (LPC), pursuant to which the Company has the right to sell to LPC up to $50 million in shares of the
Company's common stock, subject to certain limitations and conditions over the 36 month term of the purchase agreement. Pursuant to the
purchase agreement, LPC initially purchased 2.5 million shares of the Company's common stock at $2.00 per share and the Company issued
631,221 shares of common stock to LPC as a commitment fee, which was recorded as a cost of capital. As a result of this initial issuance, the
Company received initial net proceeds of $4.9 million , after deducting commissions and other offering expenses. In addition to the LPC’s initial
purchase of our common stock under the purchase agreement, during 2014, we received net proceeds of $8.5 million from LPC’s subsequent
purchases of a total of 4.6 million shares of our common stock, excluding the commitment fee shares.

At
Market
Issuance
Sales
Agreements
- On May 24, 2013 the Company entered into At Market Issuance Sales Agreements (ATM) with
MLV & Co. LLC and Maxim Group LLC (the Agents). From time to time during the term of the ATM, we may issue and sell through the Agents,
shares of our common stock, and the Agents collect a fee equal to 3% of the gross proceeds from the sale of shares, up to a total limit of $20 million
in gross proceeds. The ATM is available to the Company until it is terminated by the Agents or the Company. During the year ended December 31,
2015 we received $2.3 million by issuing 1.4 million shares of our common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we received $2.3
million in net proceeds from the sale of 1.4 million shares of our common stock through the ATM. There were no sales of our common stock under
the ATM in 2013. On December 4, 2015 we replenished the ATM limit up to $20 million in gross proceeds available for future sales of our common
stock.

March
2015
Underwritten
Public
Offering
- On March 18, 2015 the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 24,358,974 units at
a price to the public of $ 1.56 per unit for gross proceeds of $38 million (the "March 2015 Offering"). Each unit consists of one share of common
stock, and a warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of common stock at an exercise price of $2.08 per share. The March 2015 Offering included an
over-allotment option for the underwriters to purchase an additional 3,653,846 shares of common stock and/or warrants to purchase up to 1,826,923
shares of common stock. On March 18, 2015, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option to purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate
of 1,826,923 shares of common stock. On April 10, 2015, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option to purchase 3,653,846 shares of
common stock for additional net proceeds of $5.4 million . The total net proceeds of the March 2015 Offering, including the exercise of the over-
allotment option to purchase the warrants, were $40.8 million , after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses
payable by the Company.
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Other
Equity
Transactions
— During 2013, the Company issued a total of 492,988 shares of common stock to the holders of the
Company's outstanding contingent value rights holders for a milestone payment with a total fair market value of $1,247,000 .

9. Warrants

The following is a summary of warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):
 

 

March 
2015 

Warrants  

September
2013

Warrants  

December
2012

Warrants  
April 2011
Warrants  

Other Warrant
Issuances  

Consultant
and Oxford
Warrants  Total

Outstanding, January 1, 2014 —  6,442  4,917  1,158  1,444  889  14,850
Granted —  —  —  —  —  300  300
Exercised —  (2,469)  (1,886)  (543)  (327)  (469)  (5,694)
Expired —  —  —  —  (916)  —  (916)
Outstanding, December 31, 2014 —  3,973  3,031  615  201  720  8,540
Granted 14,006  —  —  —  —  —  14,006
Expired —  —  —  —  —  (238)  (238)

Outstanding, December 31, 2015 14,006  3,973  3,031  615  201  482  22,308

Expiration March 2020  
September

2018  December 2017  April 2017  
Varies 2014-

2016  
Varies 2014-

2020   

Warrants consist of warrants potentially settleable in cash, which are liability-classified warrants, and equity-classified warrants.

Warrants
classified
as
liabilities

Liability-classified warrants consist of warrants to purchase common stock issued in connection with equity financings in March 2015,
September 2013, December 2012, April 2011, March 2011, March 2010 and August 2009. These warrants are potentially settleable in cash and
were determined not to be indexed to our common stock.

The estimated fair value of outstanding warrants accounted for as liabilities is determined at each balance sheet date. Any decrease or
increase in the estimated fair value of the warrant liability since the most recent balance sheet date is recorded in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss as other income (expense). The fair value of the warrants is estimated using an appropriate pricing model with the following
inputs:
 

 As of December 31, 2015

 

March
2015

Warrants  

September
2013

Warrants  

December
2012

Warrants  
April 2011
Warrants  

March
2011

Warrants  

March
2010

Warrants
Strike price $ 2.08  $ 2.50  $ 1.83  $ 0.65  $ 0.65  $ 2.02
Expected term (years) 4.22  2.72  1.98  1.31  0.18  0.24
Volatility % 75.85%  74.70%  76.37%  65.60%  47.98%  71.41%
Risk-free rate % 1.58%  1.24%  1.05%  0.77%  —%  —%
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 As of December 31, 2014

 

September
2013

Warrants  

December
2012

Warrants  
April 2011
Warrants  

March
2011

Warrants  

March
2010

Warrants
Strike price $ 2.50  $ 1.90  $ 0.65  $ 0.65  $ 2.15
Expected term (years) 3.72  2.98  2.31  1.18  1.24
Volatility % 75.60%  76.85%  78.24%  77.38%  77.12%
Risk-free rate % 1.30%  1.09%  0.80%  0.32%  0.35%

The Company’s expected volatility is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar publicly traded entities. The expected life
assumption is based on the remaining contractual terms of the warrants. The risk-free rate is based on the zero coupon rates in effect at the time of
valuation. The dividend yield used in the pricing model is zero, because the company has no present intention to pay cash dividends.

The changes in fair value of the warrant liability for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands):
 

 

March 
2015 

Warrants  

September
2013

Warrants  

December
2012

Warrants  
April 2011
Warrants  

Other Warrant
Issuances  Total

Warrant liability, January 1, 2014 $ —  $ 22,950  $ 18,060  $ 5,069  $ 2,886  $ 48,965
Fair value of warrants granted —  —  —  —  —  —
Fair value of warrants exercised —  (12,713)  (10,086)  (2,906)  (1,321)  (27,026)
Change in fair value of warrants —  (7,677)  (5,947)  (1,538)  (1,394)  (16,556)
Warrant liability, December 31, 2014 —  2,560  2,027  625  171  5,383
Fair value of warrants granted 10,296  —  —  —  —  10,296
Fair value of warrants exercised —  —  —  —  —  —
Change in fair value of warrants 41  (627)  (462)  (88)  (25)  (1,161)
Warrant liability, December 31, 2015 $ 10,337  $ 1,933  $ 1,565  $ 537  $ 146  $ 14,518

Warrants
classified
as
equity

Equity-classified warrants consist of warrants issued in connection with consulting services provided to us. Additionally, on May 8, 2013
as a part of our Loan financing, we granted Oxford Financial LLC warrants to purchase 182,186 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$2.47 per share, which equaled to the 20 -day average market price of our common stock prior to the date of the grant. The warrants were valued
using the Black Scholes model. The fair value assumptions for the grant included a volatility of 75.34% , expected term of seven years, risk free rate
of 1.20% , and a dividend rate of 0.00% . The fair value of the warrants granted was $1.93 per share. These warrants are recorded in equity at fair
value upon issuance, and not as liabilities, and are not subject to adjustment to fair value in subsequent reporting periods.
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10. Stock-Based Compensation

Options
to
Purchase
Shares
of
Common
Stock
— The Company follows the provisions ASC 718, which requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors and consultants, including
employee stock options. Stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 is
recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.

For stock options and warrants granted in consideration for services rendered by non-employees, the company recognizes
compensation expense in accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 505-50. Non-employee option and warrant grants that do not vest
immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to vesting, the value
of these options and warrants, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, is being re-measured using the fair value of the
company’s common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market value of
options and warrants granted to non-employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair
value re-measurements until the stock options and warrants are fully vested.

The following table summarizes the components of stock-based compensation expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014, and 2013 (in thousands):

 2015  2014  2013

Research and development $ 350  $ 484  $ 754
General and administrative 1,591  4,903  2,150
Total stock-based compensation $ 1,941  $ 5,387  $ 2,904

The company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the following weighted-average assumptions to determine the fair value
of all its stock options granted:
 

 2015  2014  2013
Risk free interest rate 1.67%  2.01%  1.57%
Volatility 73.97%  79.37%  77.98%
Expected lives (years) 6.16  6.16  6.25
Expected dividend yield 0.00%  0.00%  0.00%

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $1.07 and $1.74 per
share, respectively.

The company’s expected common stock price volatility assumption is based upon the volatility of a basket of comparable companies.
The expected life assumptions for employee grants were based upon the simplified method provided for under ASC 718-10, which averages the
contractual term of the Company’s options of ten years with the average vesting term of four years for an average of six years . The expected life
assumptions for non-employees were based upon the contractual term of the option. The dividend yield assumption is zero, because the Company
has never paid cash dividends and presently has no intention of paying cash dividends in the future. The risk-free interest rate used for each grant
was also based upon prevailing short-term interest rates. The Company has estimated an annualized forfeiture rate of 15% for options granted to its
employees, 8% for options granted to senior management and zero for non-employee directors. The Company will record additional expense if the
actual forfeitures are lower than estimated and will record a recovery of prior expense if the actual forfeiture rates are higher than estimated.
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As of December 31, 2015 , there was $5,662,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options that is expected to
be recognized as a component of the Company’s operating expenses over a weighted-average period of 2.85 years.

As of December 31, 2015 , an aggregate of 26,500,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Company’s 2007
Incentive Plan, including 13,262,000 shares subject to outstanding common stock options granted under the plan and 8,177,000 shares available for
future grants. The administrator of the plan determines the times when an option may become exercisable. Vesting periods of options granted to
date have not exceeded four years . The options generally will expire, unless previously exercised, no later than ten years from the grant date.

The following table summarizes option activity of the company:
 

 

Total
Number of

Shares
(In Thousands)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 8,590  $ 3.25

Granted 6,743  1.63
Exercised (39)  0.79
Cancelled (2,032)  2.31

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 13,262  $ 2.58
Options exercisable at December 31, 2015 7,192  $ 3.22

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as of December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was 7.63 , 7.35 , and
8.09 , respectively. The weighted average remaining contractual life of options exercisable as of December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was 6.20 ,
6.51 , and 6.76 , respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options as of December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $539,000 , $610,000 , and
$30,537,000 , respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options as of December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $518,000 , $509,000
, and $16,376,000 , respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated based on the positive difference between the closing fair market value
of the Company's common stock and the exercise price of the underlying options.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $37,000 ,
$13,429,000 , and $890,000 respectively.

Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plan
— The Company also has an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) which allows employees to
contribute up to 15% of their cash earnings, subject to certain maximums, to be used to purchase shares of our common stock on each semi-annual
purchase date. The purchase price is equal to 85% of the market value per share on either the first or last day of the semi-annual period, whichever
is lower. Our ESPP is non-compensatory pursuant to the provisions of generally accepted accounting principles for share-based compensation
expense. The ESPP contains an “evergreen provision” with annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each
year through January 1, 2015 equal to the lesser of: (a)  250,000 shares increased on each anniversary of the adoption of the Plan by 1%  of the
total shares of stock then outstanding and (b)  1,000,000 shares. As of December 31, 2015, an aggregate of 528,131 shares of common stock were
authorized and available for future issuance under the ESPP. The company has issued 471,869 shares under the ESPP through December 31,
2015.

Restricted
Stock
Units
— In addition to options to purchase shares of common stock, the Company may grant restricted stock units
(“RSU”) as part of its compensation package. If granted, each RSU would be granted at the fair market value of the Company's common stock on
the date of grant. Vesting is determined on a grant-by-grant basis.
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11. Other Income

Other income is summarized as follows (in thousands):
 

  Year Ended December 31,

  2015  2014  2013

Realized gain on sale of marketable securities  $ —  $ —  $ 3,911
Change in fair value of the contingent purchase price liability  509  170  (926)
Miscellaneous other income  —  —  37
Total other income  $ 509  $ 170  $ 3,022

12. Net Loss Per Share

The Company accounts for and discloses net loss per common share in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 260 “ Earnings
per
Share.”
Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding. Diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares that would have been outstanding during the period assuming the issuance of common shares for all
potential dilutive common shares outstanding. Potential common shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants.

The following table sets forth the potentially dilutive common shares excluded from the calculation of net loss per common share
because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):
 

 December 31,

 2015  2014
Warrants to purchase common stock 22,308  8,540
Options to purchase common stock 13,262  8,590
Total 35,570  17,130
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13. Income Taxes
The components of federal and state income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):

 

  As of December 31,

  2015  2014  2013
Current       

Federal  $ —  $ —  $ —
State  —  —  —

Total current  —  —  —
Deferred expense (benefit)       

Federal  332  —  894
State  33  —  158

Total deferred  365  —  1,052
Total income tax expense (benefit)  $ 365  $ —  $ 1,052

The components of net deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
 

  As of December 31,

  2015  2014
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 75,221  $ 53,950
Tax credit carryforwards  3,866  3,590
Stock based compensation  5,050  4,676
Other  1,430  190
Licensing deduction deferral  9,910  8,919
Gross deferred tax assets  95,477  71,325
Valuation allowance  (95,477)  (71,325)
Net deferred tax asset  $ —  $ —

The components of net deferred tax liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
 

  As of December 31,

  2015  2014
In-process research and development not subject to future amortization for tax purposes  $ 5,418  $ 5,053
Gross deferred tax liability  $ 5,418  $ 5,053
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The provision for income taxes differs from the provision computed by applying the federal statutory rate to net loss before income taxes
as follows (in thousands):
 

  As of December 31,

  2015  2014  2013
Expected federal income tax benefit  $ (21,603)  $ (12,447)  $ (25,713)
State income taxes after credits  (2,375)  (1,283)  (3,676)
Unrealized gain on marketable securities  —  —  1,052
Changes in warrant value  (456)  (6,503)  17,283
Stock compensation  508  3,996  813
Effect of change in valuation allowance  24,029  17,275  11,408
Income tax credits  (276)  (42)  (240)
Other  538  (996)  125
  $ 365  $ —  $ 1,052

The Company has incurred net operating losses from inception. At December 31, 2015, the Company had domestic federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $200.0 million and $183.5 million , respectively, available to reduce future taxable income, which
expire at various dates beginning in 2015 through 2035 . The Company also had federal and state research and development tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $2.5 million and $2.1 million , respectively, available to reduce future tax liabilities and which expire at various dates
beginning in 2023 through 2035 . The income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 relates to indefinite lived deferred tax liabilities.
The income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 relates to the realized gain on sale of marketable securities.

At December 31, 2015, approximately $1.4 million of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards were generated as a result of
deductions related to the exercises of stock options. If utilized, this portion of the Company's carryforwards, as tax effected, will be accounted for as
a direct increase to contributed capital rather than as a reduction of that year's provision for income taxes. Net operating loss carryforwards created
by excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options are not recorded as deferred tax assets. The deferred tax assets related to net operating
losses have been accordingly reduced by $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in the Company’s ownership may result in a limitation on
the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credit carryforwards which could be utilized annually to offset future
taxable income and taxes payable.

Based on an assessment of all available evidence including, but not limited to the Company’s limited operating history in its core
business and lack of profitability, uncertainties of the commercial viability of its technology, the impact of government regulation and healthcare
reform initiatives, and other risks normally associated with biotechnology companies, the Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that
these net operating loss carryforwards and credits will not be realized and, as a result, a 100% deferred income tax valuation allowance has been
recorded against these assets. The valuation allowance increased by $24.0 million and $17.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal, Massachusetts, Colorado, California, Connecticut, Georgia, Oregon, and
Texas jurisdictions. The Company is subject to tax examinations for the 2010 tax year and beyond. The Company does not believe there will be any
material changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next 12 months . The Company has not incurred any interest or penalties. In the event
that the Company is assessed interest or penalties at some point in the future, they will be classified in the financial statements as general and
administrative expense.
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14. License Agreements

As part of its business, the Company enters into licensing agreements with third parties that often require milestone and royalty
payments based on the progress of the licensed asset through development and commercial stages. Milestone payments may be required, for
example, upon approval of the product for marketing by a regulatory agency, and the Company may be required to make royalty payments based
upon a percentage of net sales of the product. The expenditures required under these arrangements in any period may be material and are likely to
fluctuate from period to period.

These arrangements sometimes permit the Company to unilaterally terminate development of the product and thereby avoid future
contingent payments; however, the Company is unlikely to cease development if the compound successfully achieves clinical testing objectives.

In conjunction with the acquisition of NeuVax TM , the Company acquired rights and assumed obligations under a license agreement
among Apthera and The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center (“MDACC”) and The Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the
Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc. (“HJF”) which grants exclusive worldwide rights to a U.S. patent covering the nelipepimut-S peptide and
several U.S. and foreign patents and patent applications covering methods of using the peptide as a vaccine. Under the terms of this license, we are
required to pay an annual maintenance fee of $200,000 , we paid a milestone payment of $200,000 upon commencing the Phase 3 PRESENT trial
of NeuVax and other clinical milestone payments, as well as royalty payments based on sales of NeuVax or other therapeutic products developed
from the licensed technologies.

Effective December 3, 2012, we entered into a license and supply agreement with ABIC Marketing Limited, a subsidiary of Teva
Pharmaceuticals (“ABIC”), under which we granted ABIC exclusive rights to seek marketing approval in Israel for our NeuVax product candidate for
intradermal injection for the treatment of breast cancer following its approval by the FDA or the European Medicines Agency, and to market, sell and
distribute NeuVax in Israel assuming such approval is obtained. ABIC’s rights also include a right of first refusal in Israel for all future indications for
which NeuVax may be approved. Under the license and supply agreement, ABIC will assume responsibility for regulatory registration of NeuVax in
Israel, provide financial support for local development, and commercialize the product in the region in exchange for making royalty payments to us
based on future sales of NeuVax. ABIC also agrees in the license and supply agreement to purchase from us all supplies of NeuVax at a price
determined according to a specified formula.

On March 18, 2013, we acquired Abstral ® (fentanyl) sublingual tablets for sale and distribution in the United States from Orexo AB
(ORX.ST), a specialty pharmaceutical company based in Sweden. Abstral has been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and
is a transmucosal immediate-release fentanyl (TIRF) product.

Under our agreement with Orexo, we assumed responsibility for the U.S. commercialization of Abstral and for all regulatory and reporting
matters in the U.S. We also agreed to establish and maintain through 2015 a specified minimum commercial field force to market, sell and distribute
Abstral and to use commercially reasonable efforts to reach the specified sales milestones. Orexo is entitled to reacquire the U.S. rights to Abstral
from us for no consideration if we breach our obligations to establish and maintain the requisite sales force throughout the marketing period. We
launched U.S. commercial sales of Abstral in the fourth quarter of 2013.

In exchange for the U.S. rights to Abstral, (1) we paid Orexo $10 million in March 2013 and a  $5 million milestone payment in cash in
October 2013 upon the approval by the FDA of a specified U.S. manufacturer of Abstral; and (2) we agreed to pay to Orexo: (a)  three one-time
future cash milestone payments based on our net sales of Abstral; and (b) a low double-digit royalty on future net sales. No further milestone or
royalty payments will be due after the date on which all claims of the last remaining licensed patents expire (currently 2019 ) or become invalidated
by a governmental agency.
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On November  19,  2015,  Galena Biopharma,  Inc.  (the  “Company”)  and Sentynl  Therapeutics  Inc.,  a  Delaware  corporation  (“Sentynl”),
entered into and closed upon an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell to Sentynl
and Sentynl agreed to purchase from the Company, certain assets of the Company related to and including its Abstral ® (fentanyl) sublingual tablets
product (“Abstral”). The assets sold and assigned to Sentynl pursuant to the Purchase Agreement included all of the Company’s rights and interests
in the Asset Purchase Agreement by and between the Company and Orexo AB (“Orexo”) dated March 15, 2013, and the License Agreement by and
between the Company and Orexo dated March 18, 2013 (collectively, the “Orexo Agreements”). The Company’s future obligations under the Orexo
Agreements were assumed by Sentynl pursuant to such assignment. The Purchase Agreement further provides that the Company will continue to
be responsible for any pre-closing liabilities and obligations related to Abstral, as well for certain channel liabilities related to Abstral for a period of
time post-closing. In connection with the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the Company assigned to Sentynl all of its rights to
and interests in the Orexo Agreements. In connection with such assignment, Orexo released the Company from any future liabilities and obligations
under the Orexo Agreements.

 
The  total  potential  consideration  payable  to  the  Company  under  the  Purchase  Agreement  is  $12  million,  comprised  of  an  $8  million

upfront payment and up to an aggregate of $4 million, consisting of two one-time payments based on Sentynl's achievement of "net sales" of Abstral
in amounts ranging from $25 million to $35 million.

On January 12, 2014, we acquired worldwide rights to anagrelide controlled release (CR) formulation, which we renamed GALE-401,
through our acquisition of Mills Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("Mills"), and Mills became a wholly owned subsidiary. GALE-401 contains the active
ingredient anagrelide, an FDA-approved product that has been in use since the late 1990s for the treatment of myleoproliferative neoplasms
(MPNs). Mills holds an exclusive license to develop and commercialize anagrelide CR formulation, pursuant to a license agreement with
BioVascular, Inc. Under the terms of the license agreement, Mills has agreed to pay BioVascular, Inc. a mid-to-low single digit royalty on net
revenue from the sale of licensed products as well as future cash milestone payments based on the achievement of specified regulatory milestones.
We are responsible for patent prosecution and maintenance.

On July 17, 2014, we entered into a definitive license and supply agreement with MonoSol Rx, LLC (MonoSol) for the U.S. commercial
rights to Zuplenz ® (ondansetron) Oral Soluble Film, an FDA approved product in adult patients for the prevention of highly and moderately
emetogenic chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (CINV), radiotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (RINV), and post-operative nausea and
vomiting (PONV). Zuplenz is also approved for pediatric patients with moderately emetogenic CINV. In exchange for the U.S. rights to Zuplenz, in
connection with the effectiveness of the license and transfer to us of the New Drug Application (NDA) for Zuplenz, we paid MonoSol a total of $5
million in cash and shares of our common stock. In addition to these payments, we agreed to pay MonoSol $0.5 million upon the earlier of (a) the
occurrence of a specified managed care milestone and (b) December 31, 2014, (ii) $0.25 million within 30 days after MonoSol’s payment of
applicable fees relating to the notice of allowance by the United States Patent and Trademark Office of a U.S. patent with composition claims
covering Zuplenz that extend beyond 2028 , (iii) future cash milestone payments of up to an aggregate of $16.5 million , consisting of six one-time
payments based on our achievement of "net sales" of Zuplenz in amounts ranging from $20 million to $100 million , and (iv) a double-digit royalty on
future “net sales.”

Under the terms of the license agreement, we assumed responsibility for the commercialization of Zuplenz and for all regulatory and
reporting matters in the U.S. We also agreed in the license and supply agreement to use our best commercial efforts to begin commercializing
Zuplenz in the U.S. on or before December 31, 2014 in accordance with a joint commercialization plan to be established by the company and
MonoSol. We also agreed that, until net sales of Zuplenz exceed a specified minimum amount or a competing product has been approved by the
FDA and is placed into the market for sale, we will maintain a specified minimum number of field sales force personnel on specified terms.
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On December 17, 2015, Galena Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) and Midatech Pharma PLC, a public limited company organized under
the  laws  of  England  and  Wales  (“Midatech”),  entered  into  an  Asset  Purchase  Agreement  (the  “Purchase  Agreement”),  pursuant  to  which  the
Company agreed to sell to Midatech and Midatech agreed to purchase from the Company, certain assets of the Company related to and including
its Zuplenz ® (ondansetron) Oral  Soluble Film (“Zuplenz”).  The assets to be sold and assigned to Midatech pursuant to the Purchase Agreement
include  all  of  the  Company’s  rights  and  interests  in  the  License  and  Supply  Agreement  by  and  between  the  Company  and  MonoSol  Rx,  LLC
(“MonoSol”)  dated  July  17,  2014  (the  “MonoSol  License”).  The  Company’s  future  obligations  under  the  MonoSol  agreement  will  be  assumed  by
Midatech pursuant  to  such assignment.  The Purchase Agreement  further  provides that  the Company will  continue to  be responsible  for  any pre-
closing liabilities and obligations related to Zuplenz,  as well  for  certain channel  liabilities related to Zuplenz for  a period of  time post-closing.  The
transaction was completed on December 24, 2015.

The total potential consideration payable to the Company under the Purchase Agreement is $29.75 million, comprised of an $3.75 million
upfront payment upon the closing and up to an aggregate of $26 million, consisting of four one-time payments based on Midatech's achievement of
"net sales" of Zuplenz in amounts ranging from $12 million to $70 million.

Through a separate agreement with MonoSol entered into on December 16, 2015 (the “MonoSol License Amendment”), (i) the Company
and MonSol agreed to amend the MonoSol License in order to reduce the number of field representatives that the Company is required to maintain
with  respect  to  Zuplenz,  and (ii)  the Company agreed to pay MonoSol  $900,000 of  the upfront  fee payable to  the Company under  the Purchase
Agreement and 20% of any future milestone payments received by the Company under the Purchase Agreement.

On  December  24,  2015,  the  Company  and  Midatech  closed  upon  the  Purchase  Agreement.  In  connection  with  the  closing  of  the
transactions  contemplated  by  the  Purchase  Agreement,  the  Company  assigned  to  Midatech  all  of  its  rights  to  and  interests  in  the  Company’s
License  and  Supply  Agreement,  dated  July  17,  2014  (the  “MonoSol  License”).  As  a  result  of  such  assignment,  Midatech  assumed  all  of  the
Company’s obligations under the MonoSol License.

15. Related Party Transactions
Since 2011, the Company has retained TroyGould PC as outside corporate counsel. Sanford J. Hillsberg, the Chairman of the Company, is

a senior lawyer with TroyGould PC. The Company incurred $577,000 , $553,000 , and $577,000 for services provided by TroyGould PC during the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respctively. At December 31, 2015 and 2014 Galena owed $20,000 and $97,000 , respectively,
to TroyGould PC.

16. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement savings plan (the “Plan”). Participation in the Plan is available to full-time employees who
meet eligibility requirements. Eligible employees may defer a portion of their salary as defined by Internal Revenue Service regulations. The
Company may make matching contributions on behalf of all participants in the 401(k) Plan in an amount determined by the Company’s board of
directors. The Company may also make additional discretionary profit sharing contributions in amounts as determined by the Board of Directors,
subject to statutory limitations. Matching and profit-sharing contributions, if any, are subject to a vesting schedule; all other contributions are at all
times fully vested. The Company intends the 401(k) Plan, and the accompanying trust, to qualify under Sections 401(k) and 501 of the Internal
Revenue Code so that contributions by employees to the 401(k) Plan, and income earned (if any) on plan contributions, are not taxable to
employees until withdrawn from the 401(k) Plan, and so that the Company will be able to deduct its contributions, if any, when made. The trustee
under the 401(k) Plan, at the direction of each participant, invests the assets of the 401(k) Plan in any of a number of investment options. The
Company made matching contributions totaling $115,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015. For the years ending December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company made matching contributions totaling $70,000 and $35,000 , respectively
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17. Discontinued Operations

As part of the Company's strategic objective to focus its resources on its development pipeline, our management and board of directors
decided and committed to pursue a plan to sell or otherwise divest the Company’s commercial business during the third quarter of 2015. The
Company’s commercial business was comprised of two products: Abstral ® (fentanyl) Sublingual Tablets and Zuplenz ® (ondansetron) Oral Soluble
Film. As described in Note 14, both products were sold in the fourth quarter of 2015.

The Company met the relevant criteria for reporting the commercial business as held for sale and in discontinued operations in the
accompanying financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for the years then ended, pursuant to FASB Topic 205-20, Presentation
of Financial Statements--Discontinued Operations, and FASB Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. The Company assessed the commercial
business net asset group for impairment pursuant to FASB Topic 360, as discussed in Note 1, determining that the carrying value exceeded the fair
value of the assets, therefore the company recorded a $8.1 million impairment charge as of September 30, 2015.

The Company entered into an agreement with a third party firm to assist the company with the divestiture of its commercial operations
including identifying potential acquirers. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, in the event the Company successfully completed a divestiture
through the sale of its commercial operations to a third-party, the Company paid a success fee to the third party firm in an amount of $0.9 million ,
reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and agreed to pay 5% of realized future revenue and payment streams.

The Company entered into compensatory arrangements related to the divestiture of our commercial business with certain members of
commercial management. Under the terms of these arrangements, if the Company met certain sales and margin numbers in the fourth quarter of
2015 and successfully completes a divestiture through sale of its commercial operations to a third-party, the Company paid a retention fee to the
three employees in a combined total amount equal to $352,000 or 3% of cash consideration received as upfront payment in the transactions. These
employees will also receive severance payments equal to one month’s salary for between four and seven months. In addition to these
compensatory agreements loss from discontinued operations includes one-time termination benefits provided to employees that were part of the
commercial business and did not accept employment opportunities at the companies who purchased Abstral and Zuplenz.

The following table describes the net proceeds from the sale and the assets and liabilities sold, net of selling costs (in thousands):

 

Sale of Abstral and
related assets on

November 19, 2015
 

Sale of Zuplenz and
related assets on

December 24, 2015

Net proceeds from sales    
Total consideration $ 8,348  $ 3,750
Less selling costs* (815)  (1,050)

Proceeds from sale, net of selling costs $ 7,533  $ 2,700
*Note selling costs related to the sale of Zuplenz and related assets are included in accrued liabilities and were paid in the first quarter of

2016.

In addition to the upfront proceeds received from the sale of Abstral and Zuplenz and their related assets, the Company is eligible to
receive up to $30 million in future milestone payments based on future net revenue of the products. The additional consideration will be recognized
in the period that the net revenue milestones are achieved.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the commercial operations to assets held
for sale in the balance sheets (in thousands):
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 2015  2014
Carrying amounts of assets included as part of discontinued operations:

Accounts receivable $ 392  $ 1,535
Inventories —  655
Prepaid expenses and other current assets —  1,747
Equipment and furnishings, net —  270
Abstral rights, net —  14,533
Zuplenz rights —  8,101
Goodwill —  172

Total current assets of discontinued operations $ 392  $ 27,013

    

Carrying amounts of liabilities included as part of discontinued operations:
Accounts payable $ 1,491  $ 385
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 4,434  6,784

Total current liabilities of discontinued operations $ 5,925  $ 7,169

The following table represents the components attributable to the commercial business in 2015, 2014, and 2013 that are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss as discontinued operations (in thousands):

 2015  2014  2013

Net revenue $ 9,734  $ 9,319  $ 2,487
Cost of revenue (1,780)  (1,403)  (520)
Amortization of certain acquired intangible assets (921)  (440)  (131)
Research and development (355)  (680)  (651)
Selling, general, and administrative (17,655)  (15,118)  (6,536)
Impairment charge form classification as held for sale (8,071)  —  —
Loss on sale of commercial business assets (4,549)  —  —
Severance and exit costs (1,349)  —  —

Loss from discontinued operations $ (24,946)  $ (8,322)  $ (5,351)
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18. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following amounts are in thousands, except per share amounts:

  1st Quarter  2nd Quarter  3rd Quarter  4th Quarter

2015         
Net revenue  $ 2,750  $ 3,382  $ 2,166  $ 1,436
Gross profit on net revenue (1)  $ 2,357  $ 2,914  $ 1,454  $ 1,229
Net loss  $ (10,537)  $ (15,660)  $ (18,026)  $ (19,678)
Net loss per share  $ (0.08)  $ (0.10)  $ (0.11)  $ (0.12)

         

2014         
Net revenue  $ 2,173  $ 2,331  $ 1,620  $ 3,195
Gross profit on net revenue (1)  $ 1,751  $ 1,886  $ 1,303  $ 2,536
Net loss  $ (2,536)  $ (19,941)  $ (6,173)  $ (7,506)
Net loss per share  $ (0.02)  $ (0.17)  $ (0.05)  $ (0.06)
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19. Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated all events or transactions that occurred after December 31, 2014 up through the date these financial statements
were issued. Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company did not have any
material recognizable or unrecognizable subsequent events.

January
2016
Underwritten
Public
Offering
- On January 12, 2016 the cCompany closed an underwritten public offering of 19,772,727
units at a price to the public of $1.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $21.8 million (the January 2016 Offering"). Each unit consists of one share of
common stock, and a warrant to purchase 0.60 of a share of common stock at an exercise price of $1.42 per share. The January 2016 Offering
included an over-allotment option for the underwriters to purchase an additional 2,965,909 shares of common stock and/or warrants to purchase up
to 1,779,545 shares of common stock. On January 12, 2016, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option to purchase warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 1,779,545 shares of common stock. The underwriters did not exercise their over-allotment option to purchase 2,965,909
shares of our common stock. The total net proceeds of the January 2016 Offering, including the exercise of the over-allotment option to purchase
the warrants, were $20.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expense payable by the company.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), defines the term “disclosure controls

and procedures” as those controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure Management’s report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is

defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Principal Accounting Officer, we conducted evaluations of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”). Based on our evaluations under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO, our Chief
Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2015.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

This annual report includes an attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting.

There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31,
2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Galena Biopharma, Inc.

We have audited  Galena Biopharma,  Inc.’s  (the  “Company”)  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  December  31,  2015,  based on criteria
established in Internal
Control
-
Integrated
Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
The  Company’s  management  is  responsible  for  maintaining  effective  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and  for  its  assessment  of  the
effectiveness  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  included  in  the  accompanying  Management  Report  on  Internal  Control  over  Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our  audit  in  accordance with  the standards  of  the  Public  Company Accounting  Oversight  Board  (United  States).  Those standards
require  that  we  plan  and  perform  the  audit  to  obtain  reasonable  assurance  about  whether  effective  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audit  also  included  performing  such  other  procedures  as  we  considered  necessary  in  the  circumstances.  We  believe  that  our  audit  provides  a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A  company’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  is  a  process  designed  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial
reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  accounting  principles.  A
company’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  includes  those  policies  and  procedures  that  (1)  pertain  to  the  maintenance  of  records  that,  in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and  that  receipts  and  expenditures  of  the  company  are  being  made  only  in  accordance  with  authorizations  of  management  and  directors  of  the
company;  and  (3)  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  prevention  or  timely  detection  of  unauthorized  acquisition,  use,  or  disposition  of  the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because  of  its  inherent  limitations,  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  may  not  prevent  or  detect  misstatements.  Also,  projections  of  any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In  our  opinion,  Galena Biopharma,  Inc.  maintained,  in  all  material  respects,  effective  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  December  31,
2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

We  also  have  audited,  in  accordance  with  the  standards  of  the  Public  Company  Accounting  Oversight  Board  (United  States),  the  consolidated
balance  sheets  of  Galena  Biopharma,  Inc.  as  of  December  31,  2015  and  2014,  and  the  consolidated  statements  of  comprehensive  loss,
stockholders’  equity,  and  cash  flows  for  the  years  then  ended,  and  our  report  dated  March  10,  2016 expressed  an  unqualified  opinion  on  those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 10, 2016
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We will file with the SEC a definitive Proxy Statement, which we refer to herein as the “Proxy Statement,” not later than 120 days after
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information to be
contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information to be contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information to be contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information to be contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the information to be contained in the Proxy Statement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

 GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.
    

 By:  /s/ Mark W. Schwartz
    

   Mark W. Schwartz, Ph.D.

   President and Chief Executive Officer

    
   Date: March 10, 2016

    

 By:  /s/ John T. Burns
    

   John T. Burns

   Controller and Principal Accounting Officer

    
   Date: March 10, 2016
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Dated: March 10, 2016

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature  Title  Date

     

/s/ Mark W. Schwartz  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

 March 10, 2016
Mark W. Schwartz, Ph. D.    
     

/s/ John T. Burns.  Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

 March 10, 2016
John T. Burns    
     

/s/ Sanford J. Hillsberg  Director, Chairman of the Board  March 10, 2016
Sanford J. Hillsberg     
     

/s/ William L. Ashton  Director  March 10, 2016
William L. Ashton     
     

/s/ Richard Chin  Director  March 10, 2016
Richard Chin, M.D.     
     

/s/ Irving M. Einhorn  Director  March 10, 2016
Irving M. Einhorn     
     

/s/ Stephen S. Galliker  Director  March 10, 2016
Stephen S. Galliker     
     

/s/ Steven A. Kriegsman  Director  March 10, 2016
Steven A. Kriegsman     
     

/s/ Rudolph Nisi  Director  March 10, 2016
Rudolph Nisi, M.D.     
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number  Description  
1.1  At Market Issuance Sales Agreement dated May 24, 2013 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and Maxim Group LLC.(25)
1.2  At Market Issuance Sales agreements dated May 24, 2013 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and MLV & Co. LLC.(25)
2.1  Unit Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2014, between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and Mills Pharmaceuticals, LLC.+(19)

3.1  
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), as
amended as of June 28, 2013.(2)

3.2  Certificate of Ownership and Merger.(11)
3.3  Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Galena Biopharma, Inc.(26)
3.4  Amended and Restated By-Laws of Galena Biopharma, Inc., as amended as of August 6, 2013.(2)
4.1  Form of Warrant Agreement by and Galena Biopharma, Inc., Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A.(1)

4.2  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in March 2010.(14)

4.3  Form of Five-Year Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in March 2011.(15)

4.4  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in April 2011.(16)

4.5  Warrant No. 2012-1 in favor of Legend Securities, Inc. issued in February 2012.(4)

4.6  Form of December 2012 Warrant.(17)

4.7  Form of warrants granted on May 8, 2013 under the Loan and Security Agreement set forth as Exhibit 10.21.(18)

4.8  
Warrant Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2015, by and among Galena Biopharma, Inc., Computershare, Inc. and
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.(26)

4.9  
Warrant Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2016, by and among Galena Biopharma, Inc., Computershare Inc. and
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.**

10.1  
Contingent Value Rights Agreement among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), Computershare
Trust Company, N.A., Computershare Inc., and Robert E Kennedy, dated April 13, 2011.(3)

10.2  
First Amendment to Contingent Value Rights Agreement among Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals
Corporation), Computershare Trust Company, N.A., Computershare Inc., and Robert E Kennedy, dated February 15, 2012.(4)

10.3  Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) Amended and Restated 2007 Incentive Plan.*(8)

10.4  
Amendment to Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) Amended and Restated 2007 Incentive
Plan.*(9)

10.5  

Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated September 11, 2006, by and among the Board of Regents of the University of
Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement of
Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).+(5))

10.6  

Amendment No. 1 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, by and among the Board of Regents
of the University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for
the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).(5)

10.7  

Amendment No. 2 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated September 3, 2008, by and among the Board of Regents
of the University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for
the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., and Apthera, Inc. (formerly Advanced Peptide Therapeutics, Inc.).(5)

10.8  

Amendment No. 3 to Patent and Technology License Agreement, dated July 8, 2009, by and among the Board of Regents of the
University of Texas System, the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), dated as of November __, 2015, is made by and between
Galena  Biopharma,  Inc. ,  a  Delaware  corporation  (“ Seller ”),  and Sentynl  Therapeutics,  Inc. ,  a  Delaware  corporation  (“
Purchaser ”).  Seller  and  Purchaser  are  sometimes  individually  referred  to  herein  as  a  “ Party ”  and  are  sometimes  collectively
referred to herein as the “ Parties ”. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in the text of this Agreement shall have the meanings
set forth in ARTICLE I of this Agreement.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS,  Seller  is  the  licensee  of  certain  patents  and  know-how  relating  to  the  proprietary  product  for  pain  treatment
marketed  as  Abstral TM in  the  United  States  that  contains  fentanyl  as  its  sole  active  ingredient  and  is  approved  under  its  product
NDA, including all dosage strengths thereof (the “ Product ” or “ Abstral ”); and

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell,  and Purchaser desires to purchase from Seller,  the Acquired Assets,  upon the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein set forth, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the
Parties hereby agree as follows:

Article I 
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01.      Definitions .

(a)      For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the corresponding meanings set forth below:

“ Abstral NDA ” means NDA No. 22-510 relating to Abstral in the Territory.

“ Acquisition ”  means  the  consummation  of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  and  the  Ancillary
Agreement.

“ Affiliate ”  means,  with  respect  to  any  specified  Person,  any  other  Person  directly  or  indirectly  controlling  or
controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person; and for the purposes of this definition, “ control
” when used with respect to any specified Person means the power to direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or
indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms “ controlling ” and “ controlle
d” have meanings correlative to the foregoing.

“ Ancillary Agreement ” means individually and collectively, each of the Other Acquisition Documents (as and when
executed and delivered).

“ Branded Prescription Drug Fee ” means the fees imposed by Section 9008 of the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care  Act  (ACA),  Public  Law  111-148  (124  Stat.  119  (2010)),  as  amended  by  section  1404  of  the  Health  Care  and  Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (HCERA), Public Law 111-152 (124 Stat. 1029 (2010)) and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ Business Day ” means a day other than Saturday or Sunday or a day on which banks are required or authorized to
close in the State of Delaware.

“ Channel  Products ”  means  Abstral  (i)  with  respect  to  which  Seller  has  recognized  revenues  (including  Products
which  have  been  replaced  by  Seller,  in  Seller’s  discretion)  on  or  before  the  Closing  Date,  and  (ii)  which  have  been  shipped  to
Seller’s customers prior to the Closing Date, but as of such date, have not yet been purchased by consumers.

“ Closing Consideration ” means eight million dollars ($8,000,000).

“ Code ” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“ Confidential Information ” means all information provided by one Party to the other Party in connection with this



Agreement, including know-how, scientific information, pre-clinical and clinical data, adverse event information, formulas, methods
and processes, pricing information (including discounts, rebates and other price adjustments) and other terms and conditions of sales,
customer information, business plans, and all other intellectual property which is not publicly available and is owned or controlled
by a Party.

“ Contracts ”  means  all  licenses,  agreements,  contracts,  commitments  and  all  other  legally  binding  arrangements,
whether written or oral.

“ Dollars ” and “ $ ” mean lawful currency of the United States of America.

“ Excluded Trademarks ” mean, whether registered or unregistered, all trademarks, trade dress, service marks, service
names, brand marks, trade names, brand names, logos, business symbols, slogans or other designations of origin and all registrations,
registration applications and rights relating thereto, other than the trademarks included in the Transferred Intellectual Property.

“ FDA ” means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

“ GAAP ” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, consistently applied.

“ Governmental or Regulatory Authority ” means any court, tribunal, arbitrator, agency, commission, official or other
instrumentality  of  any  country,  federal,  state,  county,  city  or  other  political  subdivision,  foreign  or  domestic,  including  without
limitation  the  FDA  and  any  other  governmental  instrumentality  with  responsibility  for  granting  any  licenses,  registrations  or
regulatory approvals.

“ Intended Use ” means the distribution, marketing, sale, and manufacture of Abstral in the Territory.

“ Law ” means all laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances and other pronouncements or orders having the effect
of law of any Governmental or Regulatory Authority.

“ Liabilities ”  means  any  and  all  assessments,  losses,  damages  (compensatory,  punitive  or  other),  liabilities,
obligations, commitments, reimbursements, costs and expenses of any kind or nature, actual, contingent, present or future.

“ Licensed Intellectual Property ” has the meaning defined in the Orexo License Agreement License Agreement.

“ Liens ” means liens, claims, encumbrances, security interests, options or charges.

“ Material  Adverse  Effect ”  means  any  event  that  has  a  material,  adverse  effect  on  the  manufacture,  distribution,
marketing  or  sale  by  or  on  behalf  of  the  Purchaser  of  the  Product  in  the  Territory  as  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  and  the
Ancillary  Agreements,  but  excluding  the  events  or  effects  of:  (i)  changes  to  the  pharmaceutical  industry  and  markets  in  which
Purchaser or Seller operate, to the extent such changes do not have a disproportionately adverse effect on the Intended Use of the
Product in the Territory; (ii) changes in the United States or world financial markets in general; (iii) changes arising in connection
with earthquakes,  hostilities,  acts  of  war,  sabotage or  terrorism or military  actions  or  any escalation or  material  worsening of  any
such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage or terrorism or military actions existing or underway as of the date hereof; or (iv) any action
taken by Purchaser or its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to a Product or the Intended
Use  of  a  Product  in  the  Territory;  or  (v)  any  effect  resulting  from the  public  announcement  of  this  Agreement,  compliance  with
terms of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“ NDA ”  means  a  New  Drug  Application  or  supplemental  New  Drug  Application,  as  defined  in  the  United  States
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.

“ Net  Sales ”  means,  for  any  period,  the  aggregate  of  the  gross  amounts  invoiced  or  otherwise  billed,  charged  or
received by a Selling Person for the arms’ length sale or other commercial disposition to non-Affiliates of such Selling Person of a
Product (whether such Selling Person has the right to sell Abstral ), less the following deductions to the extent specifically related to
a  Product  and  actually  accrued,  allowed,  incurred  or  paid  during  such  period:  (i)  reasonable  cash  discounts,  returns,  allowances,
rebates,  patient assistance benefits,  or chargebacks;  (ii)  sales, value-added,  excise taxes, tariffs and duties,  and other taxes directly
related to the sale (but excluding income or net profit taxes or franchise taxes of any kind); and (iii) amounts allowed or credited on
returns, provided that all of the foregoing deductions are incurred in the ordinary course and calculated in accordance with GAAP
during  the  applicable  calculation  period  throughout  the  Selling  Person’s  organization.  All  such  discounts,  allowances,  credits,
rebates,  patient  assistance benefits  and other  deductions  shall  be fairly  and equitably  allocated to the Product  of  a  Selling Person,
such that a Product does not bear a disproportionate portion of such deductions. Any disposal of a Product at no charge for, or use



without charge in, clinical or preclinical trials (but excluding post-approval clinical trials for which compensation is received by the
Selling Person), given as free samples, or distributed at no charge to patients unable to purchase the same shall not be included in
Net Sales, in each case, except to the extent that a Selling Person has received any consideration for such Product.

For  sake of  clarity  and avoidance  of  doubt,  the transfer  of  a  Product  by a  Selling Person or  one of  its  Affiliates  to
another Affiliate of such Selling Person or to a sub-licensee of such Selling Person for resale shall not be considered a sale; in such
cases,  Net  Sales  shall  be  determined  based  on  the  amount  invoiced  or  otherwise  billed  by  such  Affiliate  or  sub-licensee  to  an
independent Third Party, less the Net Sales deductions allowed under this definition.

In the case of any sale of a Product for value other than in an arm’s length transaction exclusively for cash, such as
barter  or  counter-trade,  Net  Sales  shall  be  calculated  based  on  the  fair  market  value  of  the  non-cash  consideration  received  in
connection with such sale and based on the full list price for non-arm’s length transactions. If a Product is sold together with another
product  and  not  separately  invoiced  or  billed,  the  Parties  shall  agree  upon  the  appropriate  allocation  of  the  amount  received  in
consideration for the applicable Product, which allocation shall reflect the fair market value of the applicable Product and the other
product.

“ Orexo Asset Purchase Agreement ” means that certain Asset Purchase Agreement by and between Seller and Orexo
AB dated March 15, 2013, assigned to Purchaser as one of the Transferred Contracts hereunder subject to the terms and conditions
described herein.

“ Orexo License  Agreement ”  means  that  certain  License  Agreement  by  and  between  Seller  and  Orexo  AB  dated
March 18, 2013, assigned to Purchaser as one of the Transferred Contracts hereunder.

“ Other Acquisition Documents ” means (i) the Bill of Sale, (ii) the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, and (iii)
the Trademark Assignment Agreement.

“ Person ” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, business trust, association,
joint  stock company,  joint  venture,  pool,  syndicate,  sole proprietorship,  unincorporated organization,  Governmental  or  Regulatory
Authority, or any other form of legal entity not specifically listed herein.

“ Seller’s  Knowledge ”  means  the  knowledge,  after  a  reasonable  investigation,  of  the  following  individuals:  Mark
Schwartz, Joseph Lasaga, Ryan Dunlap, Christopher Lento, and Patricia Murphy.

“ Selling Person ” means the  Purchaser,  each of  its  Affiliates  and each (i)  licensee,  sub-licensee,  assignee  or  other
grantee  of  rights  from Purchaser  or  any  of  its  Affiliates  or  another  Selling  Person  to  develop,  market  or  sell Abstral ,  (ii)  buyer,
transferee or assignee of any Transferred Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property from Purchaser or its Affiliates or
another Selling Person, or (iii) any Affiliate of the foregoing.

“ Tax ” or  “ Taxes ”  means  all  federal,  state,  local  and  foreign  income,  payroll,  withholding,  excise,  value  added,
sales,  use,  personal  property,  use  and  occupancy,  business  and  occupation,  mercantile,  real  estate,  gross  receipts,  license,
employment,  severance,  stamp,  premium,  windfall  profits,  social  security  (or  unemployment),  disability,  transfer,  registration,
alternative or add-on minimum, estimated or capital  stock and franchise and other  taxes and assessments of any kind whatsoever,
including all interest, penalties and additions imposed with respect to such amounts, whether disputed or not.

“ Taxing Authority ” means any Governmental or Regulatory Authority exercising any authority to impose, regulate
or administer the imposition of Taxes.

“ Tax Return ” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to
Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“ Territory ” means the United States of America including its territories and possessions.

“ Third Party ” means any Person other than Purchaser or Seller and their respective Affiliates.

(b)      The following terms have the meanings given to such terms in the Sections set forth below:

Term Section
Abstral Recitals
Acquired Assets 2.01(a)



Additional Assumption Documents 3.01(b)(v)
Additional Transfer Documents 3.01(c)(vi)
Agreement Preamble
Allocation 9.04
Annual Sales Milestone 3.02(b)
Assignment and Assumption Agreement 3.01(b)(iii)
Assumed Liabilities 2.02(a)
Bill of Sale 3.01(b)(ii)
Channel Liabilities Schedule 2.02(a)(ii)
Chargebacks Schedule 2.02
Claim Dispute Notice 10.04
Closing 3.01(a)
Closing Date 3.01(a)
Confidentiality Agreement 9.06
Continuation Period Schedule 5.03
Continued Agreements Schedule 5.03
Direct Claim Notice 10.04
Excluded Assets 2.01(b)
Excluded Liabilities 2.02(b)
Fixed Assets 2.01(a)(iv)
Indemnitee 10.03(a)
Indemnitor 10.03(a)(i)
Independent Auditor 8.03
Inventory 2.01(a)(iv)
Losses 10.01
Milestone Audit 8.03
NDC 6.04
Party or Parties Preamble
Product Recitals
Purchase Price 3.02(a)
Purchaser Preamble
Purchaser Indemnitees 10.01
Rebates Schedule 2.02
Seller Preamble
Seller Indemnitees 10.02
Seller Names 6.04
Short Dated Lots Schedule 2.02
Termination Date 11.01(b)
Third Party Claim 10.03(a)
Trademark Assignment Agreement 3.01(b)(iv)
Transfer Taxes 9.03
Transferred Contracts 2.01(a)(iii)
Transferred FDA Permits 2.01(a)(ii)
Transferred Intellectual Property 2.01(a)(i)
UPC 6.04

Section 1.02.      Interpretation . The definitions of the terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the
terms  defined.  Whenever  the  context  may  require,  any  pronoun  shall  include  the  corresponding  masculine,  feminine  and  neuter
forms.  The  words  “include”,  “includes”  and  “including”  shall  be  deemed  to  be  followed  by  the  phrase  “without  limitation”.  The



word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”. Unless the context requires otherwise, (i)
any  definition  of  or  reference  to  any  agreement,  instrument  or  other  document  herein  shall  be  construed  as  referring  to  such
agreement,  instrument  or  other  document  as  from  time  to  time  amended,  supplemented  or  otherwise  modified  (subject  to  any
restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth therein); (ii) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”,
and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof;
(iii) the word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends and such phrase does
not mean simply “if”;  (iv) all  references herein to Articles,  Sections,  Exhibits  or Schedules shall  be construed to refer to Articles,
Sections, Exhibits and Schedules of this Agreement; and (v) the headings contained in this Agreement or any Exhibit or Schedule
and  in  the  table  of  contents  to  this  Agreement  are  for  reference  purposes  only  and  shall  not  affect  in  any  way  the  meaning  or
interpretation of this Agreement. Any matter set forth in any provision, sub-provision, section or subsection of the Schedules to this
Agreement shall be deemed set forth for all purposes of the Schedules hereto to the extent reasonably apparent that such matter is
relevant to another provision, sub-provision, section or subsection of the Schedules hereto. All Schedules attached hereto or referred
to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein. Any capitalized terms used in the
Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto but not otherwise defined therein, shall have the meaning as defined in this Agreement. In
the  event  of  an  ambiguity  or  a  question  of  intent  or  interpretation,  this  Agreement  shall  be  construed  as  if  drafted  jointly  by  the
Parties  and  no  presumption  or  burden  of  proof  shall  arise  favoring  or  disfavoring  either  Party  by  virtue  of  the  authorship  of  any
provisions of this Agreement.

Article II      
PURCHASE AND SALE OF ACQUIRED ASSETS

Section 2.01.      Purchase and Sale .

(a)      Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall sell, assign,
transfer,  convey and deliver  to Purchaser,  and Purchaser  shall  purchase from Seller,  free and clear  of  all  Liens,  all  right,  title  and
interest of Seller in, to and under the following assets, properties and rights of Seller (collectively, the “ Acquired Assets ”):

(i)      the trademark, domain name and copyrights of Seller which are related exclusively to the Product and
are set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(i ) (the “ Transferred Intellectual Property ”);

(ii)      the governmental, regulatory filings, correspondence, submissions, marketing authorizations, permits,
licenses, registrations (including Product registration data), regulatory clearances, certificates, approvals, variances, consents
and similar items of Seller with the FDA exclusively related to the Intended Use of Abstral in the Territory as set forth on
Exhibit 2.01(a)(ii) (the “ Transferred FDA Permits ”) (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the Abstral NDA);

(iii)      the Contracts set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(iii) (the “ Transferred Contracts ”) (which, for the avoidance
of  doubt,  includes  the  Orexo  Asset  Purchase  Agreement  as  amended  on  November  18,  2015  (which  amendment,
automatically  terminates  the  Marketing  Period  defined  in  Section  8.04  (b)(ii)  thereof  as  of  the  Closing  Date  of  this
Agreement)  and  the  Orexo  License  Agreement)  and  all  rights  and  claims  of  Seller  arising  under  or  with  respect  to  the
Transferred Contracts;

(iv)      (A) the inventory of Abstral owned by Seller as set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(iv) (the “ Inventory ”) and
(B) the manufacturing equipment for Abstral as set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(iv) (the “ Fixed Assets ”);

(v)      copies of (A) all current marketing and sales assets that relate exclusively to Abstral and (B) all books,
ledgers, files, reports, data, plans and records that relate exclusively to Abstral ; and

(vi)      all claims, causes of action or other rights of the Seller, if any, arising out of any of the Acquired Assets
arising before, on or after the Closing Date.

(b)      Purchaser is not purchasing or acquiring, and Seller is not selling or assigning, any assets or properties of Seller
or  any  of  its  Affiliates  that  are  not  specifically  listed  above,  and  all  such  other  assets  and  properties  shall  be  excluded  from  the
Acquired Assets (the “ Excluded Assets ”).



Section 2.02.      Assumed Liabilities and Excluded Liabilities .

(a)      Purchaser  shall  assume,  effective  as  of  the  Closing,  and  from  and  after  the  Closing,  Purchaser  shall  pay,
perform and  discharge  when due,  all  Liabilities  of  Seller  arising  under  or  related  to  the  Acquired  Assets  accruing  on  or  after  the
Closing, including without limitation, (i) Liabilities arising out of Purchaser’s use of the Seller Names, Excluded Trademarks, UPC,
NDC and the activities contemplated by Section 6.04 hereof, (ii) those Liabilities which are allocated to Purchaser with respect to the
Channel Liabilities,  as defined and set forth in Exhibit 2.02 hereof (the “ Channel Liabilities Schedule ”), and (iii) any Liabilities
arising  from  or  relating  to  the  development,  testing,  manufacture,  distribution,  marketing,  promotion  or  sale  of  Abstral  in  the
Territory on or after the Closing (including, without limitation, any product recalls and any product liability claim for any sale by
Purchaser of Abstral on or after to the Closing Date) (collectively, and subject to the Excluded Liabilities, the “ Assumed Liabilities
”).

(b)      Purchaser shall not assume any other Liabilities of Seller or its Affiliates other than the Assumed Liabilities,
including  without  limitation,  (i)  any  Liabilities  of  Seller  for  monies  due  but  not  yet  payable  as  of  the  Closing  Date  under  any
Transferred Contract, (ii) any Liabilities resulting from (1) any breach or violation of any Transferred Contract by Seller occurring
prior to the Closing or (2) any act or omission of Seller prior to the Closing that would have constituted a breach or violation upon
notice or passage of time under any Transferred Contract, (iii) any Liabilities with respect to the Branded Prescription Drug Fee due
for the Product prior to Closing, (iv) any Liabilities arising from or relating to the development, testing, manufacture, distribution,
marketing, promotion or sale of Abstral in the Territory prior to the Closing (including, without limitation, any product recalls and
any product liability claim for any sale by Seller of Abstral prior to the Closing Date), and (v) those Liabilities which are allocated to
Seller with respect to the Channel Liabilities as set forth in the Channel Liabilities Schedule (collectively, the “ Excluded Liabilities
”).  Seller  shall  remain  responsible  for,  and  from  and  after  the  Closing  Seller  shall  pay,  perform  and  discharge  when  due,  the
Excluded Liabilities.

(c)      Each of Purchaser’s and Seller’s obligations under this Section 2.02 will not be subject to offset or reduction by
reason  of  any  actual  or  alleged  breach  of  any  representation,  warranty,  covenant  or  agreement  contained  in  this  Agreement,  any
Ancillary Agreement or any right or alleged right to indemnification hereunder.

Section 2.03.      Consents of Third Parties

(a)      Other than with respect to consents from third parties required as a condition to Closing pursuant to Section
4.01(f) ,  if  any  transfer  or  assignment  by  Seller  to,  or  any  assumption  by  Purchaser  of,  any  interest  in,  or  liability,  obligation  or
commitment under, any asset (including any Contract), or any claim, right or benefit requires the consent of a Third Party and if any
such consent is not obtained prior to the Closing, for a period of one-hundred eighty (180) days from and after the Closing Date, (i)
Seller shall  use commercially  reasonable efforts  following the Closing to obtain such consents,  and (ii)  Seller  and Purchaser shall
cooperate  (each  at  their  own  expense)  in  any  lawful  and  reasonable  arrangement  reasonably  proposed  by  Purchaser  under  which
Purchaser  shall  obtain  the economic claims,  rights  and benefits  under  the asset  (including any Contract)  or  related claim,  right  or
benefit  with respect to which the consent has not been obtained in accordance with this Agreement.  Such reasonable arrangement
may include (x) the subcontracting, sublicensing or subleasing to Purchaser of any and all rights of Seller against the other party to
such Contract  arising out  of  a  breach or  cancellation  thereof  by the other  party,  and (y)  the enforcement  by Seller  of  such rights.
None of Seller, Purchaser or their respective Affiliates shall be required to commence, defend or participate in any litigation, incur
any  obligation  in  favor  of,  or  offer  or  grant  any  accommodation  (financial  or  otherwise)  to,  any  Third  Party  in  connection  with
entering  into  or  implementing  such  arrangement  unless  Purchaser  and  Seller  mutually  agree  to  pursue  such  litigation  or
accommodation, and in any such case, Seller and Purchaser shall equally share the costs associated therewith.

Article III      
CLOSING

Section 3.01.      Closing .

(d)      The closing of the Acquisition (the “ Closing ”) shall be held remotely by exchange of electronic copies of the
agreements, documents, certificates and other instruments set forth in Section 3.01(b) and Section 3.01(c) at 10:00 a.m. on the date



hereof or any later date agreed upon by the Parties after the conditions to the Closing set forth in Section 4.01 and Section 4.02 have
been  satisfied  or  waived  (other  than  those  conditions  which  by  their  nature  are  to  be  fulfilled  at  the  Closing,  but  subject  to  the
fulfillment or waiver of such conditions). The date on which the Closing shall occur is hereinafter referred to as the “ Closing Date ”.
The Closing shall be deemed to be effective as of 12:00:01 a.m. eastern standard time on the Closing Date.

(e)      At the Closing, Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Seller:

(i)      an  amount  equal  to  the  Closing  Consideration  by  wire  transfer  of  immediately  available  funds
denominated in Dollars to a bank account designated in writing by Seller at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing
Date;

(ii)      an executed counterpart of the Bill of Sale, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3.01(b)(ii) (the “ Bill
of Sale ”);

(iii)      an executed counterpart of the Assumption Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3.01(b)
(iii) (the “ Assignment and Assumption Agreement ”);

(iv)      an  executed  counterpart  of  the  Trademark  Assignment  Agreement,  in  the  form  attached  hereto  as
Exhibit 3.01(b)(iv) (the “ Trademark Assignment Agreement ”);

(v)      such other executed instruments of transfer, conveyance, assignment, and assumption as the Seller may
reasonably  request  in  order  to  effect  the  sale,  transfer,  conveyance  and  assignment  to  the  Purchaser  of  all  obligations,
liabilities, right, title and interest in and to the Assumed Liabilities (the “ Additional Assumption Documents ”); and

(vi)      a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an authorized officer of Purchaser, in his or her
capacity as such, confirming the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Section 4.01(b) and Section 4.01(c) .

(f)      At the Closing, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Purchaser:

(i)      an executed counterpart of the Bill of Sale;

(ii)      an executed counterpart of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement;

(iii)      an executed counterpart of the Trademark Assignment Agreement;

(iv)      an  executed  consent  by  a  duly  authorized  officer  of  Orexo  (a)  accepting  Seller’s  assignment  of  the
Orexo Asset Purchase Agreement and Orexo License Agreement to Purchaser and (b) amending the Orexo Asset Purchase
Agreement to provide that the Marketing Period set forth in Section 8.04(b)(ii) thereof is automatically terminated as of the
Closing Date of this Agreement;

(v)      written  response  from  Caremark  that  PharmaWare  utilization  should  not  have  been  submitted  for
rebates to Seller in the second calendar quarter of 2015 and there was no utilization by PharmaWare for rebates to Seller in
the third calendar quarter of 2015;

(vi)      copies of Seller’s insurance carrier’s endorsement evidencing Seller’s product liability insurance for
Abstral continuing through any applicable statute of limitations period for product sold by Seller prior to the Closing Date;

(vii)      such  other  executed  instruments  of  transfer,  conveyance  and  assignment  as  the  Purchaser  may
reasonably  request  in  order  to  effect  the  sale,  transfer,  conveyance  and  assignment  to  the  Purchaser  of  all  right,  title  and
interest in and to the Acquired Assets (the “ Additional Transfer Documents ”); and

(viii)      a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an authorized officer of Seller, in his or her
capacity as such, confirming the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Section 4.02(b) and Section 4.02(c) .

Section 3.02.      Purchase Price .



(b)      In addition to the assumption of all  of the payment obligations under the Orexo Asset Purchase Agreement,
which  Purchaser  shall  pay  directly  to  Orexo,  the  aggregate  consideration  Purchaser  shall  pay  to  Seller  hereunder  shall  be  (i)  the
Closing  Consideration  and  the  assumption  of  the  Assumed  Liabilities,  and  (ii)  the  Annual  Sales  Milestones  (collectively,  the  “
Purchase Price ”).

(c)      Purchaser  shall  pay  to  Seller  each  of  the  following  one-time  only,  non-refundable,  non-creditable  sales
milestone(s)  (the  “ Annual Sales  Milestone(s) ”)  within  sixty  (60)  days  following  the  end  of  the  calendar  year,  if  any,  in  which
Product  Net  Sales  equal  or  exceed  the  respective  thresholds  referenced  below,  Purchaser  shall  make  payment  by  wire  transfer  in
immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated in writing by Seller.  Purchaser shall provide Seller with written
notice  upon  achievement  of  any  Annual  Sales  Milestone(s),  along  with  reasonable  supporting  written  documentation  and
calculations supporting the payment. Purchaser’s obligation under this Section 3.02(b) shall terminate upon the earlier of (i) entry of
a  generic  equivalent  to  the  Product  (including  an  authorized  generic  to  the  Product)  into  the  Territory  by  a  third-party  or  (ii)
expiration of the latest Product patent.

Each Annual Sales Milestone shall be payable only once. For avoidance of doubt and by way of example, if Purchaser’s Net Sales
for  the  Product  is  equal  to  […***…]  in  […***…],  is  equal  to  […***…]  in  […***…]  and  is  equal  to  […***…]  in  […***…],
Purchaser  would be  obligated to  provide the  following Annual  Sales  Milestones:  following Year  […***…]:[…***…];  following
Year […***…]:[…***…]; and following Year […***…]:[…***…]. No further Annual Sales Milestone payments would be owed
by Purchaser to Seller.

Annual Net Sales equal or exceed: Annual Sales Milestone:
[…***…] […***…]  
[…***…] […***…]

Article IV      
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 4.01.      Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser . The obligation of Purchaser to effect the closing of the Acquisition
is subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by Purchaser) as of the Closing of the following conditions:

(d)      No Injunctions  or  Restraints .  No Law, temporary restraining order,  preliminary or  permanent  injunction or
other order enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or other legal restraint
or  prohibition  by  a  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  shall  be  pending  or  in  effect  seeking  to  prevent  or  preventing  the
Acquisition.

(e)      Accuracy  of  Representations  and  Warranties .  All  of  the  representations  and  warranties  made  by  Seller  in
ARTICLE V that are qualified by any reference to any materiality qualifications shall each be true and correct as of the Closing Date
as though such representations and warranties were made at such date (except that any representations and warranties that are made
only as of a specified date shall be true and correct only as of such date), and all other representations and warranties made by the
Seller  shall  each be true and correct  in all  material  respects as of  the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties
were made at such date (except that any representations and warranties that are made only as of a specified date shall be true and
correct only as of such date).

(f)      Performance of Covenants . The covenants and obligations that Seller is required to perform or comply with
under  this  Agreement  on  or  before  the  Closing  Date  shall  have  been  duly  performed  and  complied  with  by  Seller  in  all  material
respects.

(g)      Deliverables . Purchaser shall have received each of the items set forth in Section 3.01(c) .

(h)      No Material Adverse Effect . No Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred and be continuing.



(i)      Receipt  of Third Party Consents .  Written consents  from the applicable  Third Parties  identified on Schedule
4.01(f) with respect to the assignment and assumption pursuant to the Acquisition of the applicable Transferred Contracts, each in
form and substance reasonably acceptable to Purchaser, shall have been obtained and remain in full force and effect.

Section 4.02.      Conditions  to  Obligation  of  Seller .  The  obligation  of  Seller  to,  and  to  cause  its  Affiliates  to,  effect  the
closing of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by Seller) as of the Closing of the following conditions:

(a)      No Injunctions  or  Restraints .  No Law,  temporary  restraining  order,  preliminary  or  permanent  injunction  or
other order enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or other legal restraint
or  prohibition  by  a  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  shall  be  pending  or  in  effect  seeking  to  prevent  or  preventing  the
Acquisition.

(b)      Accuracy of Representations and Warranties . All of the representations and warranties made by Purchaser in
ARTICLE VII that  are qualified by any materiality qualifications shall  each be true and correct  as of  the Closing Date as though
such representations and warranties were made at such date (except that any representations and warranties that are made only as of
a specified date shall be true and correct only as of such date), and all  other representations and warranties of the Purchaser shall
each be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made at
such date (except that any representations and warranties that are made only as of a specified date shall be true and correct only as of
such date).

(c)      Performance of Covenants . The covenants and obligations that Purchaser is required to perform or comply with
under this Agreement on or before the Closing Date shall have been duly performed and complied with by Purchaser in all material
respects.

(d)      Deliverables . Seller shall have received each of the items set forth in Section 3.01(b) .

Section 4.03.      Frustration of Closing Conditions . Neither Purchaser nor Seller may rely on the failure of any condition set
forth in this ARTICLE IV to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such Party’s failure to act in good faith or to comply with its
obligations under Section 9.01 to cause the Closing to occur.

Article V      
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Except as set forth in the Schedules attached hereto, Seller hereby represents and warrants to Purchaser as follows:

Section 5.01.      Authority . Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
Delaware. Seller has the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement, and Seller has the requisite power and authority
to enter into the Ancillary Agreements to which it is, or is specified to be, a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby  and  thereby.  All  acts  and  other  proceedings  required  to  be  taken  by  Seller  to  authorize  the  execution,  delivery  and
performance of this  Agreement  and the Ancillary Agreements  to which it  is,  or is  specified to be,  a party and to consummate the
transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  thereby  have  been  duly  and  properly  taken.  This  Agreement  has  been  duly  executed  and
delivered by Seller and, assuming this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by Purchaser,  constitutes,  and
the Other Acquisition Documents on the Closing Date will be duly executed and delivered by Seller and upon the due authorization,
execution and delivery by each other party to the Other Acquisition Documents will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation
of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforcement, to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
moratorium, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and to general equitable principles.

Section 5.02.      No Conflicts; Consents .

(a)      Except as set forth on Schedule 5.02 , the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Seller does not, and the
execution  and delivery  by Seller  of  each other  Ancillary  Agreement  to  which it  is,  or  is  specified  to  be,  a  party  will  not,  and the
consummation  of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  thereby  and  compliance  with  the  terms  hereof  and  thereof  will  not,
conflict with, or result in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of



termination,  cancellation  or  acceleration  of  any  obligation,  or  result  in  the  creation  of  any  Lien  upon any  of  the  Acquired  Assets
under,  any  provision  of  (i)  Seller’s  certificate  of  incorporation  or  by-laws  (or  the  comparable  governing  instruments),  (ii)  any
Contract  to  which  Seller  is  a  party  and  by  which  any  of  Acquired  Assets  are  bound,  or  (iii)  any  judgment,  order,  or  decree,  or,
subject to the matters referred to in Section 5.02(b) below, any Law applicable to Seller or its properties or assets, other than, in the
case  of  clauses  (i)  and  (ii)  above,  any  such items  that  would  not  be  reasonably  likely,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  to  have  a
material adverse effect on the ability of Seller to consummate the Acquisition.

(b)      No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  is  required  to  be  obtained  or  made  by  or  with  respect  to  Seller  in  connection  with  the
execution,  delivery  and  performance  of  this  Agreement,  the  Ancillary  Agreements  or  the  consummation  of  the  transactions
contemplated  hereby  or  thereby,  other  than  such  consents,  approvals,  licenses,  permits,  orders,  authorizations,  registrations,
declarations  and  filings  the  absence  of  which,  or  the  failure  to  make  which,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  (i)  would  not  be
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Seller to consummate the Acquisition or perform its obligations
under  this  Agreement  or  the  Ancillary  Agreements,  and  (ii)  would  not  give  rise  to  any  liability  of  Purchaser  as  a  result  of  the
consummation of the Acquisition.

Section 5.03.      Acquired Assets . Except as set forth in Schedule 5.03 , the Acquired Assets and the Licensed Intellectual
Property  constitute  all  of  the  material  assets,  rights  or  property  (other  than  (x)  any  intellectual  property  that  are  licenses  for
commercial  “off-the-shelf”  or  “shrink-wrap”  software,  and  (y)  administrative,  finance  and  other  infrastructure  and  back  office
information technology systems, networks and software) owned or controlled by Seller or its Affiliates and primarily related to the
Intended Use of the Product in the Territory. Seller has good and valid title to all of the owned Acquired Assets free and clear of all
Liens such that, on the Closing Date, Purchaser will receive legal and beneficial title to all of the owned Acquired Assets free and
clear of all Liens.

Section 5.04.      Product Recall . Neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates have been subject to any recall initiated or requested
by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority with respect to Abstral .

Section 5.05.      Intellectual Property .

(a)      Except  as  set  forth  in Schedule 5.05(a) ,  Seller  owns free  and clear  of  all  Liens the Transferred  Intellectual
Property and the consummation of the Acquisition will not conflict with, alter or impair any such rights in any material respect.

(b)      Except as set forth in Schedule 5.05(b) , as of the date hereof, no claims are pending before any court, arbitrator
or  other  tribunal,  or  before  any  administrative  law  judge,  hearing  officer  or  administrative  agency  or,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,
threatened in writing against Seller or any of its Affiliates by any Third Party with respect to the ownership, validity or enforceability
of any Transferred Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property.

(c)      Except as set forth in Schedule 5.05(c), Seller has not granted any options, licenses or agreements relating to the
Transferred  Intellectual  Property  or,  with  respect  to Abstral in  the Territory,  relating to  the Licensed Intellectual  Property,  except
non-exclusive implied licenses to end-users in the ordinary course of business. Except as set forth in Schedule 5.05(c) , as of the date
hereof, Seller is not bound by or a party to any material options, licenses or agreements of any kind for intellectual property of any
Third Party relating to Abstral in the Territory, except for the Transferred Contracts.

(d)      To Seller’s Knowledge, no Third Party is infringing or violating or misappropriating any of the Transferred
Intellectual  Property  or  has  made  any  claim of  ownership  or  right  to  any  Transferred  Intellectual  Property,  except  as  set  forth  in
Schedule 5.05(d) .  Seller  has  neither  asserted  nor  threatened  in  writing  any  action  or  claim  against  any  Third  Party  involving  or
relating to any Transferred Intellectual Property, except as set forth in Schedule 5.05(d) . Except as set forth in Schedule 5.05(d) ,
Seller  has  not  received  any  written  request  from  any  Third  Party  that  Seller  enter  into  a  license  with  respect  to  any  Third  Party
Intellectual Property right in relation to Abstral , the Acquired Assets or the Intended Use of Abstral in the Territory.

(e)      To Seller’s  Knowledge,  the Intended Use of  each of Abstral in the Territory  does not  infringe or  violate  or
constitute a material misappropriation of any intellectual property of any Third Party. Except as set forth in Schedule 5.05(e) , Seller
has not received any written claim or notice alleging any such infringement, violation or misappropriation.



(f)      There is  no pending or,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,  threatened claim,  interference,  opposition or  demand of  any
Third Party challenging the ownership, validity or scope of any Transferred Intellectual Property.

Section  5.06.      Transferred  Contracts .  Each  Transferred  Contract  is  valid,  binding  and  in  full  force  and  effect  and  is
enforceable by Seller in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization,
moratorium and other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, general principles of equity and the discretion of courts in granting
equitable remedies. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.06 , as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, Seller has performed in
all  material  respects  all  material  obligations  required  to  be  performed  by  it  under  the  Transferred  Contracts  and  is  not  (with  or
without  the  lapse of  time or  the giving  of  notice,  or  both)  in  breach or  default  in  any material  respect  thereunder  and,  to Seller’s
Knowledge ,  as of the date hereof,  no other  party to any of the Transferred Contracts  is  (with or  without  the lapse of  time or the
giving of notice, or both) in breach or default in any material respect thereunder.

Section  5.07.      Litigation .  Except  as  set  forth  in Schedule  5.07 ,  as  of  the  date  hereof,  there  are  no  (i)  outstanding
judgments,  orders,  injunctions  or  decrees  of  any  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  or  arbitration  tribunal  against  Seller,  (ii)
lawsuits,  actions  or  proceedings  pending  or,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,  threatened  against  Seller,  or  (iii)  investigations  by  any
Governmental or Regulatory Authority which are pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against Seller, which, in the case of
each of clauses (a), (b) and (c), relating to the Intended Use of Abstral in the Territory and have had or would be reasonably likely to
have  a  Material  Adverse  Effect  or  a  material  adverse  effect  on  the  ability  of  Seller  to  consummate  the  Acquisition  and  the  other
transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

Section 5.08.      Legal Compliance .  Seller  and  its  Affiliates  are,  and  have  been  from the  date  of  execution  of  the  Orexo
License Agreement  and Orexo Asset  Purchase Agreement,  in material  compliance with the Abstral  NDA and all  applicable  Laws
relating to the development, testing, manufacture, distribution, marketing, promotion or sale of Abstral in the Territory. Except as set
forth in Schedule 5.08 , since the date of execution of the Orexo License Agreement and Orexo Asset Purchase Agreement to the
Closing Date, (i) neither Seller nor its Affiliates have received any notification, written or oral, from any Governmental Authority,
Regulatory Authority or Third Party with respect to any alleged or possible violation with respect to the Abstral NDA for such Laws,
(ii)  no  event  has  occurred  or  notification  been  received  by  Seller  or  its  Affiliates  from  any  Governmental  Authority,  Regulatory
Authority  or  Third  Party  that  would materially  adversely  affect  the  Abstral  NDA or  other  Governmental  Authority  or  Regulatory
Authority approval status of the Product in the Territory or the renewal thereof, and (iii) no Governmental Authority or Regulatory
Authority has commenced, or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened to initiate any action to withdraw its approval with respect to, or
request the recall of, the Product, or commenced or threatened to initiate any action to enjoin the development, testing, manufacture,
distribution, marketing, promotion or sale of Abstral in the Territory.

Section 5.09.      Sale Practices . Seller and its Affiliates have materially complied with applicable Law and not engaged in
trade practices that are inconsistent with the terms and conditions of the Transferred Contracts that concern customer orders for the
Product.  Seller  and  its  Affiliates  have  processed  all  customer  returns  or  chargebacks  of  Product  consistent  with  the  terms  and
conditions of the applicable Transferred Contracts for six (6) months prior to the Closing Date and are otherwise not in breach of the
material terms of such Transferred Contracts.

Section 5.10.      Financial Information . Attached as Schedule 5.10 is certain financial information of Seller concerning the
Product and its business related thereto.  Such financial  information is true,  correct and complete in all  material  respects,  has been
prepared in accordance with the books and records of Seller (which books and records are true, correct and complete in all material
respects) and is derived from Seller’s financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP for the applicable period.

Section 5.11.      Brokers or Finders . Except for Mizuho Securities USA Inc., no agent, broker, investment banker or other
firm or Person is or will be entitled to any broker’s or finder’s fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection with any of
the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  the  Ancillary  Agreements  based  upon  arrangement  made  by  or  on  behalf  of
Seller or any of its Affiliates for which Purchaser will have any Liability.

Article VI      
COVENANTS OF SELLER



Seller hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

Section  6.01.      Access .  From  the  date  hereof  until  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  give  Purchaser  and  its  representatives,
employees,  counsel  and  accountants  reasonable  access,  during  normal  business  hours  and  upon  reasonable  advance  notice,  to  the
Acquired  Assets  for  purposes  of  conducting  due  diligence  or  otherwise  in  connection  with  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby;
provided , however , that such access (i) does not unreasonably disrupt the normal operations of Seller or a Third Party, (ii) would
not  reasonably  be  expected  to  violate  any  attorney-client  privilege  of  Seller  or  violate  any  applicable  Law,  and  (iii)  would  not
reasonably be expected to breach any duty of confidentiality owed to any Person whether the duty arises contractually, statutorily or
otherwise.

Section 6.02.      Other Covenants . From the date hereof until the Closing, except as otherwise contemplated by the terms of
this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, Seller will not without the prior written consent of Purchaser (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld):

(a)      sell,  assign, lease,  license,  transfer,  hypothecate or otherwise dispose of any of the Acquired Assets or,  with
respect to Abstral in the Territory, the Licensed Intellectual Property;

(b)      amend,  terminate,  renew,  extend  or  waive  in  writing  any  right  under  any  Transferred  Contract  if  such
amendment, termination, renewal, extension or waiver would adversely affect the rights to be transferred to Purchaser at the Closing;
or

(c)      authorize, commit, or agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

Section 6.03.      Non-Competition . After the Closing, Seller shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates to not, either directly or
indirectly, for a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date, (i) market, sell, distribute, export or import a product containing the
active pharmaceutical ingredient used in the Product for any indication whatsoever in the Territory, whether branded or generic (i.e.,
Seller  and  its  Affiliates  are  prohibited  from  marketing,  selling,  distributing,  exporting  or  importing  any  AA  or  AB  rated,
therapeutically  equivalent  product  to  the  Product  in  the  Territory)  or  (ii)  supply  the  active  pharmaceutical  ingredient  used  in  the
Product to a Third Party in order to allow such Third Party to do any activity that would be prohibited for Seller or Seller’s Affiliates
under  clause  (i)  above.  The  Parties  recognize  that  the  laws  and  public  policies  of  the  various  jurisdictions  may  differ  as  to  the
validity and enforceability of covenants similar to the foregoing. It is the intention of the Parties that the provisions of this Section
6.03 be  enforced  to  the  fullest  extent  permissible  under  the  laws  and  policies  of  each  jurisdiction  in  which  enforcement  may  be
sought and that the unenforceability (or the modification to conform to such laws or policies) of any provisions of this Section shall
not render unenforceable or otherwise impair the remainder of the provisions of this Section. Accordingly, if any provision of this
Section is determined to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, then (x) such invalidity or unenforceability
shall be deemed to apply only with respect to the operation of such provision in the particular jurisdiction of such court and not with
respect to any other provision or jurisdiction and, (y) with respect to invalidity or unenforceability in the particular jurisdiction of
such court, such court shall have the power to either (A) reduce the scope, duration or coverage of such provision or (B) replace such
provision  with  a  provision  that  is  valid  and  enforceable  and  that  comes  closest  to  expressing  the  intention  of  the  invalid  or
unenforceable provision. The Parties acknowledge and agree that any remedy at law for any breach of the provisions of this Section
would be inadequate and, and such, Purchaser may enforce such provisions through equitable relief and specific performance.

Section 6.04.      Use of Seller Names, NDC, UPC and Excluded Trademarks .

(a)    Seller  grants a non-exclusive right and license to Purchaser for a period of twenty (20) months following the
Closing Date to use the names and logos of Seller (the “ Seller Names ”), the Universal Product Code (“ UPC ”) for the Product,
Seller’s National Drug Code for the Product (the “ NDC ”), and the Excluded Trademarks to the extent necessary to allow Purchaser
and its Affiliates and their designees to market, distribute and sell the Products in the Territory, utilizing the labels and packaging,
advertising,  marketing,  sales  and  promotional  materials,  in  each  case,  existing  on  the  Closing  Date.  Subject  to  the  terms  and
conditions  of  this  Section  6.04,  the  Parties  agree  that,  promptly  following  the  Closing  Date,  Seller  shall  make  commercially
reasonable efforts to assist Purchaser in establishing and listing Purchaser’s NDC for the Product.

(b)     Promptly  upon  the  expiration  of  the  period  set  forth  in Section 6.04(a) ,  Purchaser  shall,  and  shall  cause  its



Affiliates  to,  destroy  and dispose  of  all  labels  and all  packaging,  advertising,  marketing,  sales  and promotional  materials,  in  each
case in its possession or subject to its control, bearing any Seller Names, UPC, NDC or Excluded Trademarks.

(c)    In no event shall Purchaser use any Seller Names, UPC, NDC or Excluded Trademarks in any manner or for any
purpose different from the use of such Seller Names, UPC, NDC and Excluded Trademarks by Seller and its Affiliates immediately
prior  to the Closing Date to package,  market,  distribute  and sell  the Product  in the Territory,  and at  all  times shall  comply in all
material  respects  with  Laws  applicable  thereto.  Without  limiting  the  foregoing,  Purchaser  shall  not:  (i)  take  any  action  that  may
interfere  with  any  of  Seller’s  rights  in  the  Seller  Names,  UPC,  NDC  and  Excluded  Trademarks;  (ii)  register  or  apply  for
registrations, anywhere in the world, for the Seller Names or Excluded Trademarks or any other similar trademark; or (iii) engage in
any action which disparages, dilutes the value of, or reflects negatively on the Seller Names or the Excluded Trademarks, or take
any other action which is detrimental to Seller’s interest in the Seller Names or Excluded Trademarks.

(d)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that this Agreement does not,  and shall  not,  convey,
transfer  or  assign  any  right,  title  or  interest  in  any  trademark,  name  or  logo  of  any  third  party  or  to  Purchaser  in  any  Excluded
Trademark, Seller Names, or any other intellectual property of Seller except as specifically provided for herein.

Section 6.05.      Rebates and Chargebacks; Medicaid Reimbursements .

(a)      Subject to the obligations set forth in the Channel Liabilities Schedule, (i) from and after the Closing Date and
with respect to Abstral sold prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall be responsible for any payments, rebates, administrative fees or
chargebacks due to customers under any managed care contracts or under any other contract or program of any nature whatsoever
with private parties or under any state or federal program and (ii) rom and after the Closing Date and with respect to Abstral sold on
or  after  the  Closing  Date,  Purchaser  shall  be  responsible  for  any  payments,  rebates,  administrative  fees  or  chargebacks  due  to
customers under any managed care contracts or under any other contract or program of any nature whatsoever with private parties or
under any state or federal program .

(b)      Subject  to  the  obligations  set  forth  in  the  Channel  Liabilities  Schedule,  (i)  Seller  shall  bear  the  cost  of  all
Medicaid reimbursements and rebates for Abstral sold prior to the Closing Date and (ii) Purchaser shall bear the cost of all Medicaid
reimbursements and rebates for Abstral sold on or after the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, Seller shall be entitled to any
and  all  Medicaid  refunds,  credits  and  other  positive  adjustments  relating  to  the  sale  of Abstral prior  to  the  Closing  Date,  and
Purchaser shall be entitled to any and all Medicaid refunds, credits and other positive adjustments relating to the sale of Abstral on or
after the Closing Date.

Section 6.06.      Adverse Experience Reports and Complaints . As soon as reasonably possible after the Closing Date, Seller
shall deliver to Purchaser electronic or other copies of Seller’s record of reportable adverse experiences regarding Abstral . After the
Closing Date, Seller shall promptly submit to Purchaser all adverse drug experience information or customer complaints brought to
the attention of Seller in respect of Abstral , as well as any material events and matters concerning or affecting the safety or efficacy
of Abstral .  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  from  and  after  the  Closing  Date,  Purchaser  shall  have  all  responsibility  for  required
reporting of adverse experiences for Abstral and for responding to any medical inquiries or customer complaints about Abstral .

Section  6.07.      PDUFA  Fee .  With  respect  to  the  fee  paid  by  Seller  pursuant  to  the  Prescription  Drug  User  Fee  Act
(PDUFA) in respect of Abstral in the aggregate amount of $803,740 which was paid by Seller prior to the Closing (the “ PDUFA
Fee ”), Purchaser shall reimburse Seller a pro-rata amount equal to fifty-percent (50%) of the PDUFA Fee at the Closing totaling
$351,636.

Section  6.08.      Outstanding  Commitments  to  FDA .  From  and  after  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  complete  any  outstanding
commitments that Seller made to FDA prior to Closing with respect to Abstral, namely providing a Final Response to FDA on the
issues identified in FDA Form 483 issued August 25, 2015 and a reconciled Periodic Adverse Drug Experience Report (PADER) for
the period ending January 2015.

Article VII      
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER



Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to Seller as follows:

Section 7.01.      Authority . Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
the  state  of  Delaware.  Purchaser  has  all  requisite  corporate  power  and  authority  to  enter  into  this  Agreement  and  the  Ancillary
Agreements to which it is, or is specified to be, a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. All
corporate acts and other proceedings required to be taken by Purchaser to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement  and  the  Ancillary  Agreements  to  which  it  is,  or  is  specified  to  be,  a  party  and  to  consummate  the  transactions
contemplated  hereby  and  thereby  have  been  duly  and  properly  taken.  This  Agreement  has  been  duly  executed  and  delivered  by
Purchaser  and,  assuming  this  Agreement  has  been  duly  authorized,  executed  and  delivered  by  Seller,  constitutes,  and  the  Other
Acquisition  Documents  on  the  Closing  Date  will  be  duly  executed  by  Purchaser,  and  upon  the  due  authorization,  execution  and
delivery by each other party to the Other Acquisition Documents, will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of Purchaser,
enforceable  against  Purchaser  in  accordance  with  its  terms,  subject,  as  to  enforcement,  to  applicable  bankruptcy,  insolvency,
moratorium, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and to general equitable principles.

Section 7.02.      No Conflicts; Consents .

(a)      The  execution  and  delivery  of  this  Agreement  by  Purchaser  does  not,  and  the  execution  and  delivery  by
Purchaser  of  each  other  Ancillary  Agreement  to  which  it  is,  or  is  specified  to  be,  a  party  will  not,  and  the  consummation  of  the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance with the terms hereof and thereof will not, conflict with, or result in
any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation
or acceleration of any obligation, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of Purchaser under, any
provision  of  (i)  its  certificate  of  incorporation  or  by-laws  (or  the  comparable  governing  instruments),  (ii)  any  Contract  to  which
Purchaser is a party or by which any of its properties or assets are bound, or (iii) any judgment, order, or decree, or, subject to the
matters referred to in Section 7.02(b) below, any Law applicable to Purchaser or its properties or assets, other than, in the case of
clause  (i)  and  (ii)  above,  any  such  items  that  would  not  be  reasonably  likely,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  to  have  a  material
adverse effect on the ability of Purchaser to consummate the Acquisition.

(b)      No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  is  required  to be obtained or  made by or  with respect  to  Purchaser  in  connection with  the
execution,  delivery  and  performance  of  this  Agreement,  the  Ancillary  Agreements  or  the  consummation  of  the  transactions
contemplated  hereby  or  thereby,  other  than  such  consents,  approvals,  licenses,  permits,  orders,  authorizations,  registrations,
declarations  and  filings  the  absence  of  which,  or  the  failure  to  make  which,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  (i)  would  not  be
reasonably  likely  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  the  ability  of  Purchaser  to  consummate  the  Acquisition  or  perform  its
obligations  under  this  Agreement  or  the Ancillary  Agreements,  and (ii)  would not  give rise  to  any liability  of  Seller  or  any of  its
Affiliates as a result of the consummation of the Acquisition.

Section 7.03.      Litigation . As of the date hereof, there are no (a) outstanding judgments, orders, injunctions or decrees of
any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or arbitration tribunal against Purchaser, (b) lawsuits, actions or proceedings pending or,
to  the  knowledge  of  Purchaser,  threatened  against  Purchaser,  or  (c)  investigations  by  any  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority
which are pending or, to the knowledge of Purchaser, threatened against Purchaser, which, in the case of each of clauses (a), (b) and
(c),  have  had  or  would  be  reasonably  likely  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  the  ability  of  Purchaser  to  consummate  the
Acquisition and the other transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

Section 7.04.      Availability of Funds . Purchaser has, and will have at the Closing, cash available or has existing committed
borrowing facilities, which together are sufficient to enable it to consummate the Acquisition.

Section 7.05.      Brokers or Finders . Except for Velocity Health Securities, Inc., no agent, broker, investment banker or other
firm or Person is or will be entitled to any broker’s or finder’s fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection with any of
the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  the  Ancillary  Agreements  based  upon  arrangement  made  by  or  on  behalf  of
Purchaser or any of its Affiliates.

Article VIII      
COVENANTS OF PURCHASER



Purchaser hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

Section 8.01.      Advise Seller . Purchaser shall promptly advise Seller in writing of any change or event occurring between
the date hereof and the Closing Date which Purchaser believes (i) would be reasonably likely to result in the failure of any of the
conditions  to  the  Closing  set  forth  in ARTICLE  IV to  be  satisfied  as  of  the  Closing  Date,  or  (ii)  would  be  reasonably  likely,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Purchaser to consummate the Acquisition or the
other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

Section  8.02.      Access  to  Information .  Purchaser  acknowledges  that  it  and  its  representatives  have  received  or  been
afforded  the  opportunity  to  review  prior  to  the  date  hereof  all  written  materials  which  Seller  was  required  to  deliver  or  make
available, as the case may be, to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement on or prior to the date hereof. Purchaser acknowledges that it
and its representatives have been permitted full and complete access to the books and records, facilities, equipment, Contracts and
other  properties  and  assets  of  Seller  and  its  Affiliates  to  the  extent  relating  to  the  Products,  the  Acquired  Assets  or  the  Assumed
Liabilities in the Territory that it and its representatives have desired or requested to see or review, and that it and its representatives
have  had  a  full  opportunity  to  meet  with  the  officers  and  employees  of  Seller  and its  Affiliates  to  discuss Abstral ,  the Acquired
Assets and the Assumed Liabilities.

Section 8.03.      Records .  Purchaser  shall,  from the date hereof  until  the date that  is  five (5)  years following the Closing
Date, keep full and accurate books of all accounts and other records in sufficient detail so that the Annual Sales Milestones payable
hereunder can be properly and fully ascertained. Purchaser shall, at the request of Seller, permit a nationally recognized independent
certified public accountant mutually agreed to by Seller and Purchaser (the “ Independent Auditor ”) to have access during ordinary
business  hours,  to  such  books  and  records  as  may  be  necessary  to  determine  the  accuracy  of  any  payment  made  under  this
Agreement  or  to  obtain  information  as  to  Annual  Sales  Milestones  payable  in  case  of  failure  to  pay pursuant  to  the  terms of  this
Agreement (“ Milestone Audit ”).  The Independent Auditor shall  be bound by a confidentiality agreement to keep all  information
acquired from Purchaser confidential, and shall be permitted to disclose to Seller only the amount and accuracy of the Annual Sales
Milestones  actually  paid  or  otherwise  payable  under  this  Agreement.  At  all  times  during  the  Milestone  Audit,  the  Independent
Auditor  will  (i)  not  communicate  with  either  Party  without  both  Parties  being  present,  and  (ii)  send  copies  of  its  written  reports,
whether interim or final, to both Parties at the same time. Seller shall be responsible for the fees and expenses of the Independent
Auditor; provided , however ,  that  Purchaser  shall  reimburse  Seller  in  full  for  all  such  documented  costs  and  expenses  of  the
Independent  Auditor  if  the  Independent  Auditor  determines  that  an  Annual  Sales  Milestone  was not  paid  accurately  or  timely,  as
applicable.

Section 8.04.      DISCLAIMER . PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH
IN ARTICLE  V OR  IN  ANY  ANCILLARY  AGREEMENT,  NEITHER  SELLER  NOR  ANY  OTHER  PERSON  HAS  MADE
ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO ABSTRAL , THE ACQUIRED ASSETS OR THE
ASSUMED LIABILITIES, THE MANUFACTURE, DISTRIBUTION, MARKETING OR SALE OF ABSTRAL BY SELLER AND
ITS AFFILIATES, ANY OTHER ASPECT OF THE RESPECTIVE BUSINESSES OF SELLER OR ITS AFFILIATES OR THE
ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION REGARDING ABSTRAL , THE ACQUIRED ASSETS OR THE
ASSUMED LIABILITIES FURNISHED OR MADE AVAILABLE TO PURCHASER AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES, AND (B)
PURCHASER  HAS  NOT  RELIED  ON  ANY  REPRESENTATION  OR  WARRANTY  FROM  SELLER  OR  ANY  OTHER
PERSON  WITH  RESPECT  TO ABSTRAL ,  THE  ACQUIRED  ASSETS  OR  THE  ASSUMED  LIABILITIES,  ANY  OTHER
ASPECT  OF  THE  RESPECTIVE  BUSINESSES  OF  SELLER  OR  ITS  AFFILIATES  OR  THE  ACCURACY  OR
COMPLETENESS  OF  ANY  INFORMATION  REGARDING ABSTRAL ,  THE  ACQUIRED  ASSETS  OR  THE  ASSUMED
LIABILITIES FURNISHED OR MADE AVAILABLE TO PURCHASER AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES IN DETERMINING
TO  ENTER  INTO  THIS  AGREEMENT,  EXCEPT  FOR  THE  REPRESENTATIONS  AND  WARRANTIES  EXPRESSLY  SET
FORTH IN ARTICLE V AND IN THE ANCILLARY AGREEMENT , AND PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT NONE
OF SELLER OR ANY OTHER PERSON SHALL HAVE OR BE SUBJECT TO ANY LIABILITY TO PURCHASER OR ANY
OTHER PERSON RESULTING FROM THE DISTRIBUTION TO PURCHASER , OR PURCHASER ’S USE OF, ANY SUCH
INFORMATION, OR OF ANY INFORMATION, DOCUMENTS OR MATERIAL MADE AVAILABLE TO PURCHASER AND
ITS  REPRESENTATIVES  IN  CERTAIN  VIRTUAL  OR  PHYSICAL  “DATA  ROOMS”,  VISITS  TO  PHYSICAL  PREMISES
INCLUDING  THOSE  OF  THIRD  PARTY  MANUFACTURERS,  OR  IN  ANY  OTHER  FORM  IN  EXPECTATION  OF  THE



TRANSACTIONS  CONTEMPLATED  HEREBY.  PURCHASER  ACKNOWLEDGES  THAT,  SHOULD  THE  CLOSING
OCCUR, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER ANCILLARY AGREEMENT,
PURCHASER SHALL ACQUIRE THE ACQUIRED ASSETS WITHOUT ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, IN AN “AS IS” CONDITION AND ON A “WHERE
IS” BASIS .

Article IX      
MUTUAL COVENANTS

Section 9.01.      Efforts .

(g)      Subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  of  this  Agreement,  following  the  date  hereof,  each  Party  shall  use  its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Closing to occur as soon as practicable thereafter. Following the date hereof, each of
Seller and Purchaser shall  not,  and shall  not permit any of their respective Affiliates to, take any action that would, or that would
reasonably be expected to, result in any of the conditions set forth in ARTICLE IV not being satisfied. This Section 9.01 shall not,
and shall  not  be deemed to,  restrict  or  prohibit  Seller  or  Purchaser  in  any way whatsoever  from exercising any and all  rights  and
remedies available to it under this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements.

(h)      Each of Seller and Purchaser shall cooperate with the other Party and its employees, legal counsel, accountants
and other representatives and advisers in connection with the steps required to be taken as part of their respective obligations under
this Agreement; and each of them shall, at any time and from time to time after the Closing, upon the reasonable request of the other,
do,  execute,  acknowledge  and  deliver,  or  cause  to  be  done,  executed,  acknowledged  and  delivered,  all  such  further  acts,  deeds,
assignments, transfers, conveyances, receipts, acknowledgments, acceptances and assurances as may be reasonably required (without
incurring  unreimbursed  expense)  to  satisfy  and  perform  the  obligations  of  such  party  hereunder,  and  to  allow  Purchaser  to
accomplish the Intended Use of Abstral in the Territory after the Closing.

(i)      In the event Purchaser, on the one hand, makes a payment in respect of an Excluded Liability, or Seller, on the
other hand, makes a payment in respect of an Assumed Liability as set forth in Section 2.02 of this Agreement, which ultimately is
determined  to  be  the  responsibility  of  the  other  Party  in  accordance  with  Section  2.02  hereof,  the  other  Party  shall  reimburse  the
Party which made the erroneous payment within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of an invoice containing supporting detail for such
payment. In the event Purchaser, on the one hand, received a payment in respect of an Acquired Asset, or Seller, on the other hand,
receives a payment in respect of an asset of Seller which is not an Acquired Asset as set forth in Section 2.01 of this Agreement,
which ultimately is determined to be a receivable of the other Party in accordance with Section 2.01 hereof, the Party which received
the erroneous payment shall remit such amount to the other Party within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of such payment.

Section 9.02.      Bulk Transfer Laws . Purchaser hereby waives compliance by Seller and its Affiliates with the provisions of
any so-called “bulk transfer law” of any jurisdiction in connection with the sale of the Acquired Assets to Purchaser.

Section 9.03.      Transfer Taxes . All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes, applicable to
the  Acquisition  and  to  the  use,  sale  and  manufacture  of  the  Product  on  or  after  the  Closing  Date  (such  Taxes,  together  with  any
interest,  penalties  and  additions  thereto,  collectively,  “ Transfer  Taxes ”),  shall  be  paid  by  Purchaser.  Purchaser  shall  file  all
necessary Tax Returns and other documentation required to be filed by it under applicable Law with respect to all Transfer Taxes,
and, if  required by applicable Law, Seller  will,  and will  cause its Affiliates  to,  join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and
other  documentation.  Purchaser  and  Seller  shall  cooperate  in  providing  each  other  with  any  appropriate  resale  exemption
certifications  and  other  similar  documentation  required  to  obtain  any  exemption  from (or  reduction  in)  Transfer  Taxes,  and  shall
cooperate in taking any commercially reasonable steps to minimize the Parties’ liability for Transfer Taxes.

Section 9.04.      Purchase Price Allocation .

(a)      The Parties agree that the Purchase Price and Assumed Liabilities shall be allocated among the Acquired Assets
sold by Seller and each Selling Affiliate and purchased by Purchaser in a manner consistent with Section 1060 of the Code and the
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (and corresponding provisions of applicable foreign Law) and in accordance with an
allocation schedule set forth by Seller and delivered to Purchaser within ninety (90) days after Closing (the “ Allocation ”), which



Allocation  shall  be  reasonably  acceptable  to  Purchaser.  In  the  event  of  a  disagreement,  a  nationally  recognized  independent
accounting firm mutually acceptable to Purchaser and Seller shall settle such dispute with the costs of such firm being borne equally
by Seller and Purchaser.

(b)      Purchaser and Seller agree to (i) be bound by the Allocation, (ii) act in accordance with the Allocation in the
preparation of financial statements and filing of all Tax Returns (including filing Form 8594 with its federal income Tax Return for
the taxable year that includes the Closing Date), and (iii) take no position inconsistent with the Allocation for all Tax purposes. In
the event that any Taxing Authority disputes the Allocation, Seller or Purchaser, as the case may be, shall promptly notify the other
Party of the nature of such dispute.

Section 9.05.      Recordation of Transferred Intellectual Property . Purchaser shall be responsible, at its sole cost and expense,
for  all  applicable  recordations  of  the  assignment  of  the  Transferred  Intellectual  Property.  Seller  agrees  to  execute  and  deliver  to
Purchaser, within a reasonable time after the Closing, such assignments and other documents, certificates and instruments reasonably
requested by Purchaser for Purchaser’s filing with the applicable registries and other recording authorities to record the transfer of
the Transferred Intellectual Property in accordance with applicable Law.

Section 9.06.      Confidentiality and Confidential Information .

(a)      Each Party acknowledges that it may receive Confidential Information of the other Party in the performance of
or  in  furtherance  of  this Agreement .  Each Party shall  hold  confidential  and not,  directly  or  indirectly,  disclose  or  publish  to  any
Third  Party or  use  for  the  benefit  of  a Third  Party or,  except  in  carrying  out  its  duties hereunder ,  itself  or  its Affiliates ,  any
Confidential Information of the other Party , without first having obtained the furnishing Party ’s written consent to such disclosure
or use. Purchaser acknowledges  that  it  continues  to remain bound by the terms of  the Mutual Confidential Disclosure Agreement
between the Parties dated July 27, 2015 (“ Confidentiality Agreement ”), and that Confidential Information received by it under or in
connection  with  this Agreement and  the  performance  of  its  obligations hereunder shall  be  deemed  to  be,  and  shall  be  treated  as,
Evaluation Materials under the Confidentiality Agreement . These restrictions shall not apply to any Confidential Information which
:

(i)      is known to the receiving Party or its Affiliates prior to the time of disclosure to it;

(ii)      is independently developed by employees, agents, or independent contractors of the receiving Party or
its Affiliates without aid or use of the disclosing Party’s Confidential Information (and such independent development can be
demonstrated by the receiving Party);

(iii)      is disclosed, without restriction as to confidentiality, to the receiving Party or its Affiliates by a Third
Party that has a right to make such disclosure; or

(iv)      becomes part of the public domain through no breach by the receiving Party of its obligations under
this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement.

Each receiving Party shall disclose Confidential Information of the disclosing Party only to those employees and contractors of such
Party and of its Affiliates who have reason to know such information in furtherance of a Party’s duties under this Agreement and
who  are  bound  by  an  obligation  of  confidentiality  to  the  receiving  Party  (or  its  Affiliate)  that  is  no  less  stringent  than  the
confidentiality obligations set forth in this Section 9.06 .

(b)      The receiving Party shall also be entitled to disclose the other Party’s Confidential Information that is required
to be disclosed: (i)  to or by any Governmental  or Regulatory Authorities;  (ii)  to comply with applicable Laws (including,  without
limitation,  to  comply  with  SEC or  any  other  stock exchange  disclosure  requirements);  (iii)  to  comply  with  judicial  process  or  an
order of any Governmental  or Regulatory Authority of competent  jurisdiction;  or (iv) to defend or prosecute litigation; provided ,
however ,  that  in  each case the Party required to  disclose such Confidential  Information shall  use reasonable efforts  to  notify the
other  Party  in  advance  of  such  disclosure  and  shall  provide  the  disclosing  Party  with  reasonable  assistance  to  obtain  a  protective
order  and/or  confidential  treatment  of  such  Confidential  Information,  to  the  extent  available,  and  thereafter  only  discloses  the
minimum Confidential Information required to be disclosed in order to ensure legal compliance.



(c)      This obligations set forth in this Section 9.06 shall survive the termination of this Agreement or the Closing for
five (5) years. Upon termination of this Agreement, a receiving Party shall return to the disclosing Party or destroy all Confidential
Information provided to it by the disclosing Party, including all copies, notes and extracts thereof or other written records containing
such  Confidential  Information,  except  for  (x)  one  (1)  copy  that  it  may  keep  for  the  sole  purpose  of  verifying  its  continuing
confidentiality obligations hereunder and (y) archival copies residing on computers, servers or other devices in the ordinary course
of business; provided , however , that Purchaser shall not be obligated hereby to return or destroy any Confidential Information that
constitutes Acquired Assets actually purchased by it hereunder and, upon such purchase, such Acquired Assets shall be deemed the
Confidential Information of Purchaser notwithstanding the Confidentiality Agreement or any obligations thereunder.
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Article X      
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 10.01.      Indemnification by Seller . From and after the Closing, Seller shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless
Purchaser, its Affiliates and their respective employees, agents, officers and directors (collectively, the “ Purchaser Indemnitees ”),
from  and  against  any  and  all  losses,  liabilities,  obligations,  claims,  fees  (including,  without  limitation,  reasonable  documented
attorneys’  fees  and  documented  fees  of  other  professionals),  expenses  and  lawsuits  (“ Losses ”)  suffered  or  incurred  by  any
Purchaser Indemnitee to the extent arising from or relating to any of the following:

(c)      the breach of any representation or warranty of Seller contained in ARTICLE V , any Ancillary Agreement or
any certificate delivered hereunder;

(d)      the  breach  of  or  failure  to  comply  with  any  covenant  or  obligation  of  Seller  under  this  Agreement  or  any
Ancillary Agreement;

(a)      the development,  testing,  manufacture,  distribution,  marketing,  promotion or  sale of Abstral in the Territory
prior  to  the  Closing  (including,  without  limitation,  any  product  recalls  and  any  product  liability  claim  for  any  sale  by  Seller  of
Abstral prior to the Closing Date); and

(b)      the Excluded Liabilities.

Section 10.02.      Indemnification by Purchaser .  From and after  the Closing,  Purchaser  shall  defend,  indemnify  and hold
harmless Seller, its Affiliates and their respective employees, agents, officers and directors (collectively, the “ Seller Indemnitees ”),
from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred by any Seller Indemnitee to the extent arising from or relating to any of the
following:

(a)      the  breach  of  any  representation  or  warranty  of  Purchaser  contained  in ARTICLE  VII ,  any  Ancillary
Agreement or any certificate delivered hereunder;

(b)      the breach of any covenant of Purchaser contained in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement;

(c)      any Assumed Liability;

(d)      the development, testing, manufacture, distribution, marketing, promotion or sale of Abstral in the Territory on
or after  the  Closing  (including,  without  limitation,  any  product  recalls  and  any  product  liability  claim  for  any  sale  of Abstral by
Purchaser on or after the Closing Date);

(e)      any Transfer Taxes; and

(f)      any Liabilities accruing on or after the Closing Date and arising from Purchaser’s ownership of the Acquired
Assets related to any Continued Agreement for the
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period between the Closing Date and the expiration of the applicable Continuation Period, except to the extent otherwise specified in
Schedule 2.02(b) (Channel Liabilities).

Section 10.03.      Indemnification Procedure .

(a)      Procedures Relating to Indemnification for Third Party Claims . In order to receive the benefits of the indemnity
under Section 10.01 or Section 10.02 , as applicable, in respect of, arising out of or involving a claim or demand made by any Third
Party (a “ Third Party Claim ”) against  a Purchaser  Indemnitee  or Seller  Indemnitee (either,  an “ Indemnitee ”),  such Indemnitee
must:

(i)      give the indemnifying Party (the “ Indemnitor ”) written notice of any claim or potential claim promptly
after the Indemnitee receives notice thereof; provided , however , that failure of the Indemnitee to provide such notice shall
not constitute a waiver of, or result in the loss of, such Party’s right to indemnification under this Agreement, except in the
event that the Indemnitor’s rights, and/or its ability to defend against or settle such claim or potential claim, are materially
prejudiced by such failure to notify;

(ii)      allow  the  Indemnitor  to  assume  the  control  of  the  defense  and  settlement  (including  all  decisions
relating to litigation, defense and appeal) of any

such claim, provided that: (A) no such settlement may materially adversely affect the rights or obligations of the Indemnitee
under  this  Agreement  without  the  Indemnitee’s  prior  written  consent;  and  (B)  any  settlement  reached  without  the  prior
written consent of the Indemnitee shall be for monetary damages only (which amount shall be fully indemnified hereunder by
the Indemnitor) and not for any equitable relief and shall not include any admission or ongoing obligation or restriction on
the part of the Indemnitee; and

(iii)      reasonably  cooperate  with  the  Indemnitor  in  its  defense  of  the  claim (including,  without  limitation,
making  documents  and  records  available  for  review  and  copying  and  making  persons  within  the  Indemnitee’s  control
available  for  pertinent  interview and testimony),  so  long  as  such cooperation  does  not  vitiate  any legal  privilege  to  which
such Indemnitee is entitled.

If the Indemnitor defends the claim, the Indemnitee may at its expense and using attorneys of its choice, participate in, but shall not
have any control of,  the defense of such claim. The Indemnitor shall have no liability under this ARTICLE X as to any claim for
which settlement or compromise of such claim, or an offer of settlement or compromise of such claim, is made by an Indemnitee
without the prior written consent of the Indemnitor.

Section 10.04.      Procedures Related to Indemnification for Other Claims .  An Indemnitee seeking indemnification under
Section  10.01 or Section  10.02 ,  as  applicable,  that  does  not  involve  a  Third  Party  Claim  shall,  within  as  soon  as  reasonably
practicable deliver to the Indemnitor, written notice (a “ Direct Claim Notice ”) describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to
the indemnification claim; provided , however , that the failure by any

Indemnitee  to  so  notify  the  Indemnitor  shall  not  relieve  the  Indemnitor  from any  liability  which  it  may  have  to  such  Indemnitee
under Section 10.01 or Section 10.02 , as applicable, except to the extent that the Indemnitor has been materially prejudiced by such
failure. The Indemnitor shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of a Direct Claim Notice to (i) agree to the amount set forth in the
Direct Claim Notice and pay such amount to such Indemnitee in immediately available funds or (ii) provide such Indemnitee with
written  notice  that  it  disputes  its  obligation  to  provide  the  indemnification  sought  in  the  Direct  Claim Notice  (a  “ Claim Dispute
Notice ”).  If  the  Indemnitor  does  not  notify  the  Indemnitee  within  forty-five  (45)  days  following  its  receipt  of  such  notice  that
Indemnitor disputes its liability to the Indemnitee with respect to such claim, such claim specified in the Direct Claim Notice shall be
conclusively  deemed  a  liability  of  the  Indemnitor.  If  the  Indemnitor  delivers  a  Claim  Dispute  Notice,  the  Indemnitee  and  the
Indemnitor  shall  negotiate  in good faith to resolve the matter.  In the event that  the controversy is not resolved within twenty (20)



Business Days after the giving of the Claim Dispute Notice, the Parties thereafter may pursue any and all available remedies at law
(subject to the limitations and conditions provided in this Agreement).

Section  10.05.      Losses  Net  of  Insurance .  The  amount  of  any  Loss  for  which  indemnification  is  provided  under  this
ARTICLE X shall  be net  of any amounts recovered by the Indemnitee under insurance policies  or in respect  of any indemnity or
contribution with respect to such Loss.

Section 10.06.      Limitation on Indemnification .

(a)      Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, except with respect to fraud or intentional misrepresentation,
(i) Seller shall not have any liability under Section 10.01(a) unless the aggregate of all Losses for which Seller would be liable under
Section 10.01(a) , but for this clause (i), exceeds on a cumulative basis, an amount equal to fifty thousand dollars ($50,000), and then
only  to  the  extent  of  any  such  excess,  and  (ii)  Seller’s  aggregate  liability  under Section  10.01(a) shall  in  no  event  exceed,  on  a
cumulative basis, an amount equal to four million dollars ($4,000,000).

(b)      Following the  Closing,  the  Parties’  rights  to  indemnification pursuant  to  this ARTICLE X shall,  except  for
equitable relief and specific performance of covenants that survive Closing, be the sole and exclusive remedy available to the Parties
with respect to any matter arising under or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, other than for
claims of fraud. Purchaser hereby waives, from and after the Closing Date, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law, any
and all rights, claims and causes of action it or any of its Affiliates may have against Seller and its Affiliates arising under or based
upon  this  Agreement,  the  Ancillary  Agreements,  any  document  or  certificate  delivered  in  connection  herewith,  the  Products,  the
Acquisition, the Acquired Assets and the Assumed Liabilities, or any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, rule or
regulation or otherwise (except pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this ARTICLE X ).

(c)      NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION HEREIN, NEITHER SELLER NOR PURCHASER SHALL IN
ANY  EVENT  BE  LIABLE  TO  THE  OTHER  PARTY  OR  ANY  INDEMNITEE  ON  ACCOUNT  OF  ANY  INDEMNITY
OBLIGATION SET FORTH IN SECTION 10.01  OR SECTION 10.02  FOR ANY INDIRECT,  CONSEQUENTIAL,  SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES (EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THE PARTY OR INDEMNITEE IS REQUIRED TO
PAY SUCH TYPES OF DAMAGES TO A THIRD PARTY), INCLUDING LOSS OF FUTURE REVENUE OR INCOME, LOSS
OF  BUSINESS  REPUTATION  OR  OPPORTUNITY  RELATING  TO  THE  BREACH  OR  ALLEGED  BREACH  OF  THIS
AGREEMENT, OR DIMINUTION OF VALUE OR ANY DAMAGES BASED ON ANY TYPE OF MULTIPLE.

Section 10.07.      Termination of Indemnification .

(a)      The obligations  to  indemnify  and hold  harmless  an Indemnitee  pursuant  to  (i) Section 10.01(a) and Section
10.02(a) , shall terminate when the applicable representation or warranty terminates pursuant to Section 10.07(b) below, and (ii) the
other  clauses  of Section  10.01 and Section  10.02 ,  shall  not  terminate; provided , however ,  that  as  to  foregoing  clause  (i)  such
obligations to indemnify and hold harmless shall  not  terminate with respect  to any item as to which the Indemnitee or the related
Party thereto shall have, before the expiration of the applicable period, previously made a claim by delivering a notice of such claim
(stating in reasonable detail the basis of such claim) to the indemnifying Party.

(b)      The representations  and  warranties  of  Seller  contained  in ARTICLE V shall  survive  the  Closing  solely  for
purposes of Section 10.01(a) and shall terminate at the close of business on the date occurring eighteen (18) months following the
Closing Date (other than the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Section 5.01 , Section 5.02 , Section 5.03 , and
Section 5.08 ,  which  shall  survive  indefinitely),  and  the  representations  and warranties  of  Purchaser  contained in  A RTICLE VII
shall  survive  the  Closing  solely  for  purposes  of Section  10.02(a) and shall  terminate  at  the  close  of  business  on  the  nine-month
anniversary following the Closing Date (other than with respect to those representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in
Section 7.01 , Section 7.02 and Section 7.05 , which shall survive indefinitely).

Section 10.08.      Tax Treatment  of  Indemnification Payments .  For  all  Tax purposes,  each of  Purchaser,  Seller  and their
respective Affiliates agrees to treat any indemnity payment under this Agreement as an adjustment to the Purchase Price received by
Seller  for  the  transactions  contemplated by this  Agreement  unless  a  final  determination (as  defined in  Section 1313 of  the  Code)
provides otherwise.



Section 10.09.      No Double  Recovery . Neither Party shall  be  entitled  to  recover  the  same or  duplicative  damages  with
respect  to  the  same  breach  from the  other Party under  more  than  one  of  this Agreement and the Ancillary  Agreements .  For the
purposes  of  this Section  10.10 ,  each Party shall  be  deemed  to  have  made  and  received  all  payments  made  and  received  by  its
Affiliates .

Article XI      
TERMINATION

Section 11.01.      Termination . [ Intentionally Omitted ]

Article XII      
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.01.      Assignment .  Except  as  otherwise  expressly  permitted  by  this  Agreement,  neither  Party  shall  assign  or
otherwise transfer this Agreement or any interest herein or right hereunder without the prior written consent of the other Party, and
any such purported assignment, transfer or attempt to assign or transfer any interest herein or right hereunder shall be void and of no
effect; provided , however , that, following the Closing, either Party shall have the right, without such consent, on written notice to
the other Party, to assign all of its rights and obligations hereunder to a successor to all or substantially all of such Party’s business or
assets,  or to a successor of that portion of such Party’s business to which this Agreement relates,  in each case whether by way of
merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or other transaction (or series of related transactions), provided , further , that in the case of an
assignment by Purchaser in either of the foregoing cases, Purchaser shall provide notice to Seller containing the name and contact
information of the assignee, and any assignee shall expressly agree to assume Purchaser’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement,
including, the applicable payment obligations under Section 3.02 . Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement will be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 12.02.      Non-Waiver . Any failure on the part of a Party to enforce at any time or for any period of time any of the
provisions  of  this  Agreement  shall  not  be  deemed  or  construed  to  be  a  waiver  of  such  provisions  or  of  any  right  of  such  Party
thereafter to enforce each and every such provision on any succeeding occasion or breach thereof.

Section 12.03.      No Third-Party Beneficiaries . This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties and their successors and
permitted assigns and the Indemnitees, and nothing herein express or implied shall give or be construed to give to any Person, other
than the Parties and such successors and permitted assigns and the Indemnitees, any legal or equitable rights hereunder.

Section  12.04.      Severability .  If  any  term  or  other  provision  of  this  Agreement  is  determined  to  be  invalid,  illegal  or
incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law or public policy, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full
force and effect. Upon such determination, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to give effect to
the original intent of the Parties to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law.

Section 12.05.      Entire Agreement; Amendments . This Agreement, together with the Ancillary Agreements (in each case,
following execution and delivery thereof), contains the entire understanding of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and thereof  and supersedes all  previous and contemporaneous verbal  and written understandings,  agreements,  representations  and
warranties  with  respect  to  such  subject  matter  or  on  which  the  Parties  may  have  relied.  This  Agreement  may  not  be  amended,
supplemented  or  modified  except  by an instrument  in  writing  signed on behalf  of  each Party.  No waiver  of  any provision  of  this
Agreement shall be valid unless the waiver is in writing and signed by the waiving Party.

Section  12.06.      Notices .  Unless  otherwise  explicitly  set  forth  herein,  any  notice  required  or  permitted  to  be  given
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally by hand, or sent by reputable overnight courier, signature required, to
the addresses of each Party set forth below or to such other address or addresses as shall be designated in writing in the same matter:

(a)      If to Purchaser:

Sentynl Therapeutics, Inc.



265 Santa Helena, Suite 208
Solana Beach, CA 92075
Attention: Chief Executive Officer

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP
12255 El Camino Real, Suite 300
San Diego, CA, 92130
Attention: Christian Salaman

(b)      If to Seller:

Galena Biopharma, Inc.
2000 Crow Canyon Place, Suite 380
San Ramon, CA 94583
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile:

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Fredrikson & Byron, P.A.
200 South Sixth Street, Suite 4000
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Attention:    Christopher J. Melsha
Facsimile:    (612) 492-7077

All notices shall be deemed given when received by the addressee.

Section 12.07.      Public Announcements . Neither Party shall make any public announcement regarding this Agreement, or
the  subject  matter  contained  herein,  without  the  prior  written  consent  of  the  other  Party  (which  consent  will  not  be  unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed by such other Party), except to the extent required to be disclosed (i) to or by any Governmental or
Regulatory Authorities; (ii) to comply with applicable Laws (including, without limitation, to comply with SEC or stock exchange
disclosure  requirements),  or  (iii)  to  comply  with  judicial  process  or  an  order  of  any  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  of
competent jurisdiction; provided , however , that in each case the Party required to disclose such information shall endeavor to give
the  other  Party  reasonable  advance  notice  and  review  of  any  such  disclosure.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  the  Parties  shall
coordinate on a mutually acceptable press release to be issued by Seller in connection with the execution of this Agreement, which
complies with applicable Laws (including, without limitation, SEC and stock exchange disclosure requirements).

Section 12.08.      Governing Law; Forum. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of Delaware, without regard to the principles of conflicts of law thereof. Any judicial proceeding brought with respect to
this Agreement must be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware, and, by execution and delivery of
this  Agreement,  each  Party  (a)  accepts,  generally  and  unconditionally,  the  exclusive  jurisdiction  of  such  courts  and  any  related
appellate court, and irrevocably agrees to be bound by any judgment rendered thereby in connection with this Agreement, and (b)
irrevocably waives any objection it may now or hereafter have as to the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in such
a court or that such court is an inconvenient forum.

Section  12.09.      WAIVER  OF  JURY  TRIAL .  EACH  PARTY  ACKNOWLEDGES  AND  AGREES  THAT  ANY
CONTROVERSY  WHICH  MAY  ARISE  UNDER  THIS  AGREEMENT  OR  THE  OTHER  TRANSACTION  DOCUMENTS  IS
LIKELY  TO  INVOLVE  COMPLICATED  ISSUES  AND,  THEREFORE  BUT  ONLY  TO  THE  EXTENT  PERMITTED  BY
APPLICABLE  LAW,  EACH  SUCH  PARTY  IRREVOCABLY  AND  UNCONDITIONALLY  WAIVES  ANY  RIGHT  IT  MAY
HAVE  TO  A  TRIAL  BY  JURY  IN  RESPECT  OF  ANY  LEGAL  ACTION  ARISING  OUT  OF  OR  RELATING  TO  THIS
AGREEMENT,  THE  OTHER  TRANSACTION  DOCUMENTS  OR  THE  TRANSACTIONS  CONTEMPLATED  HEREBY  OR
THEREBY. EACH  PARTY  TO  THIS  AGREEMENT  CERTIFIES  AND  ACKNOWLEDGES  THAT  (A)  NO  REPRESENTATIVE  OF
ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO



ENFORCE  THE  FOREGOING  WAIVER  IN  THE  EVENT  OF  A  LEGAL  ACTION,  (B)  SUCH  PARTY  HAS  CONSIDERED  THE
IMPLICATIONS  OF  THIS  WAIVER,  (C)  SUCH  PARTY  MAKES  THIS  WAIVER  VOLUNTARILY,  AND  (D)  SUCH  PARTY  HAS
BEEN  INDUCED  TO  ENTER  INTO  THIS  AGREEMENT  BY,  AMONG  OTHER  THINGS,  THE  MUTUAL  WAIVERS  AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 12.09 .

Section 12.10.      Expenses . Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, and except as otherwise
specifically  provided  in  this  Agreement,  all  costs  and  expenses  incurred  in  connection  with  this  Agreement  and  the  transactions
contemplated hereby shall be paid by the Party incurring such costs or expenses.

Section 12.11.      Relationship of the Parties . In making and performing this Agreement, the Parties are acting, and intend to
be  treated,  as  independent  entities  and  nothing  contained  in  this  Agreement  shall  be  construed  or  implied  to  create  an  agency,
partnership, joint venture, or employer and employee relationship between Seller and Purchaser or any of their respective Affiliates.
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, neither Party may act on behalf of the other Party, and neither Party may make (or
has any authority to make) any representation, warranty or commitment, whether express or implied, on behalf of the other Party or
incur any charges or expenses for or in the name of the other Party. No Party shall be liable for the act of any other Party unless such
act is expressly authorized in writing by both Parties. The relationship of the Parties under this Agreement is, and is intended to be,
one of independent contractors hereunder.

Section  12.12.      Counterparts .  This  Agreement  shall  become  binding  when  any  one  or  more  counterparts  hereof,
individually or taken together, shall bear the signatures of each of the Parties. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original as against the Party whose signature appears thereon, but all of which taken
together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other
means  of  electronic  transmission  shall  be  deemed  to  have  the  same  legal  effect  as  delivery  of  an  original  signed  copy  of  this
Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]

ix



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Asset Purchase Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first
written above.

SELLER:

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

/S/ Mark W. Schwartz     
Name: Mark W. Schwartz
Title: President & CEO

PURCHASER:

SENTYNL THERAPEUTICS, INC.

/S/ Matt Heck     
Name: Matt Heck
Title: CEO

[Signature page to Asset Purchase Agreement]
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LICENSE AND SUPPLY TRANSFER AGREEMENT

THIS LICENSE AND SUPPLY TRANSFER AGREEMENT (this “ Transfer Agreement ”) is entered into as of December
16, 2015 (the “ Effective Date ”) by and between MonoSol Rx, LLC (“ MonoSol ”) and Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“ Galena ”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS ,  MonoSol  and  Galena  are  parties  to  that  certain  License  and  Supply  Agreement  dated  July  17,  2014  (the  “
Agreement ”); and

WHEREAS , Galena announced on November 9, 2015 its intent to divest its commercial sales business; and

WHEREAS ,  Galena  has  requested  limited  relief  from  Section  5.3  of  the  Agreement  in  order  to  facilitate  a  potential
transaction transferring the Agreement to Midatech Pharma plc or a subsidiary thereof (the “ Transfer ”); and

WHEREAS, MonoSol has requested consideration for the limited relief requested by Galena; and

WHEREAS ,  the  parties  desire  to  amend  the  Agreement  in  certain  respects,  contingent  upon  timely  completion  of  the
Transfer, in the manner described herein:

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the respective agreements contained herein, and for valuable consideration and
receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, Galena and MonoSol agree as follows:

1.1      Defined Terms . Each capitalized term used herein that is not otherwise defined herein shall  mean as such term is
defined in Agreement.

1.2      Residual Liabilities . Each of the parties to the Transfer Agreement acknowledges to the other party hereto that, as of
the date of this Transfer Agreement, it has not made a claim against the other party to this Transfer Agreement for breach under the
Agreement nor is any such claim pending.

1.3      Replacement  of  Section  5.3  of  Agreement  after  the  Transfer . Contingent  upon  the  timely  completion  of  the
Transfer, Section 5.3 of the Agreement shall thereupon be replaced in its entirety as follows:



“5.3     Market Coverage . Galena will maintain a minimum Average Field Force of […***…] Field Personnel with a
minimum of […***…] of a sales representative’s commission plan based on the Product.”

1.1      Replacement of Section 1.2.45 of the Agreement after the Transfer . Contingent upon the timely completion of the
Transfer, Section 1.2.45 of the Agreement shall thereupon be replaced in its entirety as follows:

“1.2.45 “MSRx IP” means any and all  Intellectual  Property,  including,  but  not  limited to,  each of  (i)  United States
Patent  Number 8,580,830 and (ii)  United States Patent  Number 9,095,577,  including any divisions,  continuations,  reissues
and reexaminations based upon any patent  application with  common priority  thereto,  and Regulatory Approvals  owned or
controlled by MSRx or its Affiliates and which is useful or necessary to Supply or Commercialize the Product.”

1.2      Time Period for Execution .  This  Transfer  Agreement  shall  be  in  effect  for  fourteen  (14)  calendar  days  after  the
Effective Date (the “ Transfer Deadline ”). Unless the Transfer shall have been consummated prior to the Transfer Deadline, this
Transfer Agreement shall be void and of no further force and effect.

1.3      Outstanding Invoices .  Galena shall promptly pay all outstanding invoices due to MonoSol upon execution of this
Transfer  Agreement,  including  the  following  oustanding  invoices:  (1)  invoice  #INV001122  dated  September  29,  2015  for
$131,616.00, (2) invoice #INV001132 dated November 4, 2015 for $2,943.68 and (3) invoice #INV001135 dated November 2, 2015
for $2,167.50..

1.4      Compensation . Galena will provide MonoSol with a true and complete execution copy of its Transfer agreement with
the  transferee  (including  without  limitation,  all  exhibits,  schedules,  other  attachments  and  ancillary  agreements  relating  thereto)
immediately following execution and delivery thereof by the parties thereto. Galena shall pay MonoSol (1) Nine Hundred Thousand
Dollars  and  No  Cents  ($900,000)  immediately  upon  transferee  paying  Galena  the  upfront  payment  set  forth  in  the  Transfer
agreement  and  (2)  […***…]  of  the  cash  compensation  received  from  the  transferee  for  any  milestone  achievement  under  the
Transfer agreement within thirty (30) days of receipt of such compensation.

1.5      Miscellaneous . Except  as  expressly  amended  by  this  Transfer  Agreement,  all  of  the  terms  and  provisions  of  the
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. This Transfer Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. Electronic signatures shall be considered
binding.

[signatures follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the parties has caused this Transfer Agreement to be executed in a manner appropriate
for each and to be dated as of the date first above written.

MONOSOL RX, LLC

By:           /S/ Keith Kendall             

Name:    Keith Kendall

Its:    Chief Executive Officer

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

By:           /S/ Mark W. Schwartz        

Name:         Mark W. Schwartz        

Its:         President & Chief Executive Officer
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by and between

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), dated as of December 17, 2015, is made by and between
GALENA  BIOPHARMA,  INC. ,  a  Delaware  corporation  (“ Seller ”),  and MIDATECH  PHARMA  PLC ,  a  public  limited
company organized under the laws of England and Wales with registered number 09216368 (“ Purchaser ”). Seller and Purchaser
are  sometimes  individually  referred  to  herein  as  a  “ Party ”  and  are  sometimes  collectively  referred  to  herein  as  the  “ Parties ”.
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Capitalized  terms  not  otherwise  defined  in  the  text  of  this  Agreement  shall  have  the  meanings  set  forth  in Article  I of  this
Agreement.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS,  Seller  is  the  licensee  of  certain  patents  and  know-how  relating  to  the  proprietary  product  for  anti-emetic
treatment marketed as Zuplenz ® in the United States that contains ondansetron as its sole active ingredient and is approved under its
product NDA (“ Zuplenz ” and also referred to herein as the “ Product ”);

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell, and Purchaser desires to purchase from Seller, certain assets of Seller related exclusively
to Zuplenz in the Territory, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS,  Seller  desires  to  assign,  and  Purchaser  desires  to  assume  from  Seller,  certain  contracts  of  Seller  relating
exclusively to Zuplenz in the Territory, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein set forth, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the
Parties hereby agree as follows:

Article I 

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01      Definitions .

(a)      For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the corresponding meanings set forth below:

“ Acquisition ”  means  the  consummation  of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  and  the  Other
Acquisition Documents.

“ Affiliate ”  means,  with  respect  to  any  specified  Person,  any  other  Person  directly  or  indirectly  controlling  or
controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person; and for the purposes of this definition, “ control
” when used with respect to any specified Person means the power to direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or
indirectly,  whether  through  the  ownership  of  voting  securities,  by  contract  or  otherwise;  and  the  terms  “ controlling ”  and  “
controlled ” have meanings correlative to the foregoing.

“ Business  Day ” means a day other  than Saturday or  Sunday or  a  day on which banks in London,  England or  the
State of Delaware are required to be closed.

“ Closing Consideration ” means $3,750,000.

“ Closing Date Inventory ” means the quantities of Inventory as of the Closing Date.

“ Code ” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“ Competing  Product ”  means  any  oral  soluble  film  product  indicated  for  chemotherapy  induced  nausea  and
vomiting, radiotherapy induced nausea and/or vomiting or post-operative nausea and vomiting.

“ Confidential Information ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Confidentiality Agreement.

“ Confidentiality  Agreement ”  means  that  certain  Mutual  Confidential  Disclosure  Agreement  between  the  Parties
dated October 8, 2015.



“ Contracts ”  means  all  leases  (whether  for  real  or  personal  property),  subleases,  indentures,  licenses,  agreements,
contracts,  subcontracts,  purchase  orders,  instruments,  notes,  options,  warranties,  commitments  and  all  other  legally  binding
arrangements, whether written or oral.

“ Dollars ” and “ $ ” mean lawful currency of the United States of America.

“ Excluded Trademarks ” shall mean, whether registered or unregistered, all trademarks, trade dress, service marks,
service  names,  brand  marks,  trade  names,  brand  names,  logos,  business  symbols,  slogans  or  other  designations  of  origin  and  all
registrations, registration applications and rights relating thereto, other than the trademarks included in the Transferred Intellectual
Property.

“ FDA ” means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

“ FDA Act ” means the United States Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938, as amended.

“ Final  Closing  Date  Inventory ”  means  Closing  Date  Inventory  (i)  as  shown  in  Purchaser’s  calculation  delivered
pursuant to Section 3.04(a) if no notice of disagreement with respect thereto is duly delivered pursuant to Section 3.04(b); or (ii) if
such a notice of disagreement is delivered, (A) as agreed by Purchaser and Seller pursuant to Section 3.04(c) or (B) in the absence of
such agreement, as shown in the Independent Auditor’s calculation delivered pursuant to Section 3.04(c)

“ GAAP ” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, as in effect from time to
time and consistently applied.

“ Governmental or Regulatory Authority ” means any court, tribunal, arbitrator, agency, commission, official or other
instrumentality  of  any  country,  federal,  state,  county,  city  or  other  political  subdivision,  foreign  or  domestic,  including  without
limitation the FDA, the SEC, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, the London Stock Exchange plc, the AIM Market of
the London Stock Exchange plc, the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC and any other governmental or regulatory instrumentality with
responsibility for granting any licenses, registrations or regulatory approvals.

“ Health Law ” means any Law the purpose of  which is  to  ensure  the safety,  efficacy and quality  of  medicines  by
regulating the research, development, manufacturing, commercialization and distribution of these products, including Laws relating
to good laboratory practices, good clinical practices, investigational use, product marketing authorization, manufacturing compliance
and approval, good manufacturing practices, labeling, advertising, privacy, promotional practices, pricing, safety surveillance, record
keeping and filing of required reports, including the FDA Act, the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970,
the Controlled Substances Act, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act  of  1996,  the  Public  Health  Service  Act,  as  amended,  and  applicable  regulations  issued  by  a  Governmental  or  Regulatory
Authority.

“ Income Tax ” means any federal,  state,  local,  or non-U.S.  income tax,  including any interest,  penalty,  or addition
thereto, whether disputed or not.

“ Income  Tax  Return ”  means  any  return,  declaration,  report,  claim  for  refund,  or  information  return  or  statement
relating to Income Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“ Insolvent ” means that the fair value of the assets of the relevant Person, at a fair valuation, exceeds the sum of the
debts and other Liabilities of such Person.

“ Intended Use ” means the distribution, marketing, sale, and manufacture of Zuplenz in the Territory.



“ Inventory ” means the inventory of Zuplenz owned by Seller or its Subsidiaries,  including, but not limited to, the
existing finished quantities, work in process, raw materials, constituent substances, materials (including but not limited to, packaging
materials  and  other  collateral),  stores  and supplies,  as  well  as  any  trade,  sample  or  prototype  inventories  owned  by Seller  and  its
Subsidiaries of the Product in the Territory, as set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(v) . For purposes of “Purchaser Closing Date Inventory
Adjustment  Amount,”  “Inventory”  means  all  items  of  inventory  with  an  expiration  date  of  no  less  than  24  months  following  the
Closing Date and in quantities no less than the quantities set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(v) .

“ Law ”  means,  individually  and  collectively,  all  laws,  statutes,  rules,  regulations,  ordinances,  directives  and  other
pronouncements or orders of any kind whatsoever of any Governmental or Regulatory Authority within the applicable jurisdiction.

“ Legal Proceeding ” means any claim, action, suit, case, litigation, proceeding, charge, criminal prosecution, judicial,
governmental or regulatory investigation, arbitration, mediation or alternative dispute resolution proceeding.

“ Liabilities ”  means,  without  limitation,  any  direct  or  indirect  liability,  indebtedness,  claim,  assessment,  loss,
damages  (compensatory,  punitive  or  other),  obligation,  deficiency,  guaranty,  endorsement,  commitment,  reimbursement,  cost  and
expenses  of  any  kind  or  nature,  whether  accrued,  absolute,  asserted,  unasserted,  choate,  inchoate,  actual,  contingent,  matured,
unmatured, liquidated, unliquidated, secured, unsecured, present or future, known or unknown.

“ Licensed Intellectual Property ” means all intellectual property rights in the
Territory licensed to Seller or any Seller Affiliate pursuant to the MonoSol License Agreement, including, but not limited to each of
(i) United States Patent Number 8,580,830 and (ii) United States Patent Number 9,095,577, including any divisions, continuations,
reissues and reexaminations based upon any patent application with common priority thereto.

“ Liens ”  means  any  and  all  liens,  pledges,  hypothecations,  claims,  encumbrances,  security  interests,  mortgages,
restrictions, options or charges of any nature.

“ Marketing and Reference Materials ” means (i) written records of marketing research materials owned or controlled
by Seller which relate exclusively to the Product in the Territory, and (ii) written manuals and reference guides owned or controlled
by Seller relating to the handling of reports of adverse events related to the Product in the Territory.

“ Material  Adverse  Effect ”  means  any  event,  condition,  change,  circumstance,  development  or  state  of  facts,
individually or in the aggregate, that has, or could reasonably be expected to have a material, adverse effect on the Acquired Assets,
but excluding the events or effects of: (i) changes to the pharmaceutical industry and markets in which Purchaser or Seller operate, to
the extent such changes do not have a disproportionately adverse effect on the Acquired Assets; (ii) changes in the United States,
United Kingdom or world financial markets in general; (iii) changes arising in connection with earthquakes, hostilities, acts of war,
sabotage  or  terrorism or  military  actions  or  any  escalation  or  material  worsening  of  any  such  hostilities,  acts  of  war,  sabotage  or
terrorism  or  military  actions  existing  or  underway  as  of  the  date  hereof;  (iv)  any  action  taken  by  Purchaser  or  its  Affiliates  with
respect  to  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  with  respect  to  an  Acquired  Asset;  or  (v)  any  effect  resulting  from the  public
announcement of this Agreement, compliance with terms of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement.

“ Medicaid Rebates ” means all state and federal Medicaid rebates and reimbursements related to the Products.

“ MonoSol License Agreement ” means that certain License Agreement by and between Seller and MonoSol Rx LLC
dated  July  17,  2014,  assigned  to  Purchaser  as  one  of  the  Transferred  Contracts  hereunder,  as  the  same  shall  be  amended  in
accordance with Schedule 4.01(f).

“ NDA ”  means  a  New  Drug  Application  or  supplemental  New  Drug  Application,  as  defined  in  the  United  States
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.

“ NDC Number ” shall mean the national drug code number associated with the Product.



“ Net  Sales ”  means,  for  any  period,  the  aggregate  of  the  gross  amounts  invoiced  or  otherwise  billed,  charged  or
received by a Selling Person for the arms’ length sale or other commercial disposition to non-Affiliates of such Selling Person of a
Product (whether such Selling Person has the right to sell Zuplenz ), less the following deductions to the extent specifically related to
a Product and actually allowed, incurred or paid during such period: (i) reasonable cash discounts, returns, allowances, rebates, or
chargebacks; (ii) sales, value-added, excise taxes, tariffs and duties, and other taxes directly related to the sale (but excluding income
or net profit taxes or franchise taxes of any kind); (iii) Medicaid and other reimbursement related rebates, co-pay reimbursements,
product cost per unit paid to the manufacturer on a delivered basis, including freight and duty costs, distribution and wholesaler fee
for service; and (iv) amounts allowed or credited on returns, provided that all of the foregoing deductions are incurred in the ordinary
course  and  calculated  in  accordance  with  GAAP  during  the  applicable  calculation  period  throughout  the  Selling  Person’s
organization. All such discounts, allowances, credits, rebates and other deductions shall be fairly and equitably allocated to a Product
and other products or services of a Selling Person, such that a Product does not bear a disproportionate portion of such deductions.
Any  disposal  of  a  Product  at  no  charge  for,  or  use  without  charge  in,  clinical  or  preclinical  trials  (but  excluding  post-approval
clinical trials for which compensation is received by the Selling Person), given as free samples, or distributed at no charge to patients
unable to purchase the same shall not be included in Net Sales, in each case, except to the extent that a Selling Person has received
any consideration for such Product.

For  sake of  clarity  and avoidance  of  doubt,  the transfer  of  a  Product  by a  Selling Person or  one of  its  Affiliates  to
another Affiliate of such Selling Person or to a sub-licensee of such Selling Person for resale shall not be considered a sale; in such
cases,  Net  Sales  shall  be  determined  based  on  the  amount  invoiced  or  otherwise  billed  by  such  Affiliate  or  sub-licensee  to  an
independent Third Party, less the Net Sales deductions allowed under this definition.

In the case of any sale of a Product for value other than in an arm’s length transaction exclusively for cash, such as
barter  or  counter-trade,  Net  Sales  shall  be  calculated  based  on  the  fair  market  value  of  the  non-cash  consideration  received  in
connection with such sale and based on the full list price for non-arm’s length transactions. If a Product is sold together with another
product  and  not  separately  invoiced  or  billed,  the  Parties  shall  agree  upon  the  appropriate  allocation  of  the  amount  received  in
consideration for the applicable Product, which allocation shall reflect the fair market value of the applicable Product and the other
product.

“ Other Acquisition Documents ” means (i) the Bill of Sale, and (ii) the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

“ Payment Claims ” means any and all payments, rebates, administrative fees or chargebacks due under any state or
federal program or due to customers under any private party managed care contracts or under any other contract or program of any
nature whatsoever with private parties, except for Medicaid Rebates.

“ Permitted Liens ” shall  mean (i)  Liens for Taxes not yet  due,  payable,  delinquent  or subject  to penalties  for non-
payment,  or  which  are  being  contested  in  good  faith  in  the  ordinary  course  of  business  by  appropriate  proceedings  and  (ii)
mechanics’, materialmen’s, carriers’, workmen’s, warehousemen’s, repairmen’s, landlords’ or other like Liens that are incurred in
the ordinary course of business and are not delinquent and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Acquired
Assets.

“ Person ” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, business trust, association,
joint  stock company,  joint  venture,  pool,  syndicate,  sole proprietorship,  unincorporated organization,  Governmental  or  Regulatory
Authority, or any other form of legal entity not specifically listed herein.

“ Product Registration ” means a list of all governmental authorizations granted to Seller by, or applications therefor
pending with, any Governmental or Regulatory Authority in the Territory to manufacture, market, import, distribute and/or sell any
of  the Products  in  the  Territory,  except  for  those Governmental  or  Regulatory Authority  authorizations that  the  failure  to  possess
would not be material to the operation of the business related to the Products taken as a whole.

“ Purchaser Closing Date Inventory Adjustment Amount ” means, with respect to each item of Inventory, the product
of (i) Seller’s actual cost of such item of Inventory as of the Closing Date and (ii) the difference between the quantities of such item
of Inventory listed on Exhibit 2.01(a)(v) and the quantities included in the Final Closing Date Inventory.

“ Purchaser Liability Cap ” means an amount equal to […***…].



“ Seller Closing Date Inventory Adjustment Amount ” means, with respect to the Inventory, the product of (i) Seller’s
actual  cost  of  such Inventory  and (ii)  the  difference  between the  quantities  of  such Inventory  listed  on Exhibit  2.01(a)(v) and the
quantities included in the Final Closing Date Inventory.

“ Seller Liability Cap ” means an amount equal to […***…].

“ Seller Names ” shall mean the names and logos of Seller and any of its Affiliates.

“ Seller’s  Knowledge ” means the actual  knowledge of the following individuals,  after  such individuals  have made
reasonable due inquiry: Mark Schwartz, Joseph Lasaga, Christopher Lento, Ryan Dunlap, Nate Ide, James Datz and Pat Murphy.

“ Selling Person ” means the Purchaser,  each of its Affiliates and each (A) licensee, sub-licensee, assignee or other
grantee of rights from Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or another Selling Person to market or sell Zuplenz , (B) buyer, transferee or
assignee of any Transferred Intellectual Property or Licensed Intellectual Property from Purchaser or its Affiliates or another Selling
Person, or (C) any Affiliate of the foregoing.

“ Tax ” or “ Taxes ” means all federal, state, local and foreign income, payroll, withholding, excise, value added, sales
(including bulk sales),  use,  personal  property,  use and occupancy,  business  and occupation,  mercantile,  real  estate,  gross  receipts,
license,  employment,  severance,  stamp,  premium,  windfall  profits,  social  security  (or  unemployment),  disability,  transfer,
registration,  alternative or add-on minimum, estimated or capital  stock and franchise and other taxes and assessments  of any kind
whatsoever,  (ii)   all  interest  or  penalties,  addition  to  tax  or  additional  amount  imposed,  assessed  or  collected  by  any  Taxing
Authority, in each case, regardless of whether disputed, and (iii) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described
in clause (i)  or  (ii)  of  this  definition as a result  of  being a member of an affiliated,  consolidated,  combined or unitary group,  as a
result of any tax sharing or tax allocation agreement, arrangement or understanding, or as a result of being liable for another Person’s
taxes as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise.

“ Tax Return ” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to
Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“ Taxing Authority ” means any Governmental or Regulatory Authority exercising any authority to impose, regulate
or administer the imposition of Taxes.

“ Territory ” means the United States of America including its territories and possessions.

“ Third Party ” means any Person other than: (1) Purchaser or Seller, and (2) any Affiliates of Purchaser or Seller.

(b)      The following terms have the meanings given to such terms in the Sections set forth below:

Term Section
Acquired Assets 2.01(a)
Additional Assumption Documents 3.01(b)(vi)
Additional Transfer Documents 3.01(c)(v)
Agreement Recitals
Allocation 9.04(a)
Annual Net Sales Milestones 3.03(a)
Assignment and Assumption Agreement 3.01(b)(iii)
Assumed Liabilities 2.02
Bill of Sale 3.01(b)(ii)
Business Employee 8.03



Chargeback Claims 9.07(e)(i)
Claim Dispute Notice 10.04
Closing 3.01(a)
Closing Date 3.01(a)
Closing Date Inventory Statement 3.04(a)
Commercial Rebates 9.07(d)(i)(a)
Commercial Rebate Tail Period 9.07(d)(i)
Confidentiality Period 9.06(e)
Direct Claim Notice 10.04
Excluded Assets 2.01(b)
FDCA 5.13(a)
Food and Drugs Act 5.13
Government Rebate Tail Period 9.07(c)(i)(A)
Government Rebates 9.07(c)(i)
Indemnitee 10.03(a)
Indemnitor 10.03(a)(i)
Independent Auditor 8.02
Inventory 2.01(a)(iv)
Losses 10.01
NDCs 9.07
Net Sales Milestones 3.03
Non-Responsible Party 9.07(c)(ii)
Party or Parties Recitals
Plan 5.14(a)
Product or Products Recitals
Product Inventory List 5.11
Purchase Price 3.02
Purchaser Recitals
Purchaser Indemnitees 10.01
Purchaser Inventory Payment 3.04(e)
Purchaser Proprietary Information 9.06(b)
Quarterly Net Sales Milestones 3.03
Regulatory Agency 5.13
Responsible Party 9.07(c)(ii)
Seller Recitals
Seller Indemnitees 10.02
Seller Inventory Payment 3.04(e)
Seller Proprietary Information 9.06(c)
Termination Date 11.01(b)
Third Party Claim 10.03(a)
Transfer Taxes 9.03
Transferred Contracts 2.01(a)(iii)
Transferred Employees 2.02(iv)
Transferred FDA Permits 2.01(a)(ii)
Transferred Intellectual Property 2.01(a)(i)
UPCs 6.06(a)
Zuplenz Recitals

Section 1.02      Interpretation



Article II      

PURCHASE AND SALE OF ACQUIRED ASSETS

Section 2.01      Purchase and Sale.

(a)      Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall sell, assign,
transfer,  convey and deliver,  or  cause to be sold,  assigned,  transferred,  conveyed and delivered,  to Purchaser,  and Purchaser  shall
purchase and acquire from Seller, free and clear of all Liens, all of the rights, title and interest of Seller and its Subsidiaries in, to and
under the assets set forth below, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise, wherever located (collectively, the “ Acquired Assets ”):

(i)      the  domain  name  and  copyrights  of  Seller  and  its  Subsidiaries  which  are  related  exclusively  to  the
Product and are set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(i) (the “ Transferred Intellectual Property ”);

(ii)      all governmental,  regulatory filings, correspondence, submissions, marketing authorizations, permits,
licenses, registrations (including Product Registration data), regulatory clearances, certificates, approvals, variances, consents
and  similar  items  of  Seller  and  its  Subsidiaries  with  the  FDA  exclusively  related  to  the  Intended  Use  of Zuplenz in  the
Territory as set forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(ii) (the “ Transferred FDA Permits ”);

(iii)      to the extent transferrable, all state governmental and federal governmental (other than the Transferred
FDA  Permits),  regulatory  filings,  correspondence,  submissions,  marketing  authorizations,  permits,  licenses,  registrations
(including product  registration data),  regulatory clearances,  certificates,  approvals,  variances,  consents and similar  items of
Seller  and  its  Subsidiaries  exclusively  related  to  the  Intended  Use  of  the  Product  in  the  Territory  (“ State  Permits ”),
including those related to marketing,  pricing or reimbursement approval (such listed State Permits,  the “ Transferred State
Permits ” and, together with the Transferred FDA Permits, the “ Permits ”);

(iv)      the  Contracts  set  forth  on Exhibit  2.01(a)(iv) ,  including  without  limitation  the  MonoSol  License
Agreement (the “ Transferred Contracts ”), and all rights and claims of Seller arising under or with respect to the Transferred
Contracts, including all rights under any warranties, indemnities and similar rights against third parties to the extent related to
any Acquired Assets;

(v)      the Inventory;

(vi)      copies of (A) all current marketing and sales assets that relate exclusively to Zuplenz and (B) all books,
ledgers, files, reports, data, plans, records and training materials that relate exclusively to Zuplenz ;

(vii)      all  claims,  causes  of  action  or  other  rights  of  the  Seller,  if  any,  arising  out  of  any  of  the  Acquired
Assets arising before, on or after the Closing Date;

(viii)      all prepaid expenses, credits, advance payments, claims, security, rebates, refunds, rights of recovery,
rights of set-off, rights of recoupment, deposits, charges, sums and fees (including any such item relating to the payment of
Taxes) related to the Acquired Assets; and

(ix)      any goodwill associated with the Acquiring Assets.

(b)      Purchaser is not purchasing or acquiring, and Seller is not selling or assigning, any assets or properties of Seller
or  any  of  its  Affiliates  that  are  not  specifically  listed  above,  and  all  such  other  assets  and  properties  shall  be  excluded  from  the
Acquired Assets (the “ Excluded Assets ”).

Section 2.02      Assumed Liabilities .  Upon the  terms and subject  to  the  conditions  set  forth  herein,  as
partial consideration for the Acquired Assets, Purchaser agrees, effective at the Closing, to assume and to satisfy and discharge when
due the following, but only the following, in accordance with the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, Liabilities of Seller, in
each case, excluding the Excluded Liabilities (collectively, the “ Assumed Liabilities ”):

(a)      all Liabilities arising under or relating to the Transferred Contracts arising on or after the Closing;

(b)      all Liabilities arising under or relating to the Permits arising on or after the Closing;

(c)      all Liabilities arising out of Purchaser’s use of the Seller Names, Excluded Trademarks,  UPC, NDC and the
activities contemplated by Section 9.07 hereof arising on or after the Closing;



(d)      those Liabilities which are allocated to Purchaser with respect to the Channel Liabilities, as set forth in Section
9.08 hereof arising on or after the Closing; and

(e)      any  Liabilities  arising  from  or  relating  to  the  development,  testing,  manufacture,  distribution,  marketing,
promotion or sale of Zuplenz in the Territory arising on or after the Closing (other than any Liability arising out of or relating to a
breach of any representation or warranty made by Seller in Article V hereof occurring prior to the Closing).

Section  2.03      Excluded  Liabilities .  Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  contained  in  this
Agreement or any of the Other Acquisition Documents, Seller acknowledges that Seller shall retain and satisfy, and Purchaser shall
not  assume  or  otherwise  be  responsible  or  liable  for,  any  Liabilities  or  obligations  of  Seller  other  than  the  Assumed  Liabilities,
whether  or  not  relating  to  the  Acquired  Assets  (collectively,  the  “ Excluded Liabilities ”).  For  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  Excluded
Liabilities shall include the following:

(a)      those Liabilities which are allocated to Seller with respect to the Channel Liabilities, as defined and set forth in
Section 9.08 hereof;

(b)      any Liability arising under or relating to the Transferred Contracts arising prior to the Closing Date, including
any  obligation  for  monies  due  but  not  yet  payable  (including,  but  not  limited  to,  royalties  or  milestones,  as  applicable)  as  of  the
Closing Date under any Transferred Contract;

(c)      any Liabilities resulting from (1) any breach or violation of any Transferred Contract by Seller occurring prior
to the Closing or (2) any act or omission of Seller prior to the Closing that would have constituted a breach or violation upon notice
or passage of time under any Transferred Contract;

(d)      any product Liability or similar claim for injury to a Person or property which arises out of or is based upon any
express  or  implied representation,  warranty,  agreement  or  guaranty  made by Seller,  or  by reason of  the  improper  performance or
malfunctioning of an Acquired Asset,  improper design or manufacture,  failure to adequately package, label or warn of hazards or
other related product defects of any Product manufactured or sold prior to the Closing Date, or any service performed by Seller prior
to the Closing Date;

(e)      any recall,  design defect  or  similar  claims of  any Product  sold  or  any service  performed by Seller  prior  the
Closing Date;

(f)      any Liability resulting from or arising out of the conduct of business by Seller or any Affiliate of Seller or the
ownership of the Excluded Assets, whether before, on or after the Closing;

(g)      all Liabilities for rebates or chargebacks with respect to the Product dispensed prior to the Closing Date;

(h)      any Liability of Seller for expenses or fees incident to or arising out of the negotiation, preparation, approval or
authorization of this Agreement, the Other Acquisition Documents or the consummation (or preparation for the consummation) of
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (including all attorneys’ and accountants’ fees and brokerage fees incurred by or
imposed upon Seller);

(i)      any Liability of Seller under this Agreement or the Other Acquisition Documents;

(j)      any Taxes for  which Seller  is  liable,  including any Liability  of  Seller  for  unpaid Taxes of  any Person under
Treasury Regulations §1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), as transferee or successor by contract or
otherwise;

(k)      any  Liability  resulting  from  or  arising  out  of  any  of  the  Excluded  Assets  and  not  specifically  assumed  by
Purchaser as an Assumed Liability;

(l)      any Liabilities in respect of any pending or threatened Legal Proceeding arising out of, relating to or otherwise
in respect of the operation of the Acquired Assets to the extent such Legal Proceeding relates to such operation on or prior to the
Closing Date; and

(m)      any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of or in connection with the failure by Seller or any of its Affiliates to
comply with any Law.

Section 2.04      No Offset . Each of Purchaser’s and Seller’s obligations under Article II will not be subject



to offset or reduction by reason of any actual or alleged breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in
this Agreement, any Other Acquisition Document or any right or alleged right to indemnification hereunder.

Article III      

CLOSING

Section 3.01      Closing.

(f)      Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Acquisition (the “ Closing ”) shall be
held remotely by exchange of electronic copies of the agreements, documents, certificates and other instruments set forth in Section
3.01(b) and Section 3.01(c) at  10:00 a.m.  on the  date  which is  five  Business  Days after  the  conditions  to  the Closing set  forth  in
Article IV shall have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions which by their nature are to be fulfilled at the Closing, but
subject to the fulfillment or waiver of such conditions), or on any other date as mutually agreed by the Parties. The date on which the
Closing shall occur is hereinafter referred to as the “ Closing Date ”. The Closing shall be deemed to be effective as of 12:00:01 a.m.
Eastern Standard Time on the Closing Date.

(g)      At the Closing, Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Seller:

(i)      an  amount  equal  to  the  Closing  Consideration  by  wire  transfer  of  immediately  available  funds
denominated  in  Dollars  to  a  bank account  designated  in  writing  by  Seller  at  least  two Business  Days  prior  to  the  Closing
Date;

(ii)      an executed counterpart of the Bill of Sale, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 3.01(b)(i) (the “ Bill of
Sale ”);

(iii)      an executed counterpart of the assignment and assumption agreement, in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit 3.01(b)(ii) (the “ Assignment and Assumption Agreement ”);

(iv)      such other executed instruments of transfer, conveyance, assignment, and assumption as the Seller may
reasonably  request  in  order  to  effect  the  sale,  transfer,  conveyance  and  assignment  to  the  Purchaser  of  all  obligations,
liabilities, right, title and interest in and to the Assumed Liabilities or to give effect to the transactions set forth herein (the “
Additional Assumption Documents ”);

(v)      a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an authorized officer of Purchaser, in his or her
capacity as such, confirming the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Sections 4.02(b) and Section 4.02(c).

(h)      At the Closing, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Purchaser:  

(i)      an executed counterpart of the Bill of Sale;

(ii)      an executed counterpart of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement;

(iii)      such  other  executed  instruments  of  transfer,  conveyance  and  assignment  as  the  Purchaser  may
reasonably  request  in  order  to  effect  the  sale,  transfer,  conveyance  and  assignment  to  the  Purchaser  of  all  right,  title  and
interest  in  and  to  the  Acquired  Assets  or  to  give  effect  to  the  transactions  set  forth  herein  (the  “ Additional  Transfer
Documents ”); and

(iv)      and a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by an authorized officer of Seller, in his or her
capacity  as  such,  confirming  the  satisfaction  of  the  conditions  specified  in  Section  4.01(b),  Section  4.01(c)  and  Section
4.01(e).

(i)      Following the Closing Date, Purchaser may submit to Seller, in writing, a request for Seller to cause delivery to
Purchaser of the tangible Acquired Assets. Promptly following receipt of such request, Seller shall arrange for delivery to Purchaser,
at an address specified by Purchaser in writing, of such tangible Acquired Assets. For the avoidance of doubt, documents and other
intangible Acquired Assets may be delivered electronically.

Section 3.02      Purchase Price . Upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Agreement,
as consideration for the Acquired Assets to be sold, transferred, conveyed, assigned and delivered to Purchaser pursuant to Section
3.01 ,  Purchaser shall  (i)  at  Closing pay to the seller an aggregate amount equal to the Closing Consideration; (ii)  at  the Closing,



assume  the  Assumed  Liabilities;  (iii)  if  and  to  the  extent  earned  in  accordance  with Section  3.03 ,  pay  the  Seller  the  Net  Sales
Milestone Payment(s), and (iv) pay the Purchaser Closing Date Inventory Adjustment Amount to Seller, or Seller shall pay the Seller
Closing Date Inventory Adjustment Amount to Purchaser, as provided in Section 3.04 hereof (collectively, the “ Purchase Price ”).
For the avoidance of doubt, Purchaser shall assume Seller’s payment obligations under the Transferred Contracts, including without
limitation the payment obligations under the MonoSol License Agreement (other than those payment obligations set forth in Section
7.1.1. of the MonoSol License Agreement).

Section 3.03      Net Sales Milestone Payments .

(a)      In the event that: (i) there are Net Sales of […***…] or greater in any […***…] occurring in […***…] (the “
Quarterly  Net  Sales  Milestone ”),  and  (ii)  the  applicable  “Annual  Net  Sales”  dollar  value  set  forth  below  is  achieved  during  the
Milestone Period (based on the Net Sales of the Product  in any full  calendar  year)  (each,  an “ Annual Net Sales Milestone ” and,
collectively,  the  “ Annual  Net  Sales  Milestones ”),  Purchaser  shall,  in  each  case,  pay  to  Seller  each  of  the  one-time  only,  non-
refundable, non-creditable net sales milestones (each, a “ Net Sales Milestone Payment ” and, collectively, the “ Net Sales Milestone
Payments ”) in respect of the Acquired Assets as set forth below: Each Net Sales Milestone Payment shall be paid by wire transfer in
immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated in writing by Seller; which payment shall be made no later than 45
days following the achievement of the Quarterly Net Sales Milestone or, for all other Net Sales Milestone Payments, following the
end of  the  applicable  calendar  year;  provided that  more  than one Net  Sales  Milestone  Payment  may become payable  in  the  same
calendar year as any other Net Sales Milestone Payment. Seller acknowledges the right to receive Net Sales Milestone Payments is
not a security, shall not be represented by a certificate or other instrument and shall not represent a security or ownership interest in
Purchaser, its Affiliates or any of their respective assets.

Net Sales Milestones: Net Sales Milestone Payment:
Achievement of Quarterly Net Sales Milestone […***…]

Annual Net Sales
[…***…] […***…]
[…***…] […***…]
[…***…] […***…]

  

(b)      Commencing with the first calendar quarter following the Closing Date and continuing until the earlier to occur
of (i) the payment to Seller of the Net Sales Milestone Payment with respect to the achievement of annual Net Sales of […***…] or
(ii) December 31, 2022 (such period, the “ Milestone Period ”), within 45 days after the end of each calendar quarter, Purchaser shall
deliver to Seller a statement (each, a “ Net Sales Statement ”) setting forth (A) the amount of Net Sales with respect to such calendar
quarter and with respect to the period from January 1 of the calendar year of which such calendar quarter is a part through the end of
such calendar quarter and (B) the “gross to net” adjustments with respect to the calculation of Net Sales for such calendar quarter
and calendar year (which calculation shall be made in conformity with, and show the individual components of, the definition of Net
Sales). For the avoidance of doubt, the Seller shall be entitled to receive a Net Sales Statement within 45 days after the end of the […
***…] calendar year.

(c)      Any dispute with respect to a Net Sales Statement shall be resolved in accordance with  Section 8.03(b) .  If
such resolution results in an adjustment to the amount payable by Purchaser to Seller pursuant to  Section 3.03(a) , Purchaser shall
pay to Seller cash in the amount of such adjustment within five Business Days after such dispute is finally resolved, which payment
shall be by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by Seller.

(d)      For the avoidance of doubt: (i) the total amount of Net Sales Milestone Payments by the Purchaser shall not
exceed $26,000,000 under this Agreement; (ii) the Purchaser shall not be required to make more than […***…] for the achievement
of  the  Quarterly  Net  Sales  Milestone;  and  (iii)  the  Purchaser  shall  not  be  required  to  make  more  than  one  Net  Sales  Milestone
Payment in respect  of  the achievement  of any single Annual  Net Sales Milestone.  For example,  (x) with respect  to Quarterly Net
Sales Milestone, if the Net Sales of the Product is equal to at least […***…] during the […***…] in calendar year […***…], the
total  Net  Sales  Milestone  Payment  owed  would  be  […***…],  and  thereafter  no  further  Net  Sales  Milestone  Payments  would  be
payable  to  Seller  in  connection  with  any  Quarterly  Net  Sales  Milestones  achieved  in  any  other  period  during  calendar  years  […
***…]and  (y)  with  respect  to  the  Annual  Net  Sales  Milestones,  if  the  Net  Sales  of  the  Product  is  equal  to  […***…]  in  the  […
***…]  calendar  year,  the  total  Net  Sales  Milestone  Payment  would  be  […***…],  and  thereafter  no  further  Net  Sales  Milestone
Payments  would  be  payable  to  Seller  in  connection  with  any  Annual  Net  Sales  Milestones  achieved  in  […***…]  calendar  year
during the Milestone Period.

Section 3.04      Closing Date Inventory Adjustment.



(a)      As promptly  as  practicable,  but  no later  than  sixty  days  after  the  Closing  Date,  Purchaser  shall  cause  to  be
prepared and delivered to Seller a statement calculating the Closing Date Inventory (the “ Closing Date Inventory Statement ”).

(b)      If  Seller  disagrees  with  Purchaser’s  calculation  of  the  Closing  Date  Inventory  set  forth  in  the  Closing  Date
Inventory Statement, Seller may, within ten Business Days after delivery of the Closing Date Inventory Statement, deliver a written
notice to Purchaser disagreeing with such calculation and setting forth Seller’s calculation of the Closing Date Inventory. Any such
notice of disagreement shall  specify those items or amounts as to which Seller disagrees.  If Seller does not deliver to Purchaser a
written notice of disagreement  within such ten Business Day period,  then Sellers  shall  be deemed to have agreed to such Closing
Date Inventory Statement.

(c)      If  a  notice  of  disagreement  shall  be  duly  delivered  pursuant  to  Section  3.04(b),  Purchaser  and  Seller  shall,
during the ten Business Days following such delivery, use their good faith and commercially reasonably efforts to reach agreement
on  the  disputed  items  or  amounts  in  order  to  determine,  as  may  be  required,  the  Closing  Date  Inventory.  If  during  such  period,
Purchaser  and  Seller  are  unable  to  each  such  agreement,  the  disputed  items  be  submitted  to  and  determined  by  an  independent
accounting firm selected by Purchaser and Seller (the “ Independent Auditor ); provided , however , the Parties may mutually agree
on an extended period to resolve any such dispute before submitting it to the Independent Auditor. In making such calculation, the
Independent Auditor shall only consider those items or amounts in the Closing Date Inventory Statement and Seller’s calculation of
Closing Date Inventory as to which Seller has disagreed. The Independent Auditor shall deliver to Purchaser and Seller, as promptly
as practicable (but in any case no later than twenty Business Days from the date of the engagement of the Independent Auditor), a
report setting forth such calculation. Such report shall be final and binding upon Purchaser and Seller. The cost of such review and
report shall be borne equally by Purchaser and Seller; provided, however, that if the Independent Auditor’s report is substantially in
agreement with either party’s calculations included in the Closing Date Inventory Statement, the cost of such review and report shall
be borne solely by the other party.

(d)      Purchaser  and  Seller  shall,  and  shall  cause  their  respective  representatives  to,  cooperate  and  assist  in  the
preparation  of  the  Closing  Date  Inventory  Statement  and the  calculation  of  the  Closing  Date  Inventory  and in  the  conduct  of  the
review referred to in this Section 3.04, including the making available, to the extent necessary, of books, records and personnel.

(e)      If the Final Closing Date Inventory is greater than the Inventory in the quantities listed on Exhibit 2.01(a)(v) ,
then the Purchaser shall be obligated to pay to Seller an amount in cash equal to the Purchaser Closing Date Inventory Adjustment
Amount within three Business Days after the Final Closing Date Inventory is determined. If the Final Closing Date Inventory is less
than the Inventory in the quantities listed on Exhibit 2.01(a)(v) , then the Seller shall be obligated to pay to Purchaser an amount in
cash  equal  to  the  Seller  Closing  Date  Inventory  Adjustment  Amount  within  three  Business  Days  after  the  Final  Closing  Date
Inventory is determined. Any payment that any party is obligated to make to the other party pursuant to this Section 3.04 shall be
paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds into an account designated by such other party.

Article IV      

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 4.01      Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser . The obligation of Purchaser to effect the Closing
is subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by Purchaser) at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(n)      No Injunctions  or  Restraints .  No Law, temporary restraining order,  preliminary or  permanent  injunction or
other order enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or other legal restraint
or  prohibition  by  a  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  shall  be  in  effect  and  which  has  the  effect  of  making  the  Acquisition
illegal or otherwise preventing the consummation of the Acquisition.

(o)      Accuracy  of  Representations  and  Warranties .  All  of  the  representations  and  warranties  made  by  Seller  in
Article V that are qualified by any reference to any materiality qualifications, including any Material Adverse Effect qualification,
shall each be true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were
made at such date (except that any representations and warranties that are made only as of a specified date shall be true and correct
only as of such date), and all other representations and warranties made by the Seller shall each be true and correct in all material
respects (except for the representations and warranties made in this Agreement by the Seller in Section 5.01 , Section 5.02 , Section
5.03(b) , 0 and Section 5.08 (the “ Seller Fundamental Representations ”) which shall be true and correct in all respects) as of the
date  hereof  and  as  of  the  Closing  Date  as  though  such  representations  and  warranties  were  made  at  such  date  (except  that  any
representations and warranties that are made only as of a specified date shall be true and correct only as of such date).

(p)      Performance of Covenants . The covenants and obligations that Seller is required to perform or comply with



under  this  Agreement  on  or  before  the  Closing  Date  shall  have  been  duly  performed  and  complied  with  by  Seller  in  all  material
respects.

(q)      Deliverables . Purchaser shall have received each of the items set forth in Section 3.01(c) .

(r)      No Material Adverse Effect . No Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred or there shall be no event, change
or occurrence that would reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(s)      MonoSol License Agreement . The MonoSol License Agreement shall have been amended in accordance with
the terms on Schedule 4.01(f) .

(t)      Reserved .

(u)      Closing Consents . The Seller shall have obtained, and delivered a copy to Purchaser,  all of the consents set
forth on Schedule 4.01(h) .

Section 4.02      Conditions to Obligation of Seller . The obligation of Seller to, and to cause its Affiliates
to, effect the closing of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction (or written waiver by Seller) as of the Closing of the following
conditions:

(e)      No Injunctions  or  Restraints .  No Law,  temporary  restraining  order,  preliminary  or  permanent  injunction  or
other order enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or other legal restraint
or  prohibition  by  a  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  shall  be  pending  or  in  effect  seeking  to  prevent  or  preventing  the
Acquisition.

(f)      Accuracy of Representations and Warranties . All of the representations and warranties made by Purchaser in
Article VII that are qualified by any materiality qualifications shall each be true and correct as of the Closing Date as though such
representations and warranties  were made at  such date  (except  that  any representations and warranties  that  are  made only as  of  a
specified date shall be true and correct only as of such date), and all other representations and warranties of the Purchaser shall each
be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made at such
date (except that any representations and warranties that are made only as of a specified date shall be true and correct only as of such
date).

(g)      Performance of Covenants .  The covenants  and obligations  that  Purchaser  is  required to perform or comply
with  under  this  Agreement  on  or  before  the  Closing  Date  shall  have  been  duly  performed  and  complied  with  by  Purchaser  in  all
material respects.

(h)      Deliverables . Purchaser shall have made delivery to Seller of all other instruments and documents set forth in
Section  3.01(b) ,  and  other  than  any  instruments  and  documents  set  forth  in Section  3.01(b) that  customarily  will  be  (and  are)
delivered at Closing.

Section 4.03      Frustration of Closing Conditions . Neither Purchaser nor Seller may rely on the failure of
any condition set forth in this Article IV to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such Party’s failure to act in good faith or to
comply with its obligations under Section 9.01 to cause the Closing to occur.

Article V      

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Except as set forth in the Schedules attached hereto, Seller hereby represents and warrants to Purchaser as follows:

Section 5.01      Organization; Authority .  Seller  is a corporation duly organized,  validly existing and in
good  standing  under  the  laws  of  the  State  of  Delaware.  Seller  has  the  requisite  corporate  power  and  authority  to  own,  lease  and
operate,  as  applicable,  the  Acquired  Assets.  The  Seller  has  all  of  the  requisite  corporate  power  and  authority  to  execute,  deliver,
perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Acquisition Documents to which it is, or is specified to be, a party and to
consummate  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  thereby.  All  acts  and  other  proceedings  required  to  be  taken  by  Seller  to
authorize  the  execution,  delivery  and  performance  of  this  Agreement  and  the  Other  Acquisition  Documents  to  which  it  is,  or  is
specified  to  be,  a  party  and to  consummate  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby and thereby have been duly  and properly  taken.
This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller and, assuming this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed



and  delivered  by  Purchaser,  constitutes,  and  the  Other  Acquisition  Documents  on  the  Closing  Date  will  be  duly  executed  and
delivered by Seller and upon the due authorization, execution and delivery by each other party to the Other Acquisition Documents
will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms, subject, as to
enforcement, to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally
and to  general  equitable  principles.  No other  proceeding  on the  part  of  the  Seller  is  necessary  to  authorize  this  Agreement  or  the
Other Acquisition Documents or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

Section 5.02      No Conflicts; Consents .

(f)      Except as set forth on Schedule 5.02 , the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Seller does
not, and the execution, delivery and performance by Seller of each Other Acquisition Document to which it is, or is specified to be, a
party will not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance with the terms hereof and
thereof will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give
rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation, or give rise to any liability of Purchaser, or result in the
creation of any Lien upon any of the Acquired Assets under, any provision of (i) Seller’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws , (ii)
any Contract to which Seller is a party and by which any of the Acquired Assets are bound, (iii) any judgment, order, or decree, or,
subject to the matters referred to in Section 5.02(a) below, any Law applicable to Seller, its properties, the Acquired Assets or any
other assets of Seller, other than, in the case of clause (ii) above, any such items that would not be reasonably likely, individually or
in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of Seller to consummate the Acquisition.

(g)      No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
Governmental or Regulatory Authority or Third Party is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Seller in connection
with  the  execution,  delivery  and  performance  of  this  Agreement,  the  Other  Acquisition  Documents  or  the  consummation  of  the
transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  thereby,  other  than  such  consents,  approvals,  licenses,  permits,  orders,  authorizations,
registrations, declarations and filings the absence of which, or the failure to make which, individually or in the aggregate, (i) would
not  be  reasonably  likely  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  the  ability  of  Seller  to  consummate  the  Acquisition  or  perform  its
obligations under this Agreement or the Other Acquisition Documents, and (ii) would not give rise to any liability of Purchaser as a
result of the consummation of the Acquisition.

Section 5.03      Acquired Assets.

(a)      Except as set forth in Schedule 5.03 , the Acquired Assets and the Licensed Intellectual Property constitute all
of the assets, rights or property (other than (x) any intellectual property that are licenses for commercial “off-the-shelf” or “shrink-
wrap” software, and (y) administrative, finance and other infrastructure and back office information technology systems, networks
and software), owned or used by Seller or its Affiliates and primarily related to the Intended Use of the Product in the Territory.

(b)      The Seller owns, leases, licenses or has the right to use the Acquired Assets and Licensed Intellectual Property
free and clear of all Liens and upon the consummation of the Acquisition, the Purchaser shall acquire good and marketable title to,
and all right, title and interests of Seller in and to, the Acquired Assets and Licensed Intellectual Property, free and clear of all Liens.
The Seller has the exclusive license rights to the Licensed Intellectual Property, with the right to further convey such rights to the
Purchaser. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.03 , the Acquired Assets include all of the assets necessary for the Intended Use of the
Product in the Territory by the Purchaser, and there are no other assets (tangible or intangible) used by Seller or its Affiliates for the
Intended Use of the Product in the Territory, other than those assets included in the Acquired Assets.

Section 5.04      Intellectual Property .

(a)      Seller  owns  free  and  clear  of  all  Liens  the  Transferred  Intellectual  Property  and  the  consummation  of  the
Acquisition will not conflict with, alter or impair any such rights in any material respect.

(b)      As  of  the  date  hereof,  no  claims  are  pending  before  any  court,  arbitrator  or  other  tribunal,  or  before  any
administrative law judge, hearing officer or administrative agency or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened in writing, against Seller or
any  of  its  Affiliates  by  any  Third  Party  with  respect  to  the  ownership,  validity  or  enforceability  of  any  Transferred  Intellectual
Property or Licensed Intellectual Property.

(c)      Seller has not granted any options, licenses or agreements relating to the Transferred Intellectual Property or,
with respect to Zuplenz in the Territory, relating to the Licensed Intellectual Property, except non-exclusive implied licenses to end-
users in the ordinary course of business. As of the date hereof, Seller is not bound by or a party to any material options, licenses or
agreements of any kind for intellectual property of any Third Party relating to Zuplenz in the Territory, except for the Transferred
Contracts.



(d)      To Seller’s Knowledge, no Third Party is infringing or violating or misappropriating any of the Transferred
Intellectual  Property  or  any  Licensed  Intellectual  Property  exclusively  licensed  to  Seller,  or  has  made  any  claim of  ownership  or
right  to  any  Transferred  Intellectual  Property  or  such  Licensed  Intellectual  Property.  Seller  has  neither  asserted  nor  threatened  in
writing any action or claim against any Third Party involving or relating to any Transferred Intellectual Property or such Licensed
Intellectual Property. Seller has not received any written request from any Third Party that Seller enter into a license with respect to
any  Third  Party  intellectual  property  right  in  relation  to Zuplenz ,  the  Acquired  Assets  or  the  Intended  Use  of Zuplenz in  the
Territory.

(e)      To Seller’s  Knowledge,  the Intended Use of each of Zuplenz in the Territory does not infringe or violate or
constitute  a  misappropriation  of  any  intellectual  property  of  any  Third  Party.  Seller  has  not  received  any  written  claim  or  notice
alleging any such infringement, violation or misappropriation.

(f)      There is  no pending or,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,  threatened claim,  interference,  opposition or  demand of  any
Third Party challenging the ownership, validity or scope of any Transferred Intellectual Property.

Section 5.05      Transferred Contracts . Each Transferred Contract is valid, binding and in full force and
effect  and,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,  is  enforceable  by  Seller  in  accordance  with  its  terms,  subject  to  applicable  bankruptcy,
insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, general principles of
equity and the discretion of courts in granting equitable remedies. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.05 , as of the date hereof and as
of the Closing Date, Seller has performed in all material respects all material obligations required to be performed by it under the
Transferred  Contracts  and  is  not  (with  or  without  the  lapse  of  time  or  the  giving  of  notice,  or  both)  in  breach  or  default  in  any
material respect thereunder and, to Seller’s Knowledge, as of the date hereof, no other party to any of the Transferred Contracts is
(with or without the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both) in breach or default in any material respect thereunder. Correct and
complete  copies  of  each  Transferred  Contract  (including  all  modifications,  amendments  and  supplements  thereto  and  waivers
thereunder)  have  been  made  available  to  Purchaser.  There  are  no  material  disputes  pending  or  threatened  under  any  Transferred
Contract included in the Acquired Assets.

Section  5.06      Litigation .  As  of  the  date  hereof,  there  are  no  (a)  outstanding  judgments,  orders,
injunctions or decrees of any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or arbitration tribunal against Seller or any of its Subsidiaries,
(b) Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against Seller, or (c) investigations by any Governmental or
Regulatory Authority which are pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, which, in
the case of each of clauses (a), (b) and (c), relating to the Products or the Intended Use of Zuplenz in the Territory or the Acquired
Assets  and  have  had  or  would  be  reasonably  likely  to  be  material  and  adverse  to  the  Acquired  Assets,  or  the  ability  of  Seller  to
consummate the Acquisition and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Acquisition Documents.

Section 5.07      Brokers or Finders . Except for Mizuho Securities USA, Inc., no agent, broker, investment
banker, financial advisor or other firm or Person is or will be entitled to any broker’s, financial advisor’s, finder’s fee or any other
commission  or  similar  fee  in  connection  with  any  of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  the  Other  Acquisition
Documents based upon arrangement made by or on behalf of Seller or any of its Affiliates. For the avoidance of doubt, all fees due
to Mizuho Securities USA, Inc. in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Other Acquisition
Documents shall be payable by Seller.

Section 5.08      Tax Matters .

(a)      All Income Tax Returns and other material Tax Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of Seller have been
timely filed with the appropriate taxing authority in all jurisdictions in which such Tax Returns are required to be filed (after giving
effect to any valid extensions of time in which to make such filings), and all such Tax Returns are true, complete and correct in all
material respects; and all material amounts of Taxes payable by or on behalf of Seller have been paid.

(b)      Seller has not received written notice of any Tax deficiency outstanding, proposed or assessed nor has Seller
executed  or  waived  any  statute  of  limitations  in  respect  of  Taxes  nor  agreed  to  any  extension  of  time  with  respect  to  a  Tax
assessment deficiency. There is no ongoing or pending audit, action, suit, or administrative or judicial proceeding now pending or
threated in writing against or with respect to Seller by any Tax authority.

(c)      There  is  no  material  dispute  or  claim  concerning  any  Tax  liability  of  Seller  (A)  claimed  or  raised  by  any
authority  in  writing  or  (B)  as  to  which the  directors  and officers  of  Seller  have knowledge  based upon personal  contact  with  any
agent of such authority.

(d)      There are no Liens for Taxes other than Permitted Liens upon any of the Acquired Assets.



(e)      Seller is not a party to any Income Tax allocation or sharing agreement.

(f)      Seller  has  not  been  a  party  to  any  “reportable  transaction,”  as  defined  in  Code  §6707A(c)(1)  and  Treasury
Regulation §1.6011-4(b).

Section 5.09      Product Liability . There is no currently pending nor, to the Knowledge of the Seller, any
threatened action, suit, proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, recall or demand giving rise to any liability for
product liability, warranty, material back-charge, material additional work, field repair or other claims by any Third Party (whether
based on contract  or  tort  and whether  relating  to  personal  injury,  including  death,  property  damage or  economic  loss)  against  the
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to the Product in the Territory.  All services rendered in connection with the Product and
the sale of the Product by the Seller or its Subsidiaries have been in conformity with all applicable contractual commitments and all
express and implied warranties, and neither the Seller not its Subsidiaries has any liability (and there is no basis for any present or
future action, suit, proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand giving rise to any liability) for damages
in connection therewith.  The Product is not subject to any guaranty, warranty, or other indemnity beyond the Seller’s standard terms
and conditions of sale, a true, correct and complete copy of which has been delivered to Purchaser. To Seller’s Knowledge, no event
or circumstances have occurred that relate to the Product that would reasonably form the basis for a product liability claim.

Section  5.10      Inventory .  The  Inventory  consists  of  a  quality  and  quantity  usable  and  salable  in  the
ordinary  course  of  business  consistent  with  past  practice,  except  for  obsolete,  damaged,  defective  or  slow-moving  items  in
commercially  reasonable  amounts.  All  trade  inventories  of  the  Product  comprising  the  Inventory  have  the  expiration  dates  as  set
forth on Exhibit 2.01(a)(iv) . To Seller’s Knowledge, all of the Inventory is, as of the date hereof, free of defects (including defects
in  labeling,  packaging  and  storage)  and  systematic  or  chronic  problems  and  complies  in  all  material  respects  with  all  applicable
specifications and all applicable Law, including all regulatory requirements and environmental Laws, including cGMP, and may be
introduced into interstate commerce in the United States in accordance with applicable Law

Section 5.11      Compliance with Law . Seller is in compliance in all material respects with, and is not in
material violation or non-compliance with, nor has Seller or any of its Subsidiaries received any written notice of any violation or
non-compliance with, any applicable Law with respect to the Procut or the ownership or operation of the Acquired Assets.

Section 5.12      Permits . Schedule 5.12 sets forth a complete and accurate list of all Permits with or from
any Governmental or Regulatory Authority necessary for Seller or any of its Subsidiaries to own and operate the Acquired Assets

Section 5.13      Regulatory Matters .

(a)      The Product has been researched, developed, tested, manufactured, supplied, promoted, distributed, marketed,
commercialized, stored and sold, as applicable, by Seller and, to Seller’s Knowledge, by each other Person on behalf of Seller, in
compliance in all material respects with (i) all applicable Laws and (ii) all Permits.   The Product is not adulterated or misbranded
within the meaning of the FDA Act or any similar governmental act or Law of any jurisdiction.

(b)      Seller has made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of (i) each NDA submitted by or on behalf
of  Seller  to the FDA with respect  to the Product;  (ii)  all  other  material  document,  correspondence,  filing or  other  communication
submitted  to  a  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  or  the  Department  of  Justice  by  or  on  behalf  of  Seller  or  received  from a
Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  or  the  Department  of  Justice  by  or  on  behalf  of  Seller,  in  each  case,  with  respect  to  the
Product or the Acquired Assets; (iii) all material scientific, clinical and safety data of Seller with respect to the Product; and (iv) all
audit reports performed by Seller or on its behalf to assess Seller’s compliance with applicable Health Laws.

(c)      Seller  has  not  received,  nor  with  respect  to  the  Product  is  there  any  pending  or  outstanding:  (i)  Form  483
observations,  FDA  warning  letters  or  post-sale  warnings  or  other  regulatory  warning  letters  or  sanctions;  (ii)  inspectional
observations  or  establishment  inspection  reports  reciting  penalties  for  corrective  or  remedial  action  or  requiring  corrective  action
plans; (iii) field notifications or alerts; (iv) import alerts, holds or detentions; or (v) other documents that, in the case of each of the
preceding clauses (i) through (iv), have been received by Seller from the FDA or any other Governmental or Regulatory Authority
relating to the Product,  or  to Seller’s Knowledge,  any facility in which the Product is  manufactured,  packaged or stored,  and that
assert ongoing material lack of compliance with any such Laws by Seller.

(d)      Seller is not in violation of, and, to Seller’s Knowledge, Seller is not the subject of, any pending investigation
by a Governmental or Regulatory Authority regarding activities prohibited under, the U.S. Anti-Kickback Act (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-
7b(b),  et  seq.),  the  U.S.  Stark  Law  (42  U.S.C.  §  1395nn),  the  U.S.  False  Claims  Act  (31  U.S.C.  §  3729,  et  seq.),  the  Trade
Agreements Act (19 U.S.C. §§2501-2581) or any other Laws governing participation in United States healthcare programs, or any
comparable  state or foreign Laws.  There are no lawsuits,  actions or proceedings pending or,  to Seller’s  Knowledge,  threatened in
writing against Seller that would reasonably be expected to result in the exclusion of Seller from any third party payment program in



which they participate.

(e)      Seller has not received any written notice from the FDA or any other Governmental or Regulatory Authority
that  it  has  commenced,  and  to  Seller’s  Knowledge  neither  the  FDA  nor  any  other  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  has
threatened  to  commence,  any  action  to  withdraw  its  approval  or  request  the  recall  of  the  Product,  or  commenced,  or  to  Seller’s
Knowledge threatened to commence, any action to enjoin production at any facility at which the Product is manufactured.

(f)      Seller has not, and to Seller’s Knowledge, no director, officer, employee or agent of Seller has, committed an
act, made a statement, or failed to make a statement, that would reasonably be expected to provide a basis for any Governmental or
Regulatory  Authority  to  invoke  the  FDA  policy  respecting  “Fraud,  Untrue  Statements  of  Material  Facts,  Bribery  and  Illegal
Gratuities,” set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) or any similar policy, in each case as related to the Product or the
Acquired  Assets.  Seller,  and,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,  no  director,  officer,  employee  or  agent  of  Seller,  has  been  convicted  of  any
crime or engaged in any conduct for which debarment or similar punishment is mandated or permitted by 21 U.S.C. § 335a(a) or any
similar  Laws  or  authorized  by  21  U.S.C.  §  335a(b)  or  any  similar  Laws.  Seller  has  not,  and,  to  Seller’s  Knowledge,  no  director,
officer,  employee or  agent  of  Seller  has been,  convicted of  any crime or engaged in any conduct  for  which such Person could be
excluded from participating in the Federal health care programs under Section 1128 of the Social Security Act of 1935, as amended,
or any similar Laws.

(g)      The annual Prescription Drug User Fees for the Product due for all time periods prior to the Closing have been
timely paid by Seller in full when due.

Section 5.14      Solvency . Seller is not currently Insolvent and Seller shall not be rendered Insolvent by
any of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  the  Other  Ancillary  Documents.  Immediately  after  given  effect  to  the
consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement: (a) Seller shall be able to pay its Liabilities as they become due in
Seller’s  ordinary  course  of  business;  (b)  Seller  shall  not  have  unreasonable  small  capital  with  which  to  conduct  its  present  or
proposed business; and (c) Seller shall have assets (calculated at fair market value) that exceed its Liabilities.

Section  5.15      Financial  Statements .  Seller  has  made  available  to  Purchaser  all  material  financial
information  related  to  the  Product  and  the  Acquired  Assets  reasonably  requested  by  Purchaser.  Such  financial  information  was
derived from the books and records of Seller and was prepared by Seller in good faith and fairly presents, in all material respects, in
accordance with Seller’s accounting practices and procedures, financial information with respect to the Product as of the dates and
for the periods shown.

Section 5.16      Material Information . To Seller’s Knowledge, Seller has not omitted to furnish Purchaser
with  any  information  in  its  control  or  possession,  or  of  which  it  is  aware,  concerning  the  Product  or  the  Acquired  Assets  which
would, in Seller’s reasonable judgment, reasonably be material to Purchaser’s decision to enter into this Agreement.

Article VI      

COVENANTS OF SELLER

Seller hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

Section  6.01      Access .  From  the  date  hereof  until  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  give  Purchaser  and  its
representatives, employees, counsel and accountants reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance
notice,  to  the  Acquired  Assets  for  purposes  of  conducting  due  diligence  or  otherwise  in  connection  with  the  transactions
contemplated  hereby;  provided,  however,  that  such  access  (i)  does  not  unreasonably  disrupt  the  normal  operations  of  Seller  or  a
Third Party, (ii) would not reasonably be expected to violate any attorney-client privilege of Seller or violate any applicable Law,
and  (iii)  would  not  reasonably  be  expected  to  breach  any  duty  of  confidentiality  owed  to  any  Person  whether  the  duty  arises
contractually, statutorily or otherwise.

Section  6.02      Other  Covenants .  From  the  date  hereof  until  the  Closing,  the  Seller  shall  conduct  its
business with respect to the Product and the Acquired Assets in substantially the same manner as presently conducted and shall not,
prior  to  Closing,  solicit  or  fill  orders  for  the  Product  in  a  manner  inconsistent  with  past  practice,  and,  except  as  otherwise
contemplated by the terms of this Agreement or any Other Acquisition Document, Seller will not without the prior written consent of
Purchaser (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld):

(c)      except pursuant to existing Contracts, sell, assign, lease, license, transfer, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of,
or agree to sell, assign, lease, license, transfer, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, any of the Acquired Assets, or, with respect to
Zuplenz in the Territory, the Licensed Intellectual Property, or create Assumed Liabilities;



(d)      except  with  respect  to  the  MonoSol  License  Agreement  in  accordance  with Schedule  4.01(f) ,  amend,
terminate,  renew,  extend  or  waive  in  writing  any  right  under  any  Transferred  Contract  if  such  amendment,  termination,  renewal,
extension or waiver would adversely affect the rights to be transferred to Purchaser at the Closing; or

(e)      authorize, commit, or agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

Section 6.03      Payment of Indebtedness . On or prior to the Closing, Seller shall pay or cause to be paid,
in full, any Liabilities of Seller for monies due but not yet payable as of the Closing Date under the Transferred Contracts.

Section 6.04      Exclusivity . Seller agrees that, until the earlier of the Closing or the termination of this
Agreement, it will not, and will direct its agents and representatives not to, solicit, entertain, negotiate or consummate any inquiries
or proposals with respect to the sale or disposition of the Product, the Acquired Assets or any material rights thereto, other than the
sale of the finished Product in the ordinary course of business.

Section 6.05      Inventory . At the time of the Closing, all Inventory acquired by the Purchaser shall have a
shelf life of no less than 24 months from the date of Closing. If any Inventory has a shelf life of less than 24 months the Seller shall,
at its option, provide it to the Purchaser at no cost or provide Purchaser a replacement at no cost.

Section 6.06      SEC Reports . For a period of nine months following the Closing Date, promptly following
Purchaser’s  written  request  within  such  period,  Seller  and  its  Subsidiaries  will  cooperate  with  Purchaser  in  connection  with
Purchaser’s preparation of audited and unaudited financial statements relating to the Product and any “business” (within the meaning
of Item 3-05 and related Items of Regulation S-X under promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC
”))  attributable  to  the  Product  as  of  and  for  any  of  the  years  ended  in  the  three-year  period  ended  December  31,  2014  and  any
calendar  quarter  ended  prior  to  the  Closing  Date  as  may  be  necessary  to  enable  Purchaser  to  comply  with  applicable  financial
reporting  and  other  requirements  with  respect  to  reports  and  filings  with  the  SEC.  If  requested  by  Purchaser,  Seller  shall  engage
Seller’s  or  its  Subsidiaries’  independent  auditors,  at  Purchaser’s  sole  cost  and  expense,  to  audit  such  financial  statements  for  the
periods required by Regulation S-X of the SEC and to render an opinion on such financial statements. Seller will provide, if required
by Purchaser’s independent auditors, customary executed representation letters required to enable independent auditors to render an
opinion on audited financial statements. Seller shall request, and take reasonable steps to encourage, its and its Subsidiaries’ auditors
to  cooperate  with  Purchaser  and  its  auditors.  For  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  (i)  all  reasonable  and  documented  out-of-pocket  costs
incurred  by  Seller  and  its  Subsidiaries  in  performing  its  obligations  under  this Section  6.06 shall  be  the  sole  responsibility  of
Purchaser,  and  (ii)  Seller  and  its  Subsidiaries  shall  have  no  obligation  to  provide,  or  cause  any  Third  Party  to  provide,  any  such
information of any Third Party in performing its obligations under this Section 6.06 .

Section 6.07      Competing Product . Seller agrees that for the period commencing on the Closing Date and
ending  on  the  seventh  anniversary  of  the  Closing  Date,  neither  Seller  nor  its  Subsidiaries  will  directly  or  indirectly  sell,  market,
develop, distribute, manufacture or otherwise promote, including pursuant to a license, any Competing Product in the Territory, or
actively and knowingly assist any Third Party to do any of the foregoing.

Article VII      

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to Seller as follows:

Section 7.01      Authority . Purchaser is a public limited company duly organized, validly existing and in
good standing under the laws of the England and Wales. Purchaser has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute, deliver
and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Acquisition Documents to which it is, or is specified to be, a party
and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. All corporate acts and other proceedings required to be taken
by Purchaser to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Other Acquisition Documents to which
it is, or is specified to be, a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and properly
taken. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser and, assuming this Agreement has been duly authorized,
executed and delivered by Seller,  constitutes,  and the Other Acquisition Documents on the Closing Date will  be duly executed by
Purchaser,  and  upon  the  due  authorization,  execution  and  delivery  by  each  other  party  to  the  Other  Acquisition  Documents,  will
constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject, as
to enforcement, to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally
and to general equitable principles. No other proceeding on the part of the Purchaser is necessary to authorize this Agreement, the
Other Acquisition Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.



Section 7.02      No Conflicts; Consents .

(g)      The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Purchaser does not, and the execution, delivery
and performance  by Purchaser  of  each Other  Acquisition  Document  to  which it  is,  or  is  specified  to  be,  a  party  will  not,  and the
consummation  of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  thereby  and  compliance  with  the  terms  hereof  and  thereof  will  not,
conflict with, or result in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of
termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of
Purchaser under, any provision of (i) its articles of association, (ii) any Contract to which Purchaser is a party or by which any of its
properties or assets are bound, or (iii) any judgment, order, or decree, or, subject to the matters referred to in Section 7.02(a) below,
any  Law applicable  to  Purchaser,  its  properties  or  assets,  other  than,  in  the  case  of  clause  (i)  and  (ii)  above,  any  such  items  that
would not  be reasonably  likely,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  to  have a  Material  Adverse  Effect  on the ability  of  Purchaser  to
consummate the Acquisition.

(h)      No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  or  Third  Party  is  required  to  be  obtained  or  made  by  or  with  respect  to  Purchaser  in
connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Other Acquisition Documents or the consummation
of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  thereby,  other  than  such  consents,  approvals,  licenses,  permits,  orders,  authorizations,
registrations, declarations and filings the absence of which, or the failure to make which, individually or in the aggregate, (i) would
not be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Purchaser to consummate the Acquisition or perform its
obligations under this Agreement or the Other Acquisition Documents, and (ii) would not give rise to any liability of Seller or any of
its Affiliates as a result of the consummation of the Acquisition.

Section  7.03      Litigation .  As  of  the  date  hereof,  there  are  no  (a)  outstanding  judgments,  orders,
injunctions or decrees of any Governmental or Regulatory Authority or arbitration tribunal against Purchaser, (b) except as set forth
on Schedule  7.03(b )  of  the  Purchaser’s  disclosure  schedules,  lawsuits,  actions  or  proceedings  pending  or,  to  the  knowledge  of
Purchaser, threatened against Purchaser, or (c) investigations by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority which are pending or, to
the knowledge of Purchaser, threatened against Purchaser, which, in the case of each of clauses (a), (b) and (c), have had or would be
reasonably  likely  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  the  ability  of  Purchaser  to  consummate  the  Acquisition  and  the  other
transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Acquisition Documents.

Section 7.04      Availability of Funds . Purchaser has cash available or has existing committed borrowing
facilities, which together are sufficient to enable it to consummate the Acquisition.

Section 7.05      Brokers or Finders . Except for The Fulford Group, no agent, broker, investment banker,
financial  advisor  or  other  firm  or  Person  is  or  will  be  entitled  to  any  broker’s,  financial  advisor’s  or  finder’s  fee  or  any  other
commission  or  similar  fee  in  connection  with  any  of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  the  Other  Acquisition
Documents based upon arrangement made by or on behalf of Purchaser or any of its Affiliates. For the avoidance of doubt, all fees
due  to  The  Fulford  Group  in  connection  with  any  of  the  transactions  contemplated  by  this  Agreement  or  the  Other  Acquisition
Documents shall be payable by Purchaser.

Article VIII      

COVENANTS OF PURCHASER

Purchaser hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

Section 8.01      Advise Seller . Purchaser shall promptly advise Seller in writing of any change or event
occurring  between  the  date  hereof  and  the  Closing  Date  which  Purchaser  believes  (i)  would  be  reasonably  likely  to  result  in  the
failure  of  any  of  the  conditions  to  the  Closing  set  forth  in Article  IV to  be  satisfied  as  of  the  Closing  Date,  or  (ii)  would  be
reasonably likely, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Purchaser to consummate the
Acquisition or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Acquisition Documents.

Section 8.02      Section 8.02    Records .

(a)      Purchaser shall, from the Closing Date until the date that is five years following the Closing Date, keep full and
accurate books of all accounts and other records included within the Acquired Assets and make such books and records available for
inspection and copying by Seller or its agents, at its sole expense, upon reasonable request and upon reasonable notice.



(b)      Purchaser  shall,  from  the  Closing  Date  until  the  third  anniversary  of  the  end  of  the  Milestone  Period,  as
applicable, keep accurate books and records of all accounts and other records in sufficient detail so that any Net Sales Statement can
be  properly  and  fully  ascertained.  Purchaser  shall,  at  the  request  of  Seller,  permit  a  nationally  recognized  independent  certified
public accountant selected by Seller that is not at the time of selection serving as the independent registered public accounting firm
of Seller, and that is reasonably acceptable to Purchaser (the “ Independent Auditor ”), to have access during ordinary business hours
and upon no less than 30 days’ prior written notice, but on no more than one occasion per calendar year, to such books and records
as may be reasonably necessary to determine the accuracy of any Net Sales Statement. The Independent Auditor shall be bound by a
confidentiality  agreement,  in  a  form  reasonably  acceptable  to  Purchaser,  to  keep  all  information  acquired  from  Purchaser
confidential, and shall be permitted to disclose to Seller only whether any Net Sales Statement was accurate and the amount, if any,
owed to or by Seller pursuant to Section 3.03(a) . The Independent Auditor shall send a copy of its written reports to Purchaser at the
same time it is sent to Seller. Seller shall be responsible for the fees and expenses of the Independent Auditor, provided, however,
that  Purchaser  shall  reimburse  Seller  in  full  for  all  such  documented  costs  and  expenses  of  the  Independent  Auditor  if  the
Independent Auditor determines that the amounts paid pursuant to Section 3.03(a) are less than 98% of the amount actually owed
pursuant to the applicable Net Sales Statement. Section 8.03     DISCLAIMER

Section 8.03    Disclaimer .     PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT, EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN
ARTICLE V, SELLER MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS, EXTENDS NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS
OR  IMPLIED,  AND,  EXCEPT  AS  SET  FORTH  IN  ARTICLE  X,  ASSUMES  NO  RESPONSIBILITY  AFTER  CLOSING
WHATSOEVER IN RESPECT OF THE ACQUIRED ASSETS.

Article IX      

MUTUAL COVENANTS

Section 9.01      Efforts .

Subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  of  this  Agreement,  following  the  date  hereof,  each  Party  shall  use  its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Closing to occur as soon as practicable thereafter. Following the date hereof, each of
Seller and Purchaser shall  not,  and shall  not permit any of their respective Affiliates to, take any action that would, or that would
reasonably be expected to, result in any of the conditions set forth in Article IV not being satisfied. This Section 9.01 shall not, and
shall  not  be  deemed  to,  restrict  or  prohibit  Seller  or  Purchaser  in  any  way  whatsoever  from  exercising  any  and  all  rights  and
remedies  available  to  it  under  this  Agreement  or  any  of  the  Other  Acquisition  Documents.  Each  of  Seller  and  Purchaser  shall
cooperate  with  the  other  Party  and its  employees,  legal  counsel,  accountants  and other  representatives  and advisers  in  connection
with the steps required to be taken as part of their respective obligations under this Agreement; and each of them shall, at any time
and from time to time after the Closing, upon the reasonable request of the other, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to
be  done,  executed,  acknowledged  and  delivered,  all  such  further  acts,  deeds,  assignments,  transfers,  conveyances,  receipts,
acknowledgments, acceptances and assurances as may be reasonably required (without incurring unreimbursed expense) to satisfy
and  perform  the  obligations  of  such  party  hereunder,  and  to  allow  Purchaser  to  accomplish  the  Intended  Use  of Zuplenz in  the
Territory after the Closing.

Section 9.02      Bulk Transfer Laws . Purchaser acknowledges that Seller and its Affiliates will not comply
with  the  provisions  of  any so-called  “bulk  transfer  law” of  any jurisdiction  in  connection  with  the  sale  of  the  Acquired  Assets  to
Purchaser.

Section 9.03      Transfer Taxes . Seller, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, shall each be
responsible for 50% of all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes, applicable to the Acquisition
(such Taxes,  together  with any interest,  penalties  and additions thereto,  collectively,  “ Transfer  Taxes ”).  Each Party  shall  file  all
necessary Tax Returns and other documentation required to be filed by it under applicable Law with respect to all Transfer Taxes,
and, if required by applicable Law, the other Party will, and will cause its Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such Tax Returns
and  other  documentation.  Purchaser  and  Seller  shall  cooperate  in  providing  each  other  with  any  appropriate  resale  exemption
certifications  and  other  similar  documentation  required  to  obtain  any  exemption  from (or  reduction  in)  Transfer  Taxes,  and  shall
cooperate in taking any commercially reasonable steps permitted by applicable Law to minimize the Parties’ liability for Transfer
Taxes.

Section 9.04      Purchase Price Allocation .

(g)      The Parties agree that the Purchase Price and Assumed Liabilities shall be allocated among the Acquired Assets
sold by Seller and each of its Affiliates and purchased by Purchaser in a manner consistent with Section 1060 of the Code and the
Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder (and corresponding provisions of applicable foreign Law) (for the avoidance of doubt,



an allocation different from an allocation under Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder may
be required by applicable Tax Law or foreign Law to be taken for local country Tax or accounting purposes) and in accordance with
an allocation schedule set forth by Purchaser and delivered to Seller within ninety (90) days after Closing (the “ Allocation ”). Seller
shall have the right to review and raise any objections in writing to the Allocation during the thirty (30) day period after its receipt
thereof.  In the event  of  a disagreement  that  cannot  be resolved by the parties  discussing in good faith during such thirty (30) day
period,  a  nationally  recognized  independent  accounting  firm mutually  acceptable  to  Purchaser  and Seller  shall  settle  such  dispute
with the costs of such firm being borne equally by Seller and Purchaser.

(h)      Purchaser and Seller agree to (i) be bound by the Allocation for all U.S. federal income tax purposes, (ii) act in
accordance with the Allocation in the preparation of  all  U.S.  Tax Returns  (including filing Form 8594),  and (iii)  take no position
inconsistent with the Allocation for all U.S. Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law. In the event that any Taxing Authority
disputes the Allocation, Seller or Purchaser, as the case may be, shall promptly notify the other Party of the nature of such dispute
and consult with the other Party and keep such other Party reasonably apprised of material developments concerning the resolution
of such dispute.

Section 9.05      Recordation of Transferred Intellectual Property . Purchaser, at its sole cost and expense
shall be responsible for all applicable recordations of the assignment of the Transferred Intellectual Property. Seller agrees to execute
and  deliver  to  Purchaser,  within  a  reasonable  time  after  the  Closing,  such  assignments  and  other  documents,  certificates  and
instruments reasonably requested by Purchaser for Purchaser’s filing with the applicable registries and other recording authorities to
record the transfer of the Transferred Intellectual Property in accordance with applicable Law.

Section 9.06      Confidentiality and Confidential Information .

(a)      The terms of the Confidentiality Agreement are hereby incorporated in this Agreement as though fully set forth
herein and shall apply to any information provided by Seller or Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement. As used in this Section 9.06,
the  term  “Confidential  Information”  shall  have  the  meaning  assigned  to  that  term  in  the  Confidentiality  Agreement.  Upon  the
Closing, the Confidentiality Agreement shall expire and be of no further force and effect with respect to all Confidential Information
related  to  the  Product,  the  Acquired  Assets  or  the  Assumed  Liabilities;  provided,  however,  such  expiration  shall  in  no  such  way
prejudice or adversely affect Seller’s or Purchaser’s ability to seek damages, or any other remedy available to Seller or Purchaser, as
appropriate, with respect to a violation by such Party (or its Affiliates or representatives) of the Confidentiality Agreement prior to or
after the Closing Date. Upon and after the Closing Date, the Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect pursuant
to its terms with respect to all other Confidential Information that does not relate to the Product, the Acquired Assets or the Assumed
Liabilities.

(b)      From and after the Closing Date, all Confidential Information exclusively concerning the Product, the Acquired
Assets and the Assumed Liabilities (the “ Purchaser Proprietary Information ”) shall be used by Seller and its Affiliates solely as
required  to  perform  its  obligations,  exercise  or  enforce  its  rights  under  this  Agreement  (or  any  Other  Acquisition  Document),  to
comply with applicable Law, or as otherwise required by Seller in connection with disputes or matters concerning any Third Party
related solely to the period before the Closing Date (each a “ Permitted Purpose ”), and for no other purpose except as authorized by
Purchaser.  Seller shall  not disclose,  or permit the disclosure of any of the Purchaser Proprietary Information to any Person except
those Persons to whom such disclosure is necessary for a Permitted Purpose. Seller shall treat, and will cause its Affiliates and the
directors,  officers,  employees,  agents,  representatives  and  advisors  of  Seller  or  any  of  their  Affiliates  to  treat,  the  Purchaser
Proprietary Information as confidential, using the same degree of care as Seller normally employs to safeguard its own confidential
information from unauthorized use or disclosure, but in no event less than a reasonable degree of care.

(c)      All  Confidential  Information  obtained  by  Purchaser  (or  its  Affiliates  or  representatives)  from Seller  (or  its
Affiliates or representatives) other than the Purchaser Proprietary Information (the “ Seller Proprietary Information ”) shall be used
by  Purchaser  solely  as  required  to  perform  its  obligations,  exercise  or  enforce  its  rights  under  this  Agreement  (or  any  Other
Agreement), or comply with applicable Law, and for no other purpose. Purchaser shall not disclose, or permit the disclosure of, any
of the Seller Proprietary Information to any Person except those Persons to whom such disclosure is necessary to permit Purchasers
to perform its obligations, exercise or enforce its rights under this Agreement (or any Other Acquisition Document), or comply with
applicable Law. Purchaser shall treat, and will cause its Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives and
advisors of Purchaser or any of their Affiliates to treat, the Seller Proprietary Information as confidential, using the same degree of
care  as  Purchaser  normally  employs  to  safeguard  its  own confidential  information  from unauthorized  use  or  disclosure,  but  in  no
event less than a reasonable degree of care.

(d)      Either Party may be entitled to disclose the other Party’s Confidential Information (including Seller Proprietary
Information or Purchaser Proprietary Information, as applicable) that is requested or required to be disclosed to be disclosed (i) to or
by any Governmental or Regulatory Authorities; (ii) to comply with applicable Laws (including, without limitation, to comply with



SEC or any other stock exchange disclosure requirements), (iii) to comply with judicial process or an order of any Governmental or
Regulatory  Authority  of  competent  jurisdiction,  or  (iv)  to  defend or  prosecute  litigation;  provided,  however,  that  in  each case  the
Party required or requested to disclose such Confidential Information shall, to the extent legally permissible, use reasonable efforts
to notify the other Party in a timely manner so that the such Party may seek a protective order or other appropriate remedy of such
Confidential  Information,  to  the  extent  available,  or,  in  such  Party’s  sole  discretion,  waive  compliance  with  the  confidentiality
portion of this Agreement. Each Party will cooperate in all reasonable respects, in connection with any reasonable actions to be taken
for  the  foregoing  purpose;  provided  further  that  the  disclosing  Party  shall  only  disclose  the  portion  of  Confidential  Information
which such Party is advised by a reasoned opinion of counsel is legally required, and such Party exercise reasonable efforts to obtain
reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such Confidential Information.

(e)      This  obligations  set  forth  in  this Section 9.06 shall  survive  the  Closing  for  five  years  (the  “ Confidentiality
Period ”).  If  this  Agreement  is  terminated,  the  terms  of  the  Confidentiality  Agreement  shall  apply.  Upon  the  termination  of  the
Confidentiality Period, a receiving Party shall return to the disclosing Party or destroy all Confidential Information (other than the
Seller Proprietary Information or Purchaser Proprietary Information, as applicable) provided to it by the disclosing Party, including
all copies, notes and extracts thereof or other written records containing such Confidential Information, except for (x) one (1) copy
that it may keep in counsel’s secure files for the sole purpose of verifying its continuing confidentiality obligations hereunder, and
(y) archival copies residing on back-up tapes made by such party in the ordinary course of business; provided , that for the avoidance
of  doubt,  Purchaser  and  Seller  shall  not  be  obligated  hereby  to  return  or  destroy  any  Confidential  Information  that  constitutes
Purchaser Proprietary Information or Seller Proprietary Information, respectively.

Section 9.07      NDC, UPC, Excluded Trademarks and Seller Names .

(a)      Until the earlier of (i) 12 months following the Closing Date or (ii) Purchaser’s establishment of the Purchaser
NDC Numbers as set forth in Section 9.07(b) , Seller grants a fully paid, royalty free, non-exclusive right and license to Purchaser to
use the names and logos of Seller (the “ Seller Names ”), the Universal Product Code (“ UPC ”) for the Product, Seller’s National
Drug  Code  for  the  Product  (the  “ NDC ”),  and  the  Excluded  Trademarks  to  the  extent  necessary  to  allow  Purchaser  to  market,
distribute  and  sell  the  Products  in  the  Territory.  Seller  shall  not  discontinue  the  NDC  associated  with  the  Product  as  of  the  date
hereof, provided that, as soon as practicable following the Closing Date, but in no event more than 12 months thereafter, Purchaser
will  establish  a  new  NDC  number  (the  “ Purchaser  NDC  Number ”)  and  notify  Seller  thereof.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,
Purchaser  shall  be  permitted  to  continue  to  sell  the  Product  in  its  then  existing  inventory  with  the  former  NDC  Number  until
exhausted,  provided  further  that  Purchaser  shall  sell  all  inventory  bearing  Seller’s  NDC  Number  prior  to  selling  any  inventory
bearing Purchaser’s NDC Number.

(b)      In no event shall Purchaser use any Seller Names, UPC, NDC or Excluded Trademarks in any manner or for
any  purpose  different  from  the  use  of  such  Seller  Names,  UPC,  NDC  and  Excluded  Trademarks  by  Seller  and  its  Affiliates
immediately prior to the Closing Date to package, market, distribute and sell the Product in the Territory without the prior written
consent of Seller, and at all times shall comply in all material respects with Laws applicable thereto. Without limiting the foregoing,
Purchaser shall not: (i) take any action that may interfere with any of Seller’s rights in the Seller Names, UPC, NDC and Excluded
Trademarks;  (ii)  register  or  apply  for  registrations,  anywhere  in  the  world,  for  the  Seller  Names  or  Excluded  Trademarks  or  any
other similar  trademark;  or  (iii)  knowingly engage in any action which has the specific purpose or intent  of  disparagingthe Seller
Names or the Excluded Trademarks.

(c)      Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that this Agreement does not, and shall not, convey,
transfer  or  assign  any  right,  title  or  interest  in  any  trademark,  name  or  logo  of  any  Third  Party  or  to  Purchaser  in  any  Excluded
Trademark, Seller Names, or any other intellectual property of Seller except as specifically provided for herein.

Section 9.08      Channel Liabilities .

(a)      Returns. For the period from the Closing through twelve months thereafter, Seller shall bear the cost of returns
of any Product which Seller previously sold; provided, however, that such returns will be subject to the requirement that the Product
being  returned  shall  have  been  returned  in  compliance  with  Seller’s  standard  Healthcare  Distribution  Management  Association
return policy guidelines or have been accepted by Seller during such twelve month period. From and after such twelve month period,
Purchaser  shall  be  responsible  for  all  returns  of  the  Product;  provided,  however,  that  Purchaser  shall  not  be  responsible  for  any
downstream returns from end user customers or returns from wholesalers from Inventory existing as of the Closing that was sold by
the Seller prior to the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, Purchaser shall bear the cost of returns of all Product sold by or on
behalf  of  Purchaser.  Where  a  portion  of  a  production  lot  of  the  Product  is  sold  by  Seller  prior  to  the  Closing  and  the  remaining
portion of such production lot of the Product is sold by Purchaser following the Closing,  the liability for the return of any unit  of
Product of such production lot within the twelve month period referenced above shall be allocated to Seller and Purchaser based on
actual sales by either the buyer or the seller of the identified lots associated with such returns. All returns of Product following the



Closing  will  be  processed  by  Purchaser,  through  a  Purchaser-identified  third  party  logistics  provider.  During  the  twelve  month
period following the Closing Seller shall bear the cost of any returns for which it is responsible for and will reimburse Purchaser for
such costs associated with these returns.

(b)      Medicaid Rebates .

(i)      Seller shall bear the cost of a portion of Medicaid Rebates bearing the Seller’s NDC billed by applicable
Governmental or Regulatory Authorities with respect to the calendar quarter in which the Closing occurs, such portion to equal the
product of the aggregate amount of Medicaid Rebates billed by applicable Governmental or Regulatory Authorities with respect to
Product dispensed in such calendar quarter multiplied by a fraction, (i) the numerator of which is the total number of days from the
first day of such calendar quarter through the Closing, plus thirty (30) and (ii) the denominator of which is the total number of days
from the first day of such calendar quarter through the last day of such calendar quarter; provided, however, that Purchaser shall bear
the additional costs of any Medicaid Rebates payable by Seller with respect to such calendar quarter, to the extent the costs payable
as provided above exceed Seller’s historical Medicaid Rebates as a result of price increases or the setting of any new “best price” for
the Product established by the Purchaser with respect to such calendar quarter. The Purchaser shall bear the cost of the balance of
Medicaid  Rebates  billed  by  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authorities  with  respect  to  such  calendar  quarter  in  which  the  Closing
occurs,  and the cost of Medicaid Rebates billed by applicable Governmental  or Regulatory Authorities with respect to subsequent
time periods. For the avoidance of doubt, Seller shall be entitled to any and all federal and state Medicaid refunds, credits and other
adjustments  relating  to  the  sale  of  the  Product  dispensed on or  prior  to  the  Closing and Purchaser  shall  be  entitled  to  any and all
federal and state Medicaid refunds, credits and other adjustments relating to the sale of the Product dispensed after the Closing.

(ii)      Notwithstanding  any  other  provision  of  this  Agreement,  following  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  be
responsible for the administration of the Medicaid Rebate process for any products which bear the NDC associated with a Product as
of the date hereof and Purchaser shall be responsible for the administration of such process for any products which bear a Purchaser
NDC  Number.  Seller,  on  the  one  hand,  and  the  Purchaser,  on  the  other  hand,  shall  each  furnish  the  other  with  any  information
necessary for each party’s performance of its administrative responsibilities pursuant to this Section 9.08(c) in the form reasonably
requested by the other party, including, without limitation, applicable pricing information. For so long as Seller is responsible for the
administration  of  the  Medicaid  Rebate  process  for  the  Product,  the  Purchaser  shall  provide  Seller  with  the  necessary  information
within five days of the close of each calendar quarter in the form reasonably requested by Seller. Any fines associated with incorrect
or late information provided by Seller or the Purchaser to the other party under this Section 9.08(c) shall be reimbursed by Seller or
the Purchaser, as the case may be, to the other party.

(c)      Payment  Claims .  Seller  shall  bear  the  liability  for  any  Payment  Claims  arising  from  sales  of  Product  by
customers any time prior and up to sixty days following the Closing. The Purchaser shall bear the liability for any Payment Claims
arising from sales of Product by customers any time after 60 days following the Closing. However, each party shall be responsible
for  administration  and  payment  of  any  Payment  Claims  it  receives  subject  to  the  reconciliation  and  reimbursement  procedure  set
forth below. Seller, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, shall each furnish the other with any information necessary
for each party’s performance of its administrative responsibilities pursuant to this Section 9.08(d) in the form reasonably requested
by the other party, including, without limitation, applicable pricing information. Within 90 days following the Closing, each of Seller
and the Purchaser shall send the other an accounting of all payments it has made on Payment Claims which are the obligation of the
other party. Each party shall, within 30 days of receiving such accounting, reimburse the other party for such payments.

Section 9.09      Adverse Experience Reports . Within three Business Days after the Closing, Seller shall
provide Purchaser with copies of all adverse experiences in its or its Affiliates possession or control regarding the Product, since the
date  of  Seller’s  first  commercial  sale  of  any  Product  in  the  United  States.  After  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  submit  to  Purchaser  all
adverse  drug  experience  information  brought  to  the  attention  of  Seller  or  its  Affiliates  in  respect  of  the  Product,  as  well  as  any
material  events  and  matters  concerning  or  affecting  the  safety  of  the  Product.  Additionally,  after  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  assist
Purchaser with the provision of data relating to adverse experiences for the Product, for Purchaser’s preparation of its first Periodic
Adverse Drug Experience Report after the Closing. After the Closing, Purchaser shall have all  responsibility for investigating and
reporting adverse experiences for the Products,  and addressing any FDA or other Governmental  or Regulatory Authority inquiries
relating to the safety of the Product.  Purchaser shall  reimburse Seller for any and all  out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Seller in
connection with its assistance of Purchaser as provided in this Section 9.09 .

Section 9.10      Response to Medical Inquiries and Products Complaints . After the Closing, the Purchaser
shall assume all responsibility for responding to any medical inquiries or complaints about the Product. For a period of three months
from  the  Closing,  Seller  shall  provide  reasonable  assistance  in  responding  to  such  inquiries  or  complaints.  The  Purchaser  shall
reimburse  Seller  for  any  and  all  out-of-pocket  expenses  incurred  by  Seller  in  connection  with  its  assistance  of  the  Purchaser  as
provided in this Section 9.10 .



Section 9.11      Recall . Subject to the indemnification rights of each party as set forth in Article X hereof,
in the event that the Product is quarantined or recalled, or is subject to stop-sale action, whether voluntary or by governmental action,
it  is agreed and understood that any expenses, including reasonable fees of any experts or attorneys that may be utilized by either
party,  government  fines  or  penalties,  related  to  such  recall,  quarantine  or  stop-sale,  shall  be  borne  by  Purchaser  unless  it  is
determined  that  Seller  has  breached  its  obligations  under  this  Agreement  and  such  breach  is  a  significant  basis  upon  which  said
recall, quarantine or stop-sale was initiated, in which case such expenses shall be shared according to the relative responsibility of
each party. Said determination may be made by the Governmental or Regulatory Authority involved, or by mutual agreement of the
parties following examination and review of all records pertinent to the manufacture of the Product subject to such recall

Section 9.12      Post-Closing Orders and Payments .

(a)      From and  for  three  months  after  the  Closing  Date,  Seller  shall  promptly  deliver  to  Purchaser  any  purchase
orders for the Product received after the Closing, and refer all purchase inquiries it shall receive with respect to the Products in the
Territory (other than with respect to Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities), to Purchaser or its designee.

(b)      From and after the Closing, in the event Purchaser, on the one hand, makes a payment in respect of an Excluded
Liability,  or  Seller,  on  the  other  hand,  makes  a  payment  in  respect  of  an  Assumed  Liability  as  set  forth  in Section  2.02 of  this
Agreement,  which ultimately  is  determined to be the responsibility  of  the other  Party in accordance with Section 2.02 hereof, the
other  Party  shall  reimburse  the  Party  which  made  the  erroneous  payment  within  fifteen  (15)  days  after  the  receipt  of  an  invoice
containing supporting detail for such payment. In the event Purchaser, on the one hand, received a payment in respect of an Acquired
Asset, or Seller, on the other hand, receives a payment in respect of an asset of Seller which is not an Acquired Asset as set forth in
Section 2.01 of this Agreement, which ultimately is determined to be a receivable of the other Party in accordance with Section 2.0 1
hereof, the Party which received the erroneous payment shall remit such amount to the other Party within fifteen (15) days after the
receipt of such payment.

Section  9.13      Notification  of  Customers .  Seller  and  Purchaser  shall  jointly  notify  Seller’s  direct
customers  (including  wholesalers)  of  the  Product  after  the  Closing  Date  in  forms  of  letter  to  be  agreed  upon,  that  Purchaser  has
acquired and Seller has transferred the right to market, distribute and sell the Product in the Territory.

Section 9.14      Assistance with Purchaser Regulatory Filings; Transfer of NDAs .

(a)      For the period of time commencing on the Closing Date and ending six months after the Closing Date, Seller
shall provide reasonable assistance to Purchaser in its preparation and filing with the FDA of filings required to be filed by Purchaser
in  connection  with  the  Product  in  the  Territory,  including  without  limitation,  furnishing  a  letter(s)  from  Seller  to  the  FDA,  duly
executed by the Seller,  transferring the rights to the Transferred FDA Permits to the Purchaser once all regulatory files have been
transferred. To the extent that the next annual report with respect to any NDA is due more than six months from the Closing Date,
Seller shall also provide reasonable assistance to Purchaser in the preparation of such annual report. It is understood and agreed that
Purchaser, as the owner of the Product Registration for the Products, shall have the responsibility for all regulatory filings after the
Closing Date. Seller’s obligations pursuant to this Section 9.14 shall be limited to assistance with respect to matters and information
that are in the possession or control of Seller and not otherwise in the possession or control of Purchaser.

(b)      For the period from the Closing Date through six months thereafter,  Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser in
disclosing  and copying  any relevant  records  and reports  which  are  required  to  be  made,  maintained  and reported  pursuant  to  any
Governmental or Regulatory Authority or applicable Law in the Territory. The parties agree to use their reasonable efforts to take
any  other  actions  required  by  the  FDA  or  other  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  to  effect  the  transactions  contemplated
hereby. On the Closing Date, each of the parties hereto shall take any actions necessary to effect the transfer of the NDA and Permits
from Seller to Purchaser, including notices to the FDA or other Governmental or Regulatory Authority regarding such transfer from
Seller  to Purchaser  of the NDAs and Permits.  Except  as otherwise expressly provided for herein,  all  costs  related thereto shall  be
borne by Purchaser.

Section  9.15      Marketing  and  Reference  Materials .  Subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  of  Section
9.07(b),  if  applicable,  Seller  grants  to  Purchaser  a  non-exclusive  license  to  use,  reproduce  and  make  derivative  works  of  the
Marketing and Reference  Materials  in  the Territory  in connection with Purchaser’s  marketing,  use,  and sale  of  the Product  in the
Territory.

Section 9.16      Transitional Assistance . Seller, for a period of 120 days after the Closing Date, shall, at
Purchaser’s sole cost and expense, provide to Purchaser reasonable transitional assistance in connection with its sale of the Product
in  the  Territory;  provided,  however,  (i)  notwithstanding  anything  set  forth  in  Section  9.14(b),  any  costs  in  connection  with  the
transfer of any NDA or Marketing Authorization Application to Purchaser shall be Seller’s sole cost and expense, and (ii) nothing



contained  herein  shall  require  Seller  to  maintain  any  level  of  commercial  infrastructure  or  expertise  (other  than  regulatory)  post-
Closing  to  support  Purchaser,  including  without  limitation  with  respect  to  maintenance  of  field  support,  employees,  promotional
activities or managed care activities.

Article X      

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 10.01      Indemnification by Seller . From and after the Closing, Seller shall defend, indemnify and
hold harmless Purchaser, its Affiliates and their respective employees, agents, officers and directors (collectively, the “ Purchaser
Indemnitees ”),  from and  against  any  and  all  losses,  liabilities,  obligations,  claims,  fees  (including,  without  limitation,  reasonable
documented attorneys’ fees and documented fees of other professionals), expenses and lawsuits (“ Losses ”) suffered or incurred by
any Purchaser Indemnitee to the extent arising from or relating to any of the following:

(a)      the  breach  of  any  representation  or  warranty  of  Seller  contained  in  this  Agreement,  any  Other  Acquisition
Document or any certificate delivered hereunder;

(b)      the breach of or failure to comply with any covenant or obligation of Seller under this Agreement or any Other
Acquisition Document;

(c)      the Excluded Liabilities; and

(d)      Seller’s portion of the Transfer Taxes.

Section  10.02      Indemnification  by  Purchaser .  From  and  after  the  Closing,  Purchaser  shall  defend,
indemnify and hold harmless Seller, its Affiliates and their respective employees, agents, officers and directors (collectively, the “
Seller Indemnitees ”), from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred by any Seller Indemnitee to the extent arising from or
relating to any of the following:

(a)      the breach of any representation or warranty of Purchaser contained in this Agreement any Other Acquisition
Document or any certificate delivered hereunder;

(b)      the breach of or failure to comply with any covenant or obligation of Purchaser under this Agreement or any
Other Acquisition Document;

(c)      any Assumed Liability; and

(d)      Purchaser’s portion of the Transfer Taxes.

Section 10.03      Indemnification Procedure .

(i)      Procedures Relating to Indemnification for Third Party Claims . In order to receive the benefits of the indemnity
under Section 10.01 or Section 10.02 , as applicable, in respect of, arising out of or involving a claim or demand made by any Third
Party (a “ Third Party Claim ”) against  a Purchaser  Indemnitee  or Seller  Indemnitee (either,  an “ Indemnitee ”),  such Indemnitee
must:

(i)      give  the  indemnifying  Party  (the  “ Indemnitor ”)  written  notice  describing  the  matter  in  reasonable
detail, including the nature of any claim or potential claim, promptly after the Indemnitee receives notice thereof; provided
that failure of the Indemnitee to provide such notice shall not constitute a waiver of, or result in the loss of, such Party’s right
to indemnification under this Agreement, except to the extent that the Indemnitor’s rights, and/or its ability to defend against
or settle such claim or potential claim, are materially prejudiced by such failure to notify;

(ii)      allow  the  Indemnitor  to  assume  the  control  of  the  defense  or  settlement  with  counsel  of  its  choice
reasonable satisfactory to the Indemnitee, provided that (A) settlement of, or an adverse judgment with respect to, the Third
Party  Claim  shall  not  include  any  admission  or  ongoing  obligation  or  restriction  on  the  part  of  the  Indemnitee,  and  with
respect to indemnification by the Seller, such settlement may not adversely affect the rights of the Purchaser with respect to
the Acquired Assets (including the Product) or the Assumed Liabilities without the Purchaser’s prior written consent, and (B)
the Third Party Claim involves only monetary damages (which amount shall be fully indemnified by the Indemnitor); and

(iii)      reasonably  cooperate  with  the  Indemnitor  in  its  defense  of  the  claim (including,  without  limitation,



making  documents  and  records  available  for  review  and  copying  and  making  persons  within  the  Indemnitee’s  control
available  for  pertinent  interview and testimony),  so  long  as  such cooperation  does  not  vitiate  any legal  privilege  to  which
such Indemnitee is entitled.

If the Indemnitor defends the Third Party Claim, the Indemnitee may at its expense and using attorneys of its choice, participate in,
but shall  not have any control of,  the defense of such claim. The Indemnitor shall  have no liability under this Article X as to any
claim  for  which  settlement  or  compromise  of  such  claim,  or  an  offer  of  settlement  or  compromise  of  such  claim,  is  made  by  an
Indemnitee  without  the  prior  written  consent  of  the  Indemnitor,  which  consent  shall  not  be  unreasonably  withheld,  delayed  or
conditioned.

Section  10.04      Procedures  Related  to  Indemnification  for  Other  Claims .  An  Indemnitee  seeking
indemnification under Section 10.01 or Section 10.02, as  applicable,  that  does  not  involve  a  Third  Party  Claim  shall,  as  soon  as
reasonably  practicable  after  receipt  deliver  to  the  Indemnitor,  written  notice  (a  “ Direct  Claim Notice ”)  describing  in  reasonable
detail  the  facts  giving  rise  to  the  indemnification  claim  to  the  extent  then  known,  provided,  however,  that  the  failure  by  any
Indemnitee  to  so  notify  the  Indemnitor  shall  not  relieve  the  Indemnitor  from any  liability  which  it  may  have  to  such  Indemnitee
under Section 10.01 or Section 10.02 , as applicable, except to the extent that the Indemnitor has been materially prejudiced by such
failure. The Indemnitor shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of a Direct Claim Notice to (i) agree to the amount set forth in the
Direct Claim Notice and pay such amount to such Indemnitee in immediately available funds or (ii) provide such Indemnitee with
written  notice  that  it  disputes  its  obligation  to  provide  the  indemnification  sought  in  the  Direct  Claim Notice  (a  “ Claim Dispute
Notice ”).  If  the  Indemnitor  does  not  notify  the  Indemnitee  within  forty-five  (45)  days  following  its  receipt  of  such  notice  that
Indemnitor disputes its liability to the Indemnitee with respect to such claim, such claim specified in the Direct Claim Notice shall be
conclusively  deemed  a  liability  of  the  Indemnitor.  If  the  Indemnitor  delivers  a  Claim  Dispute  Notice,  the  Indemnitee  and  the
Indemnitor shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the matter. In the event that the controversy is not resolved within 20 Business
Days after the giving of the Claim Dispute Notice, the parties thereafter may pursue any and all available remedies at law (subject to
the limitations and conditions provided in this Agreement).

Section  10.05      Losses  Net  of  Insurance,  Tax  Benefits .  The  amount  of  any  Loss  for  which
indemnification is provided under this Article X shall be net of any amounts recovered by the Indemnitee under insurance policies or
in respect of any indemnity or contribution with respect to such Loss; provided that in no event shall any indemnification payment
be  delayed  in  anticipation  of  the  receipt  of  any  such  insurance  proceeds,  and  provided  further,  that  in  the  event  a  portion  of
indemnification payment is made with respect to which proceeds are later received, the Indemnitee shall promptly remit payment to
the Indemnitor with respect to that portion of such payment which is later covered.

Section 10.06      Limitation on Indemnification .

(d)      Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (i) Seller shall not have any liability under Section 10.01(a) ,
unless the aggregate of all Losses for which Seller would be liable under Section 10.01(a) exceeds on a cumulative basis, an amount
equal to $25,000 (the “ Deductible Amount ”), and then only to the extent of any such excess, (ii) Seller’s aggregate liability under
Section 10.01(a) and (b) shall in no event exceed, on a cumulative basis, the Seller Liability Cap, provided, however, that there shall
be no cap on Seller’s  liability  for  Losses  under Sections 10.01(c)  and (d ),  (iii)  the  Purchaser’s  aggregate  liability  under Sections
10.02(a) and (b) shall in no event exceed, on a cumulative basis, the Purchaser Liability Cap; provided, however that there shall be
no cap on the Purchaser’s liability for Losses under Section 10.02(c) and (d) .

(e)      Following  the  Closing,  the  Parties’  rights  to  indemnification  pursuant  to  this Article  X shall,  except  for
equitable relief and specific performance of covenants that survive Closing, be the sole and exclusive remedy available to the parties
with respect to any matter arising under or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, other than for
claims of  intentional  misrepresentation or  fraud.  Each  Party  hereby waives,  from and after  the  Closing  Date,  to  the  fullest  extent
permitted under applicable Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of action it or any of its Affiliates may have against the other
Party and its Affiliates arising under or based upon this Agreement, the Other Acquisition Documents, any document or certificate
delivered in connection herewith, the Product,  the Acquisition, the Acquired Assets, the Excluded Assets, the Excluded Liabilities
and the  Assumed Liabilities,  or  any federal,  state,  local  or  foreign  statute,  law,  ordinance,  rule  or  regulation  or  otherwise  (except
pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article X ).

(f)      NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION HEREIN, NEITHER SELLER NOR PURCHASER SHALL IN
ANY  EVENT  BE  LIABLE  TO  THE  OTHER  PARTY  OR  ANY  INDEMNITEE  ON  ACCOUNT  OF  ANY  INDEMNITY
OBLIGATION SET FORTH IN SECTION 10.01 OR SECTION 10.02 FOR ANY INDIRECT,  CONSEQUENTIAL,  SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES (EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THE PARTY OR INDEMNITEE IS REQUIRED TO
PAY SUCH TYPES OF DAMAGES TO A THIRD PARTY), INCLUDING LOSS OF FUTURE REVENUE OR INCOME, LOSS
OF  BUSINESS  REPUTATION  OR  OPPORTUNITY  RELATING  TO  THE  BREACH  OR  ALLEGED  BREACH  OF  THIS



AGREEMENT, OR DIMINUTION OF VALUE OR ANY DAMAGES BASED ON ANY TYPE OF MULTIPLE.

Section 10.07      Termination of Indemnification .

(d)      The obligations  to indemnify and hold harmless  an Indemnitee  pursuant  to (i) Section 10.01(a) and Section
10.02(a) , shall terminate when the applicable representation or warranty terminates pursuant to Section 10.07(b) below, and (ii) the
other clauses of Section 10.01 and Section 10.02 , shall survive and remain in full force for the applicable periods described therein
or, if no such period is specified, indefinitely; provided, however, that for the avoidance of doubt, there shall be no time limit, other
than applicable statute of limitations, for indemnification claims brought by Seller arising from Section 10.02(c) and by Purchaser
arising from Section 10.03(c) ; provided further , however , that as to foregoing clause (i) such obligations to indemnify and hold
harmless shall not terminate with respect to any item as to which the Indemnitee or the related Party thereto shall have, before the
expiration  of  the applicable  period,  previously  made a  claim by delivering  a notice  of  such claim (stating in  reasonable  detail  the
basis of such claim) to the Indemnitor.

(e)      The representations and warranties of Seller contained in Article V shall survive the Closing solely for purposes
of Section 10.01(a) and shall terminate at the close of business on the 12-month anniversary following the Closing Date (other than
with respect to those representations and warranties of Seller contained in Section 5.01 , Section 5.02 , and Section 5.03(b) , which
shall survive indefinitely, and those representations and warranties contained in Section 5.08 , which shall survive the Closing Date
and expire 60 days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations), and the representations and warranties of Purchaser
contained  in Article  VII shall  survive  the  Closing  solely  for  purposes  of Section  10.02(a) ,  and  shall  terminate  at  the  close  of
business on the 12 month anniversary following the Closing Date (other than with respect to those representations and warranties of
Purchaser contained in Section 7.01 , Section 7.02 and Section 7.05 , which shall survive indefinitely).

Section 10.08      Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments . For all Tax purposes, each of Purchaser,
Seller and their respective Affiliates agrees to treat any indemnity payment under this Agreement as an adjustment to the Purchase
Price received by Seller for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement unless a final determination (as defined in Section 1313
of the Code) provides otherwise.

Section 10.09      No Setoff . Purchaser shall not, and shall have no right to, setoff any Losses suffered by
Purchaser or any Purchaser Indemnitee against any Net Sales Milestone or any payments to be made by Purchaser to Seller under
this Agreement or any of the Other Acquisition Documents.

Section 10.10      No Double Recovery . Neither Party shall be entitled to recover the same or duplicative
damages  with  respect  to  the same breach from the other  Party  under  more  than one of  this  Agreement  and the  Other  Acquisition
Documents. For the purposes of this 0 , each Party shall be deemed to have made and received all payments made and received by its
Affiliates.

Article XI      

TERMINATION

Section  11.01      Termination .  This  Agreement  may  be  terminated  and  the  transactions  contemplated
hereby abandoned by:

(e)      mutual written consent of Seller and Purchaser;

(f)      by Seller or Purchaser if the Closing does not occur on or prior to December 24, 2015 (the “ Termination Date
”);

(g)      Purchaser, if there has been a material breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty,
covenant  or  agreement  made  by  Seller  pursuant  to  this  Agreement  and  such  breach,  inaccuracy  or  failure  has  not  been  cured  by
Seller  within  30 days  of  Purchaser’s  receipt  of  written  notice  of  such breach,  inaccuracy  or  failure  from Purchaser; provided that
there is not then a material breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by
Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement;

(h)      Seller,  if  there has been a material  breach,  inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation,  warranty,
covenant or agreement made by Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement and such breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by
Purchaser  within  30 days  of  Purchaser’s  receipt  of  written  notice  of  such breach,  inaccuracy  or  failure  from Seller; provided that
there is not then a material breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by
Seller pursuant to this Agreement;



(i)      Seller, if any of the conditions set forth in Section 4.02 shall not have been, or if it becomes reasonably apparent
that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Termination Date, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Seller to
perform or comply with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the
Closing;

(j)      Purchaser,  if  any of the conditions set  forth in Section 4.01 shall  not have been, or if  it  becomes reasonably
apparent that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by the Termination Date, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of
Purchaser to perform or comply with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it
prior to the Closing; or

(k)      either Party, if the Closing does not occur on or prior to the Termination Date, provided , however , that the
Party seeking termination is not in breach in any material respect of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements
contained in this Agreement.

Section 11.02      Section 11.02      Return of Confidential Information

(j)      Purchaser shall return to Seller all documents and other material received by Purchaser, its Affiliates and their
respective  representatives  from  Seller,  any  of  its  Affiliates  or  any  of  their  respective  Affiliates  or  representatives  relating  to  the
transactions contemplated hereby and by the Other Acquisition Documents, whether so obtained before or after the execution hereof,
to Seller; and

(k)      All  confidential  information  received  by  Purchaser,  its  Affiliates  and  their  respective  representatives  with
respect to Seller, any of its Affiliate or any of their respective Affiliates and the Acquired Assets shall be treated in accordance with
the Confidentiality Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement.

Section 11.03      Effect of Termination . In the event of termination by Seller or Purchaser pursuant to this
Article XI , written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the other Party and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
shall be terminated, without further action by either Party

Article XII      

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.01      Assignment . Except as otherwise expressly permitted by this Agreement, neither Party
shall  assign or otherwise transfer this Agreement or any interest  herein or right hereunder without the prior written consent of the
other Party, and any such purported assignment, transfer or attempt to assign or transfer any interest herein or right hereunder shall
be void and of no effect; provided, however, that, (i) Purchaser may, without such consent, assign its rights to purchase the Acquired
Assets hereunder, in whole or in part, to one or more of its Affiliates, provided that no such assignment shall relieve the Purchaser of
any of its obligations hereunder,  and (ii)  following the Closing,  either Party shall  have the right,  without such consent,  on written
notice to the other Party, to assign all of its rights and obligations hereunder to a successor to all or substantially all of such Party’s
business or assets, or to a successor of that portion of such Party’s business to which this Agreement relates, in each case whether by
way of merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or other similar transaction (or series of related transactions); provided, further, that in the
case of an assignment by Purchaser in the foregoing cases, Purchaser shall provide notice to Seller containing the name and contact
information of the assignee, and any assignee shall expressly agree to assume Purchaser’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement,
including, the applicable payment obligations under Section 3.01(d) . Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement will be binding upon
and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 12.02      Non-Waiver . Any failure on the part of a Party to enforce at any time or for any period of
time any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be deemed or construed to be a waiver of such provisions or of any right of
such Party thereafter to enforce each and every such provision on any succeeding occasion or breach thereof.

Section 12.03      No Third-Party Beneficiaries . This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties and
their successors and permitted assigns and the Indemnitees, and nothing herein express or implied shall give or be construed to give
to any Person, other than the Parties and such successors and permitted assigns and the Indemnitees,  any legal or equitable rights
hereunder.

Section  12.04      Severability .  If  any  term  or  other  provision  of  this  Agreement  is  determined  to  be
invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law or public policy, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement
shall remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so



as to give effect to the original intent of the Parties to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law.

Section 12.05      Entire Agreement; Amendments . This Agreement, together with the Other Acquisition
Documents  and  the  Confidentiality  Agreement  (in  each  case,  following  execution  and  delivery  thereof),  contains  the  entire
understanding of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersedes all previous and contemporaneous
verbal and written understandings, agreements, representations and warranties with respect to such subject matter or on which the
Parties may have relied. This Agreement may not be amended, supplemented or modified except by an instrument in writing signed
on behalf of each Party. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the waiver is in writing and signed by
the waiving Party.

Section 12.06      Notices . Unless otherwise explicitly set forth herein, any notice required or permitted to
be given hereunder  shall  be in  writing and shall  be deemed properly  delivered,  given and received:  (a)  if  delivered personally  by
hand, when delivered; (b) if sent by electronic mail or other electronic transmission, upon delivery; (c) if sent by registered, certified
or  first  class  mail,  at  5:00  p.m.,  New  York  City  time,  on  the  third  Business  Day  after  being  sent;  and  (d)  if  sent  by  reputable
overnight courier, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, one Business Day after being sent, in each case to the addresses of each Party
set forth below or to such other address or addresses as shall be designated in writing in the same matter:

(h)      If to Purchaser:

Midatech Pharma PLC
65 Innovation Drive
Milton Park, Abingdon
Oxfordshire OX14 4RQ
United Kingdom
Attn: Nick Robbins-Cherry
Telephone: +44 1235 841 575
Email: nickrc@midatechpharma.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Brown Rudnick LLP
8 Clifford Street
London W1S 2LQ
United Kingdom
Attn: Tim Matthews
Facsimile: 020 7851 6100
Telephone: 020 7851 6126
Email: tmatthews@brownrudnick.com

and

Brown Rudnick LLP
One Financial Center
Boston, Massachusetts 02110
United States of America
Attn: Sam Williams
Facsimile: 617-289-0440
Telephone: 617-856-8200
Email: swilliams@brownrudnick.com 
(i)      If to Seller:

Galena Biopharma, Inc. 
2000 Crow Canyon Place, Suite 380 
San Ramon, CA 94583 
Attention:    Chief Executive Officer 
Facsimile:    855-883-7422
Email: mwschwartz@galenbiopharma.com



with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Fredrikson & Byron, P.A. 
200 South Sixth Street, Suite 4000 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
Attention:    Christopher J. Melsha 
Facsimile:    (612) 492-7077
Email: cmelsha@fredlaw.com

Section 12.07      Public Announcements ; Registration and Filing of this Agreement.

(a)     Neither  Party  shall  make  any  public  announcement  regarding  this  Agreement,  or  the  subject  matter
contained herein, without the prior written consent of the other Party (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or  delayed  by  such  other  Party),  except  to  the  extent  required  to  be  disclosed  (i)  to  or  by  any  Governmental  or  Regulatory
Authorities;  (ii)  to  comply  with  applicable  Laws  or  the  requirements  of  any  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  (including,
without  limitation,  to  comply  with  SEC,  the  United  Kingdom  Financial  Conduct  Authority  or  stock  exchange  (including  the
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, the London Stock Exchange plc and the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange plc) disclosure
requirements),  or  (iii)  to  comply  with  judicial  process  or  an  order  of  any  Governmental  or  Regulatory  Authority  of  competent
jurisdiction; provided, however, that in each case the Party required to disclose such information shall use its reasonable best efforts
to give the other Party reasonable advance notice and review of any such disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties shall
coordinate on a mutually acceptable joint press release to be issued by each of the Parties in connection with the execution of this
Agreement.

(b)    To the extent, if any, that either Party concludes in good faith that it or the other Party is required to file
or register this Agreement or a notification thereof with any Governmental or Regulatory Authority including, without limitation, the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, in accordance with law, such Party shall inform the other Party thereof. The Parties shall
cooperate, each at its own expense, in such filing, registration or notification and shall execute all documents reasonably required in
connection  therewith.  In  such  filing,  registration  or  notification,  the  Parties  shall  request  confidential  treatment  of  any  sensitive
provisions  of  this  Agreement,  to  the  extent  permitted  by  law.  The  Parties  shall  promptly  inform each  other  as  to  the  activities  or
inquiries of any such Governmental or Regulatory Authority relating to this Agreement, and shall reasonably cooperate to respond to
any request for further information therefrom on a timely basis.

Section  12.08      Governing  Law;  Forum .  This  Agreement  will  be  governed  by  and  construed  in
accordance  with  the  laws  of  the  State  of  Delaware,  without  regard  to  the  principles  of  conflicts  of  law  thereof.  Any  judicial
proceeding brought with respect to this Agreement must be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware,
and, by execution and delivery of this Agreement, each Party (a) accepts, generally and unconditionally, the exclusive jurisdiction of
such courts and any related appellate court, and irrevocably agrees to be bound by any judgment rendered thereby in connection with
this Agreement,  and (b) irrevocably waives any objection it may now or hereafter have as to the venue of any such suit, action or
proceeding brought in such a court or that such court is an inconvenient forum.

Section  12.09      WAIVER  OF  JURY  TRIAL .  EACH  PARTY  ACKNOWLEDGES  AND  AGREES
THAT  ANY  CONTROVERSY  WHICH  MAY  ARISE  UNDER  THIS  AGREEMENT  OR  THE  OTHER  TRANSACTION
DOCUMENTS  IS  LIKELY  TO  INVOLVE  COMPLICATED  ISSUES  AND,  THEREFORE,  EACH  SUCH  PARTY
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT
OF  ANY  LEGAL  ACTION  ARISING  OUT  OF  OR  RELATING  TO  THIS  AGREEMENT,  THE  OTHER  TRANSACTION
DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY

Section 12.10      Expenses . Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, and
except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and
the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the Party incurring such costs or expenses.

Section 12.11      Relationship of the Parties . In making and performing this Agreement,  the Parties are
acting,  and intend to be treated,  as  independent  entities  and nothing contained in  this  Agreement  shall  be construed or  implied to
create  an  agency,  partnership,  joint  venture,  or  employer  and employee  relationship  between Seller  and  Purchaser  or  any  of  their
respective Affiliates. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, neither Party may act on behalf of the other Party, and neither
Party may make (or has any authority to make) any representation, warranty or commitment, whether express or implied, on behalf
of the other Party or incur any charges or expenses for or in the name of the other Party. No Party shall be liable for the act of any
other Party unless such act is expressly authorized in writing by both Parties. The relationship of the Parties under this Agreement is,
and is intended to be, one of independent contractors hereunder.
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Section 12.12      Counterparts . This Agreement shall become binding when any one or more counterparts
hereof,  individually  or  taken  together,  shall  bear  the  signatures  of  each  of  the  Parties.  This  Agreement  may  be  executed  in  any
number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original as against the Party whose signature appears thereon, but all of
which taken together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-
mail or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of
this Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Asset Purchase Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first
written above.

SELLER:

  

GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC.

/s/ Mark W. Schwartz 
Name: Mark W. Schwartz     
Title: President & Chief Executive Officer

PURCHASER:

  

MIDATECH PHARMA PLC

/s/ James N. Phillips

Name:    James N. Phillips

2246



Title:    Chief Executive Officer

[Signature page to Asset Purchase Agreement]



Exhibit 10.37

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASES

This Separation Agreement and Releases ("Separation Agreement") is made and entered into as of the 16 
th 

day of December,

2015, by and between Ryan Dunlap (hereinafter "Executive") and Galena Biopharma, Inc. ("GALENA"), a corporation organized

under the laws of the State of Delaware, and its affiliates (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Company").

WHEREAS,
Executive and GALENA are parties to an Employment Agreement dated as of May 1,  2014 (hereinafter,  the

"Employment Agreement");

WHEREAS,
Executive  and  Company  intend  to  settle  any  and  all  claims  that  Executive  may  have  against  Company  as  a

result  of any act,  occurrence,  decision, event or omission occurring at any time prior to the signing of this Separation Agreement,

including,  but  not  limited  to,  any  matter  or  fact  arising  out  of  Executive's  employment  with  GALENA,  compensation  during  the

employment, the termination of Executive's employment, or the events giving rise to the Employment Agreement or this Separation

Agreement;

WHEREAS,
the parties have had extensive negotiations concerning the terms and conditions of the Executive's  separation

arrangement from the Company, and they have agreed upon such terms and conditions as set forth in this Separation Agreement;

NOW,
THEREFORE,
in consideration of the severance payments and benefits, obligations and covenants all

contained herein, the parties agree as follows:
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1. Termination of Employment . Executive's  last  day of employment with the Company is December 31,

2015  (the  "Separation  Date")  and  after  that  date,  Executive  will  have  no  role  or  relationship  with  or  obligation  to  the  Company

except as set forth in this Separation Agreement.

2. Separation Agreement . Executive  understands  that  any payments  or  benefits  paid  or  granted  to

him pursuant to this Separation Agreement represent consideration for signing this Separation Agreement and are not salary, wages

or  benefits  to  which  Executive  was  already  entitled.  Executive  understands  that,  in  light  of  the  circumstances  surrounding  his

employment with the Company, the Company chose to terminate the Employment Agreement, but in consideration for Executive's

execution of this Separation Agreement, the Company has agreed to provide the Executive with payment and benefits in excess of

the  payments  and  benefits  described  in  the  Employment  Agreement  for  such  termination.  Executive  understands  that  he  will  not

receive any payments or benefits from the Company unless (a) he executes this Separation Agreement and does not revoke it within

the  time  period  permitted  herein,  and  (b)  he  complies  with  all  obligations  in  this  Separation  Agreement  and  does  not  breach  it.

Pursuant to the terms of this Separation Agreement, Executive will receive the following benefits:

a. Payment  of  Executive's  base  salary  for  the  period  from  December  16,  2015  through  the  Separation  Date,

which amounts to Eleven Thousand Six Hundred Eight-Seven Dollars and Fifty Cents ($11,687.50), less all

applicable taxes and withholdings;
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b. A lump sum severance payment of One Hundred Forty Thousand Two Hundred Fifty Dollars and No Cents

($140,250.00), less all applicable taxes and withholdings, to be made by no later than ten (10) business days

following the  execution  of  Exhibits  A  and  B  in  accordance  with  Section  9  of  this  Separation  Agreement

without any revocation having occurred;

c. A lump sum payment of Executive’s target bonus for 2015 of Eighty-Four Thousand One Hundred and Fifty

Dollars and No Cents ($84,150.00),  less applicable taxes and withholdings,  to be made by no later than ten

(10)  business  days  following the  execution  of  Exhibits  A  and  B  in  accordance  with  Section  9  of  this

Separation Agreement without any revocation having occurred;

d. In  the  event  Executive  elects  COBRA,  the  COBRA  continuation  premium  payments  will  be  made  by  the

Company  during  the  six  (6)  month  period  following  the  Separation  Date,  or  until  the  first  date  on  which

Executive is enrolled in another health insurance plan, whichever is sooner;

e. [A letter  of  reference  from GALENA's  CEO containing  language  to  be mutually  agreed upon by Executive

and the CEO;]

f. Payment for any accrued and unused PTO through May 1, 2015 ; and

g. A consulting agreement for a period of three (3) months after the Termination Date in the form as attached in

Exhibit C (the "Consulting Agreement").

3. Release of Claims by Executive . Executive and the Company intend to settle any and all claims

that Executive may have against the Company as a result of the hiring of
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Executive,  Executive's  employment,  Executive's  compensation  while  employed,  and  the  termination  of  Executive's  employment.

Executive agrees that in exchange for GALENA's promises in the Agreement and in exchange for the separation pay and benefits to

be paid to Executive as described in the Agreement, Executive, on behalf of Executive and Executive's heirs, successors and assigns,

hereby  releases  and  forever  discharges  the  Company,  its  predecessors,  successors,  and  assigns,  and  their  respective  boards  of

directors,  board  committees,  officers,  directors,  shareholders,  agents,  employees,  and  insurers  (the  "Released  Parties"),  from  all

liability for damages and from all claims that Executive may have against the Released Parties arising from or relating to the hiring

of Executive, Executive's compensation while employed, Executive's employment, the termination of Executive's employment, and

any other actions, decisions, alleged omissions, or events occurring on or prior to the signing of this Separation Agreement.

a. Executive  understands  and  agrees  that  Executive's  release  of  claims  in  this  Separation  Agreement  includes,

but is not limited to, any claims Executive may have under Title VII of the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964,

as  amended;  the  Americans  with  Disabilities  Act,  the  Equal  Pay  Act,  the  Fair  Labor  Standards  Act,  the

Employee Retirement and Income Security Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Family and

Medical Leave Act ; Oregon discrimination laws or any other federal, state, or local statute, ordinance, or law.

b. Executive also understands that Executive is giving up all other claims, whether grounded in contract or tort

theories, including, but not limited to, wrongful
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discharge, breach of contract, tortious interference with contractual relations, promissory estoppel, detrimental

reliance, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of express or implied promise,

breach  of  manuals  or  other  policies,  breach  of  fiduciary  duty,  assault,  battery,  fraud,  invasion  of  privacy,

intentional or negligent misrepresentation, defamation, including libel, slander, discharge defamation and self-

publication  defamation,  discharge  in  violation  of  public  policy,  whistleblower,  intentional  or  negligent

infliction of emotional distress, or any other theory, whether legal or equitable.

c. Executive will  not  institute any lawsuit  against  the Released Parties arising from or relating to the hiring of

Executive, Executive's employment, Executive's compensation while employed, the termination of Executive's

employment, or any other actions, decisions, alleged omissions, or events occurring prior to the signing of this

Separation Agreement.

d. To the extent required by law, nothing contained in this Separation Agreement will be interpreted to prevent

Executive  from  filing  a  charge  with  a  governmental  agency  or  participating  in  or  cooperating  with  an

investigation conducted by a governmental agency. However, Executive agrees that Executive is waiving the

right  to  any  monetary  damages  or  other  individual  legal  or  equitable  relief  awarded  as  a  result  of  any  such

proceeding related to any claim against the Released Parties arising from or relating to the hiring of Executive,

Executive's employment, Executive's compensation while
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employed, the termination of Executive's employment,  or any other actions, decisions, alleged omissions, or

events occurring on or prior to the signing of this Separation Agreement.

e. Notwithstanding  any  of  the  foregoing,  by  signing  this  Separation  Agreement,  Employee  does  not  waive

Employee's right to: (i) any rights or benefits Executive may have related to vested accrued benefits under the

terms  of  the  Company's  benefit  plans;  (b)  seek  benefits  under  applicable  workers'  compensation  and/or

unemployment  compensation  statutes;  (iii)  be  indemnified  by  the  Company  pursuant  to  the  terms  of  its

bylaws,  the  law  of  the  State  of  Delaware  and  Section  7  of  the  Employment  Agreement;  (iv)  pursue  claims

which by law cannot be waived by signing this Separation Agreement; (v) enforce this Separation Agreement;

and/or (f) challenge the validity of this Separation Agreement.

f. Executive expressly acknowledges that he has been given the opportunity to take twenty-one (21) days to review

this Separation Agreement before signing it, and that he has been advised to consult with an attorney before

signing it. Executive acknowledges that he understands that he may revoke this Separation Agreement, insofar

as it extends to potential claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA'') , by informing

the Company of Executive's intent to revoke his waiver of ADEA claims within seven (7) days following the

execution of this Separation Agreement, and that this Separation
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Agreement  is  not  effective  or  enforceable  until  that  seven-day  revocation  period  has  expired.  Executive

understands  that  any  such  revocation  must  be  stated  in  writing  and  delivered  by  hand  or  by  certified  mail-

return receipt requested to Ms. Stacey Delaney, Director of Human Resources, Galena Biopharma, Inc., 2000

Crow  Canyon  Place,  Suite  380,  San  Ramon,  CA  94583.  The  Company  and  Executive  agree  that  the

consideration  in  Section  2  of  this  Separation  Agreement  is  allocated  as  follows: $84,150.00 and  any  cash

payments  under  the  Consulting  Agreement  to  Executive's  waiver  of  ADEA  claims,  and  the  remainder  to

Executive's other obligations set forth in this Separation Agreement, including Executive's release of all other

claims released in this Separation Agreement. If Executive exercises this right to revoke or rescind his waiver

of ADEA claims, the Company shall have no obligation to provide the consideration allocated to Employee's

waiver of ADEA claims.

g. Executive agrees that,  if  he challenges the validity of this Separation Agreement,  he will  forfeit  all  amounts

payable  by  the  Company  under  this  Separation  Agreement.  Executive  also  agrees  that  if  he  violates  this

Separation Agreement by suing the Company or the other Released Parties, in the event that the Company is

the prevailing party,  Executive will  pay all  costs  and expenses of defending against  the suit  incurred by the

Released Parties,
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including reasonable attorneys' fees, and return all payments received by Executive on or after the Separation

Date.

h. Executive hereby acknowledges and states that Executive has read this Separation Agreement, this Separation

Agreement is written in language which is understandable to Executive, that Executive fully appreciates the

meaning of the terms of this Separation Agreement, and that Executive enters into this Separation Agreement

freely and voluntarily.

4. Release  of  Claims  by  Company . The  Company,  its  boards  of  directors,  board  committees,

officers,  directors,  shareholders,  agents,  and  employees  agree  and  forever  discharge  and  release  Executive,  his  heirs,  assign,

executors  and administrators  from any and all  claims,  actions,  causes  of  action,  grievances,  arbitrations,  suits,  proceedings,  debts,

controversies, agreements, attorney fees, judgments, demands, and damages whatsoever, in law or equity, known to the Company as

of December 16, 2015 and arising from or relating to any actions, decisions, alleged omissions, or events occurring on or prior to the

signing of  this  Separation  Agreement,  except  any action  or  proceeding  which the  Company may be required  or  requested  to  take

against Executive as a result of any regulatory agency action. This includes, but is not limited to, any claims arising from or relating

to  Executive's  employment  with,  and  recruitment  to,  the  Company,  and  Executive's  termination  of  employment.  Nothing  in  this

Separation Agreement releases or waives Company's right to enforce any breach or violation of this Separation Agreement.
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5. Confidentiality . Executive agrees that this Separation Agreement and the Employment Agreement

are  confidential  and agrees  not  to  disclose  any information  regarding  the  terms of  this  Separation  Agreement  or  the  Employment

Agreement,  except  to  his  immediate  family  and  any  tax,  legal  or  other  counsel  he  has  consulted  regarding  the  meaning  or  effect

hereof  or  as  required  by  law,  and  he  will  instruct  each  of  the  foregoing  not  to  disclose  the  same  to  anyone.  GALENA  agrees  to

disclose any such information only to any tax, legal or other counsel of GALENA as required by law. Further, Executive shall not

affirmatively  make any public  or  private  statements  about  his  employment  or  separation from GALENA except  to  his  immediate

family  and  any  tax,  legal  or  other  counsel  he  has  retained,  unless  authorized  in  writing  by  GALENA;  except  however, that  in

response to any inquires from any media or third party, Executive only can state that "Executive and GALENA have agreed to part

ways on an amicable basis upon the conclusion of the Employment Agreement." GALENA shall provide dates of employment and

positions held by Executive in response to any inquiry made by a third party for any purpose regarding Executive's employment by

GALENA, and shall  not be required to provide any other reference for Executive,  whether oral or written,  other than the letter of

reference described in Section 2(e) of this Separation Agreement.

6. Executive Cooperation . As long  as  there  is  no  conflict  between  Executive's  legal  interests  and

those of the Company, Executive agrees that he shall, to the extent reasonably requested in writing, cooperate with and serve in any

capacity requested by the Company in any investigation and/or threatened or pending litigation (now or in the future) in which the

Company is a party, and regarding which Executive, by virtue of his employment with the Company, has knowledge or information

relevant to said investigation or litigation including, but not limited to
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(i)  meeting  with  representatives  of  the  Company  to  prepare  for  testimony  and  to  provide  truthful  information  regarding  his

knowledge,  (ii)  acting  as  the  Company's  representative,  and  (iii)  providing,  in  any  jurisdiction  in  which  the  Company  requests,

truthful  information  or  testimony  relevant  to  the  investigation  or  litigation.  Company  agrees  to  reimburse  Executive's  reasonable

expenses incurred for his cooperation under this Section 7. In the event Executive’s cooperation is required after the expiration of

Executive’s  consulting  agreement  and  the  Company  requires  that  Executive  spend  more  than  ten  (10)  hours  in  any  activity

contemplated by this Section 6, Executive and the Company will mutually agree upon a reasonable reimbursement of Executive’s

hours and expenses.

Executive also agrees to cooperate with the Company and its counsel in connection with any matters relating to the Company

in which Executive has been compelled, by subpoena or other compulsory, to testify or produce documents. Executive shall provide

notice  to  the  Company  within  48  hours  of  receiving  such  notice  and  agrees  to  (i)  meet  with  the  Company's representatives  and

attorneys  (ii)  provide  the  attorneys  with  any  documents  requested,  and  (iii)  prepare  for  any  appearance  with  the  Company's

attorneys.

Executive, at his own expense, may retain his own counsel, in lieu of or in addition to, the Company's counsel or counsel that

the  Company  may  appoint  at  its  expense  to  represent  Executive .  Executive's  appointment  of  his  own  counsel  shall  in  no  way

interfere with his obligation to cooperate with the Company as described herein.

7. Mutual Non-Disparagement . Executive  and the Company agree that,  at  all  times following the

signing of this Separation Agreement, they shall not engage in any
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defamation  or  willful  and  malicious  disparagement  of  the  other.  Executive  acknowledges  that  the  only  persons  whose  statements

may  be  attributed  to  the  Company  for  purposes  of  this  Separation  Agreement  not  to  make  disparaging  statements  shall  be  each

member  of  the  Board of  Directors  of  the GALENA and each of  GALENA's  senior  executive  officers.  Nothing in  this  Separation

Agreement prevents the Company from responding to subpoenas, government inquiries or other obligations they may have under the

law or from reporting criminal activities to appropriate authorities.

8. Employment  Agreement  Provisions  Incorporate  Into  Separation  Agreement . Executive and

the  Company  will  be  bound  by  and  comply  with  all  provisions  of  the  agreements  attached  as  Exhibit  1  of  the  Employment

Agreement, for the durations expressly stated in those agreements attached as Exhibit 1 of the Employment Agreement, all of which

are incorporated by reference into this Separation Agreement. Aside from Exhibit 1 and Section 7 of the Employment Agreement,

which  is  incorporated  herein,  this  Separation  Agreement  contains  the  entire  agreement  of  the  parties  with  respect  to  the  subject

matter  hereof  and  supersedes  all  other  agreements,  oral  or  written,  heretofore  made  with  respect  thereto  including,  without

limitation, the Employment Agreement. In addition, no provision of this Separation Agreement may be amended, modified, changed,

altered, or supplemented except by a writing that is signed by Executive and by the Company.

9. Post-Employment  General  Release  and  Termination  Certificate . As  consideration  for  the

payments and benefits Executive receives under this Separation Agreement, Executive agrees to execute the Termination Certificate

attached as Exhibit A and the
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General Release as Exhibit B to this Separation Agreement on or before December 31, 2015. If Executive fails to execute and return

such documents  to  the Company by December  22,  2015,  or  revokes  the General  Release  after  executing  it,  Executive  forfeits  his

right to all payments and benefits in the Separation Agreement.

10. Indemnification Rights . In the event Executive is named as a defendant in a lawsuit because of

his  role  as  an  officer,  manager,  or  employee  of  the  Company,  Executive  shall  be  entitled  to  the  same  indemnification  rights  and

directors and officers liability coverage he had while employed by the Company. In any such lawsuit, the Company shall have the

option of designating counsel for Executive and Executive agrees that his counsel shall enter into a joint defense agreement with the

attorneys for the Company and any of its officers, directors, shareholders, employees, or other agents or representatives with respect

to their common defense.

11. Severability . Any provisions of this Separation Agreement that may be prohibited by, or unlawful

or unenforceable under, any applicable law of any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective without affecting any other

provision hereof. To the full extent, however, that the provisions of such applicable law may be waived, they are hereby waived, to

the end that this Separation Agreement be deemed to be a valid and binding agreement enforceable in accordance with its terms.

12. Controlling Law . This Separation Agreement has been entered into by the parties in the State of

Delaware and shall be continued and enforced in accordance with the laws of Delaware.
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13. Arbitration . Any  controversy,  claim,  or  breach  arising  out  of  or  relating  to  this  Separation

Agreement or the breach thereof shall be settled by arbitration in the State of Delaware in accordance with the rules of the American

Arbitration Association for commercial disputes and the judgment upon the award rendered shall be entered by consent in any court

having jurisdiction thereof; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude the Company from seeking injunctive or similar

relief from the courts to enforce its rights under the Employment Covenants set forth in Article 5 of the Employment Agreement as

incorporated into this Separation Agreement.

14. Assignments . Subject  to  obtaining  Executive's  prior  approval,  which shall  not  be unreasonably

withheld  or  delayed,  the  Company  shall  have  the  right  to  assign  this  Separation  Agreement  and  to  delegate  all  rights,  duties  and

obligations hereunder to any entity that controls the Company, that the Company controls or that may be the result of the merger,

consolidation, acquisition or reorganization of the Company and another entity. Executive agrees that this Separation Agreement is

personal to Executive and Executive's rights and interest hereunder may not be assigned, nor may Executive's obligations and duties

hereunder be delegated (except as to delegation in the normal course of operation of the Company), and any attempted assignment or

delegation in violation of this provision shall be void.

EXECUTIVE  ACKNOWLEDGES  THAT  HE  HAS  READ  THIS  ENTIRE  SEPARATION  AGREEMENT
CAREFULLY,  AS  THIS  SEPARATION  AGREEMENT  INCLUDES  A  RELEASE  OF  ALL  KNOWN  AND
UNKNOWN CLAIMS (AS ALLOWED BY LAW) WHICH HE MAY HAVE AGAINST THE COMPANY
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INCLUDING CLAIMS PURSUANT TO THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT.

(This space intentionally left blank.)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Executive  after  due  consideration  and  consultation,  has  authorized,  executed,  and  delivered  this

Separation Agreement all as of the date first above written.

Galena Biopharma, Inc.

    _/s/ Mark W. Schwartz
Mark W. Schwartz
Chief Executive Officer

    Executive

     /s/ Ryan Dunlap
Ryan Dunlap
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EXHIBIT A

TERMINATION CERTIFICATE

I  hereby  certify  that  I  do  not  have  in  my  possession  or  under  my  control,  nor  have  I  failed  to  return,  any  “Company

Materials” as defined in that certain Employment Agreement entered into with Galena Biopharma, Inc. and me, dated as of May 1,

2014.

I further certify that I have complied with and will continue to comply with all the terms of the Separation Agreement.

/s/ Ryan Dunlap    
Ryan Dunlap            
                                
December 31, 2015        
Date
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EXHIBIT B

GENERAL RELEASE

This General Release is made and entered into as of the 31 
st 

day of December, 2015 (the “Separation Date”), by and between

Ryan Dunlap (hereinafter “Executive”) and Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“Galena”), a corporation organized under the laws of the State

of Delaware, and its affiliates (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Company”).

WHEREAS
 ,  Executive  and  GALENA  are  parties  to  Separation  and  Release  Agreement  dated  as  of  December  16,  2015

(hereinafter, the “Separation Agreement”);

WHEREAS
,  Executive  and  Company  intend  to  settle  any  and  all  claims  that  Executive  may have  against  Company  as  a

result  of  any  act,  occurrence,  decision,  event  or  omission  occurring  at  any  time  after  the  signing  of  the  Separation  Agreement,

including,  but  not  limited  to,  any  matter  or  fact  arising  out  of  Executive’s  employment  with  GALENA,  the  termination  of

Executive’s employment, or the events giving rise to the Separation Agreement or this General Release;

WHEREAS
 ,  under  the  terms  of  the  Separation  Agreement,  Executive  promised  to  enter  into  this  General  Release  as  a

condition precedent to the separation payments and benefits to be provided under the Separation Agreement;

NOW,
THEREFORE
, in consideration of the payments and benefits, obligations and covenants contained in the Separation

Agreement herein, the parties agree as follows:
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1.     Release of Claims . Executive and the Company intend to settle any and all claims that Executive may have against the

Company  as  a  result  of  the  hiring  of  Executive,  Executive’s  employment,  Executive’s  compensation  while  employed,  and  the

termination of Executive’s employment.  Executive agrees that in exchange for GALENA’s promises in the Separation Agreement

and in exchange for the separation pay and benefits to be paid to Executive as described in the Separation Agreement, Executive, on

behalf  of  Executive  and  Executive’s  heirs,  successors  and  assigns,  hereby  releases  and  forever  discharges  the  Company,  its

predecessors,  successors,  and assigns,  and their  respective  boards of  directors,  board committees,  officers,  directors,  shareholders,

agents, employees, and insurers (the “Released Parties”), from all liability for damages and from all claims that Executive may have

against  the  Released  Parties  arising  from  or  relating  to  the  hiring  of  Executive,  Executive’s  compensation  while  employed,

Executive’s employment, the termination of Executive’s employment pursuant to any other actions, decisions, alleged omissions, or

events occurring on or prior to the signing of this General Release.

A.    Executive understands and agrees that Executive’s release of claims in this General Release includes, but is not limited

to,  any  claims  Executive  may  have  under  Title  VII  of  the  Federal  Civil  Rights  Act  of  1964,  as  amended;  the  Americans  with

Disabilities  Act,  the  Equal  Pay  Act,  the  Fair  Labor  Standards  Act,  the  Employee  Retirement  and  Income  Security  Act,  the  Age

Discrimination in Employment Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Oregon discrimination laws, or any other federal, state,

or local statute, ordinance, or law.

B.    Executive also understands that Executive is giving up all other claims, whether grounded in contract or tort theories,

including,  but  not  limited  to,  wrongful  discharge,  breach  of  contract,  tortious  interference  with  contractual  relations,  promissory

estoppel, detrimental reliance,
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breach  of  the  implied  covenant  of  good  faith  and  fair  dealing,  breach  of  express  or  implied  promise,  breach  of  manuals  or  other

policies, breach of fiduciary duty, assault, battery, fraud, invasion of privacy, intentional or negligent misrepresentation, defamation,

including  libel,  slander,  discharge  defamation  and  self-publication  defamation,  discharge  in  violation  of  public  policy,

whistleblower, intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, or any other theory, whether legal or equitable.

C.    Executive will not institute any lawsuit against the Released Parties arising from or relating to the hiring of Executive,

Executive’s  employment,  Executive’s  compensation  while  employed,  the  termination  of  Executive’s  employment,  or  any  other

actions, decisions, alleged omissions, or events occurring prior to the signing of this General Release.

D.    To the extent required by law, nothing contained in this General Release will be interpreted to prevent Executive from

filing a  charge with a  governmental  agency or  participating in  or  cooperating with an investigation conducted by a  governmental

agency.  However,  Executive  agrees  that  Executive  is  waiving  the  right  to  any  monetary  damages  or  other  individual  legal  or

equitable relief awarded as a result of any such proceeding related to any claim against the Released Parties arising from or relating

to  the  hiring  of  Executive,  Executive’s  employment,  Executive’s  compensation  while  employed,  the  termination  of  Executive’s

employment,  or  any  other  actions,  decisions,  alleged  omissions,  or  events  occurring  on  or  prior  to  the  signing  of  this  General

Release.

E.    Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, this General Release shall not apply with respect to any rights or claims which

Executive may have under the terms of the Separation Agreement itself or to any rights or benefits Executive may have related to

vested accrued benefits under the terms
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of the Company’s benefit plans or to the Executive’s right to be indemnified by the Company pursuant to the terms of its bylaws and

the law of the State of Delaware.

F.    Executive expressly acknowledges that he has been given the opportunity to take twenty-one (21) days to review this

General  Release  before  signing  it,  and  that  he  has  been  advised  to  consult  with  an  attorney  before  signing  it.  Executive

acknowledges that he understands that he may revoke this General Release, insofar as it extends to potential claims under the Age

Discrimination in Employment Act,  by informing the Company of Executive’s intent  to revoke this release within seven (7) days

following the execution of  this  General  Release,  and that  this  General  Release is  not  effective or  enforceable  until  that  seven-day

revocation period has expired. Executive understands that any such revocation must be stated in writing and delivered by hand or by

certified  mail-return  receipt  requested  to  Stacey  Delaney,  Director  of  Human  Resources,  Galena  Biopharma,  Inc.,  2000  Crow

Canyon Place, Suite 380, San Ramon, CA 94583. If Executive exercises this right to revoke or rescind, the Company shall have no

obligation to provide severance pay or benefits to Executive as provided by the Agreement.

G.     Executive  acknowledges  that  the  Company’s  obligation  to  provide  any  severance  pay  or  benefits  pursuant  to  the

Agreement  shall  not  become  effective  or  enforceable  until  the  revocation  period  identified  above  has  expired  without  notice  of

revocation having been made.

H.     Executive  agrees  that  he  will  forfeit  all  amounts  payable  by  the  Company  under  the  Separation  Agreement  if  he

challenges the validity of this General Release. Executive also agrees that if he violates this General Release by suing the Company

or  the  other  Released  Parties,  in  the  event  that  the  Company is  the  prevailing  party,  Executive  will  pay all  costs  and expenses  of

defending
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against the suit incurred by the Released Parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, and return all payments received by Executive

on or after the termination of his employment.

2.    This General Release shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, Executive and the Company and their respective

successors and permitted assigns.

3.    Executive hereby acknowledges and states that Executive has read this General Release, this General Release is written

in language that is understandable to Executive, that Executive fully appreciates the meaning of the terms of this General Release,

and that Executive enters into this General Release freely and voluntarily.

EXECUTIVE  ACKNOWLEDGES  THAT  SHE  HAS  READ  THIS  ENTIRE  GENERAL  RELEASE  CAREFULLY,  AS
THIS  GENERAL  RELEASE  INCLUDES  A RELEASE  OF ALL KNOWN  AND UNKNOWN  CLAIMS  (AS  ALLOWED
BY  LAW)  WHICH  SHE  MAY  HAVE  AGAINST  THE  COMPANY  INCLUDING CLAIMS  PURSUANT  TO  THE  AGE
DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT .

IN
WITNESS
WHEREOF
, Executive after due consideration and consultation, has authorized, executed, and delivered this

General Release all as of the date first above written.

                        
/s/ Ryan Dunlap          

    Ryan Dunlap
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Amendment to Offer Letter between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and Thomas J. Knapp

This amendment (“Amendment”) to the Offer Letter dated June 23, 2015 between Galena Biopharma, Inc. and Thomas J. Knapp

(“Offer Letter”) is made this December 31, 2015 and amends the Offer Letter with the following provisions:

1. The term of the Amendment (“Amendment Term”) will commence on January 1, 2016 and end on September 30, 2016,
unless sooner terminated as provide in the Offer Letter or is extended by mutual agreement.

2. During the Amendment Term, the salary shall be $ 27,895.83 ($334,750 annualized) per month (prorated for any period of
less than a full month), payable in accordance with our standard payroll practices and subject to deductions for applicable
federal, state and local withholding.

3. You will be paid a 2015 bonus of $48,750 payable in January, 2016, in accordance with our standard bonus payment
procedures.

4. The Company will grant you under its Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”), a non-qualified
stock option to purchase up to 225,000 shares of common stock of the Company. The option will have an exercise price
equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant, will vest in 16 equal, quarterly installments over 4 years,
beginning 3 months from the date of grant, so long as you remain in the Company’s continuous service through each monthly
vesting date, and be on such other terms and provisions as are contained in the Company’s standard-form nonqualified stock
option agreement under the 2007 Plan.

5. This offer letter and any dispute concerning the validity, enforceability or interpretation of this offer letter or the terms of
your employment will be governed by the internal laws of the State of California without regard to conflict-of-law principles.

All other terms in the Offer Letter shall remain in full force and effect.

Galena Biopharma, Inc.                Thomas J. Knapp

/s/ Mark W. Schwartz /s/ Thomas J. Knapp
By: Mark W. Schwartz                 
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer 



Galena Letterhead 
4640 S.W. Macadam Avenue 

Suite 270 
Portland, Oregon 97239

__, 2014

[Addressee]

Re:     Advancement and Undertaking

Dear [Addressee]:

As you know, the Board of Directors of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) has established a Special Committee to
conduct an investigation relating to, inter alia , the Company’s retention of The DreamTeam Group for marketing services and the
sale of Company stock by you and certain of its other officers and directors (the “Internal Investigation”). You are also aware that
you, together with other officers and directors of Galena, have been named as defendants in one or more complaints filed in the
lawsuits described in the attached Schedule of Claims. The Company is also responding to one or more subpoena from the Securities
and Exchange Commission regarding matters raised by the complaints (the “Civil and Regulatory matters”).

The Company and the Special Committee understand that you have engaged [Name of Addressee's counsel] in connection
with these matters in connection with this Internal Investigation, as well as to serve as well as “shadow counsel” in the referenced
Civil and Regulatory matters. It is understood that [Addressee’s] role as “shadow counsel” may change and that he may have to enter
an appearance on your behalf as the Civil and Regulatory matters evolve. You have requested that the Company advance the fees
and costs incurred by you in connection with [Addressee’s] representation of you in the Internal Investigation, as well as in the Civil
and Regulatory matters (or any other related matters) under Article VII of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
the Company (formerly RXI Pharmaceuticals Corporation) (“Article VII”) and Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law (“DGCL”). You understand that, under Article VII and the DGCL, you are entitled to request indemnification for all and
advancement of reasonable expenses in connection with these claims and proceedings and any new, related, or follow-on claims,
investigations, or proceedings, subject to the conditions set forth below, and that the Company is permitted to indemnify you or to
advance your expenses as provided in Article VII and in Section 145 of the DGCL.
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[Addressee]
___, 2014
Page 2

The Special Committee has approved your advancement request on the conditions that:

(a) The fees and costs shall actually and reasonably be incurred by you in connection with the Internal Investigation
and the Civil and Regulatory matters described above. To the extent the fees and costs are applied to the applicable retention amount
or reimbursed under the Company’s director and officer liability insurance policies (the “D&O Policies”), they will be irrevocably
presumed to be “reasonable” for this purpose.

(b)      You agree that, once the standard retention under the applicable D&O policies is reached and satisfied (as agreed by
the insurer(s)), you will look in the first instance to the D&O insurers for payment of fees and costs. You do not waive any right at
any point to seek to require advancement and indemnification from the Company, should and to the extent that the D&O Insurers
ultimately refuse to pay your fees and costs, and without prejudice to any rights you may have under Article VII, the DGCL, or
under the applicable D&O Policies. You understand that the Company does not waive any right at any point to deny such
advancement and indemnification, and without prejudice to any rights it may have under Article VII or the DGCL.

(c)      In any event, you hereby undertake to repay all fees and costs so advanced to the extent that it shall ultimately be
determined that you are not entitled to be indemnified by the Company under Article VII or the DGCL.

Nothing in this letter shall constitute a waiver of any of your rights, or the rights of the Company, under the D&O Policies,
Article VII, or otherwise. In addition, nothing in this letter shall constitute a waiver of any of the rights of you or the insurers under
the D&O Policies, including, but not limited to any primary or Side A coverage.

This letter, together with Article VII, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement among you and the Company with
respect to the subject matter of this letter and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous understandings and agreements regarding the
same subject matter.

Please acknowledge your agreement to, and acceptance of, the foregoing arrangements by executing and returning a copy of
this letter.

Very truly yours,

[Authorized Officer]

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:
 

   
[Addressee]

 

cc:    



Exhibit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We  consent  to  the  incorporation  by  reference  in  the  Registration  Statements  on  Form  S-3  (Nos.  333-174076,  333-195260,  333-199517,  333-
208330,  and  333-208331)  and  Form  S-8  (Nos.  333-151154,  333-153847,  333-175763,  333-174819,  333-182505,  333-183300,  333-182578,  and
333-190540) of our reports dated March 10, 2016, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Galena Biopharma, Inc., and the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting of Galena Biopharma, Inc., appearing in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,
2015.

/s/ Moss Adams

Portland, Oregon
March 10, 2016



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark W. Schwartz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: March 10, 2016
 

 /s/ Mark W. Schwartz
 Mark W. Schwartz
 President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John T. Burns, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: March 10, 2016

 /s/ John T. Burns
 John T. Burns
 Controller and Principal Accounting Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Galena Biopharma, Inc., (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned officers of the Company certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to their knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the Company’s financial condition and result of operations.
 

/s/ Mark W. Schwartz  /s/ John T. Burns
Mark W. Schwartz  John T. Burns
President and Chief Executive Officer  Controller and Principal Accounting Officer
   

March 10, 2016  March 10, 2016


